# NUCLEAR LAW BULLETIN No. 57

### **Contents**

Detailed Table of Contents		
Articles		
Case Law and Administrative Decisions		
National Legislative and Regulatory Activities		
International Regulatory Activities		
Agreements		
Texts		
Bibliography		
List of Correspondents		
Supplement		
	June 199	

June 1996 Nuclear Energy Agency Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

# ORGANISATION FOR ECONOMIC CO-OPERATION AND DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to Article 1 of the Convention signed in Paris on 14th December 1960, and which came into force on 30th September 1961, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) shall promote policies designed.

- to achieve the highest sustainable economic growth and employment and a rising standard of living in Member countries, while maintaining financial stability, and thus to contribute to the development of the world economy,
- to contribute to sound economic expansion in Member as well as non-member countries in the process of economic development, and
- to contribute to the expansion of world trade on a multilateral, non-discriminatory basis in accordance with international obligations.

The original Member countries of the OECD are Austria, Belgium, Canada, Denmark, France, Germany, Greece, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Spain, Sweden Switzerland Turkey, the United Kingdom and the United States The following countries became Members subsequently through accession at the dates indicated hereafter Japan (28th April 1964), Finland (28th January 1969) Australia (7th June 1971), New Zealand (29th May 1973), Mexico (18th May 1994), the Czech Republic (21st December 1995) and Hungary (7th May 1996) The Commission of the European Communities takes part in the work of the OECD (Article 13 of the OECD Convention)

#### **NUCLEAR ENERGY AGENCY**

The OECD Nuclear Energy Agency (NEA) was established on 1st February 1958 under the name of the OEEC European Nuclear Energy Agency It received its present designation on 20th April 1972 when Japan became its first non-European full Member NEA membership today consists of all European Member countries of OECD as well as Australia, Canada Japan, Republic of Korea Mexico and the United States The Commission of the European Communities takes part in the work of the Agency

The primary objective of NEA is to promote co-operation among the governments of its participating countries in furthering the development of nuclear power as a safe environmentally acceptable and economic energy source

This is achieved by

- encouraging harmonization of national regulatory policies and practices with particular reference to the safety of nuclear installations protection of man against ionising radiation and preservation of the environment radioactive waste management, and nuclear third party liability and insurance
- assessing the contribution of nuclear power to the overall energy supply by keeping under review the technical and economic aspects of nuclear power growth and forecasting demand and supply for the different phases of the nuclear fuel cycle
- developing exchanges of scientific and technical information particularly through participation in common services
- setting up international research and development programmes and joint undertakings

In these and related tasks NEA works in close collaboration with the International Atomic Energy Agency in Vienna with which it has concluded a Co-operation Agreement as well as with other international organisations in the nuclear field

#### **LEGAL NOTICE**

The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development assumes no liability concerning information published in this bulletin

© OECD 1996
Applications for permission to reproduce or translate all or part of this publication should be made to
Head of Publications Service OECD

2 rue André-Pascal 75775 PARIS CEDEX 16 France

### **Foreword**

Following upon the Extension Conference for the Nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty (NPT), the issues associated with the non-proliferation of nuclear weapons and other devices is still with us today. One of the articles in this latest edition of the Nuclear Law Bulletin addresses the state of international law in this field while another studies the question of strengthening the powers of the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA). A third article deals with a closely related subject, that being "consent rights" in the context of the new nuclear co-operation Agreement between the United States and the European Community

Progress made in Eastern Europe on matters of nuclear law is also covered in this new edition. In particular, we are pleased to reproduce, in the Supplement, the text of the Russian Federation's Law on the Use of Nuclear Energy

### **DETAILED TABLE OF CONTENTS**

	Page
ARTICLES	
Inspection for Clandestine Nuclear Activities Does the Nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty	
Provide Legal Authority for the International Atomic Energy Agency's Proposals for Reform? by G Bunn	9
Preventing the Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons 50 Years of Atoms for Peace by T Vanden Borre and R Carchon	23
Consent Rights in the New Agreement for Co-operation in the Peaceful Uses of Nuclear Energy Between the United States of America and Euratom by R. Lennartz	53
CASE LAW	
FRANCE	
Judgments Concerning the La Manche Storage Centre SWITZERLAND	64
Compensation for Refusing to Grant a General Licence UNITED STATES	65
Litigation Persists from the 1979 Three Mile Island Accident	67
ADMINISTRATIVE DECISIONS	
FINLAND	
Decision on the Financial Provision for the Cost of Nuclear Waste Management (1995)  GERMANY	70
Recommendations of the Reactor Safety Commission and of the Radiation Protection Commission (1995)  UNITED KINGDOM	70
Privatisation of the United Kingdom Atomic Energy Authority (AEA Technology) (1995)	71
NATIONAL LEGISLATIVE AND REGULATORY ACTIVITIES	
AUSTRALIA	
Recommendations and Standards on Radiation Exposures (1995)  AUSTRIA	72
Amendment to the Criminal Code Concerning the Illegal Trade of Nuclear Materials (1996) BELGIUM	73
Implementing Decree for the Law of 1994 Concerning Ionizing Radiation	
and the Federal Agency for Nuclear Control  BRAZIL	73
Resolution of the National Nuclear Energy Commission (CNEN) (1995)	74
National Council for the Environment (CONOMA) (1995)	74
Ministerial Order on Radiation Protection and Nuclear Safety (1995)	74
Ministerial Decree Concerning Transport By Inland Waters (1995)	75
Law Relating to the Export of Sensitive Goods and of Consequential Services (1995)	75

DENMARK	
Orders on the Medical Application of Ionizing Radiation (1995)  GERMANY	75
General Mining Ordinance Implementing EC Directives (1995)	76
Ordinances on the Transport of Dangerous Goods (1995-1996)	77
Ordinances to amend the Foreign Trade Ordinance (1995)	78
HONG KONG	
Regulation on Ionizing Radiation (1995) INDONESIA	79
Environmental Studies for the Construction of Nuclear Power Plants (1994) Environmental Studies for the Construction of Nuclear Installations	79
Other than Reactors (1994)	79
Technical Guidelines for Environmental Management and Monitoring Procedures (1994)  LATVIA	80
Draft Regulation for Protection Against Ionizing Radiation	80
Draft Regulation on the Issuance of Licences for Activities with Radioactive Substances	
and other Ionizing Radiation Sources  PORTUGAL	81
Reorganisation in the Nuclear Sector (1995)  SPAIN	82
Royal Decree Modifying the Structure of the Nuclear Safety Council (1995)  URUGUAY	82
Provisions relating to Radiological Emergencies and to Radiation Control (1996)	83
INTERNATIONAL REGULATORY ACTIVITIES	
EUROPEAN UNION	
Resolution of the European Parliament on the EU Energy Policy (1995)	84
BILATERAL AGREEMENTS	
AUSTRIA-GERMANY	
Exchange of Information and Experience in the Field of Radiation Protection (1994)  BRAZIL-INDIA	86
Memorandum of Agreement on Co-operation in the Field of Nuclear Energy (1996)  BRAZIL-UNITED STATES	86
Protocol to Extend the 1984 Science and Technology Co-operation Agreement (1994)  BULGARIA-UNITED STATES	87
Agreement for Co-operation in the Field of Peaceful Uses of Nuclear Energy (1996)  CANADA-SLOVENIA	87
Co-operation Agreement in the Field of Peaceful Uses of Nuclear Energy (1995)  CHINA-KOREA	87
Co-operative Agreement Concerning Peaceful Uses of Nuclear Energy (1994)	88
EUROPEAN COMMISSION-RUSSIAN FEDERATION AND THE UKRAINE	
Comments on the Memoranda of Understanding on Nuclear Third-Party Liability (1995)  EURATOM-UNITED STATES	89
Agreement for Co-operation in the Peaceful Uses of Nuclear Energy (1996)  FRANCE-GERMANY	90
Joint Recommendations on the Safety of Future Nuclear Power Plants (1995)  GERMANY-LITHUANIA	90
Agreement on Mutual Assistance in the Case of A Disaster (1996)  GERMANY-UNITED STATES	91
Exchange of Information in the Field of Nuclear Safety (1995)	91

HUNGARY-SLOVENIA	
Agreement on Early Notification of Radiological Emergencies (1995)  RUSSIAN FEDERATION—UNITED STATES	92
Exchange of Technical Information in the Field of Warhead Safety and Security (1995)	92
Annexes to the 1993 Agreement Concerning HEU Extracted from Nuclear Weapons (1996) SOUTH AFRICA-UNITED STATES	93
Co-operative Agreement Concerning Peaceful Uses of Nuclear Energy (1995)	93
MULTILATERAL AGREEMENTS	
Regional Agreement Between Brazil Argentina Paraguay and Uruguay (1994)	94
Memorandum of Understanding on the Closure of Chernobyl NPP (1995)	94
Treaty on the Southeast Asia Nuclear Weapon-Free Zone (1995)	95
Treaty Declaring Africa a Nuclear Weapon-Free Zone (Pelindaba) (1995)	96
The Waigani Convention (South Pacific Region) (1995)	97
Convention on Nuclear Safety (1996)	98
Protocols Relating to the South Pacific Nuclear-Free Zone Treaty(1996)	98
TEXTS	
Extracts of the Euratom/United States Agreement (1996)	99
Memorandum of Understanding on the Closure of the Chernobyl NPP (1995)	107
Moscow Nuclear Safety and Security Summit Declaration (1996)	109
BIBLIOGRAPHY	
United States NEA, European Commission	114
LIST OF CORRESPONDENTS	118
SUPPLEMENT	
RUSSIAN FEDERATION	
Federal Law on the Use of Atomic Energy of 20 October 1995	
SWITZERLAND	
I Radiological Protection Act of 22 March 1991	
II Radiological Protection Ordinance of 22 June 1994	

# Inspection for Clandestine Nuclear Activities: Does the Nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty Provide Legal Authority for the International Atomic Energy Agency's Proposals for Reform?

by George Bunn\*

This article analyses whether the Nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty (NPT) provides legal authority for International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) efforts to gain more information and more intrusive inspections to assure that non-nuclear-weapon States (NNWS) that have joined the NPT are not attempting to make nuclear weapons in violation of that Treaty

#### A. THE BACKGROUND OF THE IAEA'S EFFORT TO STRENGTHEN ITS SAFEGUARDS

Before the discovery of Iraq's clandestine nuclear-weapon program, the IAEA's primary inspection objective under the NPT was to see whether states subject to inspection were doing what they had reported to the IAEA that they were doing. As a matter of practice not law, IAEA inspectors almost never looked for clandestine nuclear activities—those not reported to the IAEA in the State's "declarations" of its nuclear activities.

With the disclosure that Iraq, an NPT member, had failed to declare the nuclear activities related to its clandestine pursuit of nuclear weapons, the IAEA's practice changed. Authority for the IAEA's sweeping inspections in Iraq came from UN Security Council resolutions rather than from the safeguards provisions of the NPT. But its experience in Iraq provided both great momentum and useful experience for its efforts to strengthen its safeguards system for the NPT, efforts that had begun before the Gulf War.

When South Africa joined the NPT, the IAEA, acting on a general invitation from the government, requested permission to visit locations connected with South Africa's nuclear weapons program that were not listed in the government's declarations of civilian facilities to be safeguarded

<sup>\*</sup> George Bunn is Consulting Professor at Stanford University Center for International Security and Arms Control He was the first General Counsel of the US Arms Control and Disarmament Agency a member of the US delegation that negotiated the NPT during the 1960s and US Ambassador to the Geneva Conference on Disarmament in 1968. He has also served as a lawyer for the US Atomic Energy and Nuclear Regulatory Commissions, as a member of a Washington law firm and was Professor and Dean of the University of Wisconsin Law School. The ideas expressed herein are the responsibility of the author. The author wishes to thank David Fischer. Laura Rockwood and David Sloss for very useful comments and criticisms of an earlier draft of this paper.

See e.g. Richard Hooper Strengthening IAEA Safeguards in an Era of Nuclear Cooperation. Arms Control Today (November 1995) pp 14-18. David Fischer Towards 1995. The Prospects for Ending the Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (Dartmouth UNIDIR 1993) pp 71-75. 79. There were however occasional inspections of declared facilities to assure against clandestine production of fissionable material.

Its requests to inspect these undeclared sites were granted. However, the Democratic People's Republic of Korea (DPRK), after initial co-operation, denied the IAEA's request for inspection of two undeclared locations to gain further information about discrepancies found as the result of inspecting declared activities. The DPRK refused to accept the inspectors even when the request became a demand backed up by the IAEA Board of Governors, a demand based upon DPRK's safeguards agreement which had been negotiated pursuant to the NPT and the IAEA's Statute and model safeguards agreement. Evidence supporting the IAEA's demand came in part from environmental monitoring of a kind the IAEA is now institutionalising in its program to strengthen safeguards inspections.

The UN Security Council, though requesting the DPRK to accept the Board's demand called for consultations rather than imposing economic sanctions for refusal of the demand. Negotiations with DPRK resulted, it permitted inspection of declared facilities while they continued. In October of 1994, it agreed to inspection of the undeclared locations after a few years when a significant portion of the reactor it was promised by the US, South Korea and Japan had been completed. Until then it will remain in non-compliance with the IAEA's demand. Based upon their actions so far however both the Security Council and the DPRK have implicitly accepted the legitimacy of the IAEA demand.

Meanwhile, the IAEA had begun strengthening its safeguards capability for all NNWS NPT members. It added to its sources of information beyond the existing declarations by NPT members and the IAEA inspections of their declared activities. It established a comprehensive state-by-state nuclear activity data base including information (besides that from declarations and inspections) from open news sources governmental reports on imports and exports satellite photographs and other intelligence information given to it by member States. This data base can become part of the "triggering" evidence for inspections, it may suggest the existence and location of undeclared nuclear activities that could then be the subject of inspection requests. In addition, IAEA inspectors have improved their technical ability to gain information about possible undeclared nuclear activities during regular inspections at declared sites. Finally, the IAEA Board has confirmed its right to engage in special inspections at undeclared locations when the information available to it is not adequate for the Agency to fulfil its responsibilities" to assure that no nuclear material is diverted to nuclear explosive devices.

<sup>2</sup> IAEA Board decision GOV/2636 IAEA Press Release February 25 1993 PR 93/5 IAEA Press Release April 1 1993 PR 93/8 The model safeguards agreement in question was IAEA Information Circular 153 (INFCIRC 153) discussed below

<sup>3</sup> UN Security Council Resolution 825 (1993) UN Press Release SC/56114

<sup>4</sup> Agreed Framework between the USA and DPRK of October 21 1994 DPRK agreed that when a significant portion of the LWR (Light Water Reactor) project is completed but before delivery of key nuclear components the DPRK will come into full compliance with its safeguards agreement with the IAEA (INFCIRC/410) including all steps that may be deemed necessary by the IAEA following consultations with the Agency with regard to verifying the accuracy and completeness of the DPRK's initial report [declaration] on all nuclear material in the DPRK

<sup>5</sup> See Hans Blix Against the Spread of Nuclear Weapons The Safeguards System of the IAEA NATO Review (September 1995) p 15 Mohammed El Baradei IAEA Venification System at a Cross Roads Address to Carnegic Endowment Conference on Nuclear Non Proliferation January 30-31 1995 Washington DC

<sup>6</sup> US Congress Office of Technology Assessment Environmental Monitoring for Nuclear Safeguards (September 1995)

<sup>7</sup> INFCIRC/153 paras 1 and 73(b) See David Fischer 1989 95 Radical Changes in IAEA Safeguards.

The Non-Proliferation Review Vol 3 No 2 Winter 1996 forthcoming Lawrence Scheinman Assessing the Nuclear Non Proliferation Safeguards System (Atlantic Council of the US Occasional Paper October 1992)

#### B THE IAEA'S "PROGRAMME 93+2"

Beginning in 1993, the IAEA Secretariat began putting all this together with other new ideas in a comprehensive plan called "Programme 93+2" — with the intention of seeking Board approval of the plan in 1995. At meetings in March and June of 1995, the IAEA Board of Governors endorsed the general direction of the Secretariat's effort to assure that what non-nuclear-weapon State (NNWS) NPT Parties told the IAEA in the future about their nuclear activities was not only *correct* as far as it went, but that it was *complete* in the sense that there were no undeclared, clandestine nuclear activities. The Board also took note that many of the new measures proposed were within the IAEA's existing legal authority as expressed in safeguards agreements with NNWS Parties to the NPT Procedures for implementation of these "Part 1" measures by the Secretariat have already begun "Part 2" measures are those that would require "complementary" authority according to the Secretariat, that is, they need some new legal instrument to make them obligatory for States. These measures have been proposed to the IAEA Board in an informal working document, which also contains a draft of a new legal instrument

There is less controversy about Part 1 than Part 2 measures But the two parts are closely interrelated and NPT authority for both will be discussed in this article. The basic issue here is whether the NPT authorises the IAEA to seek more information.

The new measures first seek additional information – information which might trigger future requests for more intrusive inspections. For example, the new measures ask for additions to the declarations provided by NNWS NPT Members showing "past nuclear activities" (a Part 1 measure), nuclear research and development activities whether or not they involve "nuclear material" (if not, then Part 2), and activities and equipment at sites in the vicinity of locations already safeguarded, and at other sites having activities and equipment functionally related to nuclear fuel cycle operations (Part 2).

A second major source of new information that could be the basis for an inspection request would be "environmental monitoring," that is collecting samples of water from streams and rivers, samples of outdoor air, plant life, dust and dirt, and samples of deposits on walls, floors and equipment at indoor nuclear-related facilities. These samples would be analysed in IAEA or other laboratories to see whether they contained, for example, isotopes of various elements found only in connection with nuclear activities.

If the samples were taken during on-site inspections already permitted by existing safeguards agreements, they would be included in Part 1 and no additional legal authority would be required. If they are to be taken at new sites, new authority would of course be required to visit that site — unless the state voluntarily invited the visit as South Africa did or access was provided pursuant to an IAEA demand for a special inspection. Thus the authority for environmental momitoring is dependent upon whether the site currently may be inspected, such samples are already sometimes taken at locations now subject to inspection.

In March the Board approved the following statement [T]he safeguards system for implementing comprehensive safeguards agreements should be designed to provide verification by the Agency of the correctness and completeness of the States declarations so that there is credible assurance of the non-diversion of nuclear material from declared activities and the absence of undeclared activities IAEA General Conference Document GC(39)17 of August 22 1995 Annex 3 pp 58 71 See Hooper op cu

<sup>9</sup> IAEA Document GC(39)/17 op cit Hooper op cit

<sup>10</sup> Hooper op cit US Congress Office of Technology Assessment op cit

In addition to these new sources of information, the "93+2" plan calls for access to more sites than the existing safeguards agreements do, for example, to locations beyond the "strategic points" in the nuclear fuel cycle now subject to routine inspections. Existing safeguards agreements with the IAEA permit inspection beyond "strategic points" before a facility is operated in order to check the design provided by the inspected nuclear organisation against the actual facility as built. For ad hoc inspections, going beyond strategic points is also now permitted. Where that is so of course access would be a Part 1 measure. For routine inspection of non-strategic points in an operating nuclear facility, however. Part 2 approval would be required—except where authorised under the provisions for special inspections.

Inspection of the nuclear-related activity sites not previously declared but to be declared pursuant to Part 2 would follow as the result of the new legal obligation to provide additional information in a revised declaration. Beyond this is the question whether the IAEA inspectors may permissibly search for nuclear weapons activities at sites at which no nuclear-related activity or nuclear material has been reported.

Another new measure is unannounced (no-notice) inspections. These are currently permitted at strategic points though they do not occur often. No-notice inspections at other points and at locations without strategic points would, of course, require Part 2 approval<sup>12</sup>

The legal issue presented by the "93+2" plan and discussed below is whether the IAEA has authority under the NPT to demand the new information and new inspections

# C DOES THE NPT PROVIDE AUTHORITY FOR THE IAEA REQUESTS FOR MORE INFORMATION AND MORE INTRUSIVE INSPECTIONS?

The most important NPT language on safeguards is

"Each non-nuclear-weapon State Party to the Treaty undertakes to accept safeguards as set forth in an agreement to be negotiated and concluded with the International Atomic Energy Agency in accordance with the Statute of the International Atomic Energy Agency and the Agency's safeguards system, for the exclusive purpose of verification of the fulfilment of its obligations assumed under this Treaty with a view to preventing diversion of nuclear energy from peaceful uses to nuclear weapons or other nuclear explosive devices" 13

This language establishes the broad standard and purpose for the safeguards that NWS members must accept in an agreement with the IAEA. In the context of the 93+2 measures, it raises the following questions

What standards are contemplated by "in accordance with the Statute of the International Atomic Energy Agency and the Agency's safeguards system"

<sup>11</sup> See G Bunn and Roland M Timerbaev Nuclear Verification under the NPT What Should it Cover How Far May it Go<sup>2</sup> (PPNN Study Five U of Southampton 1994)

<sup>12</sup> For the terms of Programme 93+2 see IAEA Doc GC(39)/17 Annex 4 pp 3 8 op cut

<sup>13</sup> NPT Article III 1 The remaining two sentences of this key paragraph are Procedures for the safeguards required by this Article shall be followed with respect to source or fissionable material whether it is being produced processed or used in any principal nuclear facility or is outside any such facility. The safeguards required by this article shall be applied on all source or fissionable material in all peaceful nuclear activities within the territory of such State under its jurisdiction or carried out under its control anywhere. Emphasis has been added in each of the three sentences of Article III 1

- 2 What "obligations assumed under this Treaty" is it the purpose of safeguards to verify?
- 3 What limitations does the NPT language impose on IAEA inspection? For example, does seeking information about, or access to, activities that do not involve "source of special fissionable material" exceed the IAEA's authority? Is inspection of undeclared facilities permissible? Must the IAEA give notice before any inspection can be carried out?

Each of these questions will be discussed in turn using a standard technique for treaty interpretation. The Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties states that a treaty is to be interpreted "in accordance with the ordinary meaning to be given to the terms of the treaty in their context and in light of its object and purpose." Also to be taken into account is "any subsequent agreement between the Parties regarding the interpretation of the treaty or the application of its provisions" and "any subsequent practice in the application of the treaty which establishes the agreement of the Parties regarding its interpretation."

The most important "subsequent agreement" and "subsequent practice" here is the 1972 IAEA model safeguards agreement, IAEA Information Circular 153 (INFCIRC/153) and the practice, since then, of using it as the basis for negotiation of safeguards agreements with NNWS NPT Parties INFCIRC/153 was negotiated pursuant to Article III of the NPT by more than 45 countries, almost all of which had signed the NPT (or later did so) and had become Parties or intended to do so if the negotiation of INFCIRC/153 was successful. While it is not a treaty and was not formally signed by the Parties, it was accepted by them as the model for what should be included in the safeguards agreements of NNWS NPT Parties. The practice following its negotiation was to follow its terms <sup>16</sup>. Thus, whether it is a subsequent agreement or subsequent practice, it is relevant to the interpretation of Article III.

Of course, neither INFCIRC/153 nor the practice it instituted is based exclusively on interpretation of Article III. That Article was the NNWS NPT Parties "agreement to agree" at some later time to safeguards agreements that complied with Article III's standards. These standards were broad enough to permit considerable negotiating room based upon practical factors and negotiating leverage, not just differing interpretations of Article III. Thus, as we will see, INFCIRC/153 and the practice do not always reflect the breadth of Article III's scope, some of the limitations on inspections came about for reasons other than Article III's language

The Vienna Convention also permits reference to the "preparatory work of the treaty and the circumstances of its conclusion" as "supplementary means of interpretation" to confirm the meaning derived either from its language or from subsequent agreement or practice. This negotiating history may also be used when the language of the treaty and subsequent agreements are "ambiguous or obscure" or lead to a result that is "manifestly absurd or unreasonable".

<sup>14</sup> Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties of 1969 Article 31 Governments such as the United States that are not formal parties to this Convention nevertheless generally accept this provision as declaratory of customary international law and practice

<sup>15</sup> The Structure and Content of Agreements between the Agency and States Required in Connection with the NPT, IAEA Document INFCIRC/153 (corrected)(1972)

<sup>16</sup> See David Sloss It s Not Broken So Don't Fix It The IAEA Safeguards System and the NPT Virginia Journal of International Law Vol 36 forthcoming in 1996

<sup>17</sup> See G Bunn Arms Control by Committee Managing Negotiations with the Russians (Stanford University Press 1992) pp 94 103

<sup>18</sup> Article 32 of the Vienna Convention

For the questions discussed below, this article will follow the procedure suggested by the Vienna Convention looking at the treaty language first, then, if need be, at INFCIRC/153 and the practice based upon it, and then where pertinent, at the "preparatory work" or negotiating history

# 1 What standards are contemplated by "in accordance with the Statute of the International Atomic Energy Agency and the Agency's safeguards system" in Article III I of the NPT?

First, the "Statute of the International Atomic Energy Agency," the treaty that created the IAEA The Statute's Article III 5 authorises the Agency to establish safeguards "to ensure that special fissionable material and other materials, services, equipment, facilities and information—are not used in such a way as to further any military purpose, and to apply safeguards, at the request of the Parties to any bilateral or multilateral arrangement, or at the request of a State to any of that State's activities in the field of atomic energy." This treaty language was in existence at the time of the negotiation of the NPT, and is part of what NPT's Article III I clearly refers to.

Second, "the Agency's safeguards system" This language does not appear in the IAEA Statute or in INFCIRC/153 However, the model safeguards agreement in effect when the NPT was negotiated was called "The IAEA Safeguards System," INFCIRC/66<sup>20</sup> Thus the Agency's safeguards system' in Article III I referred, in the first instance, to safeguards based upon INFCIRC/66 Though INFCIRC/66 has usually been applied to one or more specific nuclear projects rather than to all nuclear activities carried out by a State, NPT Article III I dealt with that historical problem Its last sentence required the application of safeguards on "all source or special fissionable material in all peaceful nuclear activities within the territory of such State [a NNWS NPT Party] under its jurisdiction, or carried out under its control anywhere" Thus, an agreement with the IAEA by a NNWS NPT Party based on INFCIRC/66 (or a later substitute for INFCIRC/66) would be applied to all nuclear activities of the Party and was what was meant by an agreement in accordance with the Agency's safeguards system"

Thus is confirmed by the "preparatory work" leading to the agreement on Article III 1. The phrase "safeguards system" was discussed first in August 1967 during informal talks between US and Soviet delegations dealing with possible language for Article III. A draft article from the US delegation for these negotiations would have required NNWS—to negotiate an agreement—with the IAEA for the application of safeguards. It did not originally set out any standard for safeguards such as that later agreed to "in accordance with the Statute of the International Atomic Energy Agency and the Agency's safeguards system" This was because some US—NATO allies in Euratom

<sup>19</sup> The NPT language also referred to the special article of the IAEA Statute dealing with safeguards. Article XII which will be discussed below. In addition, it of course accepted the Statute's provisions on how the IAEA is governed as far as safeguards are concerned. For example, the general decision making body is the Board of Governors (35 members) and it can act by majority vote. The General Conference (all members) has specified but limited powers. For example, it elects the Governors and approves the Director General. Decisions on 93+2 have been and will be taken largely by the Board. See Sloss op cu.

<sup>20</sup> See INFCIRC/66 "The Agency's Safeguards System (1965) as well as INFCIRC/66/Rev 1 (1966) and INFCIRC/66/Rev 2 (1968) all with the same title Paul C Szasz The Law and Practices of the IAEA (IAEA Legal Series No 7 1970) pp 554 55 557 David Fischer and Paul Szasz Safeguarding the Atom A Critical Appraisal (SIPRI 1985) Appendix IV Mohammed M El Baradei Edwin Inwogugu and John M Rames The International Law of Nuclear Energy Basic Documents (Kluwer 1993) Vol 2 p 1678

<sup>21</sup> For the history of these ad referendum negotiations see G Bunn Arms Control by Committee op cit pp 96-100

<sup>22</sup> US Delegation working paper of 28 August 1967

wanted either no review by IAEA of the Euratom safeguards on their nuclear activities, or ability to negotiate with the IAEA about such review unfettered by any NPT standards<sup>23</sup>

To provide a standard for IAEA safeguards, the Soviet experts countered the Americans' draft with the addition of a sentence stating that safeguards should apply "as provided for in the Statute of the IAEA and the document on safeguards". The US delegation objected to this language's apparent limitation to INFCIRC/66 alone ("the document on safeguards") arguing that INFCIRC/66 would undoubtedly be revised or replaced at some future time, that such a change might require amendment of the NPT when INFCIRC/66 was changed unless the language "the document" was replaced, and that a more general reference should be used. After further give and take, the Soviet phrase referring to the IAEA Statute and document was changed in the negotiators' draft to require each NNWS NPT Party simply to "accept IAEA safeguards". After lengthy talks with US allies and then again with the Soviets, the United States suggested language requiring each NNWS to undertake "to accept safeguards, as set forth in an agreement to be negotiated and concluded with the IAEA in accordance with the statute of the IAEA and the Agency's safeguards system," the present language of the first sentence of in Article III 127

The result is that "safeguards system' in Article III I must be interpreted as referring to INFCIRC/66 or substitutes for it such as INFCIRC/153. The object was to gain safeguards as effective on all nuclear activities of NNWS NPT Parties as INFCIRC/66 was on activities to which it was applicable in 1967 when Article III I was negotiated. At the same time, however, the safeguards each NNWS would actually accept would depend upon future negotiations between the NNWS and the IAEA. As the United States told its allies, 'the new language avoids calling the NPT safeguards "IAEA safeguards." It makes clear, of course, that they must be in accordance with the IAEA Statute and safeguards system. There is considerable flexibility in both".28

By 1968, a substitute for INFCIRC/66 for NNWS NPT Parties was anticipated, particularly by countries having Euratom safeguards. But INFCIRC/66 was still the basic IAEA "safeguards system" and the most appropriate existing standard available to all the countries then considering joining the NPT. In several respects, it authorised more intrusive and more frequent inspections than INFIRC/153 — which came only after long negonations. For example, it permitted "special inspections," for non-routine checks without any stated limitation on location, when "[a]ny unforeseen circumstance requires immediate attention". INFCIRC/153's comparable provision requires that if the IAEA Secretariat determines that the information already supplied "is not adequate", it may seek a special inspection, and if the state to be inspected objects, the Secretariat may appeal to the Board which may, if prompt action is needed, decide that the inspection "is essential and urgent in order to ensure verification that nuclear material subject to safeguards—is not diverted to nuclear weapons or other nuclear explosive devices." "30"

Article III 1 did not require this change in INFCIRC/153 from INFCIRC/66 The change came about as result of objections to INFCIRC/66's broader authority during the negotiations which produced INFCIRC/153 However, as an interpretation of Article III, the broader authority of

<sup>23</sup> See G Bunn Arms Control by Committee op cit pp 87 103

<sup>24</sup> Memorandum of August 28, 1967 G Bunn to W C Foster

<sup>25</sup> Memorandum of August 29 1967 G Bunn to W C Foster

<sup>26</sup> Working paper of September 1 1967

<sup>27</sup> US Aide Memoire of November 13 1967 sent to US allies

<sup>28</sup> US Aide Memoire of November 13 1967 op cit

<sup>29</sup> Para 53(b)

<sup>30</sup> Para 73 18

INFCIRC/66 would be as valid for NPT inspections as the more limited authority of INFCIRC/153 Clearly, Article III Is requirement of safeguards in accordance with the IAEA 'Statute and "safeguards system' permitted broader inspection authority than was actually utilised in INFCIRC/153

# 2 What "obligations assumed under this Treaty" (in the language of Art.III 1) is it the purpose of safeguards to verify?

Article III I states that safeguards are required of a NNWS NPT Party "for the exclusive purpose of verification of the fulfilment of its obligations assumed under this Treaty with a view to preventing diversion of nuclear energy from peaceful purposes to nuclear weapons or other nuclear explosive devices' What NPT obligations are designed to "prevent diversion of nuclear energy to nuclear explosive devices?"

One such obligation is clearly the NNWS NPT members obligation in NPT's Article II not to manufacture" such devices<sup>31</sup> INFCIRC/153 confirms the focus of safeguards on this Article II prohibition. It says that the "objective of safeguards" under the NPT should be "the timely detection of diversion of significant quantities of nuclear material from peaceful nuclear activities to the manufacture of nuclear weapons or of other nuclear explosive devices or for purposes unknown and deterrence of such diversion by the risk of early detection" The obligation not to manufacture is broad, it includes many steps in the direction of manufacture if the purpose is ultimately to manufacture a nuclear explosive device<sup>33</sup>

What other obligations, if any, are included? The pertinent language of Article II goes beyond manufacture "not to manufacture or otherwise acquire nuclear weapons or other explosive devices. Is the obligation not to "otherwise acquire" nuclear explosive devices one of the Article III 1 "obligations assumed under this Treaty with a view of preventing diversion of nuclear energy from peaceful uses to nuclear explosive devices"?

The preparatory work confirms that verifying the obligation not to manufacture nuclear weapons is the main purpose of safeguards, but suggests that something more could be included. In the first informal US-Soviet delegation working group on options for Article III which the delegations might recommend to their governments, the Americans suggested a draft containing language much like that now in Article III 1 except that the obligations to be verified were those 'assumed under this Treaty not to divert source or special fissionable material to nuclear weapons, 'rather than assumed under this Treaty with a view to preventing diversion of nuclear energy from peaceful uses to nuclear weapons. The Russians countered by suggesting the addition to the American delegation's language of references to "Articles I and II' before "this Treaty. If this had been accepted 'obligations assumed under Articles I and II of this Treaty not to divert' could have included for example, Article I obligations of NWS not to transfer control of nuclear weapons to NNWS, and Article II obligations of NNWS not to receive control of such weapons

At that time, there were many American nuclear weapons deployed on the territory of American allies which were under US control in peacetime, but might not be in the event of war. The NATO arrangements for the deployment and possible use of US nuclear weapons in defence of Western Europe against an attack by the Soviet Union and its allies had been one of the things the Soviets had

<sup>31</sup> See Bunn and Timerbaev op cut pp 9-10

<sup>32</sup> INFCIRC/153 para 28

<sup>33</sup> See Bunn and Timerbaev op cut supra pp 3-8

<sup>34</sup> US delegation working paper of 28 August 1967

earlier sought to prohibit through the NPT<sup>35</sup> The Americans suspected that the Soviet suggestion that the IAEA safeguard American control of US nuclear weapons deployed in Europe was another attempt to challenge NATO nuclear arrangements, they therefore objected to any reference as broad as "Articles I and II' to define the obligations whose observance the IAEA was to verify<sup>36</sup>

As a substitute for the Soviet delegation's suggestion, the Americans proposed that the "obligations" that safeguards were to verify should be those "not to manufacture nuclear weapons or other nuclear devices" The Soviet experts refused to accept this, arguing that it wasn't broad enough, it might not, they said, cover safeguards on reprocessing or storage of fissionable materials since that was not the "manufacture" of nuclear weapons<sup>37</sup> They accepted that the ultimate purpose of safeguards was to detect and thereby deter the production of nuclear weapons, and both sides wanted to apply safeguards to all nuclear-related activities that might be steps toward the final assembly of nuclear weapons. Later the Soviet delegation proposed alternative language as a compromise. NNWS NPT members would accept safeguards "with a view to preventing diversion of nuclear energy from peaceful uses to nuclear weapons or other nuclear explosive devices for the exclusive purpose of verification of the fulfilment of the obligations assumed under this Treaty" Still later this sentence was rearranged and included in the first sentence of Article III 1 the "exclusive purpose" of safeguards is to venify the fulfilment of "obligations assumed under this Treaty with a view to preventing diversion of nuclear energy from peaceful uses to nuclear weapons or other nuclear explosive devices " (Emphasis added in both drafts)

The basic purpose of safeguards is thus not to verify which allied country will control nuclear weapons in the event of war but the NNWS' obligation not to manufacture nuclear explosive devices, using manufacture in a broad enough sense to cover many steps in the direction of final assembly of a weapon. That was confirmed in explanations of Article III to the Geneva Disarmament Conference by Soviet and American delegations. This means inspecting early steps that could lead to the production of explosive nuclear material in, for example, plants for plutonium separation, uranium enrichment or fuel fabrication as well as in reactors and nuclear-material storage facilities, all for the purpose of assuring that the plutonium or enriched uranium is not diverted to nuclear explosives INFCIRC/66 and 153 both include provisions for inspection of reactors and other fuel cycle facilities. Moreover, since the scope of the Article II obligation not to "manufacture" nuclear explosives is broad enough to include not only these facilities but steps before the final assembly of a nuclear explosive device, the IAEA is authorised by Article III 1 to inquire about and inspect for those steps.

Do the obligations to be verified go beyond the obligation not to "manufacture", to include at least some of the obligation "not to otherwise acquire?" The "objective" of NPT safeguards, according to INFCIRC/153's interpretation of Article III is timely detection of diversion to the "manufacture" of nuclear explosive devices "or for purposes unknown" Moreover, the purpose of the Russian change of the word "material" to "energy" in the first sentence of Article III 1 was clearly to broaden the obligation to be verified beyond "manufacture" if that word was used in the narrow sense of actual assembly of nuclear weapons. Yet whether anything beyond "manufacture" in the

<sup>35</sup> See e.g. statement by US Representative to Geneva Disarmament Conference G. Bunn of July 19 1966 ENDC PVOL.274 reprinted in US ACDA Documents on Disarmament 1966 pp 455 60

<sup>36</sup> Memorandum of August 30 1967 G Bunn to W C Foster

<sup>37</sup> Memorandum of August 30 1967 op cit

<sup>38</sup> Statements by Soviet Representative Roshchin ENDC/PVOL 325 and 370 reprinted in ACDA Documents on Disarmament 1967 pp 347 351 118 and 183 US delegation reporting cable Geneva's 602 to State Dept p 3 Bunn & Timerbaev op cit p 10

<sup>39</sup> Bunn & Timerbaev op cit pp 3 15

<sup>40</sup> INFCIRC/153 para 28

broad sense (i.e. including various steps having weapons as their ultimate goal) is to be verified is unclear from the treaty language, from its interpretation by the parties in INFCIRC/153 and from the preparatory work of the negotiations. It therefore is up to the parties to provide the answer in their negotiation of safeguards agreements with the IAEA.

3 Does NPT language suggesting that safeguards focus on "strategic points" to safeguard 'source and special fissionable material" to prevent diversion from "peaceful uses" limit the scope of the IAEA's inquiry to strategic points in declared peaceful activities utilising nuclear material (shorthand for "source or special fissionable material" in Article III)?

#### (a) Limitation to "peaceful" nuclear activities?

As we have seen, in Article III 1 NNWS NPT members undertake to "accept safeguards as set forth in an agreement' to be negotiated with the IAEA "for the exclusive purpose" of venfication of the NPT obligations assumed "with a view to preventing diversion of nuclear energy from peaceful uses" to nuclear explosives. According to the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties peaceful should be construed in "light of its object and purpose" in the NPT.

In Articles II and III, the manufacture of "nuclear explosive devices—is to be prevented whether the objective of the manufacturer is the civilian one of digging a harbour or the military one of destroying an air or naval base. Therefore, an ultimate civilian use claimed for an explosive device is irrelevant to the purpose of Articles II and III, whether an explosive device is for 'peaceful' (meaning here 'civilian') purposes or not, it is prohibited. Therefore, the connection of an activity to the manufacture of nuclear explosives must be the focus of inspector concern to achieve the objectives of Articles II and III. Thus, the use of "peaceful" in Article III does not prevent inspection of activities susceptible to diversion to explosives just because the party being inspected insists that the activities are military. To conclude otherwise would clearly frustrate the purpose of Article II of the NPT to prevent the making of nuclear weapons by NNWS Parties.

This was confirmed during the drafting of INFCIRC/153 In the first place, the objective of safeguards was changed from the INFCIRC/66 idea of ensuring that nuclear material and facilities were not used in such a way "as to further any military purpose. The new objective stated in INFCIRC/153 was the detection of diversion of nuclear material from "peaceful nuclear activities to the manufacture of nuclear weapons or other nuclear explosive devices or for purposes unknown."

Thus because of the NPT's prohibition, the purpose of safeguards was to detect diversion to nuclear

The drafters of Article III used peaceful as shorthand for the language in Article III A 5 of the IAEA Statute stating that IAEAs safeguards should ensure that nuclear material equipment facilities etc. are not used in such a way as to further any military purpose. See G Bunn. The Nuclear Non Proliferation Treaty. Wis Law Rev. ew. Vol. 1968. No. 3 p. 780. To verify that there is no diversion to nuclear explosive devices the IAEA may inspect nuclear material to be used in permitted mulitary activities such as naval propulsion reactors. In such a case, the IAEA Statute does provide legal authority to apply safeguards to achieve the objective foreseen in NPT namely to verify that there is no diversion, to nuclear weapons or other explosive devices and to conclude [sateguards] agreements to that effect. Document 4 analysis by the Director General submitted to the committee drafting the NPT model safeguards agreement. INFCIRC/153 as quoted in Myron Kratzer. Review of the Negotiating History of the IAEA Safeguards. Document. INFCIRC/153. April 1983 (unpublished research report). Thus the ultimate mulitary use for the material under safeguards did not prevent inspecting it to prevent diversion to nuclear explosive devices pursuant to Article III.1 in the territory of non-nuclear weapon States that had consented to such inspections by joining the NPT.

<sup>42</sup> Para 2 of INFCIRC/66 quoting Article III A 5 of the IAEA Statute

<sup>43</sup> INFCIRC/153 para 28

weapons or other nuclear explosive devices," no matter how peaceful, rather than to any "military purpose"

After a debate about whether "peaceful" in the first and third sentences of Article III 1 precluded safeguards on material to be used for *non-explosive multary* purposes such as naval reactors, INFCIRC/153's drafters decided to require safeguards upon nuclear material destined for military reactors while it was in nuclear-material storage facilities, and in uranium separation and plutonium processing plants, "regardless of the past or future use of the nuclear material in question," that is, whether that use was military or civilian<sup>44</sup> It was thought that these plants were inherently non-military even if their total output was used for military purposes. If plants capable of producing plutonium or enriched uranium for permitted (i.e., non-explosive) military uses were not safeguarded, the chances of detecting diversion to explosive use would have been much reduced. Thus, whether or not the material in these plants was for "peaceful" purposes in the non-military rather than the non-explosive sense, it was to be under safeguards in order to prevent diversion to explosives.

For a naval reactor, "a nuclear activity which does not require the application of safeguards," INFCIRC/153 permits a temporary withdrawal from IAEA inspection "only while the nuclear material is in such an activity" It requires that the material so used be declared and it prohibits use for the production of nuclear explosives. Moreover, it requires the state to make clear that the material's use in such a "non-proscribed [i.e., non-explosive] mulitary activity will not be in conflict with an undertaking the state may have given and in respect of which Agency safeguards apply, that the nuclear material will only be used in a peaceful nuclear activity. Thus, in Article III usage, the governing objective of preventing the manufacture of nuclear explosives gave new meaning to an old word "peaceful" can sometimes mean "non-explosive" rather than "non-military"

"Peaceful" in Article III therefore does not inhibit inspectors from safeguarding nuclear material intended for military purposes to see that it is not diverted to explosives, it does not inhibit them, for example, from searching for clandestine nuclear activities at military bases. When the DPRK insisted that the sites subject to the Director General's request for special inspection were "military," the IAEA Board agreed with the Director General that such a claim would not exempt those sites from inspection

#### (b) Limitation to activities where nuclear material is present?

Article III 1 and NPT safeguards agreements focus primarily but not exclusively on nuclear material. As we have seen, Article III's first sentence requires safeguards for the purpose of verifying NPT obligations intended to prevent diversion of "nuclear energy," not material, to nuclear explosives. The second sentence says that the safeguards required by the first apply with respect to "source or special fissionable material". The third says these safeguards "shall be applied on all source or special fissionable material." And one of the NPT's preambular provisions calls for efforts "to further the application of the principle of safeguarding effectively the flow of source or special fissionable materials by use of instruments and techniques at strategic points" (emphasis added in each quotation)

<sup>44</sup> The quotation is from IAEA Official Records 32-37 76 (1971) See Myron Kratzer op cit pp 161 64 See also INFCIRC/153 paras 42-46 70-82 and 106

<sup>45</sup> Рага 14

<sup>46</sup> Para 14(a) (emphasis added)

<sup>47</sup> The full text of these sentences is quoted in footnote 13 above

Except for the reference to "nuclear energy" in the first sentence the one establishing the requirement and describing the purpose of safeguards, the object of all of this language is material. But nuclear "energy" was used in the first sentence because it is broader than nuclear "material. A dictionary meaning of "energy" includes both "power" and the "resources for producing such power – in the case of nuclear energy, both nuclear fission or fusion and the nuclear materials which fission or fuse. In physics, "energy" is the capacity for doing work such as overcoming the resistance of gravity or friction. Replacing "material" with the broader word "energy" in the first sentence because the safeguards might otherwise be too limited in scope suggests that inspection may have been intended to detect the diversion of nuclear "power" or "capacity to do work to nuclear explosives – the basic purpose of Article II, whether or not nuclear "material" was present at the place of inspection

While this does not negate the primary focus of safeguards on nuclear 'material' it does suggest that detecting, containing and accounting for such material need not be the only functions of IAEA inspections. Moreover, none of Article III's sentences say that the only places that may be inspected are those where nuclear material is present. The third sentence comes the closest when it says that safeguards "shall be applied on all" nuclear "material." But it doesn't say safeguards 'shall only be applied on nuclear material. Moreover, both the second and third sentences by their terms apply to the "safeguards required by this article", thus pointing to the first sentence as governing--and it uses the word "energy" rather than "material." Thus, while the main focus of Article III is on safeguarding nuclear material, its language does not preclude inspecting items that do not contain such material if the purpose of the inspection is ultimately to detect in a timely fashion whether nuclear material may be diverted to "nuclear explosive devices or for purposes unknown and deterrence of such diversion by the risk of early detection." For example, if nuclear weapons activities not yet involving nuclear material are suspected, they could be subjected to inspection on the ground that they imply a likely future diversion of nuclear material to nuclear explosives and that the IAEA's ability to detect such a diversion early is necessary to deter it from happening

INFCIRC/66 the initial "safeguards system" referred to by Article III 1 also focused its "safeguards' on accounting for "nuclear material". But, in several instances, it authorised inspection for evidence of diversion of material even though no material was expected to be present. Thus "routine inspections" could include "audit of records and reports" without limitation as to whether they were co-located with material. And "initial inspections" of principal nuclear facilities were to take place before the facilities started to operate, in some cases this meant before nuclear material was installed in them. Finally, "special inspections" were authorised if "[a]ny unforeseen circumstance requires immediate action," without any requirement that nuclear material be present at the location inspected.

INFCIRC/153 is faithful to this primary focus on "materials". However it also contemplates some attention to locations where nuclear material may not be present at the time of the visit. Indeed the definition of a nuclear "facility", which is subject to regular inspection, includes those locations

<sup>48</sup> The language quoted in the text is from Webster's Ninth New Collegiate Dictionary (Merriam Webster 1986) energy

<sup>49</sup> Webster's New Twentieth Century Dictionary (Unabridged 2nd ed 1979) energy

<sup>50</sup> INFCIRC/153 para 28

<sup>51</sup> Para 19

<sup>52</sup> Para. 49(a)

<sup>53</sup> Para. 51(b)

<sup>54</sup> Para 53(b)

where an amount greater than one effective kilogram of material "is *customarily* used"<sup>55</sup> Indeed, the list of named facilities subject to inspection does not require that they contain nuclear material at the time of inspection<sup>56</sup> In addition, INFCIRC/153's requirement for early submission of design information for facilities assumes a visit to them *before* they contain nuclear material in order to compare design with final construction<sup>57</sup>

INFCIRC/ 153 explicitly authorises "special" inspections to gain "access to information or locations in addition to the access specified" for routine and *ad hoc* inspections. In other words, special inspections may seek access to locations not declared by the state subject to inspection INFCIRC/153 does not, by its terms, require the presence of nuclear material for such an inspection.

Clearly INFCIRC/66 and 153 accept circumstances in which inspection can take place even though no nuclear material is present. They suggest that inquiry and inspection is authorised by Article III under appropriate circumstances despite the absence of such material.

(c) Limitation to nuclear activities that have been declared and are located at "strategic points?"

Article III and the INFCIRC/153 special-inspection provision authorise inquiry about, and inspection of, *undeclared* nuclear activities<sup>59</sup> The Board reaffirmed that conclusion both in the DPRK case and at the March 1995 Board meeting on Programme 93+2<sup>60</sup> At the 1995 NPT Review and Extension Conference, NPT members agreed that the "Agency's capability to detect undeclared nuclear activities should be increased" There seems to be no doubt now that Article III authorises IAEA inquiry about and search for nuclear activities that NNWS NPT members may have failed to declare

In the case of "strategic points," the preamble supports the "application of the principle of safeguarding effectively the flow of source and special fissionable materials by use of instruments and other techniques at certain strategic points." This principle had a major impact on the negotiation of the NPT model safeguards agreement INFCIRC/153 reflects that impact by prohibiting inspectors, during routine inspections, from access to nuclear activities except at strategic points. However, by

<sup>55</sup> INFCIRC/153 Para.106 emphasis added

<sup>56</sup> The list includes a reactor a critical facility a conversion plant, a fabrication plant, a reprocessing plant, an isotope separation plant or a separate storage installation. INFCIRC/153 para. 106

<sup>57</sup> INFCIRC/153 paras 8 42 46 48

<sup>58</sup> Paras 73 and 77

<sup>59</sup> See G Bunn 'Does the NPT Require its NNWS members to Permit Inspection by the IAEA of Nuclear Activities that Have Not Been Reported to the IAEA? (Stanford U Center for International Security and Arms Control 1992)

<sup>60</sup> The Board concluded that existing NPT safeguards agreements had the broad purpose of providing credible assurance of the non-diversion of nuclear material from declared facilities and absence of undeclared activities. IAEA Press Release Vienna March 31 1995 (emphasis added)

<sup>61</sup> NPT/CONF 1995/L 5 May 11 1995 In a committee of the conference the participating NPT parties agreed that implementation of NNWS NPT safeguards should be designed to provide for verification by the Agency of the correctness and completeness of a State's declaration so that there is credible assurance of the non-diversion of nuclear material from declared activities and of the absence of undeclared nuclear activities in accordance with Article III paragraph 1 of the Treaty Report of Main Committee II NPT/CONF 1995/MC.II/1 5 May 1995 Para 15 This and much other committee language was not formally adopted by the Conference for unrelated reasons But the text shows no disagreement with this language by the participating NPT Parties

<sup>62</sup> Para.76 For the impact of this principle on the negotiation of INFCIRC/153 see David Fischer Towards 1995 op cit pp 53 57. It was given extra force by a last minute addition to Article III 3 of a statement that safeguards be implemented in a manner designed to avoid hampering economic or technological development in accordance the principle of safeguarding set forth in the Preamble of the Treaty. Germany and some other Euratom members had expressed concern about industrial espionage if IAEA inspectors could go anywhere in a nuclear facility.

points at all times and in all circumstances. Indeed, INFCIRC/153 designates cases in which the principle is not to be applied. Thus, INFCIRC/153 constitutes a negotiated application of the principle, and an interpretation of Article III showing that its language does not require that safeguards be applied only at strategic points. Indeed, the authority to inspect undeclared activities would disappear if only the strategic points designated in declared nuclear activities could be inspected. Safeguards agreements can thus be supplemented consistent with Article III to permit inspection at other non-strategic places besides those permitted by existing safeguards agreements.

#### (d) Other language affecting the scope of inspections

As pointed out earlier, the first sentence of Article III says that the applicable safeguards for each NNWS NPT member are those set forth in an agreement with the IAEA "in accordance with the Statute" of that Agency. That Statute provides that, when "requested by the parties concerned to apply safeguards," the IAEA is to have "rights and responsibilities to the extent relevant" to the particular "arrangement" calling for verification. The IAEA's rights under its Statute include sending inspectors "who shall have access at all times to all places and data and to any person who by reason of his occupation deals with materials, equipment or facilities which are required by this Statute to be safeguarded. "55 Thus by agreeing to Article III, NNWS NPT members agreed to wide no-notice access to information, places and people – to "the extent relevant" to the NPT's verification. In the end, the NPT language must therefore be the focus of inquiry, as it has been in this article. It contains nothing requiring prior notice of inspections.

#### **D** CONCLUSION

Legal questions raised by "Programme 93+2" include whether the NPT authorises the IAEA to demand that safeguards agreements with a NNWS NPT Party permit it

- a) to require declarations or demand information about activities that are not necessarily
  associated with nuclear material but may be related to the nuclear fuel cycle or to other steps
  necessary to making nuclear explosives,
- to inspect for such activities whether or not "peaceful," declared, or at strategic points, and whether or not prior notice has been given, and to take environmental samples during such inspections

My conclusions are that, in appropriate circumstances, the NPT authorises the IAEA to demand all of these things in a safeguards agreement concluded in accordance with the IAEA Statute' and "safeguards system" for the purpose of verifying the NNWS' NPT promise not to manufacture' nuclear weapons. While this standard may not always be clear enough to answer all questions raised by Programme 93+2, it provides adequate scope for interpretation by the parties and the IAEA in their negotiation of safeguards agreements to include all the current 93+2 proposals. Indeed, some NNWS parties, Australia for example, have taken the position that the NPT and INFCIRC/153 are broad enough to cover all proposals classed by the Secretariat as Part 2 well as those classed as Part I

<sup>63</sup> Paras 71 and 76

<sup>64</sup> Article XII of the IAEA Statute

<sup>65</sup> Article XII 6 emphasis added

# Preventing the Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons: 50 Years of Atoms for Peace

### By Tom Vanden Borre and Roland Carchon\*

#### 1 INTRODUCTION

In the 1930s, much scientific research was carried out on the composition and structure of the nucleus of the atom. It was in 1939, on the eve of the second World War that, when carrying out experiments with uranium in Berlin, Hahn and Strassman discovered a strange phenomenon which they were not at the time able to explain. Subsequently, this phenomenon was described as nuclear fission, i.e. the splitting into pieces of a nucleus under the effect of external factors (or spontaneously), liberating a quantity of energy which, compared with the energy sources known at the time, was enormous. During the war, scientists warned that nuclear energy could also be used for political and military purposes. On 6 and 9 August 1945, two nuclear bombs were used to destroy the Japanese towns of Hiroshima and Nagasaki, killing some 120,000 people.

As from the first successfully controlled chain reaction, mankind was faced with two major challenges<sup>2</sup> to avoid using nuclear energy for military purposes, and to ensure that this energy source is used safely. There is a risk that human civilisation could be destroyed by a nuclear accident or by the military use of nuclear energy. Producing nuclear energy does not only involve the risk of an accident (as at Chemobyl). There are several aspects to nuclear risk.

- Safety including safety in nuclear power plants and during transport, and the protection of the public and the environment against the hazards caused by ionizing radiation,
- Security involving the protection of radioactive materials against terronst or criminal acts,
- Safeguards designed to ensure that nuclear energy is used exclusively for peaceful purposes.
   The concept of "safeguards" can be defined as a system of international measures designed to detect diversion of nuclear material to unauthorised uses<sup>3</sup>

The proliferation of nuclear weapons is only one aspect of the overall nuclear risk. Clearly, it is not always easy to draw a dividing line between these different aspects since they influence one other. This article will be limited to an analysis of the safeguards system and its associated international measures, and will not deal with safety or security aspects.

<sup>\*</sup> Tom Vanden Borre is Assistant Legal Advisor at the Nuclear Energy Study Centre (CEN SCK) and Research Fellow at the University of Limburg Maastricht Roland Carchon is Head of the Safeguards Projects of the Nuclear Energy Study Centre (CEN SCK) The authors would like to thank Mr. A Darricau and Mrs. C Beghin for their comments on a previous version of this article. The facts contained and ideas expressed in this article are the responsibility of the authors alone.

<sup>1</sup> Leclerq J L ere nucleaire Le monde des centrales nucleaires Hachette 1986 p 51

<sup>2</sup> Blix H The Dual Challenge of a Nuclear Age IAEA Bulletin No 1 1993 p 33

<sup>3</sup> Sanders B and Ha Vinh Phuong International Safeguards Nuclear Law Bulletin No 18 1976 p 54

The international controls with regard to the peaceful use of nuclear energy are based on two cornerstones. Article XII of the Statute of the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) and for the Member States of the European Union, Chapter VII of the Euratom Treaty. These safeguards systems enable the production and proliferation of nuclear weapons to be controlled. The most important instrument as regards non-proliferation is the Treaty on the Non-proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (NPT) of 1968<sup>4</sup>

This article will concentrate essentially on the NPT (being by far the most universal Treaty) on the IAEA safeguards system and on the system of safeguards applying in the Member States of Euratom<sup>5</sup>

We shall begin with a description of the historical background (Section 2) to the creation of the IAEA and Euratom (21) and to the spread of nuclear weapons throughout the world (22). We shall then analyse, in Section 3, the treaties designed to limit the spread of nuclear weapons, dealing successively with treaties on the demilitarisation of the res communis (31), treaties on the non-proliferation of nuclear weapons (32), treaties on disarmament (33) and treaties dealing with nuclear testing (34). Section 4 ("Safeguards Systems for Controlling Fuel") will discuss the role of the IAEA in the safeguards system (Section 411) and then, naturally, we shall deal above all with the NPT, in particular with the rights and obligations of signatory countries (Section 412) as well as the role of Euratom (42) and the synergy between Euratom and the IAEA (43). In Section 5 we shall deal briefly with problem countries. This will enable us to draw conclusions from bad experiences and will lead us to discuss a strengthening of safeguards (Section 6). Lastly, in Section 7 we shall assess the safeguards system after approximately a quarter century's operation

#### 2 HISTORIAL BACKGROUND

This section deals first with the political situation in the years leading up to the creation of the IAEA and Euratom (2.1), before describing the spread of nuclear weapons throughout the world from Hiroshima and Nagasaki to the present day (2.2)

#### 2 1 Creation of IAEA and Euratom

We the peoples of the United Nations,

Determined

to save succeeding generations from the scourge of war which twice in our lifetime has brought untold sorrow to mankind

Thus begins the Charter of the United Nations of 26 June 1945 On 6 and 9 August, two atomic bombs destroyed Hiroshima and Nagasaki In January 1946, the General Assembly of the United Nations met for the first time and addressed the problem caused by the discovery of atomic energy and the use of nuclear weapons<sup>6</sup> Reflecting the concern of the international community in this

There are other treaties relating to the non-proliferation of nuclear weapons such as the Treaty for Prohibition of Nuclear Weapons in Latin America (Tlatelolco 1967) and the South Pacific Nuclear Free Zone Treaty (Rarotongo 1985). To these may be added the Agreement concluded between Argentina and Brazil on the Peaceful Use of Nuclear Materials (1991) as well as the Treaty establishing Euratom (Rome 25 March 1957). This latter also sets out provisions relating to safeguards but it is a much wider Treaty introducing special rules on nuclear material ownership and containing provisions relating to health protection etc.

<sup>5</sup> In this article we shall frequently use the following abbreviations NPT (Treaty on the Non Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons) NNWS (Non Nuclear Weapon States) and NWS (Nuclear Weapon States)

<sup>6</sup> McKnight A Atomic Safeguards A Study in International Verification UNTAR New York 1971 Scheinman L The International Atomic Energy Agency and World Nuclear Order Resources for the Future 1987 Kooymans P H

respect, the first Resolution adopted by the General Assembly set up the *UN Atomic Energy Commission* (AEC) with the task of drafting proposals for the elimination of nuclear weapons, the exchange of scientific information and the control of the peaceful use of nuclear energy. It should be noted that the word *safeguards* is already present in this Resolution. In the years following the second World War, nuclear technology was kept secret or passed on, hitle by hitle, to new allies. The proposals for the future of the use of nuclear energy and above all for the spreading of technological and scientific know-how were made, therefore, by the United States on the one hand, and the Soviet Union on the other

In June 1946, the United States representative within the UN Atomic Energy Commission, Bernard Baruch, suggested that an *International Atomic Development Authority* be set up. This, had it in fact been created, would have been in a very special position vis-à-vis the different phases of the production and use of nuclear energy. The Authority would have had the exclusive right to carry out research in the field of atomic explosions and to produce and possess fissile materials. No other nuclear activity would have been allowed unless authorised by the Authority and all would have been controlled by it. As from the setting up of the Authority, the United States would have destroyed all of its nuclear weapons and would have communicated all of its technological know-how to the Authority. The proposal was, however, rejected by the Soviet Union, which tabled a suggestion (by Mr Gromyko) for the drafting of a Convention banning the production and use of nuclear weapons and providing that three months after the entry into force of the Convention, all nuclear weapons should be destroyed. Only after this, would verification and control measures have been negotiated

Great efforts were made to reconcile views, which varied widely, as to the phases of the banning of nuclear weapons and inspection and control procedures. The last meeting of the AEC took place in July 1949. This is when the Soviet Union carried out its first nuclear explosion and the nuclear arms race—as well as the Cold War—began. The Cold War was at the origin of the "vertical" proliferation of nuclear weapons, and in particular the spectacular increase, in both quantitative and qualitative terms, of the destructive capacity of the nuclear arsenals of the United States and the Soviet Union. This vertical proliferation ended only with the ending of the Cold War. Meanwhile, the spread of nuclear weapons throughout the world—"horizontal proliferation"—was less rapid than had been feared in the 1950s and 1960s.

In December 1953, by which time the USSR and the United Kingdom had joined the nuclear club, President Eisenhower of the United States gave his *Atoms for Peace* speech before the General Assembly of the United Nations. On this occasion, he proposed the setting up of an "International Atomic Energy Agency" under the auspices of the United Nations, which would take charge of the international dissemination of nuclear technology for peaceful purposes. At this time, there was wide consensus among the major powers about general policy, and this led in 1957 to the creation of the IAEA. The basic idea of the *Atoms for Peace* speech given by Eisenhower was taken up in the Statute of the Agency, which refers to its dual function.

Article II of the Statute emphasises the promotional role of the Agency

to accelerate and enlarge the contribution of atomic energy to peace, health and prosperity throughout the world

The Peaceful Application of Nuclear Power and the Non Proliferation System Proliferation and the Safeguarding of the Peaceful Application of Nuclear Power Koninklijk Instituut van Ingenieurs Kerntechniek The Hague Symposium 9 December 1976

<sup>7</sup> PH Kooymans op cit p 7 L Scheinman op cit p 51

<sup>8</sup> L Schemman op cit

#### Article III 5 stresses the supervisory role of the Agency

to establish and administer safeguards designed to ensure that special fissionable and other materials, services equipment, facilities, and information made available by the Agency or at its request or under its supervision or control are not used in such a way as to further any military purpose, and to apply safeguards, at the request of the parties to any bilateral or multilateral arrangement or at the request of a State, to any of the State's activities in the field of atomic energy

Meanwhile, co-operation had developed at the European level, culminating in 1957 when the Treaty of Rome was signed by the Benelux countries, France, Germany and Italy This marked not only the establishment of the European Economic Community but also that of Euratom The Euratom Treaty provides for extensive technical and scientific co-operation and also aims to ensure that nuclear materials are not diverted from the uses for which their users declared they are intended. Moreover Euratom is responsible for controlling agreements concluded with third States (e.g. the United States) or an international organisation (e.g. co-operation with IAEA concerning safeguards pursuant to the Non-Proliferation Treaty)

#### 2.2 Spread of Nuclear Weapons Throughout the World

There has been an enormous spread or proliferation of nuclear weapons since the atom bomb was first developed. The number of nuclear-weapon countries has increased and each of them has greatly increased its arsenal both in terms of quantity and quality.

Since China became a member of the club of nuclear-weapon States in 1964 no other country has admitted to having such weapons<sup>10</sup> For the time being, therefore, there are still only five countries which officially possess nuclear weapons<sup>10</sup> China, France, the ex-USSR, the United States of America and the United Kingdom. In addition to these five countries officially possessing nuclear weapons and recognised under the NPT<sup>11</sup>, there are also three countries which are not signatories of the NPT but which could, since the early 1980s, be called "de facto nuclear-weapon States." Israel India and Pakistan<sup>12</sup> Israel is generally thought to have developed nuclear weapons already. As for India and Pakistan, they at least have the capability of deploying such weapons rapidly. Given the secrecy surrounding the nuclear programmes in these countries, little is known about the number of weapons or the quantities of highly enached uranium or plutonium in their possession. A good deal of information has, however, been published in recent years<sup>13</sup>

Three countries have recently given up their nuclear military ambitions. South Africa. Argentina and Brazil. South Africa acceded to the NPT in 1991. Moreover, President De Klerk announced in March 1993 that his country had produced six nuclear weapons in the 1980s but that they had since been completely dismantled. Since 1991, all the nuclear material from these weapons has been made.

<sup>9</sup> Spector LS The Undeclared Bomb The Spread of Nuclear Weapons 1987 1988 Carnegie Endowment Book 1988 p. 3

Officially means recognised by the NPT as a NWS see Article IX 3 of the NPT. For the purposes of this Treaty a nuclear weapon State is one which has manufactured and exploded a nuclear weapon or other nuclear explosive device prior to 1 January 1967.

<sup>11</sup> It should be noted that the arsenals of the ex-Soviet Union and the United States included more than 95 per cent of the total number of nuclear weapons in the world (SIPRI Yearbook 1989)

<sup>12</sup> See also Carchon R La non-proliferation d'armes nucleaires et les controles internationaux SCK CEN NN 3605 1995 p 54

<sup>13</sup> Albright D Berkhout F Walker W World Inventory of Plutonium and Highly Enriched Uranium 1992 SIPRI Oxford University Press

available for Agency inspections. As regards Argentina and Brazil, they concluded an agreement on the exclusively peaceful use of nuclear energy on 18 July 1991<sup>14</sup> Inspections are carried out by a body set up under this bilateral agreement, namely the ABACC (Brazilian-Argentinean Agency for Nuclear Material Accounting and Control). An inspection agreement similar to that existing between Euratom and the IAEA has been concluded with the IAEA<sup>15</sup>, under which the IAEA is allowed to undertake initial inspections, always in collaboration with the ABACC<sup>16</sup>

The policy of non-proliferation has, however, not been able to prevent either the quantitative or the qualitative development of nuclear weapons. In 1990, there were some 50 000 nuclear warheads throughout the world with a destructive force very much greater than that of the Hiroshima and Nagasaki bombs. Over the years, much effort has been put into drafting binding international obligations dealing with a whole series of questions relating to the non-proliferation of nuclear weapons. These will be discussed in the following section.

### 3 TREATIES LIMITING THE DEPLOYMENT OF NUCLEAR WEAPONS<sup>18</sup>

Countless negotiations have been conducted since the second World War aimed at concluding international agreements about nuclear control and disarmament in general. These negotiations have been conducted within the United Nations<sup>19</sup>, or on a bilateral basis between the major military powers. Treaties limiting the deployment of nuclear weapons deal with different aspects, such as the demilitarisation of the *res communis* (3.1), the non-proliferation of nuclear weapons (3.2), nuclear disarmament (3.3) and nuclear tests (3.4)

#### 3 1 Demilitarisation of the Res Communis

It should first of all be said that these treaties today play an important role in the international law of the environment even though they were concluded at a time when the environmental impact of activities was given less consideration than is the case today. These treaties aimed, first of all, to limit the arms race inasmuch as they restricted use of the res communis such as the Antarctic, outer space, the moon and the sea-bed. Moreover, these treaties go further than denuclearisation, ie beyond the setting up of a nuclear-weapon-free zone, since in banning the presence of all weapons of mass destruction, they in effect provide for the demilitarisation of the res communis.

<sup>14</sup> Agreement between the Republic of Argentina and the Federative Republic of Brazil on the Use of Nuclear Energy Solely for Peaceful Purposes IAEA INFCIRC/395 November 1991 The text is also summarised in the Nuclear Law Bulletin No 48 (December 1991) and No 49 (June 1992)

<sup>15</sup> See infra Section 4 3

<sup>16</sup> Argentina and Brazil are also Parties to the Treaty of Tlatelolco but so far only Argentina has acceded to the NPT

<sup>17</sup> Nuclear Weapons A Comprehensive Study United Nations New York 1991 p 27

<sup>18</sup> Ibid p 108 et seg

<sup>19</sup> It is interesting to note that in the middle of the Cold War the General Assembly of the United Nations adopted a Resolution declaring that the use of nuclear weapons was illegal. The West voted against this Resolution while the Communist, African and Asian countries voted in favour those of Latin America abstaining. Under international law Western countries could claim that this Resolution does not apply to them since they have consistently repudiated the ideas stated in it. (Akehurst M. A. Modern Introduction to International Law Union Hyman London Sixth Edition, 1987, p. 273)

### 311 The Antarctic Treaty<sup>20</sup>

The purpose of the Antarctic Treaty, concluded on 1 December 1959 is to ensure that Antarctica is used exclusively for peaceful purposes, in particular, for international scientific research. By prohibiting any measures of a military nature (Article I), the Treaty sets up a demilitarised zone which means ipso facto that nuclear weapons may not be introduced into the area concerned. As of July 1994, forty-two countries – including the five nuclear-weapon States – were parties to the Antarctic Treaty<sup>21</sup>, one of the first to organise on-site inspections

### 3 1 2 Treaty on Outer Space<sup>22</sup>

The purpose of the Treaty on Outer Space of 27 January 1967 is to ensure that outer space is used for the benefit of mankind (Article I). It provides that no country can have sovereign rights in respect of outer space and that all activities in outer space shall be conducted in accordance with the interests of peace and international security (Articles II and III). Thus, it is not allowed to send nuclear weapons or weapons of mass destruction into orbit around the earth. The moon and other celestial bodies must be used exclusively for peaceful purposes (Article IV). In 1994, there were ninety-three States parties to this Treaty<sup>23</sup>

#### 3 1 3 Sea-bed Treaty

This Treaty, dated 11 February 1971, provides that contracting parties may not place nuclear weapons or other weapons of mass destruction on or under the sea-bed. A verification procedure, introducing close co-operation with the UN Security Council, is provided for in Article III. Eighty-nine States have acceded to this Treaty<sup>24</sup>.

#### 3 I 4 Treaty on the Moon

The Treaty on the Moon of 18 December 1979 applies to the moon and celestial bodies other than the earth. It states that the moon and its resources are the common heritage of mankind and must be used exclusively for peaceful purposes (Articles 1, 3 and 11). It is linked to the Treaty on Outer Space, and prohibits the militarisation of the moon and the other celestial bodies. Only nine countries are parties to this Treaty<sup>25</sup>.

#### 3.2 The Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons

The desire to prevent the proliferation of nuclear weapons is manifested in two ways firstly the wish to conclude an international agreement preventing the proliferation and acquisition of nuclear weapons<sup>26</sup>, and secondly by the desire to create nuclear-weapon-free zones within which all nuclear weapons would be prohibited

<sup>20</sup> Sands Ph Principles of International Environmental Law Vol 1 Manchester University Press 1995 p 522

<sup>21</sup> Situation as at 31 July 1994 The United Nations and Nuclear Non-Proliferation, New York 1995 p. 23

<sup>22</sup> Treaty on the Principles Governing the Activities of States in the Exploration and Use of Outer Space Including the Moon and Other Celestial Bodies Sands Ph. op. cit. p. 281

<sup>23</sup> The United Nations and Nuclear Non-Proliferation, New York 1995 p 23

<sup>24</sup> Ibid

<sup>25</sup> Ibid

The non proliferation of nuclear weapons is linked to measures to limit the proliferation of the means of delivering such weapons. Note should be taken in this context of the creation in 1987 of the Missile Technology Control

### 3 2 1 Restricting the Acquisition of Nuclear Weapons the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons

The Treaty on the Non-proliferation of Nuclear Weapons<sup>27</sup> was opened for signature on 1 July 1968, and entered into force on 5 March 1970 As of March 1995, there were 178 States Parties to the Treaty<sup>28</sup>, thus making the NPT the most broadly-based instrument of non-proliferation<sup>29</sup>

#### 3 2 1 1 Main Obligations Under the NPT

The role of the NPT is to ensure that an "alarm bell" is rung in the event of the unlawful diversion of materials. The Treaty is basically a "contract" between nuclear-weapon States (NWS) and non-nuclear-weapon States (NNWS), under which

- the NNWS undertake not to receive the transfer of any nuclear weapons, not to acquire them and not to manufacture them (Article II),
- the NWS undertake not to assist in any way whatsoever the NNWS to acquire or manufacture nuclear weapons (*horizontal* proliferation) (Article 1),
- all Parties to the Treaty (both NWS and NNWS) undertake to facilitate and participate in the exchange of equipment, materials and scientific and technological information (Article IV 2),
- all Parties undertake to pursue negotiations in good faith on effective measures relating to cessation of the nuclear arms race at an early date and on general and complete disarmament (Article VI)

The Treaty contains a number of undertakings by nuclear-weapon States (NWS) and non-nuclear-weapon States (NNWS). The latter undertake not to manufacture or acquire nuclear weapons or other nuclear explosive devices (Article II). Each Signatory State undertakes to conclude an agreement with the IAEA, within eighteen months at most, after the beginning of negotiations. This agreement regulates the application of the safeguards to all peaceful nuclear activities for the purpose of verification of the fulfilment of the State's obligations (Article III), something which has given rise to the concept of "full-scope safeguards". The NPT recognises, in exchange, the right of all Parties to the fullest possible exchange of equipment, materials and scientific and technological information for the peaceful uses of nuclear energy (It may be noted in passing that most nuclear disarmament agreements provide for similar rights)

None of the restrictions imposed on NNWS applies to NWS which have, however, made a voluntary offer in respect of safeguards for their civilian nuclear industry. The IAEA thus carries out controls in a limited number of installations<sup>31</sup>. To this must be added the criticism made essentially by developing countries about the discriminatory nature of the Treaty<sup>32</sup> the NPT legalises the

Regime See The United Nations and Nuclear Non Proliferation p 18 This does not however form part of the subject matter of this article

<sup>27</sup> Herron LW Le point de vue d'un juriste sur les garanties et la non-proliferation Bulletin de l'AIEA 1982 Vol 24 N°3 pp 32-38 Fischer G La proliferation des armes nucleaires Paris Pichon et Durand-Auzias 1969 Berlia, G Problème nucleaire et relations internationales Les Cours de Droit, Paris 1972

<sup>28</sup> Blix H The IAEA United Nations and the New Global Nuclear Agenda IAEA Bulletin No 3 1995 pp 3-7

<sup>29</sup> A list of the NPT Signatory States is published in the IAEA Bulletin, No 1 1995

<sup>30</sup> Priest J 'IAEA Safeguards and the NPT Examining Connections IAEA Bulletin No. 1 1995

<sup>31</sup> Article III of the Treaty instructs the IAEA to organise safeguards in respect of fissionable material

<sup>32</sup> McKnight A op cit p 25

position of the NWS without, however, exerting real pressure on them as regards effective disarmament. Developing countries are also suspicious that the NPT is being used as an instrument to restrict the transfer of technology from North to South. Over the years, there has nevertheless developed a consensus on the importance of the NPT for the world community, as witnessed by the quasi-universal accession to the Treaty.

Article III 2 of the NPT defines only the concept of "fissionable material, not that of "equipment". The different countries which export nuclear materials therefore decided to clarify this point in an informal IAEA committee. The work of this committee, called the Zangger Committee after its Chairman, led to the establishment of the so-called Trigger List. The different nuclear exporting countries also came together to set up the "London Club", within which export policies have been harmonised. A "Trigger List" has also been drawn up by this Club

The problem of proliferation does not, however, anse solely when fuel is being processed within a nuclear power plant, but also during the transport and storage of fissionable materials. The main fear is that terrorist organisations get hold of materials which could be used to make a nuclear weapon, and sell them to the highest bidder. In this context, the Convention on the Physical Protection of Nuclear Material was concluded in New York on 3 March 1980. It obliges signatory countries to adopt the necessary provisions in their national law to ensure that nuclear materials do not fall into the wrong hands during both transport and processing. Although these aspects are linked to non-proliferation, they are not dealt with in the present article.

### 3212 Review Conferences - Duration - Extension Conference 36 37

The NPT, concluded for a limited duration of 25 years, made provision for review conferences at five-year intervals. Under Article X, the Treaty was to remain in force until 1995 (25 years) between 17 April and 12 May 1995, the signatory States met in New York to discuss the future of the NPT

The States decided by mutual agreement to extend the NPT indefinitely<sup>39</sup> This decision is one of a number of decisions relating to extension, to the principles and objectives of non proliferation and disarmament, and to the examination procedure of the Treaty as well as a Resolution concerning the Middle East. We shall not, in this article, analyse the results in detail and will deal with a few aspects only extension itself, a decision concerning nuclear-weapon-free-zones<sup>40</sup> and the desire to strengthen safeguards<sup>41</sup>

<sup>33</sup> Boyle A E Nuclear Energy and International Law An Environmental Perspective British Year book of International Law 1989 p 257

<sup>34</sup> Courteix S Les accords de Londres entre les pays exportateurs d'equipements et de matieres nucleaires Annuaire Français de Droit International 1976 p 34

<sup>35</sup> Lamm V The Utilisation of Nuclear Energy and International Law Akademiai Kiado Budapest 1984 p 127 Pirotte O Girerd P et al Trente ans d'experience Euratom La naissance d'une Europe nucleaire Bruylant Bruxelles 1989 p 56 Carchon R op cu

<sup>36</sup> Pellaud B 'The Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons a Pillar for Nuclear Disarmament Elements for Speeches 22-23 May 1995

<sup>37</sup> Rockwood L The Nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty A Permanent Committment to Disarmament and Non Proliferation Nuclear Law Bulletin No 56 December 1995 pp 9 18

<sup>38</sup> It is important to note that it is only recently that the five NWS acceded to the NPT China and France agreed to do so in 1992 so that the five permanent members of the United Nations Security Council are now Parties to the NPT (Schemman L. The Non Proliferation Treaty on the Road to 1995 IAEA Bulletin No 1 1992 p 33)

<sup>39</sup> Rockwood L op cu p 9 NPT/CONF 1995/32

<sup>40</sup> NPT/CONF 1995/32/DEC 2

<sup>41</sup> NPT/CONF 1995/32/DEC 1

Extending the NPT was clearly made easier by the more relaxed international atmosphere and the, at times, spectacular progress made in nuclear disarmament in the United States and the ex-USSR since the lifting of the Iron Curtain<sup>42</sup> The indefinite extension may be considered as a victory for the major powers since any extension for a limited period would have provided the "small" countries with a means, on the occasion of each new extension conference, of pressuring the NWS genuinely to reduce their vast stocks of nuclear weapons. However, the five-year review conferences will still be held, thus providing opportunities for the NNWS to exert pressure. Moreover, the NWS

reaffirm their commitment as stated in Article VI to pursue in good faith negotiations on effective measures relating to nuclear disarmament<sup>43</sup>

In parallel with the implementation by the NWS of Article VI of the NPT, the NNWS need binding legal provisions protecting them from the use or threatened use of nuclear weapons<sup>44</sup> Thus, several countries insisted on the drawing up of an international convention in which the NWS would guarantee, on the one hand, to assist NNWS should they suffer a nuclear threat ("positive security assurance") and, on the other hand, not to use nuclear weapons against them ("negative security assurance")<sup>45</sup> The present proposals for a Comprehensive Test Ban Treaty (CTBT)<sup>46</sup> contain provisions of this type

The Extension Conference also emphasised the importance of establishing nuclear-weapon-free zones (NWFZ), as provided for under the Rarotonga<sup>47</sup> and Tlatelolco<sup>48</sup> Treaties There is a desire to establish other NWFZ, in particular in sensitive regions such as the Middle East Further, it is hoped to turn nuclear-weapon-free zones into zones free of all weapons of mass destruction, something which would mean establishing demilitarised zones covering the sovereign territories of several States, and no longer simply res communis<sup>49</sup>

Lastly, mention should be made of the desire to strengthen the effectiveness of the IAEA safeguards and to give the Agency increased resources in order to detect nuclear activities which have not been notified. We shall deal with the strengthening of the safeguards system in greater detail in section 6.

#### 3 2 1.3 Right of Withdrawal

Article X provides that each Party has to right to withdraw from the Treaty on three-months notice, if it considers that its supreme interests have been jeopardised. North Korea used this provision at the end of March 1993 despite having announced, in a joint statement with the United States in June of the same year, that such withdrawal was suspended until further notice. This withdrawal option naturally weakens the Treaty—the technology acquired under the NPT for the

<sup>42</sup> Simpson S The Birth of a New Era? The 1995 NPT Conference and the Politics of Nuclear Disarmement Security Dialogue 1995 Vol 26 No 3 pp 247 256

<sup>43</sup> NPT/CNF 1995/L 5 p 2

<sup>44</sup> Already in 1968 the United Nations Security Council – two weeks before the signature of the NPT – adopted Resolution 255 which confirmed that any agression (or threat thereof) involving the use of nuclear weapons against a NNWS would mean direct action by the Security Council and above all by its five permanent members Furthermore the five NWS unilaterally gave assurances of negative security

<sup>45</sup> On 11 April 1995 shortly before the Extension Conference the United Nations Security Council adopted Resolution 984 containing assurances of positive and negative security

<sup>46</sup> See infra Section 34

<sup>47</sup> See infra Section 3 2 2 2

<sup>48</sup> See infra Section 3 2 2 I

<sup>49</sup> See supra Section 3.1

peaceful use of nuclear energy can in this way be used for military purposes without the international community being able to do anything about it

#### 3.2.2 The Establishment of Nuclear-Weapon-Free Zones

### 3.2 2 1 Treaty for the Prohibition of Nuclear Weapons in Latin America – Tlatelolco Treaty 50 5

The Tlatelolco Treaty of 14 February 1967 was the first regional agreement establishing a denuclearised zone on the South American continent. The Parties to the Treaty undertake not only to refrain from producing, testing, using or acquiring nuclear weapons themselves, but also to prohibit the receipt, storage, installation, deployment and any form of possession of any nuclear weapons directly or indirectly, by themselves, by anyone on their behalf or in any other way. All nuclear weapons are therefore banned in South America. The Parties also undertake to refrain from encouraging or authorising in any way the production, acquisition, etc of nuclear weapons.

Two Protocols are attached to the Treaty, the first addressing countries outside Latin America and the second addressing the NWS in particular

In Additional Protocol I, the countries of the West have undertaken to apply the Treaty obligations within those territories in South America for which they are de jure or de facto responsible. France, the Netherlands, the United States of America and the United Kingdom are the signatory countries to Additional Protocol I

Additional Protocol II provides that the five NWS undertake to respect the nuclear disarmament status of the continent and not to threaten to use nuclear weapons against any Contracting Party of the Treaty<sup>53</sup> The countries which have signed this Protocol are the People's Republic of China France the ex-USSR, the United States of America and the United Kingdom

Given that this is a regional agreement, it sets up its own verification system and therefore creates its own control bodies. Article 7 provides for the setting up of OPANAL<sup>54</sup> whose most important task so far has been to consolidate the NWFZ. The promotion of access to nuclear energy for exclusively peaceful purposes will, however, become just as important in the 21st century. To avoid unnecessary duplication and overlapping with IAEA controls, an agreement has been concluded

<sup>50</sup> Fischer G La cooperation internationale en matiere dutilisation pacifique de l'energie atomique Annuaire Français de Droit International 1955 pp 228 257 Lamm V op cit p 109 Carchon R op cit p 19 Roman Morey E Latin America's Treaty of Tlatelolco instrument for peace and development IAEA Bulletin No 1 1995 pp 33-36

<sup>51</sup> This was the first Treaty relating to the non-proliferation of nuclear weapons and was in a sense the precursor of the NPT signed one year later

<sup>52</sup> The following States have ratified the Treaty Antigua and Barbuda Argentina Bahamas Barbados Bolivia Brazil Chile Colombia Costa Rica, Dominican Republic Ecuador El Salvador Granada Guatemala Haiti Honduras Jamaica Mexico Nicaragua Panama Paraguay Peru St Vincent and the Grenadines Surinam Trinidad and Tobago Uruguay Venezuela (Source Timerbaev R and Moskowitz L Inventory of International Non Proliferation Organisations and Regimes Program for Non-Proliferation Studies Monterey Institute of International Studies February 1994)

<sup>53</sup> Under Article 2 of Additional Protocal II the NWS undertake not to contribute in any way to the performance of acts involving a violation of the obligations of Article 1 of the Treaty

<sup>54</sup> Organismo para la Proscripcion de las Armas Nucleares en la América Latina (Agency for the Prohibition of Nuclear Weapons in Latin America)

<sup>55</sup> Roman Morey E op cit p 35

between OPANAL and the IAEA<sup>56</sup> The controls exercised under the Treaty of Tlatelolco are similar to those provided for under the NPT

In addition, Article 16 of the Treaty provides for special inspections in the event of suspected non-compliance. The OPANAL Council organises a special inspection if one of the Contracting Parties has good reason to suspect another Contracting Party of carrying out prohibited activities. The General Conference of OPANAL takes notes of any breaches of the Treaty's provisions, and may pass this information on to the United Nations Security Council and the General Assembly as well as the Council of the Organisation of American States<sup>57</sup>. The IAEA will also be informed of any offences permitting it to take action under its own Statute. This control system does not provide for any special procedures or sanctions since reference is made to the sanctions applicable within the framework of the UN and the IAEA.

#### 3 2 2 2 South Pacific Nuclear Free Zone Treaty - Treaty of Rarotonga

The Treaty of Rarotonga was signed on 6 August 1985 and entered into force on 11 December 1986<sup>58</sup> It establishes a nuclear-free zone covering the larger part of the Pacific region south of the Equator Its signatories are prohibited from possessing, using, storing or testing nuclear weapons (even through the intermediary of a third party), as well as from dumping of nuclear waste at sea Parties are free to decide for themselves their national policy on the visits of nuclear-propelled ships or vessels carrying nuclear weapons

By analogy with the Tiatelolco Treaty, the signatones are endeavouring to establish Protocols with nuclear-weapon States aimed at making the South Pacific a nuclear-free zone. Protocol I prohibits signatory States from producing, storing or testing nuclear weapons in the regions under their jurisdiction. So far, only Russia and China have acceded to Protocol II (prohibition from using or threatening to use nuclear weapons against Parties to the Treaty) and Protocol III (prohibition from testing weapons in the South Pacific nuclear-free zone)

#### 3223 Proposals

At the NPT Extension Conference<sup>59</sup>, several proposals were made aimed at establishing other nuclear-weapon-free zones, for example in Africa or the Middle East. Recently, the countries of the Association of South East Asian Nations (ASEAN)<sup>60</sup> have declared the zone under their jurisdiction to be one free from nuclear weapons<sup>61</sup>

#### 3 3 Treaties on Disarmament

The international community recently proved its concern about the threat from nuclear weapons by giving the Nobel Peace Prize of 1995 to Joseph Rotblat and the Pugwash Conferences on Science and World Affairs for their endeavours to limit nuclear weapons in international politics, and one day eliminate them altogether

<sup>56</sup> Fischer G La zone denuclearisee du pacifique Sud Annuaire Français de Droit International 1985, p 45

<sup>57</sup> See Article 20 of the Tlatelolco Treaty

<sup>58</sup> The Signatory States to the Treaty are Australia, Cook Islands Fiji Kiribati Nauru Niue New Zealand, Papua New Guinea Salomon Islands Western Samoa, Tuvalu (Source Timerbaev R, and Moskowitz, L op cut

<sup>59</sup> See supra Section 3 2 1 2

<sup>60</sup> This Organisation was established in 1967 to promote economic co-operation in the region. Current members are Indonesia Malaysia, the Philippines. Singapore. Thailand. Brunei Darassalam and Vietnam (Source. ASEAN-online on Internet).

<sup>61</sup> Le Monde 16 December 1995

There are several international treaties on controlling weapons and on disarmament. They deal with weapons of mass destruction, nuclear, biological and chemical weapons, conventional weapons and ballistic missiles<sup>62</sup>. In addressing these subjects, the NWS are carrying out their obligations under Article VI of the NPT.

Each of the Parties to the Treaty undertakes to pursue negotiations in good faith on effective methods relating to cessation of the nuclear arms race at an early date and to nuclear disarmament and on a treaty on general and complete disarmament under strict and effective international control 63 64

The issues of proliferation and the arms race are obviously linked. Thus the UN General Assembly adopted a Resolution in 1978 in which it was recognised that

failure of efforts to halt or reverse the arms race, in particular the nuclear arms race increases the danger of proliferation of nuclear weapons<sup>65</sup>

Negotiations to limit the number of nuclear weapon heads have been conducted at the United Nations and the disarmament conference Important progress was, however made following bilateral negotiations between the United States and the ex-Soviet Union. Negotiations were carried on throughout the 1970s within the context of Strategic Arms Limitation Talks (SALT) and led to the adoption of two Treaties. SALT I in 1972 and SALT II in 1979. Although these Treaties have not really reduced the number of nuclear weapon heads, they have limited new technological developments and were at the origin of a large number of definitions which helped subsequent negotiations. These continued in the 1980s under the name of START (Strategic Arms Reduction Talks).

On 7 December 1987, Presidents Reagan and Gorbachev signed the INF Treaty the preamble of which refers to their obligations under Article VI of the NPT. This Treaty, which entered into force on 1 June 1988, is remarkable in that it provides for the destruction of a whole series of nuclear missiles and introduces a system of rigorous verification. The INF Treaty has led to the destruction of more than 2 500 nuclear missiles.

<sup>62</sup> See Lomas P "The INF Treaty and the Non Proliferation Treaty Lomas and Muller Western Europe and the Future of the Non-Proliferation Treaty Centre for European Policy Studies Brussels 1989 p 104

<sup>63</sup> Although expressed in general terms ("Each of the Parties to the Treaty") this article applies essentially to the NWS

<sup>64</sup> This is a statement of goodwill incumbent upon the NWS

<sup>65</sup> Final Document of the Tenth Special Session of the General Assembly New York General Assembly Resolution S 10/2 10 June 1978 The United Nations and Nuclear Non-Proliferation The United Nations Blue Book Series Volume III New York 1995

<sup>66</sup> Nuclear Weapons A Comprehensive Study United Nations New York 1991 pp 114 et seq

<sup>67</sup> These negotiations are taking place in the context of the Nuclear and Space Talks (NST) divided into three different groups dealing with strategic nuclear weapons medium and intermediate range nuclear weapons and defense and outer space aspects

After the INF Treaty, the START I and START II Treaties were also signed Although the collapse of the Soviet Union has complicated the implementation of START I<sup>69</sup>, the two START Treaties provide for a 70 per cent reduction in the nuclear arsenals of the United States and the Russian Federation Although the Russian Federation Although the States are stated as a state of the United States and the Russian Federation Although the States are stated as a state of the United States and the Russian Federation Although the States are stated as a state of the United States and the Russian Federation Although the States are stated as a state of the United States and the Russian Federation Although the States are stated as a state of the United States and the Russian Federation Although the States are stated as a state of the United States and the Russian Federation Although the States are stated as a state of the United States and the Russian Federation Although the States are stated as a state of the United States and the Russian Federation Although the States are stated as a state of the United States and the Russian Federation Although the States are stated as a state of the United States and the Russian Federation Although the States and the States are stated as a stated as

It should be noted, given that verification procedures are becoming increasingly important – for instance in the course of the negotiations of the Comprehensive Test Ban Treaty (CTBT) – that the above-mentioned Treaties provide for stringent inspection rights thus creating an atmosphere of mutual trust

#### 34 Nuclear Test Treaties

The five NWS have carried out (or are carrying out) nuclear tests to develop their military nuclear arsenal. Between 1945 and 1989, 1 819 tests took place. Particular attention has been paid recently to nuclear tests following the NPT extension conference and, a little later, the carrying out by France of six nuclear tests.

There has always been a link between the policy of non-proliferation and the negotiations relating to the CTBT on the one hand, and the cessation of the production of fissionable materials for military purposes on the other <sup>73</sup> The two were considered essential in order to limit the arms race and remove the discriminatory nature of the NPT Renewed attention was paid to this link shortly before the NPT extension conference

At a time when NPT Parties are contemplating the prospects for the nuclear non-proliferation regime in 1995 and thereafter — well into the twenty-first century — the future and durability of this regime will to a large degree, depend on what decisions on a CTBT and a cut-off agreement are made in the coming months before the NPT extension conference in 1995.

<sup>68</sup> On 31 July 1991 and 3 January 1993 respectively While the Treaties are a significant gesture they do not at all imply a genuine renunciation of these weapons Darricau A Le TNP apres 25 ans' Nuclear Law as a Source of Confidence Proceedings of the Conference of the International Nuclear Law Association Nuclear Inter Jura 1995 Helsinki 3 7 September 1995

<sup>69</sup> These problems were resolved upon conclusion on 23 May 1992 of the Lisbon Protocol in which Belarus Kazakstan and the Ukraine acceded to the NTP as non-nuclear weapon States and in which these countries undertook to respect the provisions of START I The United States ratified START II in early January 1996

<sup>70</sup> Each of the Parties has destroyed some 2000 missiles each year (The United Nations and Nuclear Non-Proliferation, The United Nations Blue Book Series Volume III New York 1995 p 29)

<sup>71</sup> Some 1 819 nuclear tests were recorded of which the United States carried out 921 the Soviet Union 642 France 180 the United Kingdom 42 and China 34 (Source Nuclear Weapons A Comprehensive Study UN New York 1991, p 58)

<sup>72</sup> France considered it needed to carry out a few more tests before being able to conduct simulated nuclear explosions François Mitterrand had imposed a moratorium suspending tests (as moreover did the United States the Russian Federation and the United Kingdom) but shortly after his election Jacques Chirac announced that tests would start again they have now been completed. Even during the temporary French moratorium. China continued to carry out nuclear tests.

<sup>73</sup> As witnessed by the very high number of UN General Assembly Resolutions on this subject and the agendas of NPT review conferences

<sup>74</sup> Timerbaev R Strengthening the NPT Regime A CTBT and a Cut-off of Fissionable Material Disarmament 1993 Vol 16 No 2 p 98 Timerbaev R Are a Comprehensive Test Ban and the Cessation of Fissionable Materials for Weapons Now Possible? New Realities Disarmament Peace Building and Global Security UN Conference New York 20 23 April 1993 pp 197 199

The nuclear tests in the atmosphere in the 1950s gave rise to several Resolutions of the United Nations General Assembly to protect mankind and the environment against the dangers of ionizing radiation. These Resolutions led to the conclusion of the Partial Test Ban Treaty (PTBT) of 1963 and provided New Zealand and Australia with grounds on which to bring proceedings against France before the International Court of Justice in 1973. Following France's unilateral declaration not to carry out any more tests in the atmosphere, the Court held that there was no reason to continue with the case. In 1995, New Zealand asked the Court to reconsider the matter, but it refused to do so 6.

So far, it has only proved possible to conclude agreements of limited scope—the Partial Test Ban Treaty (PTBT) of 1963 banning nuclear tests in the atmosphere, the Threshold Test Ban Treaty (TTBT) of 1974 banning nuclear tests involving more than 150 kt, and the Peaceful Nuclear Explosions Treaty (PNET) of 1976 imposing the same limit of 150 kt for peaceful explosions. These last two Treaties, which entered into force on 11 December 1990, are bilateral agreements between the United States and the ex-Soviet Union—The PTBT, on the other hand, has been signed by 123 States<sup>77</sup>, France and China not being among them

The CTBT is still today a sensitive topic in international diplomacy—the fact that the second and fourth NPT review conferences (in 1980 and 1990, respectively), did not succeed in reaching agreement on the final document, is in large measure due to the CTBT. Nevertheless important progress has been made in recent months. The Chairman of the ad hoc group on the Nuclear Test Ban has said that signature of the CTBT can be envisaged in 1996. While the undertakings of the NWS at the NPT extension conference are not unconnected with this development, we feel that this progress is due above all to international détente which has in part reduced the importance of nuclear weapons in the military dissuasion strategies of the super powers and which means that the immense amount of money needed to manufacture and maintain vast quantities of such weapons can no longer be justified.

The main proposals concerning the CTBT include the following to

- each Party undertakes to ban, and not to carry out nuclear weapons tests or any other nuclear test in the atmosphere or underground,
- in order to achieve the objective of the Treaty, to ensure compliance with its provisions and improve co-operation between Parties, the CTBT Organisation (including three bodies namely the Conference of the Parties, the Executive Council and the Technical Secretariat) will be set up,
- the Organisation may ask the IAEA to carry out the verification duties under the CTBT

<sup>75</sup> Sands Ph op cut pp 244

<sup>76</sup> Horbach N "The New French Nuclear Tests Dispute, Nuclear Law Bulletin No.56 December 1995 pp 64 73

<sup>77</sup> Situation as at 31 July 1994 (Source The United Nations and Nuclear Non Proliferation New York 1995 pp 24-25)

<sup>78</sup> Ibid

<sup>79</sup> Press Release United Nations "Conference on Disarmament Concludes 1995 session DC 95/42 22 September 1995

<sup>80</sup> According to the texts available at the end of September 1995 Conference on Disarmament CD/1346 6 September 1995 and CD/1346/Add 1 of 19 September 1995. It should be noted that these proposals contain many passages still between square brackets and will quite possibly be subject to amendment

- provision is made for detailed verification procedures based on an international monitoring system<sup>81</sup> and on-site inspections,
- the Treaty is to enter into force at the earliest two years after its signature
- the duration of the Treaty is unlimited, and any State will be entitled to withdraw from it after giving the appropriate notice should exceptional circumstances arise endangering the supreme interests of that State,
- the NWS give positive and negative assurances to the NNWS, Parties to the CBTB the NWS will not use nuclear weapons or threaten to use them against the NNWS, each Party will assist any other Party subject to an attack by nuclear weapons, and
- the CTBT does not in any way limit the rights and obligations under the Antarctic Treaty,
   PTBT, the Outer Space Treaty, the Tlatelolco Treaty, the NPT, the Sea-Bed Treaty, the Treaty on the Moon or the Rarotonga Treaty

Negotiations are far from being completed and many areas of disagreement remain, for example the question of whether the CTBT should or should not contain a definition of civilian nuclear explosions, and about verification procedures<sup>82</sup> The CTBT will only be effective if it organises and introduces a detailed verification system which, moreover, is provided for by the International Monitoring System. It first has to be decided which body should be responsible for verification. The United States and France favour the setting up of a special new organisation entrusted with implementation of the CTBT<sup>83</sup>. This organisation would have to maintain technical, logistical and administrative links with the IAEA. It should be emphasised that such a system would necessarily require financial contributions from Member countries.

There is a feeling in some quarters that the conclusion of the CTBT has lost a major part of its practical importance given technological developments<sup>84</sup> and the conclusion of the above-mentioned disarmament Treaties<sup>85</sup> We feel this is true only up to a certain point since the CTBT would make a large contribution to the universality of arrangements for non-proliferation and environmental protection. The CTBT will take on its full importance — as mentioned in its draft preamble — when it has been universally adopted, i.e. when countries like India, Israel and Pakistan become members. Four of the five NWS have said they are in favour of signing the CTBT, after cessation of the French nuclear tests, China has stated its intention to carry out a very few of its own<sup>86</sup>

Proposals concerning the CTBT are often linked to suggestions as to how to limit the production of fissionable materials for the manufacture of weapons and other nuclear explosive devices (cut-off agreement) On the initiative of President Clinton, the United Nations General Assembly in 1993

<sup>81</sup> Using amongst other things infrared satellites radionuclides seismological data etc

<sup>82</sup> It appears difficult from the technical standpoint to design option zero (no nuclear explosions at all) since physicists are unable to say whether zero exists as far as energy is concerned *Le Monde* 31 January 1996. Des obstacles a Geneve avant loption «zero essai»

<sup>83</sup> Ibid

<sup>84</sup> By means of computer simulations at is in theory possible to gauge the effectiveness of a nuclear weapon without carrying out a nuclear test

<sup>85</sup> Hoekema T CTBT and NPT An Essential Linkage? The Future of the International Non Proliferation Regime van Leeuwen M ed Kluwer Academic Publishers 1995 pp 232 233

<sup>86</sup> After carrying out a series of six nuclear tests between September 1995 and January 1996 France declared itself in favour of the rapid conclusion of the CTBT (*Le Monde* 31 January 1996 Jacques Chirac se pose en chef de file d'une politique de desarmement)

asked the disammament Conference to prepare the ground for negotiations on a Convention banning the production of fissionable materials for the manufacture of nuclear weapons. The disarmament Conference has set up an ad hoc committee for this purpose and has asked it to negotiate a non-discriminatory, multilateral and internationally and effectively verifiable treats. Different opinions have already been expressed as to the scope of this mandate. Doubts have been raised as to whether the mandate allows examination only of future production or also of the past production of fissionable materials.

Although negotiations on the cut-off and the CTBT are far from being completed they may vet be considered as important instruments helping to bring the arms race to an end<sup>90</sup> Inasmuch as the conclusion of such conventions reflects the implementation by the NWS of their obligations under Article VI of the NPT, this would mitigate the discriminatory nature of the NPT and help towards the universality of non-prohiferation provisions

#### 4 SYSTEMS OF SAFEGUARDS WITH REGARD TO FUEL"

In this section we shall examine how fuel is monitored, by which international bodies and in accordance with what procedures

As far as safeguards are concerned, it should be noted that the States of the European Union are at present subject to two systems—the system of Euratom (created by the Treaty of Rome of 1957) and control by the IAEA as a result of accession to the NPT—Since the entry into force of the NPT there has been close collaboration between the two systems, each of which will be studied in further detail, first separately and then as they interact

#### 4 1 Authority of the IAEA Safeguards<sup>22</sup>

Two main safeguards systems have been developed within the IAEA First, the system under the IAEA Statute which dates from 1957 (and is contained in INFCIRC/66)<sup>93</sup>, and secondly the system under the NPT which is set out in INFCIRC/153 There are other INFCIRC documents in existence as for example INFCIRC/193(96) detailing the co-operation between the IAEA and Euratom but these are similar to the system under the NPT, and thus to INFCIRC/153<sup>95</sup>

<sup>87</sup> Hoekema T op cu p 237

<sup>88</sup> Disarmament Conference CD/1364 26 September 1995 p 140

<sup>89</sup> A first step towards a cut-off would be to make an inventory of plutonium and HEU stocks moreover an international body should collect and publish data on plutonium and HEU annually (See Albright D Berkhout F and Walker W World Inventory of Plutonium and Highly Enriched Uranium 1992 SIPRI Oxford University Press 1993 p 213)

<sup>90</sup> Timerbaev R, Strengthening the NPT Regime " op cit p 97

<sup>91</sup> Blix H Aspects juridiques des garanties de l'Agence Internationale de l'Énergie Atomique Annuaire Français de Droit International 1983 p 37 Rometsch R. International Safeguards on the Peaceful Uses of Nuclear Material Nuclear Law Bulletin, 1974 No 13 pp 66-72 Herron L W op cit

<sup>92</sup> Ramaud JM L Agence Internationale de l'Energie Atomique Colin Paris 1953 p 21 et seq Fischer G L Agence Internationale de l'Énergie Atomique Annuaire Français de Droit International 1956 p 616 et seq Lamm V op cit p 44 et seq

<sup>93</sup> INFCIRC/66/Rev 2 'The Agency's Safeguards System IAEA September 1968

<sup>94</sup> See infra Section 4.3

<sup>95</sup> INFCIRC/153 (Corrected) The Structure and Content of Agreements between the Agency and States Required in connection with the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons IAEA June 1972 This document is also called the Blue Book Goldblatt J Twenty years of the NPT Implementation and Prospects International Peace Research Institute Oslo 1991

The number of countries which have concluded safeguards agreements with the IAEA has increased considerably from 64 countries in 1975 to 118 in 1994. Of these latter, 102 countries have concluded a similar agreement in accordance with their obligations under the NPT. Furthermore, since the NPT (which entered into force in 1970) was concluded for a limited duration of 25 years, the conference examining the NPT was held in the month of April 1995. At this conference, the NPT Signatory States agreed to extend the Treaty for an unlimited period<sup>97</sup>, and to organise review conferences every five years.

As at end 1994, 170 power reactors, 158 research reactors and critical installations, 196 other installations and 334 sites outside installations were subject to safeguards. These figures are set to increase considerably, *inter alia*, because of the accession of nearly all the new States of the ex-USSR. The quantity of nuclear material monitored will thus become greater and greater.

#### 4 1 1 Under INFCIRC/66

The powers of the IAEA as regards the system of safeguards were laid down in its Statute at the time of its creation. Article III 5 of the Statute of the IAEA<sup>99</sup> provides that the Agency is authorised

to establish and administer safeguards designed to ensure that special fissionable and other materials services equipment, facilities, and information made available by the Agency or at its request or under its supervision or control are not used in such a way as to further any military purpose, and to apply safeguards at the request of the parties to any bilateral or multilateral arrangements, or at the request of a State, to any of that State's activities in the field of atomic energy

States accept controls by way of different types of agreement

- "project agreements" relating to the supply of specific materials and equipment made available by the IAEA,
- "transfer agreements" under which States cede their control functions to the IAEA, as defined in collaboration agreements,
- "unilateral submission" by a State to IAEA controls over certain establishments, nuclear materials or other nuclear activities

Safeguards procedures are set out in document INFCIRC/66, which constitutes the basis for project agreements, transfer agreements and unilateral submissions, and deals with equipment, installations, fissionable materials and all other materials and information. These controls relate to individual installations in agreement with the State concerned. This constitutes the most important difference with regard to the system based on the NPT, in which controls relate to all of the Signatory State's fuel and all its activities.

<sup>96</sup> Blix H Statement to the Review and Extension Conference of the Parties to the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons New York 17 April 1995 IAEA C22 (hereinafter referred to as the Statement Extension Conference)

<sup>97</sup> See supra Section 3 2 1 2

<sup>98</sup> Blix H Statement Extension Conference

<sup>99</sup> IAEA Statute June 1980

#### 4 1 2 Under the NPT - INFCIRC/153

The NPT obliges each non-nuclear-weapon State Party to the Treaty to conclude an agreement with the IAEA to apply safeguards in respect of its peaceful nuclear activities. The sole purpose of these safeguards, as specified in Article III 1 of the NPT, is to verify that the State in question does not divert

nuclear energy from peaceful uses to nuclear weapons or other nuclear explosive devices

The NPT does not prohibit States Parties from using nuclear energy for non-explosive military applications (such as the nuclear propulsion of ships or submannes). So far, however, no NNWS has sought to do so

The arrangements concerning this safeguards system are set out in document INFCIRC/153. This document serves as the basis for all agreements concluded with non-nuclear-weapon. States which have signed the NPT, under which all the fissionable materials and all the peaceful nuclear activities of such States are made subject to controls.

The fundamental undertaking of a State in the framework of the NPT safeguards agreement is

to accept safeguards in accordance with the terms of the Agreement on all source or special fissionable materials in all peaceful nuclear activities within its territory under its jurisdiction or carried out under its control anywhere for the exclusive purpose of verifying that such material is not diverted to nuclear weapons or other nuclear explosive devices.

Given that the IAEA is not a Party to the NPT, the importance of such agreements is obvious all the Member States' and the Agency's rights and obligations are defined in the safeguards agreements<sup>101</sup> The NPT may be considered as the cornerstone of a world-wide safeguards system since it expressly confers on the Agency authority to carry out controls over all a State's fuel and all its peaceful nuclear activities

#### 4 1.3 Comparing INFCIRC/66 and INFCIRC/153

We shall now examine in greater detail the specific obligations under these two documents

INFCIRC/153 defines the objective of fuel control and obliges the IAEA to formulate a technical conclusion relating to "Material Unaccounted For" (MUF) in all accounting units (called Material Balance Areas") on the basis of verification of activities

INFCIRC/66 does not require the drawing up of similar conclusions but does oblige the IAEA – under its Statute – to report on the implementation of the agreement and, in the event of non-compliance, to inform the Board of Governors accordingly INFCIRC/66 gives the IAEA a number of resources intended to allow it to draw conclusions similar to those set out in INFCIRC/153 concerning fissionable products. For each particular situation, the IAEA must itself assess whether application of its procedure for verifying fissionable materials permits its to carry out its control responsibilities.

<sup>100</sup> IAEA INFCIRC/153 op cit para 1

<sup>101</sup> Rometsch R International Safeguards on the Peaceful Uses of Nuclear Material Nuclear Law Bulletin No. 13 1974 p. 70

The technical objectives of fuel control are defined in the agreements as follows

the timely detection of diversion of significant quantities of nuclear material from peaceful nuclear activities to the manufacture of nuclear weapons or of other nuclear explosive devices or for purposes unknown and deterrence of such diversion by the risk of early detection 102

The concepts of "early detection" and "significant quantities" have been defined over the years and are based essentially on inspection practice in the field. A "significant quantity" corresponds approximately to the quantity of fuel which would make it possible to manufacture a nuclear weapon, having regard to all conversion processes. It is also used in the selection of accounting values "Significant quantities" should not be confused with "critical masses"

The system described above is thus that which regulates the control of safeguards, and is applicable world-wide. Control over fuel has developed in a particular way in the European Union because of the quasi-simultaneous development of two parallel control systems that of Euratom and that of IAEA. The Euratom system is described in the following section.

#### 42 Euratom Safeguards Authority 100

It is the Treaty of Rome, and more particularly the Euratom Treaty, which designates the authority responsible for Euratom controls. The Euratom Treaty is one of the three Treaties concluded by the six States at the origin of the European Community (the other Treaties being those of coal and steel, on the one hand, and of the European Community, on the other hand). The Euratom Treaty contains a chapter on nuclear safeguards, the first Article of which provides that

In accordance with the provisions of this Chapter, the Commission shall satisfy itself that, in the territories of Member States

a ores, source materials and special fissile materials are not diverted from their intended uses as declared by the users,

b the provisions relating to supply and any particular safeguarding obligations assumed by the Community under an agreement concluded with a third State or an international organisation are complied with

It should first of all be noted that the French version of the Euratom Treaty uses a different expression for safeguards. Article 77 speaks of "contôle de sécurité" instead of "garanties" (while the English term used in both cases is "safeguards"). The French wording in the Euratom Treaty is somewhat confusing since the expression "contôle de sécurité" is used rather in relation to the protection of radioactive materials against terrorist or criminal activities.

There are two parts to this Article 77 that materials should not be diverted from their intended uses as declared by the users, and that the obligations assumed by the Community under an agreement concluded with a third State or an international organisation should be complied with So, the

<sup>102</sup> INFCIRC/153 para. 28

<sup>103</sup> Errera, J. Symon E. et al. Euratom Analyse et commentaire du traité. Librairie Encyclopedique, Bruxelles. 1958, Fischer, G., Euratom, Annuaire Français de Droit International. 1956, pp. 695-710. Pirotte, O. op. cit.

<sup>104</sup> Article 77 of the Treaty establishing the European Atomic Energy Community Rome 25 March 1957

<sup>105</sup> Vanden Borre T Lusage pacifique de l'énergie nucleaire memoire, Université catholique de Louvain 1993 What is more the English text speaks of 'safeguards

<sup>106</sup> See the introduction. It would seem however that this distinction does not give rise to important legal differences

Euratom safeguards system does not deal solely with the diversion of nuclear materials for the possible manufacture of a nuclear weapon (the goal shared with the IAEA safeguards in the NPT) but also with many other aspects relating to the actual use of such materials, usually defined in the supply contracts in which the Community guarantees that specific commitments will be complied with

Article 77 of the Treaty provides that the Head of Euratom Inspectorate (Euratom DCS Luxembourg) must carry out controls in the different installations in the European Union containing fuel, to satisfy itself that

ores source materials and special fissile materials are not diverted from their intended uses as declared by the users

The other Articles in this Chapter specify how these goals are to be achieved

- operators must declare to the Commission the basic technical characteristics of their installations and must make regular reports on nuclear material stocks and movements
- the Commission sends inspectors, who have access to all places in which nuclear materials are stored, to the different installations,
- the Commission may pronounce sanctions against operators who, in particular do not fulfil their obligations, and may, for example, place an installation under the supervision of an inspector

Under Article 82, the Commission may, in the event of non-compliance with the provisions regulating safeguards, issue a directive to the Member State concerned. It calls upon the State to take all measures necessary to bring such infringements to an end, and fixes a time limit in which the necessary measures must be taken The meaning of the concept Member State is important. It relates not only to the State itself, but the author of the infringement may also be a person or enterprise on the territory of that State

In fact, the Commission negotiates directly with operators and not with the governments of Member States. The Euratom system is, consequently, supranational in nature with certain sovereign rights of States being transferred to the European Commission. The latter does not, however have police powers, only a limited power in the field of physical protection.

After the conclusion in 1973 of the safeguards agreement with the IAEA it became necessary for the Commission to update its regulations on safeguards to meet the new requirements. The new Regulation<sup>108</sup> related to the nuclear materials and installations of the nine Member States including the two nuclear-weapon States, with the objective of enabling the Commission to obtain from operators the information necessary both for itself and for the IAEA. This Regulation has been in

<sup>107</sup> If the Member State concerned does not take appropriate action within the set time limit the Commission or any interested Member State can appeal directly to the Court of Justice of the European Community. The prior opinion of the Commission is not required so as to reduce procedural delays.

<sup>108</sup> European Commission Regulation (Euratom) No 3227/76 of 19 October 1976 concerning the application of the provisions on Euratom safeguards Official Journal of the European Communities No L363 31 December 1976

force since January 1977 The arrangements for this synergy are set out in document INFCRC/193<sup>109</sup>, the main thrust of which is similar to the document referred to above (INFCRC/153)

#### 43 IAEA-Euratom Synergy

After the signature of the NPT by the NNWS of Euratom, the Community Member States found themselves faced with two different legal regimes. The problem was to integrate the Euratom safeguards into the system of safeguards administered by the IAEA<sup>110</sup>

The different European Community (now the European Union) non-nuclear-weapon States signed the NPT at the same time. They thus concluded a joint agreement with Euratom and the IAEA, ensuring compliance with the NPT obligations under this agreement. The agreement between the seven non-nuclear-weapon States, the European Community and the IAEA<sup>111</sup>, signed in April 1973, entered into force in February 1977 after ratification by the Member States concerned and the adoption by the Commission of the legal instruments required for its application. In structure and provisions, it follows the INFCIRC/153 model closely, but also takes account of the existence of the Euratom safeguards system by way of the Protocol and certain special provisions. In 1976, a similar agreement was concluded between the IAEA, the European Community and the United Kingdom (which unlike France, is subject to Euratom safeguards), in pursuance of the voluntary proposal made by the United Kingdom to subject its civilian nuclear installations to IAEA safeguards

France acceded to the NPT in 1992. It had already concluded an agreement with the European Union and the IAEA providing for safeguards similar to those of the other agreements but limited to the materials which France wanted the IAEA to control. Article 14 of the Protocol of this document provides that the IAEA will carry out its inspections at the same time as the Euratom inspections, observing the activities of the European Union inspectors. As far as the plutonium present in Belgium is concerned (Belgonucléaire and the CEN-SCK plutonium laboratories), the inspection arrangements have evolved over time to a joint team inspection. This arrangement is again the subject of discussion because, in particular, of the cost-effectiveness considerations imposed upon the IAEA.

Euratom Regulation 3227/76 sets out the arrangements for inspection in this sphere<sup>113</sup> Apart from the arrangements currently being discussed, non-nuclear-weapon States of the European Union will remain subject to a dual inspection by the two international bodies, in accordance with a joint or separate procedure

<sup>109</sup> INFCIRC/193 The text of the Agreement between Belgium Denmark the Federal Republic of Germany Ireland Italy Luxemburg the Netherlands the European Atomic Energy Community and the Agency in connection with the Treaty on the Non Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons IAEA September 1973

<sup>110</sup> As Gijssels says The NPT raised in an acute manner the problem of reconciling the same legal subject undertakings in different legal systems (Gijssels J. Laccord entre Euratom et l'AIEA en application du Traité de non proliferation des armes nucleaires. Annuaire Français de Droit International 1972 pp. 837-863

<sup>111</sup> IAEA INFCIRC/193

<sup>112</sup> In 1992 an additional agreement was concluded between Euratom and the IAEA. It tallies with the New Partnership Approach at the purpose being to improve the application of the safeguards in the Member States of the European Union (Thorstensen S and Chitumbo K Safeguards in the European Union the New Partnership Approach IAEA Bulletin No 1 1995 pp 25 28)

<sup>113</sup> European Commission Regulation (Euratom) No 3227/76 op cit

#### 5. PROBLEM COUNTRIES 114

Various States Parties to the NPT are suspected of wishing to acquire nuclear weapons and of taking measures for the purpose of manufacturing plutonium or highly enriched uranium, placing themselves outside the international control of fuels. Iraq, North Korea and Iran head the list of suspect nations

#### 5 1 Iraq<sup>115</sup>

Iraq ratified the NPT on 29 October 1969 A safeguards agreement between the IAEA and Iraq entered into force at the end of February 1972, and the IAEA has therefore been carrying out inspections ever since. Israel, however, had doubts about the effectiveness of the IAEA safeguards. The peaceful nature of the Iraqi nuclear programme was called into question well before the Gulf War even though no anomaly had been revealed by the IAEA inspections.

After the Gulf War, the UN Security Council adopted Resolution 687 on 3 April 1991 giving the IAEA important rights of inspection of Iraq's known or presumed nuclear sites. The Agency was also empowered to destroy or take away any material or equipment necessary to manufacture nuclear weapons. Between May 1991 and May 1994, there were 24 inspections in Iraq. For the first time, the Agency had access to satellite photos and confidential information supplied by national secret services. As a result of Iraq's transparency obligations combined with the verification by better-informed inspectors from the Agency, a large clandestine nuclear programme was discovered.

#### 5.2 North Korea 116

North Korea acceded to the NPT in 1985, at a time when its nuclear programme was assuming considerable importance. However, North Korea waited until February 1992 before concluding a safeguards agreement with the Agency, despite the fact that Article III of the NPT expressly provides that conclusion of such an agreement should take place within 18 months of accession

Following political discussions between North and South Korea, the two countries issued a Joint Declaration on the Denuclearisation of the Korean Peninsula. The inspection carried out by the Agency in the Autumn of 1992 of the initial inventory of nuclear materials revealed contradictions between the declaration, on the one hand, and the amounts found by the Agency on the other Contrary to what had been claimed, not one but several reprocessing programmes had been carried out in the Nyongbyon reprocessing plant. This gave rise to the suspicion that the quantity of plutonium produced was higher than that declared by North Korea.

Since consultations with North Korea did not produce any satisfactory result on 9 February 1993 the Agency made a formal request, within the context of Article 73(b) of the safeguards agreement, to carry out a special inspection 117 The repeated calls for co-operation made by the

<sup>114</sup> For greater detail see Carchon R op cut p 54 et seq van Leeuwen M Nuclear Proliferation in the Middle East The Future of the International Nuclear Non-Proliferation Regune van Leeuwen M ed Martinus Nijhoff Publishers Dordrecht 1995 pp 125-153

<sup>115</sup> Thome L. IAEA nuclear inspections in Iraq IAEA Bulletin, No 1 1992 pp 16-24 Donohue D.L. and Zeisler R. Behind the scenes scientific analysis of samples from nuclear inspections in Iraq. IAEA Bulletin. No 1 1992 p. 25 Fischer G. Le bombardement par Israel dun reacteur nucleaire irakien. Annuaire Français de Droit International 1981 p. 147

<sup>116</sup> Mack A Nuclear End Game on the Korean Peninsula in The Future of the International Nuclear Non Proliferation Regume op cit pp 15-56

<sup>117</sup> More especially of the two Nyongbyon complex sites

Agency fell on deaf ears given that in the case in point, Pyongyang considered the United States to be its sole interlocutor. On 12 March 1993, North Korea notified its withdrawal from the NPT. This withdrawal was "suspended" after the Washington agreement starting bilateral discussions with North Korea, discussions which did not, however, lead to the acceptance by North Korea of full safeguards inspections.

Representatives of the United States and North Korean governments met in Geneva from 23 September to 21 October 1994, with a view to finding an overall solution to the nuclear issue in the Korean peninsula. North Korea agreed to stop building graphite-moderated reactors, and a group of countries<sup>118</sup> agreed, in return, to cover the cost (estimated at four billion dollars) of constructing light water reactors<sup>119</sup>

The fact that, because of the bilateral nature of the negotiations, the IAEA was sidelined, is regrettable. The United States had been given no mandate by the Board of Governors of the IAEA. What is more, the agreement between the United States and North Korea was not submitted to the IAEA for prior approval, which means that its legal validity could be called into question. Under the agreement, North Korea is to receive \$4 billion together with diplomatic recognition, and that solely in exchange for carrying out the obligations it had already undertaken before its agreement with the United States<sup>120</sup>. It seems to us that sidelining the Agency in this way and making the fulfilment of NPT obligations subject to political negotiations constitute a dangerous precedent for the system of non-proliferation in the years to come. Other countries may well now follow North Korea's example, hoping to win significant concessions while guaranteeing only to fulfil their obligations under the NPT.

#### 53 Iran

Iran is suspected of wanting to manufacture nuclear weapons, and the West has imposed a virtual embargo on it as regards nuclear equipment and technology. Germany and France have refused collaboration on various occasions. Unlike the situation in North Korea, there is no proof of secret nuclear installations in Iran. Media reports of a uranium enrichment plant and other installations remain in the domain of speculation.

Iran is a Party to the NPT and, as such, is subject to IAEA controls over all its activities involving fuel. It can also ask for "special inspections", for example to establish a climate of trust. In February 1992, IAEA inspectors visited six installations which they themselves chose, in order to throw light on the situation. They reported that the on-site activities were altogether in line with peaceful uses. Iran possesses a 5 MWth research reactor of United States manufacture, as well as the hot cells necessary to separate plutonium from spent fuel in gram quantities. It is feared that this reactor could be used to produce small quantities of plutonium, even though it is subject to IAEA control. This could lead to the same problem recently encountered in Iraq.

It is difficult to estimate from what time Iran will be able to manufacture its own fuel since very little is known about its nuclear programme. We do know that Iran is buying intensely abroad. Little

<sup>118</sup> In particular South Korea and Japan paying for 60 and 20 per cent, respectively of the costs

<sup>119</sup> From a technical standpoint at is more difficult to produce plutonium in such a reactor; in addition at is much easier to detect any such production. Light-water reactors therefore involve less risk of proliferation.

<sup>120</sup> Mack A Nuclear End-game on the Korean Peninsula op cit pp 33 and 38

or nothing is known about a possible military programme, but if there is any intention to acquire weapons, this could become apparent before the end of the century<sup>121</sup>

# 6. LESSONS TO BE LEARNED FROM PROBLEM CASES. STRENGTHENING THE SAFEGUARDS

Since the Gulf War and the subsequent inspections carried out by the IAEA, particular attention has been paid to clandestine activities<sup>122</sup>

In this connection, the IAEA has been accused of not having reported on the illegal activities being carried on in Iraq. This was not really justified since the technical objective of the IAEA is rapidly to detect any diversion<sup>123</sup>, in other words, it must ensure that declared materials have not ended up at a wrong destination, in Iraq, the problem was one of non-declared activities and materials. The Board of Governors has never given the Agency a proper mandate to detect clandestine activity

The importance of the agreement which each State must conclude with the IAEA should be noted in this context. These agreements do not in any way grant an unlimited right of access to the State's installations. Moreover, the safeguards system cannot guarantee certainty "safeguards are a system for detection and for raising the alarm, rather than one of prevention or reaction. It is not for the Agency to take puritive measures against a State in breach of its obligations (whether under the NPT or by virtue of the safeguards based on the IAEA Statute), its sole function is to uncover irregularities and notify them to the United Nations. It is for the Security Council to take the measures required to put a stop to the infringement detected by the Agency

Because of bad expenences in the past, the detection of illegal activities in States subject to IAEA inspection has been receiving particular attention. Discussions are currently being conducted within the IAEA on the subject of "strengthening" the measures relating to safeguards <sup>125</sup>. These include, amongst others, the use of special inspections and the obligation to notify, at an early stage the planning of new activities and constructions

It seems to us that the keys to strengthening safeguards are on the one hand to allow the IAEA greater certainty as to the declarations of States as regards safeguards<sup>126</sup> and consequently, as to the absence of non-declared nuclear activities, and on the other hand to give greater access to information and to sites<sup>127</sup> (for example, access to strategic locations even if these are not listed in the safeguards

<sup>121</sup> Albright D Berkhout F and Walker W World Inventory of Plutonium and Highly Enriched Uranium 1992 SIPRI Oxford University Press 1993

<sup>122</sup> Euratom does not take any special measures to detect illegal activity but may on the basis of Article 77 of the Treaty of Rome exercise control over the European Union's imports and exports and over the use of fuel This implies also control over illegal activities

<sup>123</sup> INFCIRC/153 op cu para. 28 see supra Section 4 1 3

<sup>124</sup> Fischer G Le bombardement par Isräel d'un reacteur nucleaire irakien Annuaire Français de Droit International 1981 p 156

<sup>125</sup> Pellaud B and Hooper R IAEA Safeguards in the 1990s Building From Experience IAEA Bulletin No 1 1995 pp 14 20 Pellaud B "The Treaty on the Non Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons A Pillar for Nuclear Disarmament Elements for Speeches 22-23 May 1995 p 18 Blix H Statement Extension Conference of cit Jennekens J Parsick R von Baeckman A Strengthening the Internation! Safeguards System IAEA Bulletin Vol 34 No 1 1992 pp 6-10

<sup>126</sup> A more detailed declaration is the subject of Programme 93+2 which began in 1993 and led to specific proposals accepted by the Board of Governors of the IAEA in March 1995

<sup>127</sup> Under the IAEA statute there is also a right of access to additional information or sites. Although never defined this right would seem to include the use of espionage services with the help inter alia of satellites.

agreement with the State in question)<sup>128</sup> Proposals have been submitted to the Board of Governors of the IAEA

Additional provisions which could provide further information to the IAEA include—references to information from outside sources such as press reports, import-export data and data supplied by other States, as well as visits to places outside the declared installation but within the territory of the State concerned, and application of different environmental control techniques—Were the IAEA's duties to be extended to include verification under the CTBT, all these provisions could together help ensure the universality of non-proliferation measures

The purpose of the proposals made is to achieve greater transparency by giving greater freedom to inspectors. Naturally, all these measures require greater co-operation from the States in question, in particular as regards an increased right of access for Agency inspectors.

This should not be difficult to accept if safeguards are seen by States not as an imposition but as an opportunity to demonstrate non-proliferation bona-fides 129

#### 7. CONCLUSIONS

It is hardly surprising that the bombing of Hiroshima and Nagasaki prompted the international community to worry about nuclear weapons. The first Resolution of the UN General Assembly created the UN Atomic Energy Commission. It was, however, a good ten years before the UN Member States could agree on the creation of an international body introducing controls of nuclear materials and ensuring the right of countries to use nuclear energy for peaceful purposes. The negotiations leading up to the drafting of the IAEA Statute were no doubt difficult, as witnessed by the failure of the Baruch Plan. It was when the two superpowers each had nuclear weapons that they became allies in the fight to stop the proliferation of these weapons to other countries.

Twelve years after the first (and so far the last) two atomic bombs were dropped, the IAEA Statute was adopted. The essential role of the IAEA was to promote atomic energy and extend its contribution to peace, health and prosperity throughout the world. At the same time, in 1957, six European States agreed in Rome on the creation of the European Economic Community and the European Atomic Energy Community (Euratom), providing for technical and scientific collaboration and introducing a system of safeguards

It was 1968 before the most advanced Treaty in the field of nuclear disarmament was signed the Treaty on the Non-proliferation of Nuclear Weapons to which, 25 years after its entry into force, 178 States have acceded Thanks to the NPT, the real or assumed number of nuclear-weapon-States has remained limited. As far as horizontal proliferation is concerned, it can be said that the NPT has acted, and can still act in the years to come, as a brake on the military nuclear ambitions of those countries still not in possession of nuclear weapons.

Nevertheless six countries are posing, or have posed, a problem of horizontal proliferation. Three of these countries (South Africa, Argentina and Brazil) have given up their military nuclear ambitions. The three others (Israel, India and Pakistan) still refuse to accede to the NPT. They are considered as countries in *de facto* possession of nuclear arms. Significant progress in the non-

<sup>128</sup> Ibid Note 116

<sup>129</sup> Blix H Statement Extension Conference p 10

<sup>130</sup> Blix H The IAEA United Nations and the New Global Nuclear Agenda IAEA Bulletin No 3 1995 pp 3 7

proliferation of nuclear weapons would, therefore, be achieved if these three countries acceded to the NPT

In the past, some dissident countries have given rise to problems, revealing shortcomings in the system of safeguards. It would, however, be unfair to call the whole system of safeguards into question just because of problems in a few countries. For most NPT Contracting Parties, safeguards have proved their worth.

The international community seems to have learned lessons from past experiences and has taken steps to strengthen the system. The most important aspect constitutes better access to information. It remains to be seen whether the recent reinforcement measures will dissuade potential dissidents from taking the military nuclear path. Even if, thanks to the endeavours of the IAEA, the nuclear (material) potential of some dissidents has been neutralised, the scientific and technical know-how has nevertheless been acquired.

As far as vertical proliferation is concerned - the undertaking of the NWS under Article VI of the NPT - important progress has been made, in large part thanks to the international detente between the superpowers. The nuclear arsenals of the Umted States and the ex-USSR have been considerably reduced by virtue of the nuclear armaments agreements they have concluded (INF and START I and II). The quasi exponential increase in the nuclear arsenals of the NWS during the Cold War has been slowed down, for economic as well as political reasons. However, very little heed has been paid to the NPT's call for total disarmament. Thus, as things stand today, the United States and the Russian Federation possess more than twice the long-range nuclear weapons that existed in 1970. The at the time when the NPT entered into force.

The NPT was concluded for a limited period of 25 years, and the extension conference was therefore organised from April to May 1995 to decide on the Treaty's future. Under pressure from the major powers, agreement was reached to extend the NPT for an indefinite period. This extension of such a universal Treaty is certainly a very important element in the fight to prevent the future proliferation of nuclear weapons. During the 25 years of its existence, the NPT has allowed commercial nuclear transactions to take place<sup>132</sup>, both by means of commercial agreements based on guarantees from the control bodies, and by preventing the transfer of nuclear materials and equipment to countries with ambitions to possess nuclear weapons or which were considered as dissident

The International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) is the body to which the NPT gave the task of carrying out on-site inspections. This mandate, which consists of carrying out controls over all fuel used in all the peaceful nuclear activities of a State is the basic element in the safeguards system. It should, however, be emphasised that this system is only a technical arrangement for verifying the use of nuclear energy. It would be materially and financially impossible and unrealistic to attempt to design a system with a 100 per cent guarantee of successful detection. Nevertheless, we firmly believe in the credibility and reliability of the system provided that the IAEA is given the powers necessary to carry out its duties and that countries co-operate with it

Moreover an effective ventication system is rather expensive. Even if the political will to strengthen the safeguards system exists, this has above all to be translated into practical terms by

<sup>131</sup> The number of nuclear weapons will not have fallen to 1970 levels until the year 2003 Washington Post 1 March 1995

<sup>132</sup> See also Krämer J R NPT and AFC Building Blocks for Confidence and Predictability in Nuclear Trade Nuclear Inter Jura 1995 Helsinki

allocating sufficient funds to the IAEA Otherwise, the Agency's work will be hampered by financial constraints

Apart from the IAEA system, different regional agreements provide for their own inspection bodies. This is the case for Euratom which has special sanctions available to it. 133

We feel that such regional safeguards agreements working in close collaboration with the IAEA present a great advantage—the countries Parties to a regional agreement will more easily accept the powers of the regional body responsible for control—Naturally, regional agreements can in no way impinge on the powers of the IAEA which is bound to guarantee the world-wide application of the safeguards system based on the NPT—In this respect, Article VII of the NPT stipulates that any group of States is always entitled to conclude regional Treaties in order to assure the total absence of nuclear weapons in their respective territories

As stated above, the agreement between the IAEA and the State on whose territory the installations subject to safeguards are located, is extremely important. The effectiveness of the safeguards system thus depends largely on the goodwill of States to comply with these agreements. It should, however, be noted that IAEA inspections may be interpreted in two ways: a State may consider them as an interference in its internal affairs, or it may consider them as an opportunity to show the *bona fide* fulfilment of its obligations under the NPT, thus opening the way for numerous peaceful applications of the atom

At present, there are two particular aspects to the discussion on total nuclear disarmament, namely signature of the Comprehensive Test Ban Treaty (CTBT), and the "cut-off" Convention, which prohibit the production of fissionable materials used for military purposes. The objective of the Disarmament Conference is to conclude the CTBT before end-1996<sup>134</sup>, reflecting a political signal being given by the NWS to the NNWS. Given that it will signify implementation of Article VI of the NPT concerning nuclear disarmament, the CTBT will reinforce the policy of non-proliferation in the wider sense of the term

Total nuclear disarmament remains essentially a political choice. Armament – whether with nuclear or conventional weapons – has always served to dissuade enemies. Indeed, the Romans used to declare *Sivic pacem*, para bellum<sup>135</sup>. There is no denying that during the Cold War, nuclear dissuasion was important. Our planet has been saved from a third World War. The question is whether dissuasion is still relevant following the collapse of the Soviet Union<sup>136</sup>. Should we not guard against a terrorist State one day getting its hands on nuclear weapons? What methods could the major powers use – no longer having nuclear weapons – against dissident countries attempting to acquire the atomic bomb? Does a nuclear holocaust not seem more likely if the super-powers give up their dissuasive nuclear force? We cannot know. One thing that is certain is that everything must be done to ensure that our civilisation experiences only two atomic bombs.

<sup>133</sup> The European Commission may bring a case directly against a nuclear operator before the Court of Justice in Luxembourg the purpose of the IAEA's safeguards system is to point out difficulties to its members and to the United Nations (in particular the Security Council)

<sup>134</sup> See supra Section 3 4

<sup>135</sup> If you want peace you must prepare for war

<sup>136</sup> See the article by Charles Millon France's Minister of Defence in Le Monde 5 août 1995 'Lideologie de la paix contre la cause de la paix A contrario Goldblat J How Secure are States Without Nuclear Weapons?' Security Dialogue Vol 26 No 3 1995, pp 257-263

#### **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- AKEHURST, M (1987), A Modern Introduction to International Law, 6th ed Unwin Hyman London
- ALBRIGHT, D, F Berkhout, and W Walker (1993), World Inventory of Plutonium and Highly Enriched Uranium, SIPRI, Oxford University Press, Oxford
- BERLIA, G, "Problème nucléaire et relations internationales', Les Cours de Droit, Paris 1972
- BLIX, H, 'Aspects juridiques des garanties de l'Agence internationale de l'énergie atomique Annuaire Français de Droit International 1983, p 37
- BLIX, H, "The Dual Challenge of a Nuclear Age", IAEA Bulletin, No 1, 1993, p 33
- BLIX, H, "Statement to the Review and Extension Conference of the Parties to the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons", IAEA, C22, 17 April 1995
- BLIX, H, "The IAEA, United Nations and the New Global Nuclear Agenda, IAEA Bulletin No 3 1995, pp 3-7
- BOYLE AE, "Nuclear Energy and International Law An Environmental Perspective', British Yearbook of International Law, 1989, p 257
- CARCHON, R (1995), La non-prolifération d'armes nucléaires et les contrôles internationaix SCK-CEN, NN-3605
- CARNAHAN, B M "Nuclear Testing and the Future of the Nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty Nuclear Law Bulletin, No 49, 1992
- COURTEIX, D, "Les accords de Londres entre les pays exportateurs d'équipements et de matieres nucléaires", Annuaire Français de Droit International, 1976 p 34
- DARRICAU, A, "Le TNP après 25 ans', Nuclear Law as a Source of Confidence, Proceedings of the INLA Conference, Nuclear Inter Jura '95, Helsinki
- DONOHUE, D.L., and R. ZEISLER "Behind the Scenes Scientific Analysis of Samples From Nuclear Inspections in Iraq", *IAEA Bulletin*, No. 1, 1992
- ERRERA, J, E Symon J Van Der Meulen, et L Vernaeve (1958), Euratom Analyse et commentaire du traité Libraine Encyclopédique, Bruxelles
- EUROPEAN COMMISSION REGULATION (EURATOM) (19 October 1976) concerning the application of the provisions on Euratom safeguards Official Journal of the European Commission No 3227/76, Brussels
- FISCHER, G, "Euratom", Annuaire Français de Droit International, 1956 pp 695-710
- FISCHER, G, "Le bombardement par Israel d'un réacteur nucléaire irakien Annuaire Français de Droit International, 1981
- FISCHER, G "L'Agence internationale de l'énergie atomique", Annuaire Français de Droit International, 1956 p 616
- FISCHER, G (1969), La prolifération des armes nucléaires Pichon et Durand-Auzias Paris
- FISCHER, G "La coopération internationale en matière d'utilisation pacifique de l'energie atomique", Annuaire Français de Droit International, 1955, pp. 228-257
- FISCHER, G, "La zone dénucléansée du Pacifique Sud', Annuaire Français de Droit International 1985, p 45

- GIJSSELS, J, "L'accord entre Euratom et l'AIEA en application du Traité de non-prolifération des armes nucléaires", *Annuaire Français de Droit International*, 1972, pp. 837-863
- GOLDBLATT, J (1991), Twenty Years of the NPT Implementation and Prospects, International Peace Research Institute, Oslo
- GOLDBLATT, J, "How Secure are States Without Nuclear Weapons?", Security Dialogue, Vol 26, No 3, 1995, pp 257-263
- HERRON, LW, "Le point de vue d'un juriste sur les garanties et la non-prolifération", AIEA Bulletin, Vol 24, No 3, 1982, pp 32-38
- HOEKEMA, T, "CTBT and NPT An Essential Linkage?", M van Leeuwen, ed, The Future of the International Non-Proliferation Regime, Kluwer Academic Publishers, 1995
- HORBACH, N, "The New French Nuclear Tests Dispute", *Nuclear Law Bulletin*, No 56, December 1995, pp 64-73
- IAEA (1968), The Agency's Safeguards System, INFCIRC/66/Rev 2, Vienna
- IAEA (1972), The Structure and Content of Agreements between the Agency and States Required in Connection with the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons, INFCIRC/153, Vienna
- IAEA (1973), The Agreement Between Belgium, Denmark, the Federal Republic of Germany, Ireland Italy Luxembourg the Netherlands, the European Atomic Energy Community and the Agency in connection with the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons, INFCIRC/193, Vienna
- JENNEKENS, J, R Parsick, and A von Baeckman, "Strengthening the International Safeguards System", *IAEA Bulletin*, Vol 34, No 1, 1992, pp 6-10
- KOOYMANS PH, "The peaceful application of nuclear power and the non-proliferation system", X, Proliferation and the Safeguarding of the Peaceful Application of Nuclear Power, Koninklijk Instituut van Ingenieurs Kerntechniek, The Hague, Symposium, 8 December 1976
- KRAMER, JR, "NPT and AFC Building Blocks for Confidence and Predictability in Nuclear Trade", INLA Conference, Nuclear Inter Jura '95, Helsinki
- LAMM, V (1984), The Utilisation of Nuclear Energy and International Law Akadémiai Kiado, Budapest
- LECLERQ, J (1986), L ere nucléaire Le monde des centrales nucléaires, Hachette, Paris
- LOMAS, P "The INF-Treaty and the Non-Proliferation Treaty", Lomas and Muller, Western Europe and the Future of the Non-Proliferation Treaty Centre for European Policy Studies, Brussels, 1989, p 104
- MACK, A, "Nuclear End-Game on the Korean Peninsula", *The Future of the International Nuclear Non-Proliferation Regime*, van Leeuwen, M, ed, Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, Dordrecht, 1995, pp 15-56
- MCKNIGHT, A (1971), Atomic Safeguards A Study in International Verification, UNTAR, New York
- OECD/NEA (1988), The Regulation of Nuclear Trade International Aspects Vol I, Paris
- OECD/NEA (1988), The Regulation of Nuclear Trade National Regulations Vol II, Paris
- PELLAUD, B, 'The Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons A Pillar for Nuclear Disarmament, *Elements for Speeches*, 22-23 May 1995
- PELLAUD, B, and Hooper, R, 'IAEA Safeguards in the 1990s Building From Experience", *IAEA Bulletin* No 1, 1995, pp. 14-20
- PIROTTE, O, Girerd, P, Marsal, P and Morson, S (1989), Trente ans d experience Euratom La naissance d une Europe nucléaire, Bruylant, Bruxelles
- PRIEST, J, "IAEA Safeguards and the NPT Examining Connections", *IAEA Bulletin*, No 1, 1995, p 9

- QIAN, J, and Rogov, A, "Atoms for peace Extending the Benefits of Nuclear Technologies' IAEA Bulletin, Vol 37, March 1995, p 21
- RAINAUD, J M (1953), L Agence internationale de l'énergie atomique Colin, Pans
- ROCKWOOD, L, "Non-Prohferation Treaty 1990 Review Conference Looking Towards 1995 Nuclear Law Bulletin, No 46, 1990, pp 25-41
- ROCKWOOD, L, "The Nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty Permanent Commitment to Disarmament and Non-Proliferation", Nuclear Law Bulletin, No 56, 1995, pp 9-18
- ROMAN-Morey, E, "Latin America's Treaty of Tlatelolco Instrument for Peace and Development *IAEA Bulletin*, No 13, 1974, pp. 70-77
- ROMETSCH, R, "International Safeguards on the Peaceful Use of Nuclear Material' Nuclear Law Bulletin, No 13, 1974, pp. 66-72
- SANDERS, B and P, Ha-Vinh, "International Safeguards", Nuclear Law Bulletin \ \ 0 18 \ December 1976, p 54
- SANDS, Ph (1995), Principles of International Environmental Law Vol 1, Manchester University Press, Manchester
- SCHEINMAN, L, The International Atomic Energy Agency and World Nuclear Order Resources for the Future 1987
- SCHEINMAN, L, "The Non-Proliferation Treaty On the Road to 1995', IAEA Bulletin, No 1, 1992, p 33
- SIMPSON, J, "The Birth of a New Era? The 1995 NPT Conference and the Politics of Nuclear Disarmament", Security Dialogue, Vol 26, No 3, 1995, pp. 247-256
- SPECTOR, L S (1988), The Undeclared Bomb The Spread of Nuclear Weapons 1987-1988 Carnegie Endowment Book
- THORNE, L, IAEA Nuclear Inspections in Iraq', IAEA Bulletin, No 1, 1992
- THORSTENSEN, S and K Chitumbo, "Safeguards in the European Union The New Partnership Approach" *IAEA Bulletin*, No 1, 1995, pp 25-28
- TIMERBAEV, R, "Strengthening the NPT Regime A CTBT and a Cut-Off of Fissionable Material" Disarmament, Vol 16, No 2, 1993
- TIMERBAEV, R and L Moskowitz, (1994), Inventory of International Non-Proliferation Organizations and Regimes, Program for Non-Proliferation Studies, Monterey Institute of International Studies, Monterey
- UNITED NATIONS (1991), Nuclear Weapons A Comprehensive Study New York
- UNITED NATIONS (1995), *The United Nations and Nuclear Non-Proliferation* United Nations Blue Book Series, Vol 3, New York.
- VANDEN BORRE, T, "L'usage pacifique de l'énergie nucléaire', these, Université catholique de Louvain, 1993
- VAN LEEUWEN, M, "Nuclear Prohferation in the Middle East", The Future of the International Nuclear Non-Proliferation regime, van Leeuwen, M, ed, Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, Dordrecht, 1995, pp 125-153

# Consent Rights in the New Agreement for Co-operation in the Peaceful Uses of Nuclear Energy Between the United States of America and the European Atomic Energy Community

by R. Lennartz\*

#### INTRODUCTION

After the adoption, in 1978, of the Nuclear Non-Proliferation Act (hereinafter referred to as the NNPA) by the American Congress, the United States administration approached the Commission of the European Communities with a request to re-negotiate the existing peaceful nuclear co-operation Agreement, concluded in 1960. This Agreement was to expire only on 31 December 1995. However, under the NNPA, the President of the US is required to initiate a programme for the re-negotiation of nuclear co-operation agreements already in effect on the date of enactment of the NNPA, with a view to obtaining the insertion of the provisions of the NNPA in such existing agreements [Section 404 (a)]

As a consequence, exploratory talks took place in order to determine the scope of any possible amendments to the 1960 co-operation Agreement. The new and extended NNPA requirements for consent rights on certain nuclear fuel cycle activities in the European Atomic Energy Community (hereinafter referred to as Euratom) were one of the main issues discussed during these talks

With the approach of the expiration date of the 1960 Agreement, the Council of Ministers, upon proposal by the Commission, adopted a negotiating mandate pursuant to Article 101 of the Euratom Treaty on 16 December 1991, and formal negotiations for a new peaceful nuclear co-operation agreement started in the spring of 1992 (The Agreement was signed on 29 March 1996 and entered into force on 12 April 1996)

The US negotiators adopted the position of insisting on the insertion of the consent rights contained in the NNPA in the new Agreement, whereas the Commission was of the opinion that the non-proliferation credentials of the Member States of Euratom and of Euratom itself were of such an excellent nature that bilateral US controls, additional to the international non-proliferation regime, were not justified Euratom and its Member States regarded the consent rights as a possible means of influencing the nuclear fuel cycle choices made by them. Indeed, the non-proliferation credentials of Euratom and its Member States have risen to unique standards during more than thirty years of co-operation in the nuclear field with the US. The insistence on bilateral controls over and above existing international non-proliferation commitments was regarded in the Community as not being

Mr Lennartz is legal advisor at the Directorate-General XVII Energy European Commission. The ideas expressed herein are the sole responsibility of the author and do not necessarily reflect the views of the EC.

See Jonathan B Schwartz, Controlling Nuclear Proliferation. Legal Strategies of the United States. Law and Policy in International Business International Law Journal of Georgetown University Law Centre. Vol.20. 1988 p. 39. 'Consent rights therefore provide the United States with the opportunity to affect a recipient's fuel cycle decisions as US supplied items are considered for additional uses.

appropriate between two transatlantic partners of equal standing (Extracts of the new Agreement and the Agreed Minutes are reproduced in the "Texts" Chapter of this issue of the Bulletin )

These opposing views resulted in a stalemate in the negotiations which the Commission tried to solve by a high-level political demarche to the United States. On 2 March 1994, the European Commissioner responsible for Energy, Mr. Matutes, wrote a letter to the US Secretary of State Mr. Christopher, in which he asked for more flexibility in the US position on consent rights. In his reply, Mr. Christopher declined to ask the US Congress for a waiver of the consent rights (as suggested by Mr. Matutes), but promised to exercise the maximum flexibility within the constraints of legal requirements and of domestic sentiment. For its part, the Council of Ministers reviewed the issue and, while wholly confirming the Commission's 1991 negotiating mandate, invited the Commission to explore all possibilities with a view to finding a solution to the problem

These demarches cleared the way to discuss the so-called programmatic long-term consents which the US administration had offered to Euratom Originally, consents were given case-by-case thus introducing great uncertainty into programmes requiring huge long-term investments. However under Section 131 of the Atomic Energy Act, the US government can exercise consent rights in advance of proposed activities. In this way, co-operating partner countries were given the confidence that US controls would be exercised in a stable and predictable manner.

#### THE CONSENT RIGHTS

The US consent rights include

- 1 a right over the enrichment of uranium to higher concentrations of the fissionable isotope U-235 [Section 123 a (7) of the Atomic Energy Act as amended by the NNPA]
- 2 a right over the transfer of US nuclear items to other countries (retransfers) [Section 123 a.(5)],
- 3 a nght over the reprocessing and the physical or chemical alteration of specified nuclear material [Section 123 a (7)], and
- 4 a right over the storage conditions for sensitive nuclear materials [Section 123 a (8) of the Atomic Energy Act]

Implementation of these consent rights would require a complex system of tracking of the nuclear materials subject to these rights. The Commission, during the negotiations argued that this would impose an excessive administrative burden on the operators and the Commission's nuclear safeguards system, which might discourage nuclear co-operation with the United States<sup>3</sup>

Let us now see what solutions the negotiators found for the different consent rights in order to meet both the US request for including consent rights in the agreement and the need for stability and predictability in their exercise

<sup>2</sup> Ibid. page 43

<sup>3</sup> This fear was already expressed by J Schwartz in his article mentioned in footnote (1) pages 40 and 41

#### 1 Enrichment

Article 8 1 (A) of the new Agreement stipulates that enrichment up to twenty percent in the U-235 isotope, either transferred pursuant to the Agreement or used in or produced through the use of equipment so transferred, can be carried out pursuant to the Agreement, within the territorial jurisdiction of either Party. Apart from the normal non-proliferation conditions, such as the application of safeguards, physical protection measures and the peaceful use commitment, the Agreement does not require any further consent conditions before this activity can be carried out. The introduction to the Article "The nuclear fuel cycle activities carried out pursuant to this Agreement include" should be seen as a further amplification of Article 1.1 D of the Agreement which states that supply between the Parties of nuclear material, non-nuclear material and equipment and provision of nuclear fuel cycle services are areas in which the Parties may co-operate. Euratom therefore considers that this activity can be undertaken freely and unhindered by any specific consent requirement. As for this provision being interpreted as a prior consent, it is a consent that could not be withdrawn because paragraph 8 of the Agreed Minute to the Agreement, referred to later on, does not apply to Article 8.1

As to enrichment of uranium to more than twenty percent in the isotope 235, the Agreement requires a case-by-case consent. This consent will be requested by a Party for a specific case. The other Party will either grant the consent or call for consultations, which have to be held within 40 days from the request. Conditions attached to the consent will be agreed upon in writing. There is of course no obligation for a Party to grant the consent. This mechanism has been accepted by Euratom in other international nuclear co-operation agreements such as the ones with Australia and Canada. It fits into the US policy of discouraging the use of highly enriched uranium.

In this context, it can be noted that the Agreement does not forbid the supply of highly enriched uranium ("HEU") by the US Article 1.1 D, quoted above, is broad enough to also include HEU, whereas under Articles 3 and 4 the fullest possible exchange of materials and nuclear trade between the Parties should be facilitated. However, under present US policy concerning HEU, based upon domestic legislation, it will be very unlikely that a licence for export of HEU will be granted. As large quantities of HEU not obligated to the US are available, notably from Russia, this situation should in practice not result in large problems of supply for European operators. Furthermore, the US has recognised in a side letter to the Agreement that specific research reactors in the Community may, under certain circumstances, need to use HEU as fuel. In order to meet such needs, the US will use its best endeavours to come to an agreement with the Community on the conditions to be applied to a request from the Community for re-enrichment of HEU.

#### 2 Retransfers

In Article 8 1 (C) of the Agreement and in paragraphs 2, 3 and 4 of the Agreed Minute, which is an integral part of the Agreement, a mechanism is laid down under which the Parties grant each other prior generic consent for the retransfer of nuclear items covered by the Agreement.

Article 8 1 (C) distinguishes three categories of retransfers of nuclear items to third countries according to their nature and the purpose of their retransfer

The words used in or produced through the use of" stem from the NNPA and have as a consequence that the obligations under US law are extended to non US material which is processed in a US nuclear reactor through US equipment or which has come into contact with US non nuclear material (e.g. moderator material). They also entail that plutonium produced through the burning of fuel obligated to the US will remain obligated to the US. This is the so-called contamination effect of US legislation.

<sup>5</sup> US Energy Policy Act 1992

- (i) retransfers of low ennched uranium ("LEU"), non-nuclear material, equipment and source material, for nuclear fuel cycle activities other than the production of highly enriched uranium.
- (11) retransfers of irradiated nuclear material for storage or disposal not involving reprocessing and
- (iii) retransfers of other nuclear material and other special fissionable material for other fuel cycle activities including reprocessing, alteration in form or content and storage. This category covers retransfers of plutonium, HEU and U-233.

All the above retransfers have to take place in accordance with the procedures set out in the Agreed Minute

Paragraph 2 of the Agreed Minute provides that upon entry into force of the Agreement lists of third countries to which retransfers pursuant to Article 8 I (C)(i) may be made, shall be exchanged by the Parties Each Party will provide a list of third countries to which the other Party may retransfer items as described under (i) above The lists will not be published with the Agreement but will be provided to the other Party for operational purposes from the day of entry into force of the Agreement

For third countries to be eligible for continued inclusion on such lists they must have made effective non-proliferation commitments. This means, according to this paragraph of the Agreed Minute, by being party to and in full respect of their obligations under the Non-Proliferation Treaty or the Tlatelolco Treaty, by being in compliance with the Nuclear Suppliers Guidelines as laid down in IAEA document INFCIRC/254/Rev 1/Part 1, and, in the case of retransfer of items obligated to the US from the territory of the Community to a third country, such a third country must be Party to a nuclear co-operation agreement with the US. The criterion of compliance with the NSG guidelines does not mean that it would be enough that the third country in question be a member of the NSG it entails having in force a legal structure to enforce the guidelines and the capability to maintain the necessary controls. All of these criteria apply as a minimum and allow the Parties to exclude transfers to countries of possible non-proliferation concern or for other reasons.

Additions of countries to the list can be done at each Party's discretion since it is in the other Party's interest that the list of countries of the originating Party be as long as possible Deletions however are subject to prior consultations (see paragraph 4 of the Agreed Minute)

Two situations can be distinguished

#### 1 Retransfers of US Obligated Material From the EU

Under the 1960 Additional Agreement for co-operation between the United States and Euratom<sup>6</sup> "no such material will be transferred to unauthorised persons or beyond the control of the

As a matter of fact there are several nuclear co-operation agreements between Euratorn and the USA. 1) On 27 August 1958 an Agreement entered into force which only states the principle that the Parties will co-operate in the peaceful applications of atomic energy (Official Journal of the European Communities No 17 19 March 1959) This is an Agreement of indefinite duration and constitutes the basis for later co-operation Agreements 2) Thus an Agreement for co-operation between the Government of the United States of America and the European Atomic Energy Community (Euratorn) concerning peaceful uses of atomic energy was signed on 8 November 1958 (Official Journal No 17 as above) This Agreement expired on 31 December 1985 3) On 11 June 1960 an Additional Agreement for co-operation between the United States of America and the European Atomic Energy Community (Euratorn) concerning peaceful uses of nuclear energy was signed (Official Journal No 31 29 April 1961) This is the Agreement which has been the basis of nuclear co-operation during the last 30 years. It

Community, except as the Government of the United States of America may agree to such transfer and then only if the transfer of the material is within the scope of an Agreement for Co-operation between the Government of the United States of America and another nation or group of nations" (Article XI of the 1960 Agreement) Thus, even if the recipient countries have an agreement for co-operation with the US the regime for retransfers under the old Agreement was one of case by case consent. The regime agreed to in the new Agreement is therefore a significant step forward since a prior generic consent is given so that retransfers to third countries satisfying the agreed criteria are allowed, subject only to a notification

The criterion that third countries to which the EU wishes to retransfer US obligated material, must have a nuclear co-operation agreement in place with the US is an explicit requirement under US law. Therefore, third countries receiving US obligated material from Europe are required to hold that material under its co-operation agreement with the US. The Parties will co-operate to obtain confirmation from third countries, on a generic basis, that they will hold any retransferred US obligated items under their agreements with the US. The appropriate authorities in the EU remain, of course, free to issue export licences only in cases where retransfers fulfil their own export criteria set out in the Agreed Minute.

Should a third country on the US list not qualify for the EU criteria, then the appropriate authorities in the EU are free not to grant an export licence. Therefore, whenever retransferring US obligated material, the EU policy can be applied within the framework of the US list of third countries.

#### 2 Retransfers of EU Obligated Material From the US

In drawing up its list, the EU would only apply the objective criteria of its own export policy. Thus, the EU list may be longer than the US list since, as stated before, it does not have to apply the criterion of the existence of a co-operation agreement between it and the third country in question. However, the US under its present policy can be expected to regard retransfers of European obligated items from US territory as transfers originating from the US and therefore these retransfers would have to satisfy US legislation. Thus, the Euratom list of countries would in effect only be operative in so far as it coincides with the US list of eligible countries, just as much as the US list is only operative in so far as the countries contained in it satisfy EU criteria.

The Parties can, of course, always grant consent for retransfers to countries not on the lists following a case by case consideration

Retransfers of the materials and items mentioned in Article 8 1 (C) (ii) and (iii) are not foreseen at this moment, but should the need arise, the Parties shall exchange lists for that purpose. In order to decide which countries will appear on such lists, the following additional criteria will be taken into account

expired on 31 December 1995. 4) The Agreement of 8 November 1958 was amended on 21 and 22 May 1962 (Official Journal No. 72 of 8 8 1962). This amendment expired with the Agreement of 8 November 1958 on 31 December 1985. 5) At the same date an amendment to the Additional Agreement was signed which expired on 31 December 1995 (Official Journal No. 72 of 8 August 1962). 6) In 1963. another amendment to the Additional Agreement entered into force, expiring on 31 December 1995 (Official Journal No. 163 of 21 October 1964). 7) A third amendment of the Additional Agreement was signed on 20 September 1972, which expired with the Agreement itself on 31 December 1995 (Official Journal No. L. 139 of 22 May 1974).

- consistency of the proposed retransfer with physical protection criteria contained in INFCIRC/225/Rev 3 and INFCIRC/274/Rev 17.
- the nature and content of the peaceful nuclear programmes of the third country in question
- the potential proliferation and security implications of the retransfer for either Party or a Member State of the Community

Retransfers of nuclear items to two countries have been mentioned specifically in the Agreement

As the reprocessing of US obligated material coming from Japan is a very important commercial activity for industry both in Japan and Euratom, the US has given prior consent to Euratom for retransfer of reprocessed material from Europe to Japan, by an exchange of notes with the European Commission dated 18 July 1988. The status of this consent has been reinforced under the new Agreement.

- it is confirmed that it applies, *inter alia*, to plutonium contained in mixed-oxide fuel (Mox)
- the exchange of notes will remain in force as long as the new Agreement remains in force rather than being linked to the US/Japan Agreement which expires in 2018 whereas the Euratom/US Agreement will expire in 2026, subject to automatic renewal for additional periods of 5 years each unless a Party terminates the Agreement (Article 14 2)
- the consents granted in the exchange of notes can only be suspended for the same serious reasons and following the same procedures as those for which the new Euratom/US Agreement can be suspended (see paragraph 8 of the Agreed Minute)

Thus, the new Agreement has greatly increased the stability and predictability of trade in US obligated material between Europe and Japan

The second country is Switzerland, with which the US is currently negotiating a new peaceful nuclear co-operation agreement to replace the existing one due to expire this year

The US Government has given a political commitment to offer a long-term prior consent to Switzerland in the new Agreement for the transfer of irradiated nuclear material subject to that Agreement, into Euratom for reprocessing and for storage of the recovered plutonium and its fabrication into mixed oxide fuel elements. Furthermore, once the new Agreement with Switzerland is in place, the US is prepared to give a long-term prior consent to Euratom to the retransfers of Swiss-owned plutonium including plutonium contained in Mox fuel elements from Europe to Switzerland

Other activities which can take place freely and unconditionally under the new Euratom/US Agreement are post-irradiation examination involving chemical dissolution or separation of irradiated nuclear material either transferred under the Agreement or used in or produced through the use of

<sup>7</sup> INFCIRC/225 contains recommendations on the physical protection of nuclear material. INFCIRC/274 is the Convention on the Physical Protection of Nuclear Material which entered mio force on 8 February 1987 and constitutes an important framework for international co-operation in the physical protection of nuclear material while in international transport Following a review conference of the Convention in 1992, INFCIRC/225 was also revised and revision No. 3 was published by the IAEA in September 1993.

non-nuclear material or nuclear material or equipment so transferred, as well as the conditioning, storage and final disposal of such irradiated materials

#### 3 Reprocessing and Alteration

Under Section 123 a (7) of the NNPA, reprocessing of nuclear material and "otherwise" alteration in form or content of plutonium, U-233 and HEU should be subject to a US consent right However, Section 131 a (3) of the Act indicates that such consent can be granted in advance. The Parties have thus found a compromise by agreeing to a prior consent mechanism which fulfills the US legal requirements and which gives Euratom the predictability and certainty its industry needs.

But first the Parties had to clarify what the term "alteration in form or content" means

The NNPA does not provide a definition and the US Government has tried to argue that this term is a kind of catch-all clause encompassing any processing of nuclear materials which is not reprocessing or enrichment.

The European Commission thought, however, that this term should be read in the light of the purpose of the NNPA and considered that only activities which increase the strategic, and therefore the proliferation value of the material<sup>8</sup> would be covered. In the Agreement, alteration in form or content is now defined as meaning conversion of plutonium, HEU or U-233, it does not include post irradiation examination involving chemical dissolution or separation, disassembly or reassembly of fuel assemblies, irradiation, reprocessing or enrichment

Reprocessing and alteration may take place pursuant to the Agreement within the territorial jurisdiction of the Parties in facilities forming part of the delineated peaceful nuclear programmes described in annex A to the Agreement (Article 8 2) Pursuant to Article 18 of the Agreement, annexes form an integral part of it and annex A consists simply of a list of installations for reprocessing and one for alteration, the latter containing mainly fuel fabrication plants including mox fuel facilities

An initial list of facilities has been established by each Party. In the course of the life of the Agreement, changes may, of course prove necessary. These can be done through the procedures laid down in paragraph 7 of the Agreed Minute to the Agreement. When the need materialises to add a facility to the list, a file will be prepared by the Party wishing to add the facility to its programme which will contain basic identification of the facility, its location and its capacity, declarations confirming the coverage of the facility by, in the case of a Euratom facility, Euratom safeguards and IAEA safeguards, non-confidential information on the IAEA safeguards approach and on Euratom safeguards, as well as a confirmation that physical protection measures are applied. Upon receipt of that file, the other Party is to acknowledge receipt has been within thirty days. The acknowledgement is limited to a statement that notification of the addition of a facility is received and it, or its absence, therefore cannot operate in law to eliminate either Party's rights to make changes umilaterally to its delineated peaceful nuclear programme

Deletions of facilities from the programmes may be done unilaterally by simple notification. Any changes to the programmes can be discussed during the regular consultations, provided for under Article 12 of the Agreement

This view seems to find some support in the article of Schwartz mentioned in footnote (1) On page 39 of the article he describes alteration in form or content as alteration of specified nuclear material which may provide readier access to sensitive materials

#### 4 Suspension

The prior programmatic consent mechanism described above could be suspended by either Party if certain requirements described in paragraph 8 of the Agreed Minute are met

Such suspension could only take place in the event of certain objectively and clearly defined circumstances of extreme gravity from a non-proliferation point of view. Though their occurrence is extremely unlikely, the procedures prescribed for the application of paragraph 8 are particularly sophisticated and restrictive, in order to exclude totally any arbitrary use of the right to suspend

Application of paragraph 8 would only be possible

- if there is objective evidence that the continuation of reprocessing or alteration in form or content would entail a serious threat to the security of either Party or a significant increase in the risk of nuclear proliferation, and
- if such threat or risk results from a situation of the same degree of seriousness as those listed in paragraph 8, these being,
  - an EU non-nuclear weapon State detonates a nuclear explosive device
  - ii a nuclear weapon State uses an item, subject to the Agreement, in the detonation of a nuclear weapon,
  - in a Party or a Member State of the Community terminates or violates the NPT a safeguards agreement or physical protection guidelines as laid down in INFCIRC/254
  - iv a Member State of the Community or the US retransfers an item subject to the Agreement to a non-nuclear weapon State that does not have a full-scope safeguards agreement with the IAEA,
  - v a Member State or the US is subject to IAEA sanctions,
  - vi acts of war, serious internal disturbances or serious international threats of war which threaten the safeguarding or physical protection of the activities involved

This working has been carefully negotiated since, if only in theory it is not inconceivable that the threat or the risk might result from other, at present unforeseeable, situations. But in any event such situations would only be relevant if they are of the same or greater degree of seriousness.

Even if a Party would consider that one of the above mentioned situations or another situation of the same degree of senousness would exist and that sufficiently objective evidence exists that, in such a situation, the continuation of reprocessing or alteration threatens its security or would significantly increase the risk of proliferation, certain procedural requirements have to be fulfilled

 that Party would have to consult the other Party before taking a decision, such consultation to take place at the highest level of government, namely at cabinet level for the US and at the level of the Commission for Euratom, if an appropriate solution is not found through consultation, any decision to suspend the
programmatic consent shall only be taken at the highest political level, i.e., by the President
of the US or by the Council of the European Union

If, in spite of the above procedural guarantees, a Party decides to suspend the programmatic consent, that decision would be subject to several conditions

- the decision shall not be taken on the basis of actions of third countries or events beyond the territorial jurisdiction of the other Party unless the reprocessing or alteration activities would, due to such actions or events, result in a significant increase in the risk of nuclear proliferation or in a serious threat to the security of the other Party,
- the decision shall not be taken on the basis of differences over the nature of the Parties' nuclear programmes or fuel cycle choices, meaning, in concrete terms, that the US could not suspend consent over reprocessing because it is simply opposed to reprocessing as a matter of principle and does not carry it out domestically due to its policy choices,
- the decision shall only be taken in the most extreme circumstances of exceptional concern from a non-proliferation or security point of view, this clause conditioning the situation in which the decision can be taken so that if a Member State of the Community, for e.g., would be subject to sanctions by the Board of Governors of the IAEA, the consent could only be suspended for that reason if the action for which the sanctions have been imposed causes exceptional concern from the non-proliferation point of view,
- the decision will be applied for the minimum period of time necessary to deal in a manner acceptable to the Parties with the situation which has prompted the suspension, implying that the Parties should co-operate to find a solution to the problem after the suspension decision has been taken and that the decision will be withdrawn as soon as a solution has been found,
- the Party which has suspended the consent shall keep the situation under constant review the situation and shall withdraw the suspension as soon as warranted, thus, the duration of the suspension will be minimised and will have to be withdrawn as soon as the other Party has remedied the situation which has given rise to the suspension

A very important feature of the suspension decision is that the suspension would not apply to an installation where one of the above circumstances or situations occurs but to the reprocessing or alteration activities of the other Party taken as a whole, i.e., to the whole of the reprocessing or Mox fuel fabrication industry of Euratom. Thus, the impact of a suspension decision for the other Party's industry will be enormous and this will constitute a powerful deterrent to invoke the suspension.

Thus, even if the final decision to suspend will always reside with one Party, the above analysis shows that the programmatic consent would be very difficult to revoke

However, even on the assumption that conditions would occur warranting the taking of the decision to suspend, this would not entail, in practice, significant adverse consequences for European industry, on account of the so-called "reversion" mechanism as laid down in paragraph 13 of the Agreed Minute, which is no doubt one of the major achievements of the negotiations for Euratom

At the end of 1995 when the Euratom/US Agreement from 1960 expired, an inventory of all US labelled materials present in the EU was drawn up. It includes very large quantities of material Assuming that at a given moment in time, US programmatic consent for reprocessing or alteration is suspended in respect of nuclear material supplied under the new Agreement, the EU would under paragraph 13 of the Agreed Minute, still have the right to carry on reprocessing or alteration of an amount of US-obligated nuclear material equal to the final inventory of material subject to the old Agreement. This mechanism would therefore allow the EU industry, while acting in compliance with the new Agreement, to have recourse to those large reserves of nuclear material to continue its activities without any practical or legal hindrance.

As a further guarantee against arbitrary suspension of the consent it was agreed that if a Party suspends its consent for reasons other than those set out in paragraph 8 (A) of the Agreed Minute including situations which are not of the same or greater degree of senousness as those set out in paragraph 8 (A) under (a) or (b), the other Party shall have the right either to cease further cooperation under the Agreement or to suspend or terminate, in whole or in part, the Agreement itself (see last sentence of Article 13, first paragraph)

#### 5 Storage

To meet the NNPA requirements on storage of sensitive nuclear material and yet to minimise interference in each others activities, the Parties have agreed upon the system laid down in Article 8.3 of the Agreement

Pursuant to this provision, each Party will establish a list of storage facilities in which plutonium U-233 and HEU subject to the Agreement, can be stored. The list will be confidential if the Party so wishes. It is, of course, made available to the other Party, which shall respect the confidentiality of the list, if the first Party has decided that the list should be confidential. The Euratom list is classified as confidential. Either Party may make changes to its list by simply notifying the other Party of the change and by receiving a written acknowledgement. Such acknowledgement shall be given no later than 30 days after the receipt of the notification and shall be limited to a statement that the notification has been received.

This language has been copied from the mechanism to change the peaceful nuclear programme as laid down in paragraph 7 of the Agreed Minute (see above). The required acknowledgement cannot be used in law to prevent the addition or deletion of a facility from the storage list by withholding the acknowledgement.

The only requirement to which the Agreement submits the storage facilities is that they shall at all times, be subject as a minimum to the levels of physical protection set out in Annex C to the Guidelines for Nuclear Transfers (INFCIRC/254/REV1/Part1)

If the other Party has reason to believe that these levels of physical protection are not being fully complied with at a given facility, immediate consultations can be held. Following such consultations each Party shall ensure that necessary corrective measures will be taken in order to remedy the situation identified during the consultations. The aim of the measures is of course, to restore the levels of physical protection referred to above. If such restoration proves not to be feasible, the nuclear material in question shall be transferred to a facility, which is included in the list and where physical protection levels meet the above requirements.

<sup>9</sup> As compared to the total amount of nuclear material present in the EU US obligated material subject to the 1960 Agreement as at 31 December 1995 represents approximately the following ratio plutonium 30% HEU 86% LEU 27% and nat U 3%.

As the implementation of physical protection is - to a very large extent  $^{10}$  - a Member State competence within the European Union, the Member State responsible for the storage facility where the possible problem has arisen, will be involved in the consultations on this subject

Thus, the US has shown reasonable flexibility on the implementation of the consent right on storage, as required by the NNPA. The only point of reference for the acceptability of a storage facility is the maintenance of certain physical protection levels. These levels are respected by Member States anyway, as part of their already existing international commitments, notably under the Physical Protection Convention and the Nuclear Suppliers' Group Guidelines, and should therefore not pose any difficulties. Non-respect of these levels by a given facility will constitute an infringement of national legislation implementing those international commitments in the national legal order of the State in question.

Furthermore, the paragraph in the Agreed Minute on suspension of consent rights is not applicable to Article 8.3. This shows clearly that a lighter and rational regime applies to storage of sensitive nuclear material supplied by one Party to the other.

If a Party has reason to believe that physical protection levels are not maintained at the adequate level, what it can do is to call for consultations. It cannot prevent the facility in question being added to the list or to require it to be removed from the list. The decision to take the corrective measures mentioned above will remain the authority of the Commission, the Member State in question or the US authorities.

#### TERMINATION OF THE AGREEMENT

In the context of the suspension or withdrawal of the prior consent, it may be interesting to refer to Article 13.1 of the Agreement which deals with suspension or termination of the whole Agreement

This provision allows for the cessation of co-operation under the Agreement or the termination or suspension, in whole or in part, of the Agreement itself in case of a material violation<sup>11</sup> of a Party's obligations under the Agreement Legally speaking however, this does not mean that the Party which makes use of this right therewith terminates or suspends a consent given to the other Party under the Agreement. The suspension of the prior consent may leave the Agreement intact, whereas the right under Article 13.1 terminates or suspends the whole Agreement. Even if the Agreement – namely Article 8, in which the consents are given – should be suspended in part, this would constitute a suspension for reasons other than those set out in paragraph 8(A) of the Agreed Minute and would give the other Party the right to terminate the whole Agreement

Therefore, the contentions made by the US Arms Control and Disarmament Agency in its Proliferation Assessment Statement for the Agreement that the United States have a prior consent over the activities mentioned in Article 8 1 A, B, D and E because they are activities "carried out pursuant to this Agreement", and because the Agreement can be terminated or suspended under Article 13, seems to be a somewhat dubious description of the situation

<sup>10</sup> An exception would be the Community's Joint Research Centre facilities

<sup>11</sup> The term material breach is defined in the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties as follows. A material breach of a treaty for the purposes of this article consists in (a) a repudiation of the treaty not sanctioned by the present Convention, or (b) the violation of a provision essential to the accomplishment of the object or purpose of the treaty. (Article 60.3 of the Convention) This definition is declared applicable to the Euratom/US Agreement in paragraph 17 of the Agreed Minute to the Agreement.

# CASE LAW AND ADMINISTRATIVE DECISIONS

#### CASES

#### France

Judgments of the Chambre d'Accusation of the Court of Appeal of Caen Concerning the La Manche Storage Centre

The ANDRA storage centre at La Manche was often in the headlines in late 1995 and early 1996 for two reasons a public enquiry relating to its entering a monitoring phase, and legal proceedings which gave rise to two judgments by the *Chambre d'accusation* of the Caen Court of Appeal

The public inquiry, forming part of a well-known administrative licensing procedure, does not call for any particular comment

The decisions of the Chambre d'accusation of the Court of Appeal of Caen, on the other hand, although sub judice and therefore not open to comment either, are of legal interest, and ment a reminder of the facts involved.

The start of the legal proceedings was a complaint brought against an unknown person ('x) to which was joined a claim for civil damages. This complaint was filed with the most senior examining magistrate of the *Tribunal de Grande Instance* of Cherbourg on 14 January 1994 by the *Comite de Réflexion d'Information et de Lutte Anti-Nucléaire* (CRILAN). It claimed that there had been pollution by radioactive substances of a stream, the Sainte-Hélène, used as a rainwater run-off at ANDRA's storage centre for low and medium-level activity waste with a short or medium half-life

By Ordinance of 12 May 1995, the magistrate responsible for the case took the altogether classic procedural step of appointing an expert to investigate whether there had been any pollution, and if so, to determine its nature and origin

On 15 September 1995, on the other hand, an Ordinance of the same magistrate refused the request by CRILAN, as an interim protective measure, to have work stopped on the roof of the storage centre at La Manche

An appeal was lodged by CRILAN against this Ordinance, leading the Chambre d accusation of the Court of Appeal of Caen to hand down its first judgment, on 30 November 1995, following a hearing the day before. This judgment ordered that work on the roof be suspended for two months so that an expert assessment could be performed.

This note has been kindly prepared by Mr Michel Treflez Head of Legal Affairs ANDRA

Following this two-month period, a second judgment, dated 7 February 1996, and based on the expert's initial conclusions reported at a hearing on 31 January, authorised work on the roof to begin again

Although the suspension of work was ordered as part of the preliminary investigation only and was not a decision on the ments of the case, it presents some interesting points of law which, though we do not intend to give an opinion on them, may nevertheless be noted

- in the first place, as admitted in the Ordinance itself, the decision to order suspension of the work caused prejudice to ANDRA which was not at the time, and still is not, a party to the proceedings (the complaint having been brought against "x"), and has so far only been heard as a witness,
- in the second place, the decision conflicts with administrative decisions since permission to carry out the work in question, started in 1991 and almost completed at the time of the judgment, had been given in the licensing decree for the nuclear installation, and technical approval had been granted by the Nuclear Safety Authority, and
- lastly, the order to suspend the work was given before completion of the expert report which
  was intended to determine whether there had been any pollution at all, before, if relevant,
  trying to identify the cause

It may be noted that should other courts make decisions similar to the one described above, this would constitute a change in the investigative procedure for this type of case

## **Switzerland**

Compensation Due by the Swiss Confederation to the Graben SA Nuclear Power Plant for Refusing to Grant a General Licence Under the Federal Order of 6 October 1978 Concerning The Atomic Energy Act.

In 1970, the Forces Motrices Bernoises SA (FMB) applied to the Swiss Confederation for site authorisation in order to construct a nuclear power plant within the Graben commune in the canton of Bern In 1972, the Federal Department of Transport, Communications and Energy (DFTCE) granted this authorisation, basing its decision on Section 4 of the Federal Act of 23 December 1959 on the Peaceful Uses of Atomic Energy (LEA) In 1974, the FMB applied for a construction licence

In 1975, the 'Centrale nucléaire de Graben SA' (Graben SA), a public limited liability company was created, and this company replaced FMB with regard to the procedures pending before the Federal authorities

In 1979, the Federal Order concerning the Atomic Energy Act (AF/LEA) entered into force, and amongst other things, introduced the principle of a general licence instead of site authorisation. The conditions introduced by the new licensing procedure included the obligation to establish that the

This note has been kindly prepared by Mr Buhlmann Head of the Legal Service in the Federal Energy Office Bern Switzerland

energy produced was required to meet a genuine national need. Licences granted by the Federal Council require ratification by the Parliament

Graben SA therefore applied for a general licence. At the same time, the public limited hability company "Centrale nucleaire de Kaiseraugst SA" (Kaiseraugst SA) also applied for a general licence

In 1981 the Government granted a general licence to Kaiseraugst SA. It recognised the need to construct a new power plant in order to prevent a possible electricity shortfall in the 1990s. The question as to whether other new power plants would be needed was left open. In 1985. Parliament approved the general licence granted to Kaiseraugst SA.

In 1987 Graben SA asked the authorities to make a decision on its still outstanding application for a general licence. In its reply, the Federal Council stated that it would do so as soon as it had received the conclusions of the report of the Group of Experts on energy scenarios, and when the time came, it would decide on the follow-up to be given to the general and construction licence applications made by Graben SA.

In November 1988 the Federal Council submitted to Parliament a draft agreement and message to the effect that the Kaiseraugst nuclear power plant should not be built. Broadly speaking the message stated that given the slight increase only in electricity consumption during the 1980s, the building of the Kaiseraugst nuclear power plant was no longer justified. The existing nuclear power plants were more than sufficient to cover needs and if necessary, Switzerland could always import electricity. The Federal Council emphasised that the nuclear energy option should remain open which meant that it did not exclude the building of new power plants should this prove necessary.

In April 1989, the Federal Council took a stand against two popular initiatives one to stop the construction of new nuclear power plants (moratonum), and the other in favour of abandoning nuclear energy. It recommended that the public should reject these two initiatives in the popular vote organised for 23 September 1990. In its preamble, the Federal Council stated that there was already in practice a moratonium on the building of nuclear power plants and that it was not necessary to introduce a special Article into the Federal Constitution. It was also of the opinion that it was politically impossible purely and simply, to give up nuclear energy by closing existing plants. In the event, the public and the cantons voted for the first so-called moratonium initiative, but rejected the one requesting the abandonment of nuclear energy. The consequence of this vote was the introduction in the transitional provisions of the Federal Constitution of Article 19, the purpose of which was to prohibit the authorities from granting any general licences for the construction of nuclear power plants between 1990 and 2000.

One year before the vote, 1 e in 1989, Graben SA informed the Federal Council that if it did not receive a general licence before 30 November 1989 it would be obliged to ask to begin negotiations with the Federal Council on the subject of the fair compensation referred to in Section 12(4) of the Federal Order concerning the Atomic Energy Act. These negotiations were not successful

In August 1990 Graben SA brought an action for damages with interest before the Swiss Federal Tribunal Graben SA asked the Tribunal to order the Confederation to pay SF 300 million together with interest at 6.5 per cent as from 20 August 1990 Graben SA based its claim on Section 12(4) of the Federal Order concerning the Atomic Energy Act. As the holder of a site authorisation, it claimed to have been entitled to a general licence under the simplified procedure provided for in paragraph 2 of the same Section. Under this simplified procedure, the authority should have limited its examination to whether the energy produced in the facility would in all likelihood meet a real need in

the country Graben SA claimed that it had been refused the general licence as a result of a series of circumstances which it could not have foreseen. Thus, in accordance with the principle of good faith, it considered that it was entitled to compensation for the costs it had incurred in preparing for construction of the power plant. At the end of 1991, the damages were estimated at SF 637 294 000

In its preamble, the Federal Tribunal based its jurisdiction on the Judicial Organisation Act which gave it sole jurisdiction as regards litigation based on Federal administrative law involving claims for damages and interest resulting from the official activities of certain persons

The starting point of Swiss atomic legislation is that the use of nuclear energy forms part of the private economy. This legislation lists strict conditions which must be fulfilled in order to obtain the necessary licences. The legislation is one of control, one consequence of which is that if the applicant fulfils all the conditions, he can legitimately claim entitlement to a licence. Should this be refused without good reason, he may claim compensation.

There are four main steps in the procedure leading to the operation of a nuclear installation. The first concerns site authorisation, now replaced by the general licence. The second stage is the construction licence, the third is the start-up licence and the fourth is the operating licence.

Under Section 12(4) of the Federal Order concerning the Atomic Energy Act, the claimant is entitled to fair compensation if

- he is the holder of a site authorisation,
- he has been refused a general licence (postponing the granting of a general licence for a limited period is not considered as a refusal),
- he is not responsible for the reasons which led to his being refused a general licence

The Federal Tribunal held that the conditions for application of Section 12(4) of the Federal Order concerning the Atomic Energy Act were fulfilled. It ordered the Confederation to pay fair compensation to Graben SA without specifying any amount. It instructed the parties to enter into negotiations to agree on the amount of compensation

In 1995, while negotiations between Graben SA and the Federal Council were going on, Parliament voted an appropriation of SF 225 million, intended as the full amount of fair compensation which the Confederation would pay to Graben SA

At the end of the negotiations, in early 1996, Graben SA and the Federal Council agreed that the compensation amount should be SF 227 million. This agreement put an end to the proceedings brought before the Federal Tribunal.

# **United States**

Litigation Persists from the 1979 Three Mile Island Accident

The Three Mile Island (TMI) nuclear power plant accident occurred on March 28, 1979 Now, seventeen years later, hitigation arising from that event still persists, with ten personal injury "test" cases about to go to jury trials in Pennsylvania This demonstrates the time it can take to resolve

This note has been kindly prepared by Omer Brown II Esq of Gallo Brown and Ross Washington D C

claims from a nuclear accident, even where there were relatively small releases of radiation and notwithstanding a national nuclear liability law (the 1957 US Price-Anderson Act) designed to facilitate the handling of claims

On October 17, 1995, the United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit issued two new decisions concerning the protracted and complex TMI tort litigation. A number of TMI cases for such matters as economic losses evacuation costs and some bodily injury claims were disposed of long ago (for a total of about USD 63 million, including legal defence costs). There still are pending the consolidated personal injury claims of more than 2,000 plaintiffs. Based on the two new decisions it will be some time before the TMI accident litigation ends.

In 1991 the Third Circuit appellate court had ruled in TMI II that the Price-Anderson Act preempts State tort law on the issue of the standard of care owed to plaintiffs by US Nuclear Regulatory Commission (USNRC) licensees. The parties in the TMI litigation, then, could not agree on which of the federal (USNRC) regulations, or combination thereof, set the applicable standard of care for nuclear power plant defendants. One of the October 1995 decisions specifically found that USNRC s radiation protection standards contained in 10 Code of Federal Regulations, Sections 20 105 and 20 106 (1979) constituted the federal standard of care, rather than the USNRC s As-Low-As-Reasonably-Achievable (ALARA) regulations \*Sections 20 105 and 20 106 in 1979 set 0.5 rem as the maximum yearly radiation exposure allowed for the general public.

The first October 1995 decision cited the fact that the USNRC, in adopting the ALARA concept had indicated the criteria were not to be considered "radiation protection standards." The court noted the USNRC regulations [Section 50 36a(b)] expressly permit continued operation of a nuclear plant if radiation releases rise above the ALARA levels, so long as they remain "within the limits specified in [Section 20 106]." The court was persuaded the specific dose regulations represent the considered judgment of the relevant US regulatory bodies on the appropriate levels of radiation to which the general public may be exposed under all conditions, accident and normal operations alike. It said that if juriors were to make the ALARA determination, then this "results essentially in a negligence standard." Adopting ALARA as part of the standard of care would put juries in charge of deciding permissible radiation exposure levels and, more generally, the adequacy of safety procedures at nuclear plants. This, the court observed, has been explicitly reserved to the federal government in general and the USNRC specifically. The court concluded its holding protects the public and provides nuclear plant operators with a "definitive standard by which their conduct will be measured."

The appellate Court held that the duty of care owed to plaintiffs is measured by whether defendants released radiation in excess of the levels then permitted by Sections 20 105 and 20 106 as measured at the boundary of the facility, not whether each plaintiff was exposed to those excessive radiation levels. The Court declined in the first October 1995 decision to rule on whether federal law controls other required aspects of plaintiffs' tort claims, such as causation and damages because they were not at issue. This decision thus defines only two elements of a negligence cause of action the duty and breach of duty

<sup>1</sup> In re TMI 67 F 3d 1103 and 1119 (3d Cir 1995)

<sup>2</sup> See e.g. In re TMI Liting Cases Consol II (TMI II) 940 F. 2d 832 (3d Cir. 1991) cert. den. 503 U.S. 906 (1992) (recounting some of the complicated procedural history of the TMI accident hitigation)

<sup>3</sup> Ibid at 859

<sup>4 67</sup> F 3d 1103

<sup>5</sup> See 10 Code of Federal Regulations Section 20 1301 (1995) now setting the annual permissible exposure rate for the public at 0.1 rem (1 mSv)

Ten personal injury test cases are expected to go to trial using this standard starting in June 1996 (Five each are to be selected by plaintiffs and defendants). As part of the causation inquiry, each plaintiff will have to demonstrate exposure to radiation during the TMI accident, as well as damages. Depending upon the outcomes of the ten test cases, subsequent determinations will be made on whether to dismiss, try or settle the approximately 2,000 other pending cases.

The second appellate Court decision released in October 1995 affirmed the ruling of the lower court granting TMI plaintiffs the right to attempt to recover punitive damages from the privately-owed plant operators <sup>6</sup> Plaintiffs have asserted that defendants showed wilful, wanton and reckless indifference to information concerning faulty plant equipment and design at TMI. Under the laws of many US jurisdictions (including the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania where the TMI accident occurred and whose tort law generally is being applied in the TMI cases), the function of punitive damages is to deter and punish egregious behaviour

Earlier, the Supreme Court of the United States in the well-known case of Karen Silkwood had ruled that punitive damages were not pre-empted by the pervasive federal nuclear regulatory regime in all situations involving nuclear licensees <sup>7</sup> The 1988 Price-Anderson Amendments Act made certain changes to the earlier statute to clarify federal jurisdiction in cases involving "public liability actions," and specifically precluded punitive damages in cases where the US Government is obligated to make indemnification payments. In its October 1995 decision, the Third Circuit court found the 1988 Amendments were not intended to change the result the US Supreme Court had reached in *Silkwood* (e.g., by altering the nature of tort claims, including Pennsylvania's historic recognition of punitive damages as a form of liability). The October 1995 decision, nevertheless, emphasised the trial court has authority to prioritise various claims if punitive damages are awarded, so that the applicable limitation on liability set by the Price-Anderson Act is not exceeded. (In 1979, the limit was USD 560 million, with the first USD 140 million coming from insurance. The limit for power plants now is about USD 9 billion, with the first USD 200 million coming from insurance)

The two October 1995 decisions were interlocutory appeals that answered questions of law certified by the lower court. They merely set certain parameters for future personal injury trials. Both presage that the already complex and long tort litigation arising from the 1979 TMI accident will continue for some time to come.

<sup>6 67</sup> F 3d 1119

<sup>7</sup> Silkwood v Kerr-McGee Corp 464 U S 238 (1984) See Nuclear Law Bulletin Nos 37 and 38

### ADMINISTRATIVE DECISIONS

### **Finland**

#### Decision on the Financial Provision for the Cost of Nuclear Waste Management (1995)

The Council of State Decision No 165/88 on the Financial Provision for the Cost of Nuclear Waste Management has been amended in 1995 with regard to the detailed operation of the Finnish Nuclear Waste Management Fund (see Nuclear Law Bulletin No 41) This Decision was made pursuant to the 1987 Law on Nuclear Energy

The amending Decision No 1272/95 provides that the fund target for a particular facility, which is essentially the assessed liability (total, maximum liability) for that facility less a proportion of certain future costs, may be maintained at a higher level than would be required in the case of a reduction in the assessed liability for that facility, provided that the licence-holder agrees. The licence-holder may withdraw its consent. The Decision entered into force on 20 November 1995.

# Germany

# Recommendations of the Reactor Safety Commission and of the Radiation Protection Commission (1995)

In September and October 1995, the Reactor Safety Commission and the Radiation Protection Commission, both of which are consultative bodies to the Federal Minister for the Environment Nature Conservation and Reactor Safety, issued recommendations on the site and on the nuclear safety concept of the research reactor Munich II (FRM-II) (Bundesanzeiger, 1996 No 26a)

The research reactor Munich II is situated in a suburb of Munich Because the site is in a densely populated area the licensing procedure is a most sensitive matter from both a legal and a political point of view

The recommendations of the Commissions summarise their appraisal by indicating that the concept of the research reactor meets the necessary safety requirements. Details especially of radiation protection and of the radiological protection of workers, will be assessed at a later stage of the licensing procedure.

## **United Kingdom**

#### Privatisation of the United Kingdom Atomic Energy Authority (AEA Technology) (1995)

The 1995 Atomic Energy Authority Act, which came into force on 8 November 1995, contains provisions which allow for the privatisation of a part, or parts, of the United Kingdom Atomic Energy Authority, (a statutory corporation established in 1954) It was enacted with a particular view to enabling the privatisation of the commercial division of the Authority, known as AEA Technology

The Act grants to the Secretary of State of Trade and Industry the power to give the Authority a direction requiring it to make one or more transfer schemes for the transfer to any person or persons of such property, rights and liabilities of the Authority as are specified in or determined in accordance with the scheme. The scheme requires the approval of the Secretary of State and the Treasury before it can take effect, and the Secretary of State has power to modify it before giving his approval. The scheme may not provide for the transfer of a nuclear site licence granted under the Nuclear Installation Act 1965 (see Nuclear Law Bulletin No. 33) or for the transfer of any freehold land comprised in any licensed nuclear site.

On 9 February 1996, the Secretary of State directed the Authority to make such a scheme by 11 March 1996. The scheme, which provides for the transfer of the property, rights and liabilities comprised in the commercial division of the Authority to a company wholly owned by the Crown and registered by the name of AEA Technology plc, was made on 7 March 1996 and is expressed to come into force on 31 March 1996.

# NATIONAL LEGISLATIVE AND REGULATORY ACTIVITIES

#### Australia

#### Radiation Protection

Recommendations and Standards on Radiation Exposures (1995)

In June 1995 Australian authorities (the National Occupational Health and Safety Commission and the National Health and Medical Research Council) adopted two new instruments pertaining to the limitation of exposures to ionizing radiation. The first is entitled "Recommendations for Limiting Exposure to Ionizing Radiation", and the second is "National Standard for Limiting Occupational Exposure to Ionizing Radiation" Both instruments are based upon the 1990 Recommendations of the International Commission on Radiological Protection (Publication No 60)

The Recommendations instrument requires that occupational exposures must not exceed 50 mSv in a year and that the average annual exposure over any consecutive five year period must not be greater than 20 mSv. However, the regulatory authority for occupational exposures has the discretion to make allowances for exceptional circumstances and to either permit an extension of the average period to ten years or to permit the annual 50 mSv limit to apply to a maximum period of five years

Public exposures are not to exceed 1 mSv in a year although occasional higher exposures may be allowed provided that the five year average does not exceed the 1 mSv limit

With regard to protection of the fetus, the Recommendations state that once a pregnancy is declared by an employee, doses received by the fetus during the remainder of the pregnancy while the employee is at work must be consistent with the public effective dose limit

The Recommendations also address the case of volunteers receiving ionizing radiation in the course of medical research. Such exposures must be justified by an ethics committee, the informed consent of the volunteer must be obtained, and where the dose is of no benefit to the volunteer, it is recommended that the dose limit not exceed 5 mSv in a year nor 10 mSv over five years. Exposure to children should not exceed a cumulative total of 5 mSv up to the age of 18 years and should be permitted only if the research results cannot be obtained from adult studies and the consent of those legally responsible for the child has been obtained

## **Austria**

#### Regulation of Nuclear Trade

Proposed Amendment to the Criminal Code Concerning the Illegal Trade of Nuclear Materials (1996)

The Federal Ministry of Justice has proposed an amendment to the Austrian Criminal Code which would provide law enforcement agencies with greater powers to counteract the increasing threat of illegal trade in nuclear materials and substances

This amendment, if enacted, would make illegal a wide range of activities including the storage, transport, import and export of certain nuclear materials and substances. Such materials and substances are broadly defined in the amendment and they include certain technologies and equipment. A maximum sentence of three years imprisonment would apply to all offences except where the illegal trading has increased the risk that such materials or substances would be used for nuclear weapons, in which case the maximum penalty would be five years imprisonment. Where the offence causes the death of a person or entails a number of persons in distress, the penalty would be 5-15 years. Where the offence causes the death of a number of persons, a sentence of 10-20 years or a life-sentence would apply

The amendment was submitted to the Austrian Parliament in January 1996 in the context of a revision of the Criminal Code

## **Belgium**

#### Radiation Protection

Implementing Decree for the Law of 1994 Concerning Ionizing Radiation and the Federal Agency for Nuclear Control

On 15 April 1994 the Belgian Parliament passed a Law relating to the protection of the public and of the environment against the danger of ionizing radiation and concerning the Federal Agency for Nuclear Control (published in the *Moniteur Belge* of 29 July 1994) This Law abrogates the basic Law of 29 March 1958 on the protection of the public against the danger of ionizing radiation (See Nuclear Law Bulletin No 53) However, the provisions of this Law will only enter into force upon the issuance of a Royal Decree issued by the Cabinet of Ministers, a Decree which has not yet been promulgated

Several implementing Decrees with regard to the Law of 15 April 1994 are in the course of being prepared. The principal Decree deals with the revision of the Royal Decree of 28 February 1963 which itself contains general regulations for the protection of the public and of workers against the dangers of ionizing radiation. The objective of this revision is to incorporate the provisions of the Decree of 1963, which Decree will later be repealed, into the Law of 15 April 1994. This revision Decree has already been approved by the Cabinet of Ministers and has been sent to the Council of State for its opinion. This last step is an obligatory part of the Belgian legislative process. This Decree is expected to become finalised as a Royal Decree during 1996.

#### Brazil

#### Organisation and Structure

Resolution of the National Nuclear Energy Commission (CNEN) (1995)

By Resolution adopted on 21 August 1995, the National Nuclear Energy Commission

- confirmed the decision of the President of CNEN to designate the Brazilian Institute for Nuclear Quality (IBQN) as an independent technical advisory body in accordance with CNEN Decree No 371/94, published in the Official Journal No 4 of 5 January 1995 (See Nuclear Law Bulletin No 28), and
- approved, on a provisional basis, the quality assurance programmes for the acquisition proposed fabrication or the actual fabrication of all fuel elements

The objective of this Resolution is to set forth the conditions required by the quality assurance programmes for the acquisition, proposed fabrication or actual fabrication of fuel elements used in nuclear power plants. This provisional measure will apply together with other rules already adopted by CNEN.

Resolution Creating Ten Technical Committees in Support of the National Council for the Environment (CONOMA)(1995)

The National Council for the Environment, established by Resolution No 5 of 9 October 1995 is to be supported from now on by ten permanent technical committees in each of the special areas over which it has jurisdiction. These committees are composed of members from various Brazilian institutions.

The role of the committees for energy and transport is to prepare and analyse proposals for power programmes, including nuclear power programmes

The jurisdiction of these specific committees extends to all forms of transport and energy (including nuclear energy), as well as to standards for the protection of the environment in the energy sector. After analysis by the appropriate committee, the proposals are submitted for adoption by CONOMA.

#### Radiation Protection

Ministerial Order on Radiation Protection and Nuclear Safety (1995)

This Ministerial Order No 1 of 25 August 1995 establishes a system of certification for all laboratories responsible for monitoring the radiation exposure of persons working in nuclear reactor installations or in other installations under the authority of CNEN

The Order, which came into force on 4 October 1995, provides that each certificate will be issued by the CNEN Institute for Radiation Protection and Dosimetry (IRD) The certificate will be obtained upon application therefor to the IRD The application must be accompanied by documents verifying the legal status of the applicant and its qualifications, and the Institute is to assess each application on

the basis of pre-determined criteria. A certificate, once issued, is valid for a period of three years except where the certificate holder no longer meets the criteria required for certification.

#### Transport of Radioactive Materials

Ministerial Decree Concerning Transport by Inland Waters (1995)

This Ministerial Order No. 11, dated 11 March 1995 (published in the *Official Journal* on 21 September 1995) regulates the transport of dangerous materials in navigable inland waters. The definition of dangerous materials corresponds to that given in the Code of Transport of Dangerous Materials of the International Maritime Organisation. It is to be noted that this Code classifies radioactive materials (class 7) as dangerous materials

By their very nature such materials are subject to a series of mandatory requirements, depending upon the case, either a simple declaration, a notification or an authorisation will be required However, in all cases full and accurate information on the materials transported must be provided

#### Regulation of Nuclear Trade

Law Relating to the Export of Sensitive Goods and of Consequential Services (1995)

Law No 9 112 of 10 October 1995 governs the export of goods deemed to be sensitive. Such goods, according to its provisions, include military equipment, articles which have more than one use and those which are used in the nuclear, chemical or biological fields.

Goods belonging to the nuclear field (and deemed sensitive from the point of view of the non-proliferation of nuclear weapons) are covered in a very broad manner, from equipment used in nuclear installations to actual radioactive materials

The Law provides for a system of export control for such goods by requiring the presentation of documents indicating whether all goods to be exported are for provisional or end use. The Law also establishes an interdepartmental Commission for the export control of sensitive goods. The Commission keeps an up to date listing of goods deemed to be sensitive in order to assure efficient control, and applies administrative sanctions in cases of failure to comply with the provisions of the Law. The sanctions may take several forms, ranging from a simple warning to suspension of export rights.

#### Denmark

#### Radiation Protection

Orders of the National Board of Health amending previous Orders on the Medical Application of Ionizing Radiation (1995)

In 1995, the National Board of Health issued seven Orders concerning the medical application of ionizing radiation. These Orders, all of which amended existing Orders of the National Board of Health, were made to take into account the provisions contained in Council Directive 93/42/EEC of

14 June 1993 regarding EC labelling of medical devices The citation of the seven Orders are as follows

- National Board of Health Order No 18 of 12 January 1995 This Order amends Order No 59 of 20 February 1978 (see Nuclear Law Bulletin No 25) concerning medical therapy X-ray installations with voltage not exceeding 50 kV (skin therapy),
- National Board of Health Order No 19 of 12 January 1995 This Order amends Order No 60 of 20 February 1978 (see Nuclear Law Bulletin No 25) concerning medical therapy X-ray installations with voltage above 50 kV but not exceeding 400 kV (deep therapy),
- National Board of Health Order No 20 of 12 January 1995 This Order amends Order No 319 of 23 May 1991 (see Nuclear Law Bulletin No 50) concerning accelerators for radiotherapy with energies from 1 MeV up to and including 50 MeV,
- National Board of Health Order No 21 of 12 January 1995 This Order amends Order No 464 of 25 September 1980 concerning larger dental x-ray installations,
- National Board of Health Order No 22 of 12 January 1995 This Order amends Order No 493 of 8 September 1977 (see Nuclear Law Bulletin No 25) concerning equipment for intra-oral dental X-ray installations with voltage not exceeding 70 kV, as previously amended by Order 36 of 25 January 1993,
- National Board of Health Order No 23 of 12 January 1995 This Order amends Order No 217 of 29 April 1977 (see Nuclear Law Bulletin No 22) concerning diagnostic medical X-ray installations, as previously amended by Order No 286 of 20 May 1988 (see Nuclear Law Bulletin No 45),
- National Board of Health Order No 24 of 12 January 1995 This Order amends Order No 485 of 18 November 1985 (see Nuclear Law Bulletin No 39) on the use of unsealed radioactive sources in hospitals, laboratories, etc., as previously amended by Order No 1135 of 15 December 1992 and Order No 548 of 23 July 1993

The National Board of Health also issued Order No 918 of 4 December 1995 on the use in Denmark of sealed radioactive sources in industry, hospitals, laboratories, etc. This Order applies both to an individual source and to an apparatus containing a sealed source

## Germany

#### Radioactive Waste Management

General Mining Ordinance Implementing EC Directives (1995)

The Federal Ministry for Economy, in concurrence with the Federal Ministers of Labour and Social Affairs and of Traffic, issued on 23 October 1995 an Ordinance concerning all aspects of mining activities (General Mining Ordinance) (Bundesgesetzblatt, 1995, I, p. 1466)

The Ordinance establishes a framework for safety and health protection with regard to mining activities, including underground storage. It therefore applies directly to underground radioactive waste repositones

The Ordinance is the national implementation mechanism for the following EC Directives

- Directive 89/391/EC of 12 June 1989 (O J E C No L 183),
- Directive 89/655/EC of 30 November 1989 (O J E C No L 393),
- Directive 89/656/EC of 30 November 1989 (O J E C No L 393),
- Directive 92/58/EC of 24 January 1992 (O J E C No L 245)
- Directive 92/91/EC of 3 November 1992 (O J E C No L 348),
- Directive 92/104/EC of 3 December 1992 (O J E C No L 404)

#### Transport of Radioactive Materials

Ordinances on the Transport of Dangerous Goods by Road Railroad, Sea and Inland Waterways (1995-1996)

The Federal Minister of Traffic issued a series of Ordinances to amend the Ordinances on the Transportation of Dangerous Goods by Road, Railroad, Sea and Inland Waterways (Nuclear Law Bulletin Nos 16, 23, 25, 36, 47, 48, 55) The amendments aim at adapting the respective Ordinances to the revised texts of international regulations, as e.g. the International Maritime Code for Dangerous Goods (IMDG Code) or the 1995 Regulation on Transportation of Dangerous Goods on the Rhine (ADNR) The amendments cover all kinds of dangerous goods including radioactive substances These Ordinances are the following

Transport by road Fifth Ordinance to amend the Dangerous Goods Ordinance - Road of 18 July 1995 (Bundesgesetzblatt, 1995, I, p. 1021)

Transport by railroad Fifth Ordinance to amend the Dangerous Goods Ordinance – Railroad of 15 December 1995 (Bundesgesetzblatt, 1995, I, p. 1847),

Transport by sea Second Ordinance to amend the Dangerous Goods Ordinance - Sea of 24 August 1995 (Bundesgesetzblatt, 1995, 1, p. 1074)

Special regulations apply to the transportation of dangerous goods on board of roll-on/roll-off ships in the Baltic Sea and on board of ferries in the North Sea. The legal basis for the transportation of dangerous goods on ro/ro ships in the Baltic Sea is a Memorandum of Understanding signed in Helsinki on 23-26 August 1994 by Germany, Denmark, Finland, Poland and Sweden (Bundesanzeiger, 1995, No. 151 p. 8890). Germany also applies the Memorandum also to ferry traffic between its mainland and its islands in the North Sea. The Memorandum takes into account the recommendations of the International Maritime Organisation (IMDG-Code), the International Regulation on the Transport of Dangerous Goods by Rail (RID) and the European Agreement concerning the International Carriage of Dangerous Goods by Road (ADR)

Transport by inland waterways First Ordinance to amend the Dangerous Goods Ordinance – Inland Waterways of 18 January 1996 (Bundesgesetzblatt, 1996, I, p. 45)

Regarding the transportation of dangerous goods on the Rhine and the Moselle rivers (Nuclear Law Bulletin No 55), an Ordinance of 20 December 1995 (*Bundesgesetzblatt*, 1995 II, p 1058) gives effect to annexes A, B 1 and B 2 of the ADNR and the respective regulations regarding the Moselle River as revised on 18 May 1995 and 15 November 1995 respectively by the competent international

Rhine and Moselle bodies The date of entry into force for the Rhine River is 1 January 1996 and for the Moselle River is 1 July 1996

#### Regulations on Nuclear Trade

Ordinances to amend the Foreign Trade Ordinance (1995)

The Ordinance to amend the "Export List" - Annex AL to the Foreign Trade Ordinance - of 17 February 1995 was published in *Bundesanzeiger*, 1995, No. 110a, p. 24 Section 0 of the list enumerates nuclear material, installations and equipment which are subject to the special regime under the Foreign Trade Ordinance and the Foreign Trade Act

The Ordinance of 17 February 1995 to amend the Foreign Trade Ordinance (Bundesanzeiger 1995, No 104, p 6165) amends the regulations regarding the export of goods with dual use character, and at the same time implements the EC Council Regulation No 3381/94 of 19 December 1994 (O J E C 1994, No L 367, p 1) The export of dual use goods is now governed in general by EC law. This means that for the first time there is a joint approach to this issue among the fifteen member States of the EU, thus providing far-reaching international harmonisation of the respective foreign trade laws. However, there are still fields of national discretion. The EC regulation is limited to the export of dual use goods in the form of hardware. Member States are free to extend that control to software also. The new Section 4b of the amended Ordinance also establishes a licensing requirement for the export of dual use software.

Based upon that Ordinance, the EC Council Regulation as amended (O J E C 1995 No L 90 p 1), and the EC Council Decision of 19 December 1994, as amended (O J E C 1994 No 367 p 8 1995, No L 90 p 2) the Federal Export Office issued general licences regarding the export of goods with dual use character, namely general licences Nos 11, 12 13 and 14 of 1 June 1995 (Bundesanzeiger 1995, No 114, p 6704 et seq) The said licenses provide for special conditions to be met in the case of export of dual use goods listed in Section 0 of the Export List (nuclear material, installations and equipment including the respective software)

The Thirty-seventh Ordinance to amend the Foreign Trade Ordinance of 1 December 1995 (Bundesanzeiger 1995, No 230, p 12253) provides for additional regulations especially in the procedural sector to harmonise the Foreign Trade Ordinance with EC law. It covers in particular the import régime of the European Union

Two Ordinances of 1 and 19 December 1995, respectively, amend the Import List + Annex to the Foreign Trade Act - (Bundesanzeiger, 1995, No 230, p 12253 and No 245 p 12981) The Ordinances also ensure consistency with criteria established under EC Law

The dissolution of the Co-ordinating Committee for East-West Trade Policy (COCOM) entailed changes to the national foreign trade legislation. Necessary amendments were provided for in the Ordinance to amend the Foreign Trade Ordinance of 17 February 1995.

## Hong Kong\*

#### Radiation Protection

Regulation on Ionizing Radiation (1995)

This Regulation amends the principal Regulation providing for the effective protection of workers operating irradiating apparatus from ionizing radiation. A number of technical amendments are introduced, and the list of persons who may operate irradiating apparatus is extended to cover the following diagnostic radiographers, therapeutic radiographers, registered dentists, and dental surgery assistants

#### Indonesia

#### Environmental Protection

Decree Requiring Environmental Impact Studies for the Construction and Commissioning of Nuclear Power Plants (1994)

Decree No 445, made by the Director-General of the National Atomic Energy Agency (BATAN) provides for the application of Regulation No 51 concerning environmental impact studies (1993), and of Decree No 14, made by the Ministry of the Environment, concerning Guidelines for the preparation of such studies (1994)

The Decree, made on October 24, 1994, provides that such environmental impact studies are required for the construction and commissioning of nuclear reactors having an energy output of more than 100 Kwt

Decree Requiring Environmental Impact Studies for the Construction and Commissioning of Nuclear Installations Other than Reactors (1994)

Decree No 447, made by the Director-General of the National Atomic Energy Agency (BATAN) provides for the application of the same instruments as does Decree No 445. However, this Decree, which was also made on October 24, 1994, concerns nuclear installations other than nuclear reactors. The Decree provides that environmental impact studies are required for the following installations.

- a nuclear fuel fabrication facility having an annual production capacity of more than 50 fuel elements,
- a radioactive waste installation,
- an irradiator installation which has radiation sources with an activity level of more than 1 850 TBq (5000 Ci), and
- all radioisotope production facilities

This note has been taken from the International Digest of Health Legislation Vol 46 (4) 1995

Decree on the Technical Guidelines for Environmental Management and Monitoring Procedures (1994)

Decree No 446 of 24 October 1994, made by the Director-General of the National Atomic Energy Agency (BATAN), requires the application of Decree No 12 of 1994, made by the Minister of State for the Environment, to activities or projects in the nuclear field which are not expected to have significant impacts upon the environment. Such activities or projects are required to put into place environmental management procedures and environmental monitoring procedures in accordance with the conditions specified in relevant regulations

These procedures are required for the construction and operation of the following types of activity or project

- a nuclear research reactor having an energy output of less than 100 KW/th
- a nuclear fuel fabrication facility with an annual production capacity of less than 50 fuel elements.
- an irradiator installation having a radiation source with an activity of less than 1 850 TBq (5000 Ci).
- exploration of nuclear minerals,
- a radioisotope laboratory, type A and B

## Latvia

#### Radiation Protection

Draft Regulation for Protection Against Ionizing Radiation

This Regulation, which is currently being drafted in Latvia and which deals with radiation protection, will be made pursuant to specific provisions of the Law of Radiation Protection and Nuclear Safety of 1 December 1994 (the text of this Law is reproduced in the Supplement to Nuclear Law Bulletin No 55)

This Regulation will be made under Sections 2 and 4 of the 1994 Law which clearly refer to the "specific requirements for ionizing radiation facilities" made by "Cabinet of Ministers regulations

The scope of this draft Regulation is very broad and covers numerous activities manufacturing import, export, transportation, trade and use of all radioactive substances and sources of ionizing radiation in excess of 5 keV

The purpose of this Regulation is to protect the public, workers and the environment against the harmful effects of ionizing radiation coming from any source and to ensure the safe use of radiation sources

The draft Regulation will establish a system of radiation safety and protection which will be governed by the competent authorities through the issuance of licences and through inspection

procedures The competent agencies in this regard are the Radiation and Nuclear Safety Inspectorate, the Environmental Health Centre and the Radiology Centre

Chapter XV of this draft regulation deals specifically with the early notification of nuclear accidents. The provisions of this chapter take into account the 1986 IAEA Convention on Early Notification of a Nuclear Accident as well as the general requirements of the European Commission and those of bilateral treaties to which Latvia is a party

The Cabinet of Ministers will make this regulation in the fall of 1996

Draft Regulation on the Issuance of Licences for Activities with Radioactive Substances and Other Ionizing Radiation Sources

This draft Regulation will be made pursuant to Sections 6, 7 and 9 of the Law of 1994 on Radiation Protection and Nuclear Safety. These three Sections provide that "the Cabinet of Ministers shall establish the procedure by which licences for activities with ionizing radiation sources are to be issued", and "for the issuance of special licences for ionizing radiation facilities of state significance"

The purpose of this draft regulation is to establish strict control over all activities involving radioactive substances or other ionizing radiation sources. The following authorities are empowered to issue licences.

- the Environmental Health Centre of the Ministry of Welfare for medical applications with the exception of X-ray equipment,
- the Radiology Centre of the Ministry of Welfare for X-ray equipment,
- the Export-Import Control Department of the Latvian Development Agency for the export, import and transit of nuclear materials, and
- the Radiation and Nuclear Safety Inspectorate of the Ministry of Environmental Protection and Regional Development for all other activities

To obtain a licence, the applicant must complete a special declaration form which, accompanied by a number of other documents, will be verified by the appropriate authority. Once issued, licences are valid for a period of three years. However, a licence may be revoked for a violation of its terms. Upon expiration of the term of a licence, renewal is not automatic, rather, the licensee must make a new application.

The Cabinet of Ministers is expected to make this regulation in the summer of 1996

## **Portugal**

#### Organisation and Structure

Reorganisation in the Nuclear Sector (1995)

Decree-Law No 296-A/95 of 17 November 1995 deals with a new distribution of tasks and responsibilities in the public service under the new Portuguese Government

During the reading of this Decree-Law, two changes in the nuclear field were indicated

- the Technology and Nuclear Institute (ITN), created by Decree-Law No 324-A/95 of 30 December 1994 had been under the jurisdiction of the Ministry of Planning and State Administration (see Nuclear Law Bulletin No 55) From now on this Institute will be under the authority of a new Ministry created by this Decree-Law, the Ministry of Science and Technology,
- the General Directorate for Energy, created by Decree-Law No 548/77 (see Nuclear Law Bulletin No 22 and No 53) and the National Institute of Industrial Engineering and Technology, both of which had been under the jurisdiction of the Ministry of Industry and Energy, have now been transferred to the authority of the Ministry of Economic Affairs

## **Spain**

#### Organisation and Structure

Royal Decree Modifying the Structure of the Nuclear Safety Council (1995)

The Nuclear Safety Council, which was established by the Law of 22 April 1980 (see Nuclear Law Bulletin No 25), has already undergone a re-organisation pursuant to the Royal Decree of 1989 (See Nuclear Law Bulletin No 30 and No 44) This new Decree, No 2209/1995 of 28 December 1995, introduces a further modification to the Council's establishing legislation

The modification deals essentially with the structure of the Council New areas of management have been created and placed under its authority. Furthermore, the tasks assigned to the general Secretariat have been redefined. The most significant change concerns the Technical Directorate which has been placed under the direction of the general Secretariat. In fact, the Technical Directorate has been totally restructured into several smaller divisions, each relating to a specific subject such as nuclear reactor control, the nuclear fuel cycle, radiation protection, etc. As a consequence certain other divisions have been eliminated

This enactment published in the Official Journal on 12 January 1996 came into effect the day following its publication

## Uruguay

#### Radiation Protection

Provisions relating to Radiological Emergencies and to Radiation Control (1996)

Law No 16 736 of 5 January 1996, which approved the national budget for the 1995-2000 term of government in Uruguay, contains two articles relating to ionizing radiation

Section 299 creates a control and assistance plan for radiological emergencies throughout the entire country. In connection therewith, a special intervention group has been established to respond to such situations and has been given the necessary human and logistical resources to do so

Section 302 establishes a dosimetry service for persons who are exposed to ionizing radiation. It also designates the National Nuclear Technology Directorate as the authority with jurisdiction to accredit and regulate this service and to obtain all necessary information with respect thereto

# INTERNATIONAL REGULATORY ACTIVITIES

## **European Union**

#### Resolution of the European Parliament on the European Union Energy Policy (1995)

On 10 October 1995, the European Parliament adopted Resolution No C 287/37, having regard to both the Green Paper of the European Commission (EC) entitled "For a European Union energy policy" (COM(94)0659-C4-0026/95) and to its own resolution of 12 March 1992 on the common energy policy (O J E C 94 of 13 April 1992)

The purpose of this Resolution is to set out the long-term policy of the EU in the field of energy, to specify the manner in which it relates to the policies of Member States and to set forth the areas where there is a need for convergence

By this new Resolution, Parliament has emphasised the three objectives of the European energy policy security of supply, competitive prices and protection of the environment. Moreover, it calls upon the EC to negotiate arrangements with banking establishments to provide advance funding for energy saving measures.

By the terms of this Resolution, the EC is called upon to promote research in order to increase the safety of nuclear energy by a variety of means—the development of "new advanced nuclear reactors", the safe processing of radioactive waste, the re-use of fuel (mox fuel), helping the countries of Central and Eastern Europe to develop an energy development plan with a view to optimising the sources of electrical power; and the promotion of research into the health effects of radiation exposure on human populations

Emphasis is also placed upon the need to draw up common European safety standards for nuclear power stations in the EU, to establish guidelines on safety requirements for power stations for which the EU intends to grant loans, and to develop a strategy for the management of nuclear waste Furthermore, co-operation with the Russian Federation and the countries of Central and Eastern Europe needs to be strengthened. In this regard, the Parliament calls for an ambitious programme of applying Western safety standards to the nuclear power stations of the East.

On the other hand, the Parliament is very aware of the need to include the cost of environmental protection in the price of energy production and suggests the possibility of instituting an energy tax that would apply equally to fossil fuels and to nuclear energy. The Parliament also calls upon the Commission to take an active part in the Oslo and Paris Commission (OSPAR) on the decision-making procedure for the dismantling of off-shore installations. The Commission ought, therefore to promote the major principles of environmental protection, safety and security, and energy efficiency

The Parliament recognises the contribution of nuclear energy to the reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> and confirms the responsibility of States in making their own choices of energy sources, choices which must take into account the environment and the objectives agreed to at Rio de Janeiro (1992) and at Berlin (1995) with regard to gaseous emissions. It has confirmed therefore, that decisions concerning the siting of nuclear power plants rests, in the final analysis, with the national authorities

## **AGREEMENTS**

#### BILATERAL AGREEMENTS

## Austria-Germany

Agreement on the Exchange of Information and Experience in the Field of Radiation Protection (1994)

The Governments of Germany and Austria have decided to continue the Agreement made by the German Democratic Republic and the Republic of Austria on the exchange of information and experience in the field of radiation protection, which entered into force on 3 May 1988 (published in the Bundesgestzblatt 1995, II, p 482) This Agreement has been amended to take into account the reunification of Germany in 1990 (see Nuclear Law Bulletin No 46)

The Agreement contains five articles and one annex It applies in respect of nuclear installations and activities that are defined in Article I of the 1986 Convention on the Early Notification of a Nuclear Accident

The Parties to the Agreement are to meet, in principle, once a year to exchange information However they may also meet under special circumstances, to discuss general developments in the peaceful utilisation of nuclear energy, particularly with regard to the methods and results of radiation protection mechanisms. The Agreement provides, moreover that the Parties will keep each other informed of the state of their respective nuclear installations. They are equally obliged to notify each other, directly and immediately, of any nuclear accident and of any increase in the levels of radioactivity within their territories.

This revised Agreement, of unlimited duration, entered into force on 1 December 1994

## Brazil-India

#### Memorandum of Agreement on Co-operation in the Field of Nuclear Energy (1996)

On 27 January 1996 the National Nuclear Energy Commission of Brazil and the Atomic Energy Commission of India signed a Memorandum of Agreement for co-operation on the peaceful utilisation of nuclear energy. This Memorandum reflects the desire of both Parties to place more emphasis upon the exchange of research information between their two countries in this area except for confidential information obtained with the collaboration of a third party.

The Parties have chosen the following subjects as their main priorities inuclear safety, radiation protection, research and development on the thorium fuel cycle, food irradiation inuclear techniques for agriculture and medicine and other areas of common interest

## **Brazil-United States**

#### Protocol to Extend the 1984 Science and Technology Co-operation Agreement (1994)

On 21 March 1994, Brazil and the United States signed a Protocol for the purpose of amending and extending their Science and Technology Co-operation Agreement (including nuclear technology) which had been signed on 6 February 1984 and which had come into force on 15 May 1986. This Protocol extends the term of the Co-operation Agreement until 15 November 2001, at which time the Agreement will be automatically renewed for successive five year periods, unless one of the Parties decides to terminate the Agreement.

The provisions contained in the Agreement remain unchanged. The co-operation still extends to the fields of agriculture, health, space and all of the scientific and technical fields that the Parties may wish to include. However, the Protocol introduces two new supplementary annexes, one relating to intellectual property and other to security and confidentiality of information.

This Protocol entered into force in Brazil pursuant to Decree No 189/95, published in the Official Journal of 18 December 1995

## **Bulgaria-United States**

#### Agreement for Co-operation in the Field of Peaceful Uses of Nuclear Energy (1996)

This Agreement, which was signed on 21 June 1994 in Sofia and which entered into force on 29 March 1996, provides for trade in major nuclear commodities such as nuclear material, reactors and major nuclear reactor components. The Agreement will have a duration of thirty years

## Canada-Slovenia

#### Co-operation Agreement in the Field of Peaceful Uses of Nuclear Energy (1995)

Slovenia and Canada, both being Parties to the Nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty of 1968, have concluded an Agreement to strengthen their co-operation in the nuclear field. This Agreement covers all aspects of the development, utilisation and exploitation of nuclear energy for peaceful purposes. The Agreement provides specifically for

- the exchange of technical information this includes research and development, health, nuclear safety, protection of the environment and technology transfer;
- the supply of nuclear materials and equipment (as further described in annexes B, C and D to the Agreement),
- the carrying out of research and development projects with respect to the utilisation of nuclear energy in industry, medicine and agriculture, and

- the promotion of training, assistance and services, including the exchange of experts

This Agreement also contains provisions ensuring the confidentiality of the information exchanged. The authorities of both Parties (the Slovenian Nuclear Safety Administration and the Canadian Atomic Energy Control Board) have already signed an administrative arrangement in this regard.

The Agreement was ratified by Slovema on 30 January 1996 and was published in the Official Gazette No 3/96 on 16 February 1996

## China-Korea

#### Co-operative Agreement Concerning Peaceful Uses of Nuclear Energy (1994)

This Agreement was made between the Republic of Korea and the People's Republic of China on 31 October 1994. Under the terms of this Agreement, co-operation in the peaceful uses of nuclear energy covers a very broad scope. Besides the key areas of radiation protection nuclear safety and the management of radioactive waste, the co-operation includes the exchange of scientific and technical information, the exchange and training of scientific and technical personnel, the preparation of joint studies in the fields of scientific research and development, and the carrying out of research and development projects to pursue the applications of nuclear energy in agriculture, medicine and other areas.

Nuclear materials, equipment and technology covered by this Agreement may not be used for the production of nuclear weapons or explosive devices of any kind. The Parties have provided that this commitment shall be subject to IAEA inspection by means of non-proliferation agreements.

The Agreement permits the transfer of nuclear materials, equipments and technology to a third Party, provided that the Parties have first consulted and indicated, in writing, their agreement to such transfer. Furthermore the third Party will be required to satisfy a series of express conditions, such as that the material, equipment and technology will only be utilised for peaceful purposes that there will be no further transfer to another third party, and that the physical protection of nuclear materials will be assured by a regime conforming to the requirements set out in the co-operative Agreement

Two annexes form part of this Agreement, annex A contains a listing of defined general terms used in the Agreement while annex B contains a listing of defined technical terms

The Agreement which entered into force thirty days after it was signed, will remain in effect for a period of thirty years and will be automatically renewed for successive five-year periods unless terminated by either Party six months prior to the end of any such period

## European Commission-Russian Federation and the Ukraine\*

Comments on the Provisions of the Two Memoranda Dealing with Nuclear Third-Party Liability (1995)

Improving safety in the nuclear power plants of Central and Eastern Europe is high on the list of priorities of the European Union and led, in the case of Russia and Ukraine, to the adoption of Regulations Nos 2157/91 (of 15 July 1991) and 2053/93 (of 29 July 1993), providing for technical assistance from the Commission

Implementation of the assistance programme was, however, hindered by shortcomings in the legal rules on nuclear liability in the two beneficiary States. Neither Russia nor Ukraine are Parties to the international conventions on such liability, and the legal uncertainty in a field involving such serious potential consequences discouraged European suppliers of equipment and services from entering this new market.

Following the example of the Agreement concluded between the Russian Federation and the United States in December 1993, the European Commission decided to enter into discussions to settle this delicate matter. The Member States and the European nuclear industry were consulted on a regular basis.

Negotiations lasting more than a year were needed to reach agreement on the two Memoranda of Understanding one between the Commission and Russia, signed on 27 February 1995, and the other between the Commission and Ukraine, signed on 23 October 1995

In both cases, the principle adopted is that Russia (Article 7) and the Ukraine (Article 6) will compensate the Commission or its contractors for third-party claims brought against them, except in cases of premeditated fault or gross negligence

The wording of the two Memoranda is very similar although the Memorandum signed with Ukraine does offer somewhat increased protection for those involved

Ukraine has waived all rights of recourse as regards matters of contractual liability (Article 6 2), this having been expressly excluded in the Russian Memorandum

The definition of nuclear incident has been developed in the Ukrainian Memorandum (Article 6.3) on the basis of the wording used in the Pans Convention of 29 July 1960 except that "ionising radiations emitted by any [other] source of radiation inside [a nuclear] installation" have not been included as a possible cause of damage

The Memorandum specifies that the provisions on nuclear third party liability and their application are irrevocable until the Vienna Convention is transposed into Ukrainian national law (Article 6.7)

Finally, the protection afforded contractors extends to claims by customers (Article 6 9)

<sup>\*</sup> This note has been kindly prepared by Mr R Tricot of the European Commission

The improvements introduced into the Ukrainian Memorandum notwithstanding, both Memoranda reflect the same pragmatic approach adopted by the Commission to the difficulties of the European nuclear industry. Given the limits inherent in this type of document, the first reaction of nuclear operators appears favourable

## **Euratom-United States**\*

#### Agreement for Co-operation in the Peaceful Uses of Nuclear Energy (1996)

The Agreement, signed on 29 March 1996, entered into force on April 12, 1996 by exchange of diplomatic notes between the US Department of State and the European Community. The Agreement has a term of thirty years and shall continue in force thereafter for additional periods of five years each. Either Party may terminate the Agreement at the end of the initial term or at the end of any subsequent five year period.

This new Agreement provides a framework for the sale of nuclear material and equipment between the US and Europe. It follows a previous Agreement that provided for a similar framework and which expired on 31 December 1995 after a thirty-five year term.

## France-Germany

### Joint Recommendations on the Safety of Future Nuclear Power Plants (1995)

In a Joint Statement issued on 6 June 1989, the Governments of Germany and France declared their close co-operation in the field of nuclear safety. The Governments have entrusted a French-German Steering Committee (DFD) with the task of studying the possible harmonisation of nuclear safety standards in both countries and of establishing a common philosophy with regard to the safety of future nuclear power plants.

Prior to this arrangement, the German Reactor Safety Commission (Reaktor-Sicherheuts-Kommission-RSK) and the Groupe permanent chargé des reacteurs nucleaires (GPR) had started to draft safety standards for future nuclear power plants. The initial result of this joint undertaking is reflected in a joint Recommendation, dated 25 May 1993 and entitled "GPR/RSK Proposal for a Common Approach to the Safety of Future Pressurised Water Reactors"

On 20 December 1993 the French-German Steering Committee asked RSK and GPR to continue their work, taking into account various proposals which had been made by the nuclear industries of their respective countries

<sup>\*</sup> See supra Article Consent Rights in the New Agreement for Co operation in the Peaceful Uses of o Nuclear Energy Between the United States of America and the European Atomic Energy Community by Mr Lennartz

In June 1995, this work resulted in the issuance of "Joint Recommendations of RSK and GPR on Safety Standards for Future Nuclear Power Plants with Pressurised Water Reactors" These Recommendations, divided into five chapters, address the following issues

- system design and probabilistic safety assessment,
- integrity of the primary circuit,
- external risks,
- radiological consequences of reference and low pressure reactor core meltdown, and
- severe accidents

An English version of these Recommendations is reproduced in *Bundesanzeiger* 1995, No 127, p 7452

## Germany-Lithuania

Agreement on Mutual Assistance in the Case of a Disaster (1996)

The Agreement of 15 March 1994 between the Federal Republic of Germany and the Republic of Lithuania on mutual assistance in the case of a disaster or serious accident was ratified by Germany pursuant to the Federal Law of 12 January 1996

The Agreement consists of sixteen articles It covers a broad range of disasters or serious accidents, including nuclear accidents and radiological emergencies. Article 4 deals particularly with measures to be taken in situations involving fires, the procedures for providing technical assistance, and specific types of assistance for radiological and chemical hazards

Moreover, the Agreement contains provisions for the supply of cross-border assistance and the costs and compensation for damage suffered

This Agreement will remain in effect for a period of unlimited duration, but may be terminated by either Party upon giving six months notice thereof to the other Party

## **Germany-United States**

Agreement on Co-operation and the Exchange of Information in the Field of Nuclear Safety (1995)

On 19 October 1995, the German Minister of the Environment, Nature Conservation and Reactor Safety and the United States Nuclear Regulatory Commission (USNRC) concluded an Agreement on co-operation and exchange of information in the field of nuclear safety (published in the *Bundesgesetzblatt*, 1996, II, p 259) This Agreement, containing nine articles and two annexes, extends the ongoing co-operation between these two countries which was established by Agreements

made in 1975 and 1981 (See Nuclear Law Bulletin No 28) Its duration will be for a period of five years and it may be extended for a further period. Pursuant to Article 9 the Agreement entered into effect upon the date of signature

As set out in Article 2, the Agreement covers all forms of information exchange, including a mutual obligation to provide early notification in the event of a nuclear accident that might affect one of the Parties such as an operational occurrence ranking the second level or higher on the IAEA/INES scale of assessment

## Hungary-Slovenia

### Agreement on Early Notification of Radiological Emergencies (1995)

This Agreement, signed 15 July 1995 between the Government of Slovenia and that of the Republic of Hungary, provides for early notification and for the exchange of information in cases of radiological emergency

The purpose of the Agreement, however, is not limited only to early notification of radiological emergencies. It also calls for the promotion of co-operation between the two Parties on other matters such as

- the exchange of information concerning nuclear programmes as well as national legislation in the nuclear field.
- the exchange of test results on radioactivity levels in the environment, and
- technical consultations, as required, on a bi-annual basis

This Agreement was ratified by Slovenia on 26 January 1996 and was published in the Official Gazette No 2/96 on 12 February 1996

## Russian Federation-United States

Agreement on the Exchange of Technical Information in the Field of Warhead Safety and Security (1995)

This Agreement entered into force in June 1995 and provides for the exchange of information in the following areas

- safety enhancement technology related to nuclear weapons and materials during dismantlement of weapons,
- safety enhancement technology, storage, and physical safeguards for nuclear weapons and

 developing enteria for limiting the open publication of information on the design of nuclear weapons

Information exchanges will focus on the improvement of computational methods for accident analysis and risk assessment, as well as other issues related to the safety and security of nuclear warheads during dismantlement

## Annexes to the 1993 Agreement Concerning Highly Enriched Uranium Extracted from Nuclear Weapons (1996)

A key element of this Agreement, which entered into force on February 18, 1993 (see Nuclear Law Bulletin No 51), is that transparency measures be established to ensure that the objectives of the Agreement are met, namely, that the low enriched uranium provided by the Russian Federation to the United States is obtained from highly enriched uranium recovered from nuclear weapons, and that the low enriched uranium received by the United States from the Russian Federation shall be fabricated into fuel for commercial nuclear reactors

The highly enriched uranium transparency implementing annexes have been recently completed Two were signed in Washington, D C in July 1995, the remaining annexes were signed in Vienna in April 1996. The completion of the annexes was announced at the Nuclear Safety and Security Summit in Moscow on April 19-20, 1996.

## South Africa-United States

#### Co-operative Agreement Concerning Peaceful Uses of Nuclear Energy (1995)

This Agreement signed on 25 August 1995 provides a comprehensive framework for peaceful nuclear co-operation between the United States and South Africa while reflecting a strong commitment to nuclear non-proliferation. Its entry into force is scheduled for the near future

The Agreement replaces the co-operative Agreement which entered into force on 22 August 1957 and which was due to expire on 22 August 2007. Co-operation under this earlier Agreement had been suspended by the United States during the 1970's. Furthermore, following the passage of the 1978 Nuclear Non-Proliferation Act in the United States, South Africa did not satisfy one of the provisions of the US Atomic Energy Act that requires full-scale IAEA safeguards in non-nuclear-weapons States as a condition for continued US nuclear exports.

However, in July 1991, South Africa acceded to the Non-Proliferation Treaty (NPT) and entered into a full-scope safeguards agreement with the IAEA as called for by the NPT. Since that date, the US has noted that South Africa has taken a significant number of non-proliferation steps, sufficient to demonstrate its commitment to conducting its nuclear programme for peaceful purposes.

The new Agreement allows for the transfer of nuclear material, equipment (including reactors) and technology as well as components for nuclear research and nuclear power production. Restricted data and sensitive nuclear technology may not be transferred under the Agreement, nor may sensitive nuclear facilities or major critical components of such facilities.

Each Party is to maintain adequate physical protection measures for all equipment and material subject to the Agreement. Each Party also guarantees that no material, equipment or components subject to the Agreement will be used for any nuclear explosive device or for any military purpose

The Agreement has a term of twenty-five years which may be extended by agreement of the Parties

## **MULTILATERAL AGREEMENTS**

Regional Agreement to Facilitate the Transport of Dangerous Goods Between Brazil, Argentina, Paraguay and Uruguay (1994)

This Agreement, signed on 30 December 1994 (ratified by Brazil pursuant to Decree No 1 797 of 25 January 1996), governs the transport of dangerous goods, including radioactive waste, between the States Party to MERCOSUL. It's scope of application covers all dangerous goods in classes 1 to 7 as listed in an annex to the Agreement. According to the terms of Article 2 the transport of dangerous goods is further governed by those specific rules which have been set forth by the competent national authorities of each State Party to the Agreement. In addition, the Parties have reserved the right to prohibit the import into their territories of all dangerous goods by means of prior notification to the exporting State.

The Agreement provides that each shipment of dangerous goods must be carried in conformity with the provisions established by the International Maritime Organisation (IMO) and by the International Civil Aviation Organisation (ICAO). As regards the technical means of transport the Agreement provides that packing must be done in such a manner as to conform to the United Nations Recommendations on the Transport of Dangerous Goods as well as to national requirements relating thereto. Detailed information on the nature of the materials transported as well as on remedial measures to be taken in case of an emergency are also required.

Finally, the Parties have provided for the creation of a commission of specialists who are to meet every two years for the purpose of reviewing, revising and bringing up to date the two annexes to the Agreement It is also contemplated that one of the States Party to the Agreement will assume the role of co-ordinator of this commission

#### Memorandum of Understanding on the Closure of Chernobyl Nuclear Power Plant (1995)

On 20 December 1995, a Memorandum of Understanding on the implementation of a comprehensive programme to close the Chemobyl Nuclear Power Plant was signed in Ottawa Canada by the Government of Ukraine, the Governments of the G-7 countries (Canada, France Germany Japan Italy, the United Kingdom and the United States) and the Commission of the European Communities. This Memorandum of Understanding supports the decision taken by the President of Ukraine earlier in the year to close the plant by the year 2000, and as well, the commitments made by the leaders of the G-7 countries in 1994 and again in 1995.

<sup>\*</sup> The text of this Memorandum is reproduced in the 'Texts' of this issue of the Bulletin

The comprehensive programme contemplates that the G-7 countries and Ukraine will work closely together to mobilise international and domestic financing in support of appropriate nuclear safety and energy investment projects. As a guiding principle, revenue generating projects would be considered for international loan financing, while non-revenue generating projects, directly related to the closure of the Chemobyl Nuclear Power Plant would be considered for international grant financing. In both cases, Ukrainian domestic resources would be taken into account as possible additional financing sources. The total amount of foreign aid to be provided to Ukraine is currently contemplated at approximately (US)\$2.3 billion, of which just under \$500 million consists of grants already committed and \$1.809 billion comprises international and Euratom Loan financing not all of which has yet been approved

Priority projects include a restructuring of the power sector in Ukraine, transformation of the "shelter" over Chernobyl - 4 into a safe building, Chernobyl - 3 improvements, a social impact plan and a decommissioning plan. They also include completion of other existing nuclear power plants, construction of high-voltage transmission lines rehabilitation of thermal power plants and promotion of energy efficiency.

It is recognised that the closure of Chemobyl will be an important step towards improving nuclear safety, not only in Central and Eastern Europe, but throughout the whole world

#### Treaty on the Southeast Asia Nuclear Weapon-Free Zone (1995)

On 15 December 1995, at the 5th Summit Meeting of the Association of South East Asian Nations (ASEAN) in Bangkok, Thailand, the Treaty on the Southeast Asia Nuclear Weapon-Free Zone was opened to signature and signed by the following member nations Brunei, Indonesia, Malaysia, the Philippines, Singapore, Thailand and Vietnam At a later stage, it was also signed by Cambodia, Laos and Myanmar

The basic objectives of the Treaty are to establish a Nuclear Weapon-Free Zone for the purpose of strengthening the security of States within the Zone and maintaining peace and stability Furthermore, the Treaty aims to protect the region from environmental pollution and the hazards posed by radioactive wastes and other radioactive material

These objectives are reflected in the basic undertakings set out in Article 3 of the Treaty to which the Parties have committed. These include undertakings

- not to develop, manufacture, acquire, possess, transport, test or use nuclear weapons anywhere inside or outside the Zone,
- not to allow any other State to carry out such activities in the territory of a State Party,
- not to dump at sea or discharge into the atmosphere anywhere within the Zone any radioactive material or wastes,
- not to allow, within its territory, any other State to carry out such activities,
- not to dispose of radioactive material or wastes on land in the territory of other States except under specified conditions by this Treaty, and

not to seek or receive any assistance or assist others in a violation of the above undertakings

In addition, each State Party, to the extent it has not already done so, shall conclude a full scope safeguards agreement with the IAEA with respect to its peaceful nuclear activities not later than eighteen months after the entry into force for that State Party of this Treaty (Article 5) The Parties shall also endeavour to accede to the 1986 Convention on Early Notification of a Nuclear Accident

The Treaty is to remain in force indefinitely. A Protocol to the Treaty which is also to remain in force indefinitely, permits signatories thereto to undertake to respect the Treaty not to contribute to any act which constitutes a violation of the Treaty, and not to use or threaten to use nuclear weapons against any State Party to the Treaty or within the Zone. It is open for signature by the People's Republic of China, the French Republic, the Russian Federation, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the United States of America.

#### Treaty Declaring Africa a Nuclear-Weapon-Free Zone (Treaty of Pelindaba) (1995)

On 23 June 1995 the Council of Ministers of the Organisation of African Unity (OAU) adopted the Treaty on an African Nuclear-Weapon-Free Zone The Treaty was subsequently approved by the OAU Assembly of Heads of State and Governments and transmitted to the United Nations (UN) Secretary General The resolution A/RES/50/78 adopted by the UN General Assembly on 11 January 1996 invites the African States to sign and ratify the Treaty as soon as possible

The Treaty, which is to remain in force indefinitely, defines the African nuclear-weapon-free zone, (the Zone) as "the territory of the continent of Africa, island States members of the OAU and all islands considered by the OAU in its resolutions to be part of Africa". It is to enter into force on the date of deposit of the twenty-eighth instrument of ratification.

#### The Parties to the Treaty undertake

- to refrain from carrying out research, development, manufacturing, stockpiling, acquisition
  possession or control of any nuclear explosive device, and from seeking, receiving or
  providing assistance with respect to such activities,
- to prohibit the stationing or testing on their territory of any nuclear explosive device,
- to declare any capability for the manufacture of nuclear explosive devices, to dismantle and
  destroy any nuclear explosive device made before the coming into force of the Treaty to
  destroy facilities for the manufacture of nuclear explosive devices or to convert them to
  peaceful uses,
- to permit the IAEA and the Africa Commission on Nuclear Energy, which is established under Article 12 of the Treaty, to verify the processes of dismantling and destruction of devices and destruction or conversion of facilities referred to above, and
- to implement the measures contained in the 1991 Bamako Convention as they relate to radioactive waste and to refrain from assisting the dumping of radioactive wastes and other matter in the Zone

- to promote the use of nuclear science and technology for economic and social development and to establish and strengthen co-operative mechanisms at the bilateral, subregional and regional levels for this purpose,
- to conduct all peaceful nuclear energy activities under strict non-proliferation measures, to conclude a comprehensive safeguards agreement with the IAEA to verify compliance with such measures, and
- to refrain from providing special fissionable material or equipment or material specially designed for the processing, use or production of such material to any non-nuclear-weapon State unless subject to a comprehensive safeguards agreement concluded with the IAEA

With respect to the physical protection of nuclear materials, facilities and equipment, each Party undertakes

- to maintain the highest standards of security and physical protection of nuclear materials, facilities and equipment in order to prevent the theft or unauthorised use and handling of facilities and equipment, and
- to refuse participation in any action aimed at an armed attack by conventional or other means against nuclear installations in the Zone

There are, in addition, three Protocols to the Treaty, two of which are open for signature by China, France, the Russian Federation, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the United States of America. The first deals with undertakings not to use nuclear explosive devices and the second generally is designed to avoid the testing of nuclear explosive devices. The third Protocol, which is open for signature by France and Spain only, requires the application of all major provisions of the Treaty (including the safeguards provisions contained in the Annex), in respect of those territories within the Zone for which the signatory is internationally responsible

Convention to Ban the Importation into Forum Island Countries of Hazardous and Radioactive Wastes and to Control the Transboundary Movement and Management of Hazardous Wastes within the South Pacific Region (the Waigani Convention) (1995)

The Waigani Convention was adopted in Waigani (Port Moresby, Papua New Guinea) on 16 September 1995, and was signed by fourteen of the sixteen South Pacific Forum members. These fourteen countries are Australia, Cook Islands, Fiji, Kiribati, the Federated States of Micronesia, Nauru, Niue (Nive Islands), New Zealand. Papua New Guinea, Solomon Islands, Western Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu, and Vanuatu. The only Forum countries which have not yet signed this Convention are The Republic of the Marshall Islands and Palua.

In accordance with Article 4 of the Convention, each Party is obliged to take appropriate measures to prohibit any importation of hazardous and radioactive wastes from outside the zone covered by the Convention (the Convention Area). Similar measures are to be put into place to prohibit the export of these same wastes to Contracting States or to territories located in the zone covered by the Convention, with the exceptions of Australia and New Zealand. However, transboundary movement of such wastes within the zone covered by the Convention is authorised, provided that the procedures set out in Article 6 are followed. The movement of such wastes in a

provided that the procedures set out in Article 6 are followed. The movement of such wastes in a manner not conforming to the provisions of the Convention is considered as illicit trading and is judged to be a criminal act

The Parties also commit to prohibiting all dumping of hazardous or radioactive wastes at sea in conformity with existing international instruments on this subject. They have equally committed to the implementation of the 1990 IAEA Code of Practice on the International Transboundary Movement of Radioactive Wastes.

It is also contemplated that a fund will be created to provide assistance to countries encountering emergency situations for the purpose of controlling and reducing the effects of accidental releases from the transportation or disposal of such hazardous wastes occurring within the zone covered by the Convention

In case of disagreement as to the application or interpretation of the Convention, the Parties may resort to informal means of dispute resolution, failing which recourse is to be had either to arbitration or to the International Court of Justice The Convention will enter into force thirty days after the date of deposit of the tenth instrument of ratification, acceptance, approval or accession

#### Status of the Convention on Nuclear Safety (1996)

Since November 1995 (See Nuclear Law Bulletin No 56), six new States have become Parties to the 1994 Nuclear Safety Convention Canada, China, Croatia, Finland, Hungary and the United Kingdom. At present, nineteen countries are Parties to the Convention. Moreover, Romania which ratified the Convention on 1 June 1995, from now on belongs to the group of countries having at least one nuclear installation which has achieved criticality in a reactor core, bringing to thirteen the number of States in this category.

It may be recalled that the present Convention will enter into force on the ninetieth day after the date of deposit of the twenty-second instrument of ratification acceptance or approval including the instruments of seventeen States, each having at least one nuclear installation which has achieved criticality in a reactor core

# Ratification of Protocols Relating to the South Pacific Nuclear Free Zone Treaty (Treaty of Rarotonga) (1996)

On 25 March 1996 in Suva (capital of the Fiji Islands), France, the United Kingdom and the United States each signed Protocols I, II, and III to the Treaty of Rarotonga of 1985 (See Nuclear Law Bulletin Nos 36, 39 and 41) This Treaty, which entered into force on 11 December 1986, creates a zone in which the manufacture, acquisition and stationing of nuclear weapons is prohibited. Pursuant to the first Protocol, France, the United States and the United Kingdom are to apply the Treaty in those territories within the zone which are under their control. Under the second Protocol the five countries officially recognised as nuclear weapons States are not to use or threaten to use such weapons against any of the Contracting Parties. By virtue of the third Protocol these same five States are to refrain from testing any nuclear explosive device anywhere within the zone.

As of March 1996, all countries of the South Pacific Forum had ratified the Treaty except for the Federated States of Micronesia, the Marshall Islands Republic, Palau and Tonga China and Russia signed and ratified Protocols II and III in the 1980's, Protocol I not being applicable to those States

#### **Euratom-United States**

Extracts of The Agreement for Cooperation in the Peaceful Uses of Nuclear Energy Between the European Atomic Energy Community and the United States of America (29 March 1996)

#### Article 1 Scope of Cooperation

- 1 The Parties may co-operate in the peaceful uses of nuclear energy in the following areas
- A) Nuclear fission research and development on such terms as may be agreed between the Parties,
- B) Nuclear safety matters of mutual interest and competence, as set out in Article 2,
- C) Facilitation of exchange and cooperation activities at an industrial or commercial scale between persons and undertakings,
- D) Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, supply between the Parties of non-nuclear material, nuclear material and equipment and provision of nuclear fuel cycle services, whether for use by or for the benefit of the Parties or third countries,
- E) Exchange of information on major international questions related to nuclear energy, such as promotion of development in the field of international nuclear safeguards and non-proliferation within areas of mutual interest and competence, including collaboration with the IAEA on safeguards matters and on the interaction between nuclear energy and the environment,
- F) Controlled thermonuclear fusion including multilateral projects,
- G) Other areas of mutual interest
- 2 The cooperation referred to in this Article, as between the Parties, may also take place between persons and undertakings established in the respective territories of the Parties

#### Article 3 Industrial and Commercial Cooperation

In conformity with the provisions of Article IV of the Non-Proliferation Treaty, the Parties undertake to facilitate the fullest possible exchange of equipment, materials and scientific and technological information for the peaceful uses of nuclear energy. To this end, the Parties will facilitate, as appropriate, commercial relations between persons and undertakings involving nuclear cooperation.

Such cooperation may include, but is not limited to

- investments,
- joint ventures,

- environmental aspects at industrial or commercial scale,
- trade in nuclear items, non-nuclear material and technical and specialised services as specified in Article 4, and
- licensing arrangements between persons and undertakings in the territory of either Party

#### Article 4 Nuclear Trade

- 1 The Parties shall facilitate nuclear trade between themselves, in the mutual interests of industry, utilities and consumers and also, where appropriate, trade between third countries and either Party of items obligated to the other Party
- 2 Authorizations, including export and import licences as well as authorizations or consents to third parties, relating to trade, industrial operations or nuclear material movements on the territories of the Parties shall not be used to restrict trade. The relevant authority shall act upon applications for such authorizations as soon as possible after submission and without unreasonable expense. Appropriate administrative procedures shall be in place to ensure respect of this provision.

#### Article 8 Nuclear Fuel Cycle Activities

- 1 The nuclear fuel cycle activities carried out pursuant to this Agreement include
- (A) Within the territorial jurisdiction of either Party, enrichment up to twenty percent in the isotope 235, of uranium transferred pursuant to this Agreement, as well as of uranium used in or produced through the use of equipment so transferred. Enrichment of such uranium to more than twenty percent in the isotope 235 and re-enrichment of such uranium already enriched to more than twenty percent in the isotope 235 may be carried out according to conditions agreed upon in writing which shall be the subject of consultations between the Parties within 40 days of the receipt of a request from either Party
- (B) Irradiation within the territorial jurisdiction of either Party of plutonium uranium-233 high enriched uranium and irradiated nuclear material transferred pursuant to this Agreement or used in or produced through the use of non-nuclear material, nuclear material or equipment so transferred
- (C) Retransfer to third countries according to procedures set out in the Agreed Minute of
  - (i) low enriched uranium, non-nuclear material, equipment and source material transferred pursuant to this Agreement or of low enriched uranium produced through the use of nuclear material or equipment transferred pursuant to this Agreement, for nuclear fuel cycle activities other than the production of high enriched uranium
  - (11) irradiated nuclear material transferred pursuant to this Agreement or irradiated nuclear material used in or produced through the use of non-nuclear material, nuclear material or equipment transferred pursuant to this Agreement, for storage or disposal not involving reprocessing,
  - (iii) other nuclear material transferred pursuant to this Agreement and other special fissionable material produced through the use of non-nuclear material, nuclear material or equipment

transferred pursuant to this Agreement, for other fuel cycle activities including those specified in paragraphs 2 and 3 of this Article

- (D) Post-irradiation examination involving chemical dissolution or separation of irradiated nuclear material transferred pursuant to this Agreement or irradiated nuclear material used in or produced through the use of non-nuclear material, nuclear material or equipment so transferred
- (E) Conditioning, storage and final disposal of irradiated materials transferred pursuant to this Agreement or used in or produced through the use of non-nuclear material, nuclear material and equipment transferred pursuant to this Agreement
- 2 The following nuclear fuel cycle activities may be carried out pursuant to this Agreement within the territorial jurisdiction of either Party in facilities forming part of the delineated peaceful nuclear programmes described in Annex A
  - A) Reprocessing of nuclear material transferred pursuant to this Agreement and nuclear material used in or produced through the use of non-nuclear material, nuclear material or equipment so transferred.
  - B) Alteration in form or content of plutonium, uranium 233 and high enriched uranium transferred pursuant to this Agreement or used in or produced through the use of non-nuclear material, nuclear material or equipment so transferred,
  - 3 The following nuclear materials
    - (i) plutonium, uranium-233 and high enriched uranium, if not contained in irradiated nuclear fuel, transferred pursuant to this Agreement,
    - (11) plutonium, uramum-233 and high enriched uramium recovered from nuclear material transferred pursuant to this Agreement,
    - (111) plutonium, uranium-233 and high enriched uranium recovered from nuclear material used in equipment transferred pursuant to this Agreement

may be stored in facilities that are at all times subject, as a minimum, to the levels of physical protection that are set out in Annex C to IAEA document INFCIRC 254/REV 1/Part 1 (Guidelines for nuclear transfers) as it may be revised and accepted by the Parties and the Member States of the Community

Each Party shall record its facilities on a list, made available to the other Party. A Party's list shall be held confidential if that Party so requests. Either Party may make changes to its list by notifying the other Party in writing and receiving a written acknowledgement. Such acknowledgement shall be given no later than thirty days after the receipt of the notification and shall be limited to a statement that the notification has been received.

If there are grounds to believe that the provisions of this sub-Article are not being fully complied with, immediate consultations may be called for

Following upon such consultations, each Party shall ensure by means of such consultations that necessary corrective measures are taken immediately. Such measures shall be sufficient to restore the

levels of physical protection referred to above at the facility in question. If this proves not to be feasible, the nuclear material in question shall be transferred for storage at another appropriate listed facility.

#### Article 12 Consultation and Arbitration

- 1 The Parties shall consult at the request of either of them to promote cooperation under this Agreement and to ensure its effective implementation. A Joint Committee shall be established for these purposes. This Committee will also consult on nuclear questions of mutual interest and any other significant matters relating to the cooperation envisaged by this Agreement. A Joint Technical Working Group reporting to the Joint Committee will be set up to ensure the fulfilment of the requirements of the Administrative Arrangement referred to in Article 16
- 2 The Parties shall consult, at the request of either of them, on any question arising out of the interpretation or application of this Agreement.
- 3 Any dispute arising out of the interpretation or application of this Agreement shall be settled by negotiation, mediation, conciliation or other similar procedure or, if both Parties agree by submission to an arbitral tribunal which shall be composed of three arbitrators appointed in accordance with the provisions of this paragraph. Each Party shall designate one arbitrator and the two arbitrators so designated shall elect a third, a national of a country other than the United States of America or a Member State of the Community, who shall be the Chairman. If within thirty days of the request for arbitration, a Party has not designated an arbitrator, the other Party may request the President of the International Court of Justice to appoint an arbitrator. The same procedure shall apply if, within thirty days of the designation or appointment of the second arbitrator the third arbitrator has not been elected, provided that the third arbitrator so appointed shall not be a national of the United States of America or of a Member State of the Community. All decisions shall require the concurrence of two arbitrators. The arbitral procedure shall be fixed by the tribunal. The decisions of the tribunal shall be binding on the Parties.

#### Article 14 Duration and Amendment

2 This Agreement shall remain in force for a period of thirty years and shall continue in force thereafter for additional periods of five years each. Either Party may by giving six months written notice to the other Party, terminate this Agreement at the end of the initial thirty year period or at the end of any subsequent five year period.

#### Article 18 Status of Annexes

The Annexes form an integral part of this Agreement and, unless expressly provided otherwise a reference to this Agreement includes its Annexes

# Extracts of the Agreed Minute to the Cooperation Agreement Between the European Atomic Energy Community and the United States of America

#### B Nuclear Fuel Cycle Activities

2 Upon entry into force of this Agreement, the Parties shall exchange lists of third countries to which retransfers pursuant to Article 8 1(C)(i) may be made by the other Party Eligibility for continued inclusion on such lists shall be based, as a minimum, upon satisfaction of the following criteria

- third countries must have made effective non-proliferation commitments, normally by being party to, and in full respect of their obligations under the Non-Proliferation Treaty or the Treaty of Tlatelolco and by being in compliance with the conditions of INFCIRC/254/REV 1/Part 1, and
- in case of retransfer of items obligated to the United States from the territory of the Member States of the Community, third countries must be party to a nuclear cooperation agreement with the United States
- 3 Should retransfers pursuant to Article 8 1(C)(n) and (n) be requested in the future by a Party, a list of third countries to which such retransfers may be made, shall be provided by the other Party In this connection, the Parties shall take into account the following additional criteria
  - consistency of the proposed action with the guidelines contained in IAEA document INFCIRC/225/REV 3 and with the provisions of IAEA document INFCIRC/274/REV 1, as they may be revised and accepted by the Parties and the Member States,
  - the nature and content of the peaceful nuclear programmes of the third country in question,
  - the potential proliferation and security implications of the transfer for either Party or a Member State of the Community
- 4 Either Party may add eligible third countries to its lists at any time. Either Party may delete third countries from its lists following consultations with the other Party. Neither Party shall delete third countries from its lists for the purpose of obtaining commercial advantage or of delaying, hampering or hindering the peaceful nuclear programmes of the other Party or its peaceful nuclear cooperation with third countries. The Parties will cooperate in efforts to obtain as soon as possible on a generic basis a confirmation from the third countries on the lists that any retransferred items will be subject to any agreement for cooperation in force between the receiving country and the non-retransferring Party. The receipt of such confirmation shall not constitute a pre-condition for the addition of a third country to the lists.

Retransfers to third countries not included on the lists may be considered on a case by case basis

- 5 The Parties agree that, notwithstanding the provisions of paragraphs 2, 3 and 4, the provisions set out in the Exchange of Notes dated 18 July 1988 between the Commission of the European Communities and the United States Mission to the European Communities concerning the Agreement for Cooperation in the Peaceful Uses of Nuclear Energy between the United States of America and Japan shall remain in effect as long as this Agreement remains in force. The Parties confirm that the above mentioned provisions shall apply, inter alia, to plutonium contained in mixed oxide fuel. The consents granted therein may be suspended only if an event of the same or greater degree of seriousness as those referred to in paragraph 8 arises which directly threatens either the retransfer or the activities involving the retransferred plutonium in Japan
- 6 With reference to paragraph 2 of Article 8 of the Agreement and notwithstanding paragraph 6 of Article 14, either Party, acting through its appropriate authorities, may make changes to the peaceful nuclear programmes it has delineated by notifying the other Party in writing in accordance with the procedures set forth below and receiving a written acknowledgment

- 7 Such acknowledgment shall be given no later than thirty days after the receipt of the notification and shall be limited to a statement that the notification has been received. Intended changes in delineated programmes shall receive the fullest possible consideration during consultations under the Agreement, which may include an exchange of information and views on safeguards matters of mutual interest.
- (A) For an addition of a facility within its territorial jurisdiction to the peaceful nuclear programme delineated by the Community, the notification shall contain
  - (1) the name, type and location of the facility and its existing or planned capacity,
  - (11) a confirmation that the Euratom Safeguards Regulation 3227/76, as amended is fully applied,
  - (iii) for a facility to be under IAEA safeguards inspections pursuant to a safeguards agreement referred to in paragraph 1(A), (B) or (C) of Article 6, a confirmation that relevant safeguards arrangements have been agreed upon with the IAEA and that those arrangements will permit the IAEA to exercise fully its rights pursuant to the aforementioned safeguards agreements, in the light of how these agreements are implemented during the life of this Agreement and so as to enable the IAEA to meet its objectives and inspection goal,
  - (iv) such non-confidential information as is available to the Community on the IAEA safeguards approach and non-confidential information on Euratom safeguards relevant to the facility,
  - (v) a confirmation that physical protection measures as required by Article 11 of this Agreement will be applied.
- (B) For an addition of a facility within its territorial jurisdiction to the delineated peaceful nuclear programme of the United States, the notification shall contain
  - (1) the name, type and location of the facility and its existing or planned capacity
  - (n) for facilities licensed or certified by the Umted States Nuclear Regulatory Commission a confirmation that the Fundamental Nuclear Material Control Plan describing how the requirements of the US Code of Federal Regulations, Title 10, Part 74 as amended will be met, has been approved for the facility, for Umted States Department of Energy civil facilities, a confirmation that the facility is in compliance with the requirements of the Department of Energy Order 5633 3B, "Control and Accountability of Nuclear Materials and associated guides, as amended.
  - (iii) for a facility to be under IAEA safeguards inspections pursuant to the safeguards agreement referred to in paragraph 1(D) of Article 6, a confirmation that the relevant safeguards arrangements have been agreed upon with the IAEA and that those arrangements will permit the IAEA to exercise fully its rights pursuant to the aforementioned safeguards agreement, in the light of how this agreement is implemented during the life of this Agreement and so as to enable the IAEA to meet its objectives and inspection goal,

- (iv) information on the basic features contained in the Fundamental Nuclear Material Control Plan or the compliance with the Department of Energy Order referred to above, and such non-confidential information as is available to the United States on the IAEA safeguards approach, and
- (v) a confirmation that physical protection measures as required by Article 11 of this Agreement will be applied
- (C) Either Party may delete a facility from the peaceful nuclear programme it has delineated, by providing to the other Party a notification containing the facility name and other relevant information available
- 8 A The activities referred to in paragraph 2 of Article 8 of this Agreement may proceed as long as those provisions continue in effect with respect to the peaceful nuclear programme delineated by a Party, unless the other Party considers, pursuant to the procedures set out below, that these activities should be suspended on the basis of objective evidence that their continuation would entail a senious threat to the security of either Party or of a Member State of the Community, or a significant increase in the risk of nuclear proliferation, resulting from a situation of the same or greater degree of seniousness as the following
  - (a) With regard to the Community
  - (1) a non-nuclear-weapon State member of the Community detonates a nuclear weapon or any other nuclear explosive device,
  - (11) a nuclear-weapon State member of the Community detonates a nuclear weapon or any other nuclear explosive device using any item subject to this Agreement,
  - (iii) a Member State of the Community or the Community, as relevant, materially violates, terminates, or declares itself not to be bound by, the Non-Proliferation Treaty or the relevant safeguards agreements referred to in Article 6 1, or the Guidelines applicable to the transfers of nuclear items laid down in document INFCIRC/254/REV 1/Part 1, as it may be revised and accepted by the Parties,
  - (iv) a Member State of the Community retransfers an item subject to this Agreement to a non-nuclear-weapon State which has not concluded a full-scope safeguards Agreement with the IAEA,
  - (v) a Member State of the Community is subjected to measures taken by the Board of Governors of the IAEA, pursuant to Article 19 of the relevant safeguards Agreement referred to in Article 6 1(A), (B) or (C),
  - (vi) acts of war or serious internal disturbances preventing the maintenance of law and order, or serious international tension constituting a threat of war, that threaten severely and directly the safeguarding or physical protection of such activities

- (b) With regard to the United States
- (1) the United States detonates a nuclear weapon or any other nuclear explosive device using any item subject to this Agreement,
- (11) the United States materially violates, terminates or declares itself not to be bound by the Non-Proliferation Treaty or the relevant safeguards agreement referred to in Article 6.1 (D) or the Guidelines applicable to the transfers of nuclear items laid down in document INFCIRC/254/REV 1/Part 1, as it may be revised and accepted by the Parties.
- (iii) the United States retransfers an item subject to this Agreement to a non-nuclear-weapon State which has not concluded a full-scope safeguards agreement with the IAEA
- (iv) the United States is subjected to measures taken by the Board of Governors of the IAEA pursuant to Article 193 of the safeguards Agreement referred in Article 6 1(D)
- (v) acts of war or serious internal disturbances preventing the maintenance of law and order or serious international tension constituting a threat of war that threaten severely and directly the safeguarding or physical protection of such activities
- B The Party considering that such objective evidence may exist, shall consult with the other Party, at Cabinet level for the United States and at European Commission level for the Community, before reaching any decision
- C Any such decision that such objective evidence does exist and that activities referred to in paragraph 2 of Article 8 should therefore be suspended, shall be taken only by the President of the United States or by the Council of the European Union, as the case may be and shall be notified in writing to the other Party
- D Any decision taken by a Party pursuant to this paragraph shall apply to the activities of the other Party referred to in Article 8, paragraph 2 of this Agreement taken as a whole
- E The Parties confirm that, as of the time of entry into force of this Agreement there exists no objective evidence of any of the threats referred to above and that they do not foresee any such threats developing in the future
- 9 Actions of governments of third countries or events beyond the territorial jurisdiction of either Party shall not be used as a basis for invoking the provisions of paragraph 8 with respect to activities or facility operations within that Party's territorial jurisdiction unless, due to such actions or events those activities or facility operations would clearly result in a significant increase in the risk of nuclear proliferation or in a serious threat to the security of the Party invoking the provisions of paragraph 8
- 10 The Party invoking the provisions of paragraph 8 shall keep under constant review the development of the situation which prompted the decision and shall withdraw its invocation as soon as warranted
- The provisions of paragraph 8 shall not be invoked due to differences over the nature of the Parties' peaceful nuclear programmes or fuel cycle choices or for the purpose of obtaining commercial advantage, or of delaying, hampering or hindering the peaceful nuclear programmes or activities of the other Party, or its peaceful nuclear cooperation with third countries

- Any decision to invoke the provisions of paragraph 8 shall only be taken in the most extreme circumstances of exceptional concern from a non-proliferation or security point of view and shall be applied for the minimum period of time necessary to deal in a manner acceptable to the Parties with the exceptional case
- Should the activities agreed upon in paragraph 2 of Article 8 of the Agreement be suspended, as provided in paragraph 8, quantities of nuclear material equivalent to the inventory described in Article 20 1 shall, at the option of the Party against which the suspension is applied, be regarded during such suspension as subject to this Agreement but only to the extent covered by the agreements referred to in Article 19

#### E Suspension and Termination

No violation may be considered as being material unless corresponding to the definition of material violation or breach contained in the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties

### Ukraine-G-7 Countries-Commission of the European Communities

Memorandum of Understanding Between the Government of Ukraine and the Governments of the G-7 Countries and the Commission of the European Communities on the Closure of the Chernobyl Nuclear Power Plant (1995)\*

THE GOVERNMENT OF UKRAINE, hereinafter referred to as "Ukraine", and THE RESPECTIVE GOVERNMENTS OF THE G-7 COUNTRIES AND THE COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES, hereinafter referred to as "the G-7", have developed a cooperative-operative approach on the elaboration and implementation of a Comprehensive Program to support the decision of Ukraine to close the Chemobyl Nuclear Power Plant by the year 2000, as formulated by President Kuchma in his statement of April 13, 1995, and in his letter of August 8, 1995, to G-7 Leaders The Program will thus implement the commitments of the leaders of the G-7, made in Naples, Italy, in 1994 and Halifax, Canada, in 1995

The program is guided by the following principles

- The friendly relationships among Ukraine and members of the G-7,
- The critical linkages between energy sector reform and the achievement of Ukraine's economic and social reform objectives,
- The complementarity between measures summarized herein to support the closure of the Chernobyl Nuclear Power Plant and the development of a long term energy sector strategy in Ukraine, taking into account sound economic, financial and environmental criteria, and leading to an efficient sustainable, market-oriented energy sector well-suited to Ukraine's needs,
- The necessity of the continuous promotion of a high level of nuclear safety around the world, taking into account the principles specified in the International Convention on Nuclear Safety

The official languages of this text are English and Ukrainian

and the recognition of the essential role played in this regard by a strong and independent national nuclear safety regulator;

- The need to mobilize financial resources from the international community and domestic sources to support the decision of Ukraine to close the Chernobyl Nuclear Power Plant
- The need to ensure full co-operation from the Ukraiman entities associated with all elements of the comprehensive program
- The recognition that the early closure of the Chernobyl Nuclear Power Plant will have adverse
  economic and social implications for Ukraine while also facilitating the flow of international
  financial resources and improving the national standards of nuclear safety
- The recognition of the fact that the responsibility for nuclear safety rests exclusively with the
  operating state, including an effective regime for hability for nuclear damage corresponding
  to accepted international norms
- The desirability of increasing energy efficiency
- The importance of our joint commitment to take all necessary measures for the decommissioning of the Chernobyl Nuclear Power Plant in the shortest, practically achievable time

Ukraine and the G-7 have decided upon the following Comprehensive Program of cooperation in order to support the closure of the Chernobyl Nuclear Power Plant by the year 2000

#### I Power Sector Restructuring

1 Ukraine and the G-7 will continue to cooperate in the development of a financially-sound electric power market with market-based pricing that will encourage energy efficiency and conservation and will work cooperatively in generating and attracting the domestic and international resources needed both for safety measures and for new capital investment in power generation transmission and distribution

#### II Energy Investment Program

2 Ukraine and the G-7 will work with the international financial institutions as well as foreign and domestic investors to prepare loan-financed projects based upon least-cost planning principles for completion of Khmelmitsky II and Rovno IV nuclear reactors, for thermal and hydro plant rehabilitation and pumped storage projects, and for energy efficiency projects in accordance with Ukraine's energy sector strategy. In order to support the closure of the Chernobyl Nuclear Power Plant, the investment program will identify least-cost power supply investments to meet Ukraine's future national power requirements in the context of a competitive market-based power sector.

#### III Nuclear Safety

3 Ukraine and the G-7 will work with the relevant international organizations as well as multilateral and bilateral donors on an expedited basis to prepare and implement projects for short term safety upgrades at Chernobyl III and for decommissioning of the Chernobyl Nuclear Power Plant

4 Ukraine and the G-7 will continue to cooperate in the development of a cost effective and environmentally sound approach to the shelter for Chemobyl IV, including the definition, as soon as possible, of technical and cost options as the basis for reviewing financial requirements

### IV Social Impact Plan

5 Ukraine and the G-7 recognize the implications of the closure of the Chernobyl plant for the workers and their families. The European Commission and the Government of the United States will assist the Government of Ukraine to develop an Action Plan for addressing the social impacts of the closure of Chernobyl

#### V Financial Resources

- 6 To provide for the implementation of the program outlined in paragraphs 1-5, Ukraine and the G-7 will cooperate in the identification of international and domestic Ukrainian funding sources and the mobilization of international finance in support of appropriate program activities
- 7 Attachment 1 presents a summary of the current financial resources either available or under consideration from the G-7 and international financial institutions. Some elements are subject to the completion of project specific feasibility studies. Attachment 2 provides the list of priority projects of the Comprehensive Programme.
- 8 As a guiding principle, revenue generating projects would be considered for international loan financing and Ukrainian domestic resources. Non-revenue generating projects, directly related to the closure of the Chemobyl Nuclear Power Plant, would be considered for international grant financing and, taking into account the financial and economic situation in Ukraine, Ukrainian domestic resources.

#### VI Implementation Review

9 Representatives of Ukraine, the G-7, and the international financial institutions will meet at least annually to monitor implementation of the comprehensive program for the closure of the Chernobyl Nuclear Power Plant and consider any technical or financial issues that represent potential obstacles to realising its objectives

Done in Ottawa, this 20th day of December 1995, in duplicate, in the English and Ukrainian languages, each text being equally valid

# **G-7 Countries-Russian Federation**

## Moscow Nuclear Safety and Security Summit Declaration (1996)\*

1 The end of the cold war and the political and economic reforms in Russia have opened a new era in our relationship and have provided the international community with real possibilities for cooperation in the fields of nuclear safety and security. The Moscow meeting is an important step in

The present Declaration was made by the G-7 and the Russian Federation on the occasion of the 19 20 April Summit on Nuclear Safety and Security in Moscow

the realization of these objectives. We are determined, at this summit and beyond to work together to ensure the safety of nuclear power and to promote greater security for nuclear materials.

2 We are committed to give an absolute priority to safety in the use of nuclear energy. As we approach the tenth anniversary of the Chemobyl accident, it is our shared objective that such a catastrophe cannot reoccur

We are ready to cooperate among ourselves so that the use of nuclear energy is conducted all over the world consistently with fundamental principles of nuclear safety. Further, we are committed to measures which will enable nuclear power, already a significant contributor to electricity supply in those countries choosing to exploit it, to continue in the next century to play an important role in meeting future world energy demand consistent with the goal of sustainable development agreed at the Rio Conference in 1992

We recognise the importance of openness and transparency to obtain public trust which is a key factor for the use of nuclear energy

We recognize the importance of openness and transparency to obtain public trust which is a key factor for the use of nuclear energy

- 3 The security of all nuclear material is an essential part of the responsible and peaceful use of nuclear energy. In particular, the safe management of fissile material, including material resulting from the dismantling of nuclear weapons, is imperative, not least as a safeguard against any risk of illicit trafficking in nuclear materials.
- 4 In the spirit of the decisions adopted during the New York Conference of May 1995 on review and extension of the Non-Proliferation Treaty (NPT), including the Decision on principles and objectives for nuclear non-proliferation and disarmament, we will increase our cooperation in the field of nuclear non-proliferation and disarmament i.e. by promoting universal adherence to the NPT working vigorously to strengthen the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) safeguards system and through effective and responsible export control measures. We are issuing a separate text on a Comprehensive Nuclear Test Ban Treaty (CTBT). We renew our commitment to the immediate commencement and early conclusion of negotiations on a non-discriminatory and universally applicable convention banning the production of fissile material for nuclear weapons or other nuclear explosive devices.

#### Nuclear Safety

5 Recognizing that the prime responsibility for nuclear safety rests with national governments it is of the first importance to continue to enhance international collaborative efforts to promote a high level of nuclear safety worldwide

Safety of Civilian Nuclear Reactors

- 6 Nuclear safety has to prevail over all other considerations. We reaffirm our commitment to the highest internationally recognized safety level for the siting, design construction operation and regulation of nuclear power installations.
- 7 The promotion of an effective nuclear safety culture in each country with nuclear installations is essential to that end

- 8 Sustainable nuclear safety also requires a supportive economic and legal environment whereby both operators and national regulatory bodies can fully assume their independent responsibilities
- 9 Nuclear safety can also be enhanced by greater international transparency in nuclear power activities, in particular by means of peer reviews, and this should lead to existing reactors which do not meet current safety requirements being brought to an acceptable level of safety or ceasing operation
- The adoption of the Convention of Nuclear Safety, which reaffirms these fundamental safety principles, is a major accomplishment in this field. We urge all countries to sign this Convention and to complete internal procedures to join so that the Convention can be brought into force expeditiously certainly before the end of 1996.
- 11 National efforts have been made in the countries of Central and Eastern Europe and the Newly Independent States to improve nuclear safety levels, often in cooperation with multilateral and bilateral programmes. In this regard, we acknowledge these important efforts to upgrade reactor safety and improve safety culture, but note that further substantial progress is still required. We reaffirm our commitment to cooperate fully for this purpose

### Nuclear Liability

- 12 An effective nuclear hability regime must assure adequate compensation to victims of, and for damage caused by, nuclear accidents. In addition, to secure the degree of private sector involvement needed to undertake vital safety improvements, the regime should at the same time protect industrial suppliers from unwarranted legal action.
- 13 The essential principles in this area are the exclusive and strict liability of the operator of the nuclear installations and ensuring needed financial security for adequate compensation
- 14 It is essential that countries with nuclear installations that have not yet done so establish an effective regime for hability for nuclear damage corresponding to these principles
- 15 It is important to work together on enhancing the international regime of liability for nuclear damage with a view to ensuring that it will attract wide adherence and accommodate any state which may wish to become a party. We encourage the experts to make further progress to this end. In this connection, the reinforcement of regional cooperation is welcomed.

#### Energy Sector Strategies in Transition Countries

- 16 Efficient market-oriented strategies for energy sector reform are essential to promote nuclear safety. This will generate adequate resources for investment in safety upgrades and maintenance, and encourage energy conservation. All countries in transition should pursue such market-oriented reforms and investment strategies based upon least cost planning, giving due regard to nuclear safety and environmental criteria, and to energy efficiency and conservation.
- 17 The International Financial Institutions have played a leading role in developing market-oriented energy sector reforms and investment plans. Their continued involvement and support is critical to ensure further progress.

#### **Nuclear Waste Management**

#### International Convention

- 18 National authorities must ensure radioactive waste is managed safely and that provisions are made for its proper handling, storage and ultimate disposal. These are essential elements for any nuclear programme
- 19 The development of the Convention on the Safety of Radioactive Waste Management, based on these principles, is of paramount importance. We call on all countries generating nuclear waste with nuclear installations to participate actively in the preparation of this Convention under the auspices of the I A E A and to encourage its effective finalization and prompt adoption

#### Ocean Dumping

20 We commit ourselves to ban dumping at sea of radioactive waste and encourage all states to adhere at an earliest possible date to the 1993 amendment of the London Convention

#### **Nuclear Material Security**

Programme for Preventing and Combating Illicit Trafficking in Nuclear Material

21 Illicit trafficking of nuclear material is a public safety and non-proliferation concern. We recognized the importance of this issue at our meetings in Naples and Halifax. As risks continue to exist, we have agreed on, and released, a programme for preventing and combatting illicit trafficking in nuclear material to ensure increased cooperation among our governments in all aspects of prevention, detection, exchange of information, investigation and prosecution in cases of illicit nuclear trafficking

We call on other governments to join us in implementing this programme

#### Nuclear Material Accounting and Control and Physical Protection

- 22 We reaffirm the fundamental responsibility of nations to ensure the security of all nuclear materials in their possession and the need to ensure that they are subject to effective systems of nuclear material accounting & control and physical protection. These systems should include regulations, licensing and inspections. We express our support for the IAEA safeguards regime which plays a critical role in providing assurance against the diversion of nuclear material going undetected. We underline the need for the urgent strengthening of IAEA capabilities to detect undeclared nuclear activities. We note that these measures are also conducive to preventing illicit trafficking of nuclear material.
- 23 We recognize the importance of continually improving systems and technologies for controlling and protecting nuclear materials. We urge nations to cooperate bilaterally, multilaterally and through the I A E A to ensure that the national systems for controlling nuclear materials remain effective. We are encouraged by the wide array of cooperative projects underway in this field under bilateral and multilateral auspices and pledge to sustain and increase these efforts.
- 24 We urge ratification by all states of the Convention on the Physical Protection of Nuclear Material and encourage the application of the I A E A recommendations on the Physical Protection of Nuclear Material

25 We pledge our support for efforts to ensure that all sensitive nuclear material (separated plutonium and highly enriched uranium) designated as not intended for use for meeting defense requirements is safely stored, protected and placed under I A E A safeguards (in the Nuclear Weapon States, under the relevant voluntary offer I A E A safeguards agreements) as soon as it is practicable to do so

Safe and effective Management of weapons fissile material designated as no longer required for defense purposes

- 26 Major steps have been taken in recent years towards nuclear disarmament. This has created substantial stocks of fissile material designated as no longer required for defence purposes. It is vital, as mentioned above, that these stockpiles are safely managed and eventually transformed into spent fuel or other forms equally unusable for nuclear weapons and disposed of safely and permanently
- 27 The primary responsibility for the safe management of weapons fissile material rests with the nuclear weapons states themselves, but other states and international organizations are welcome to assist where desired
- 28 We welcome the steps that the United States and the Russian Federation have taken to blend highly-enriched uranium (HEU) from dismantled nuclear weapons to low-enriched uranium (LEU) for peaceful non-explosive purposes, and the cooperation programs of Canada, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, the United Kingdom, the United States of America and other states with the Russian Federation for the safe storage, the peaceful uses of fissile material released by the dismantlement of nuclear weapons and their safe and secure transportation for that purpose, we encourage other efforts along these lines
- 29 We are determined to identify appropriate strategies for the management of fissile material designated as no longer required for defence purposes. Options include safe and secure long-term storage, vitrification or other methods of permanent disposal and conversion into mixed-oxide fuel (MOX) for use in nuclear reactors. We have agreed to share relevant experience and expertise to elaborate and implement these strategies. We welcome plans to conduct small-scale technology demonstrations related to these options, including the possibility of establishing pilot projects and plants. We shall convene an international meeting of experts in order to examine available options and identify possible development of international cooperation in the implementation of these national strategies, bearing in mind technical, economic, non-proliferation, environmental and other relevant considerations. The meeting will take place in France by the end of 1996.
- 30 We recognize the importance of ensuring transparency in the management of highly enriched uranium and plutonium designated as no longer required for defence purposes

# **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

# **United States**

Collection of Selected Regulatory Documents Issued by the State Nuclear Supervisory Committee (Gosatomnadzor) of Russia of Importance to the Nuclear Industry, published by L. Lehman & Associates, Inc., 1995

This collection contains regulatory information pertinent to nuclear firms who wish to operate or who are already operating, in Russia lt contains eight regulatory documents which are separated into two sections, those pertaining to reactors and those pertaining to fuel cycle facilities or other activities involving the nuclear fuel cycle. All regulatory documents are first summarised and then translated into English

The collection also contains a description of the functions of Gosatomnadzor, an organisational chart of this body, and a discussion of its legal basis. In addition, the document reviews the objectives of four major departments within Gosatomnadzor and its current licensing strategy.

Technical Policy Developments Affecting the Nuclear Industry, published by L. Lehman & Associates, Inc., 1993-1995

This publication is composed of the following five volumes

Volume I Status of Russian Nuclear Legislation, Nuclear Waste Disposal Programmes and Nuclear Safety Agreements by Linda Lehman and Julia Kamenskaya, October 1993

Volume II Topical Report on Waste Problems and Disposal in the Russian Arctic and Latvia Nuclear Regulation and Materials Control and Acounting April 1994

Volume III Topical Report on Status of Russian Legislation Concepts and Regulations Regarding Licensing or Permitting of Nuclear Facilities by Linda Lehman and Helen Zvereva October 1994

Volume IV Topical Report on Status of Russian Legislation Regulation Waste Management Environmental and Radiation Affects of the Russian Nuclear Industry and Nuclear Materials in the Republic of Kazakstan, by Linda Lehman and Helen Zvereva, June 1995

Volume V Topical Report on Legislative Developments Important Decrees, Waste Management and Nuclear Liability in the Russian Federation, to be published in May 1996

This major compilation deals with significant aspects of the Russian nuclear industry from the perspective of existing legislation, policies, agreements or programmes. Together, these volumes provide a detailed and comprehensive description of Russian legislative actions in the fields of nuclear safety, radiation protection environmental effects, waste management materials control and accounting, and licensing of nuclear activities

Volume I deals with the most relevant legislation affecting the nuclear industry, describes the high-level waste disposal programmes in both Russia and Ukraine, addresses nuclear safety initiatives between the United States and Russia and offers opinions regarding Russian business opportunities

Volume II addresses nuclear waste problems in Arctic regions, describes the Gosatomnadzor, deals with materials control and accounting within the Kurchatov Institute and describes the Latvian low-level waste disposal programmes

Volume III provides a status report on Russian legislation affecting the nuclear industry, describes Russian "concepts" (such as radiation safety) which are important to the nuclear industry, deals with Gosatomnadzor's regulations and describes the environmental review process for nuclear facilities

Volume IV contains an updated status report on Russian legislation, regulations and waste management programmes, a discussion of environmental and radiation effects of the Russian nuclear industry and a review of the laws covering nuclear materials in the Republic of Kazakhstan

Volume V addresses new and critical legislative developments in Russian nuclear programmes, including draft and approved laws and decrees in the general field of nuclear activities and in the specific areas of radioactive waste handling, nuclear liability and insurance, and the importation and reprocessing of spent fuel

This publication will be a useful reference work for both government agencies and private sector firms wishing to do business in Russia as well as for those who have an interest in the subject

# **OECD Nuclear Energy Agency**

#### Chernobyl – Ten Years On Radiological and Health Impact, OECD, Paris, 1996, 112 pages

The OECD Nuclear Energy Agency (NEA) released a report presenting an overall assessment, ten years after the Chernobyl accident, of the state of contamination of the territories affected by the radioactive release, the impact on the health of the populations, and the risks still anticipated for man and the environment

The report, intended for a broad readership, was prepared by a small group of specialists in radiation protection and public health from OECD countries and international organisations, under the aegis of the NEA

The report offers data on the dispersion and deposition of radionuclides within and outside the former Soviet Union, and provides estimates of the radiation doses received by the "liquidators" involved in the emergency and clean-up actions on the site, the populations around the damaged plant which were evacuated, people still in contaminated areas, and populations outside the former Soviet Union. There is also an evaluation of the health, agricultural and environmental impacts of the accident and of potential risks associated with the "sarcophagus" and the other sources of contamination existing on the site. Finally, the report discusses the lessons learnt by OECD countries and relevant international Organisations in terms of radiation protection infrastructures and emergency preparedness.

This report, available in English, French and Russian, has been distributed free of charge and has been extremely well received by the general public

History of the Eurochemic Company: 1956-1990, Thirty-Five Years of International Co-operation in the Field of Nuclear Technology, by M.J.M. Wolff, OECD Paris, 1995, 635 pages

This book retraces the history of Eurochemic, a European company engaged in the chemical treatment of irradiated fuel. Eurochemic was created in December 1957, under the aegis of the European Nuclear Agency, by the governments of thirteen European nations to develop international co-operation in the field of spent fuel recycling in nuclear reactors, with a view to the extraction of residual uranium and of plutonium

Conceived as a facility for applied research and production, this company built and utilised an R & D laboratory and a prototype factory for chemical reprocessing near the nuclear research centre at Mol (Belgium) Its objectives were, first, the reprocessing of fissile materials and subsequently the management of its own wastes prior to being wound up as an ongoing concern

As this new publication shows, Eurochemic was a model of international co-operation and contributed to an important historical aspect of nuclear technology. In fact, it operated the first reprocessing facility for which a complete programme of decommissioning and dismantling of installations had been initiated as well as on the treatment of all categories of waste which had accumulated at the site.

The history of Eurochemic was also marked by the unusual nature of its incorporating statute Eurochemic was established by a treaty between participating governments as an "international corporation with shares" for the purpose of combining the resources of private industry and the public sector and to allow its directing bodies to manage its operations with a large degree of autonomy. In fact, however, after the research and development phase, the absence of a commercial purpose resulted in financing and decision-making pressures being placed upon the governments concerned. The company was, therefore, wound up in 1990.

Intended for a large audience interested in the experience of international co-operation created by improvements in nuclear technology, this book, amply illustrated, demonstrates in a vibrant style the very real problems associated with the end of the nuclear fuel cycle

# **European Commission**

Energy in Europe, A Collection of Legislation and Other Instruments on Energy, by the General Directorate for Energy (DG XVII), European Commission, Luxembourg, 1995, 521 pages

The General Directorate for Energy of the European Commission (DG XVII) has just published a collection of Community legislation and other legal instruments in the energy field

As well as dedicating a chapter to the objectives of Community energy policy this collection contains a complete and up-to-date list of all Community texts dealing with energy in its broadest sense solid fuels, hydrocarbons and electricity, nuclear energy and the rational use of energy and of new or renewable energy sources

With respect to nuclear energy which is addressed in Chapter 4, the Euratom texts are reproduced as well as those concerning security control, radioactive waste and radiation protection measures. In addition, one will find the texts of certain co-operative agreements made between Euratom and such countries as Australia, Canada, the United States and Russia and between Euratom and the International Atomic Energy Agency

This publication, which is available in both English and French, will no doubt be an invaluable tool for anyone who needs to use or apply Community legislation in the energy field

# LIST OF CORRESPONDENTS TO THE NUCLEAR LAW BULLETIN

ALGERIA M CHERF, Radiation Protection and Safety Centre

ARGENTINA Mr J MARTINEZ FAVINI Legal Advisor National Atomic Energy

Commission

AUSTRALIA Ms E HUXLIN, INIS Information Officer, Australian Nuclear Science and

**Technology Organisation** 

AUSTRIA Dr J KRENN, Deputy Director Division of Nuclear Co-ordination and

Non-Proliferation, Federal Chancellery

BELARUS Mr V ZARKOV, Legal Advisor, Ministry of Environment

BELGIUM Mr P STALLAERT, Director General, Technical Safety of Nuclear

Installations, Ministry of Employment and Labour

Mr F RIVALET, Legal Services, Ministry of Economic Affairs

BRAZIL Mrs D FISCHER Brazilian Association on Nuclear Law

Mr E DAMASCENO, National Commission for Nuclear Energy

BULGARIA Mr A PETROV, Senior Expert, Committee on the Use of Atomic Energy for

Peaceful Purposes

CANADA Ms L S HOLLAND, General Counsel, Atomic Energy Control Board

CROATIA Mr V SOLJAN Institute of International and Comparative Law

CZECH REPUBLIC Mr F SURANSKY, Section for Nuclear Area Administration Ministry of

Industry and Trade

DENMARK Ms C ALSING YUUL Legal Department, Ministry of Justice

ESTONIA Mr S ROOSTAR Head of the International Law Division Ministry of

Foreign Affairs

FINLAND Mr Y SAHRAKORPI Ministerial Counsellor, Ministry of Trade and

Industry

FRANCE Mrs D DEGUEUSE, Legal Department, Atomic Energy Commission

GERMANY Dr N PELZER, Institute of Public International Law of Gottingen University

Division of Nuclear Law

GREECE Prof A A. KATSANOS President, Greek Atomic Energy Commission

HUNGARY Ms V LAMM, Professor, Institute for Legal and Administrative Studies,

Academy of Sciences Budapest

INDONESIA Mr SULCHAN, Head, Bureau for Public Acceptance and Co-operation on

Science and Technology, National Atomic Energy Commission

ITALY Dr F NOCERA Department of Energy, National Agency for New

Technologies, Energy and the Environment

Mr G GENTILE, Legal Office, National Electricity Board

JAPAN The Director, Research and International Affairs Division, Atomic Energy

Bureau STA

KAZAKSTAN Mr S VATAEV, Consultant to the Director General, Atomic Energy Agency

REPUBLIC OF KOREA Mr K-Gab PARK, Assistant Professor, Dept of Law, Hallym University

LATVIA Mr A SALMINS, Ministry of Environmental Protection and Regional

Development

LITHUANIA Mr G RUSECKAS, Head, Legal Division, Energy Agency

MEXICO M A PASCACIO, International Affairs Coordinator, Instituto Nacional de

Investigaciones Nucleares

NETHERLANDS Mr R VAN EMDEN Counsellor, Insurance Department, Ministry of Finance

POLAND Ms M LICHONIEWICZ, Legal and Treaty Department, Ministry of Foreign

Affairs

Mrs J SZABAN, Legal and Organisation Department, National Atomic

Energy Agency

PORTUGAL Mr H VIEIRA, Head, Nuclear Energy Division, General Directorate for

Energy

RUSSIAN FEDERATION Prof A IOYRISH, Dr O SUPATAEVA, Institute of State and Law, Russian

Academy of Sciences

SLOVAK REPUBLIC Mr J ZLATNANSKY, Vice-Chairman, Nuclear Regulatory Authority

Mr S NOVAK, Head of Legal Division, Nuclear Regulatory Authority

SLOVENIA M A SKRÂBAN, Ministry of Environmental and Regional Planning

SPAIN Mr A ARIAS, Secretary General, Consejo de Seguridad Nuclear

Ms L CORRETJER, Ministry of Industry and Energy

SWEDEN Mr G HEDELIUS, Senior Legal Advisor, Nuclear Power Inspectorate

Mr T NORSTRÖM, Senior Advisor, Ministry of Justice

SWITZERLAND Mr W.A BÜHLMANN Head Legal Services Federal Office of Energy

TUNISIA Mr M CHALBI, Ministry of Education and Science, National School of

Engineering, Monastir

TURKEY Dr D BOR, Head of the Research Development and Co-ordination

Department, Turkish Atomic Energy Authority

UNITED KINGDOM Mr S MILLIGAN, Assistant Treasury Solicitor, Department of Energy

Mr MW TURNER, Legal Advisor, UK Atomic Energy Authority

UNITED STATES Mrs M. NORDLINGER, Office of the General Counsel U.S. Nuclear

Regulatory Commission

Ms S KLEIN, Acting Assistant General Counsel for Civilian Nuclear Affairs

US Department of Energy

UKRAINE Mr Y KRUPKA, Head, Institute of State and Law National Academy of

Sciences

Mr Y KARPICH, Legal Counsel, Ministry for Environmental Protection and

**Nuclear Safety** 

URUGUAY Dr D PEREZ PINEYRUA, Deputy Director National Atomic Energy

Commission

IAEA Mrs O JANKOWITSCH, Legal Advisor Legal Division

EC Mr R LENNARTZ, Directorate General for Energy

Mr G VALERO JORDANA, Directorate General for the Environment

Nuclear Safety and Civil Protection, Radiation Protection Division

WHO Mr S FLUSS, Advisor on Health Legislation

IIEL Dr P CAMERON, Director International Institute of Energy Law Leiden

University

### MAIN SALES OUTLETS OF OECD PUBLICATIONS PRINCIPAUX POINTS DE VENTE DES PUBLICATIONS DE L'OCDE

ARGENTINA – ARGENTINE Carlos Hursch S R L Galena Güemes Flonda 165 4° Piso 1333 Buenos Aires Tel (1) 331 1787 y 331 2391	EGYPT - ÉGYPTE Middle East Observer 41 Sherní Street Carro Tel 392.6919	A la Sorbonne Actual 23 rue de l Hôtel-des Postes 06000 Nice Tel. (16) 93 13 77 75 Telefax (16) 93 80 75 69
Telefax (1) 331 1787	Telefax 360-6804	GERMANY - ALLEMAGNE
AUSTRALIA – AUSTRALIE D.A. Information Services 648 Whitehorse Road, P.O.B. 163 Mitcham, Victoria 3132 Tel. (03) 9210 7777		OECD Publications and Information Centre August Bebel Allee 6 D-53175 Bonn Tel. (0228) 959 120 Telefax (0228) 959 12.17
Telefax (03) 9210 7788  AUSTRIA - AUTRICHE	Subscription Services/Agence d abonnements P O Box 23 00371 Helsinki Tel (358 0) 121 4416	GREECE - GRÈCE Labraure Kauffmann Mayrokordatou 9
Gerold & Co Graben 31	Telefax (358 0) 121 4450	106 78 Athens Tel. (01) 32.55.321 Telefax (01) 32.30.320
Waen 1 Tel. (0222) 533 50 14 Telefax (0222) 512 47 31 29		HONG-KONG Swindon Book Co Ltd.
BELGIUM – BELGIQUE Jean De Lannoy Avenue du Roi 202 Koningslaan	75775 Paris Cedex 16 Tel (33-1) 45 24 82.00 Telefax (33-1) 49 10 42.76	Astoria Bldg 3F 34 Ashley Road, Tsimshatsii Kowloon, Hong Kong Tel. 2376.2062
B-1060 Bruxelles Tel (02) 538.51 69/538 08 41 Telefax (02) 538 08 41	Telex 640048 OCDE Internet. Compte.PUBSINQ @ occd.org Orders via Minitel France only/	Telefax 2376.0685 HUNGARY - HONGRIE
CANADA Renouf Publishing Company Ltd	Commandes par Minitel France exclusivement 36 15 OCDE OECD Bookshop/Librairie de l'OCDE	Euro Info Service Margitsziget, Európa Ház 1138 Budapest Tel. (1) 111 62.16
1294 Algoma Road Ottawa, ON K1B 3W8 Tel (613) 741 4333 Telefax (613) 741.5439	33 rue Octave Feuillet 75016 Paris Tel (33-1) 45 24 81 81 (33 1) 45 24 81 67	Telefax (1) 111 60 61  ICELAND - ISLANDE
Stores 61 Sparks Street Ottawa, ON K1P 5R1 Tel (613) 238 8985	Dawson	Mál Mog Menning Laugavegi 18, Pósthólf 392 121 Reykjavik Tel. (1) 552.4240
12 Adelaide Street West Toronto ON M5H 1L6 Tel (416) 363 3171 Telefax (416)363 59 63	Telefax 64.54 83.26  Documentation Française	Telefax (1) 562.3523  INDIA - INDE
Les Éditions La Liberté Inc 3020 Chemin Sainte Foy Sainte Foy PQ G1X 3V6 Tel (418) 658 3763	29 quai Voltaire 75007 Paris Tel 40 15 70 00 Economica	Oxford Book and Stationery Co Scindia House New Delhi 110001 Tel. (11) 331.5896/5308
Telefax (418) 658 3763 Federal Publications Inc	49 rue Héricart 75015 Paris Tel 45 78 12 92 Telefax 40.58 15 70	Telefax (11) 332.5993 17 Park Street Calcutta 700016 Tel. 240832
165 University Avenue Suite 701 Toronto ON M5H 3B8 Tel (416) 860 1611 Telefax (416) 860 1608	Gibert Jeune (Droit Économie) 6 place Saint Michel	INDONESIA – INDONÉSIE Pdu Lidi
Les Publications Fédérales 1185 Université Manufal OC H2D 2A7 Tel (\$14) 054 1622	75006 Paris Tel 43 25 91 19 Libraine du Commerce International	
Montréal QC H3B 3A7 Tel (514) 954 1633 Telefax (514) 954 1635	10 avenue d Iéna 75016 Paris Tel. 40 73 34 60	IRELAND - IRLANDE
CHINA - CHINE China National Publications Import Export Corporation (CNPIEC)	Libraine Dunod Université Paris-Dauphine Place du Maréchal-de Lattre-de Tassigny 75016 Paris Tel. 44 05 40 13	Government Supplies Agency Publications Section 4/5 Harcourt Road Dublin 2 Tel. 661.31 11
16 Gongti E Road, Chaoyang District P O Box 88 or 50 Beijing 100704 PR Tel (01) 506 6688 Telefax (01) 506 3101	Librairie Lavoisier 11 rue Lavoisier 75008 Paris Tel. 42 65.39 95	Telefax 475.27 60  ISRAEL - ISRAËL
CHINESE TAIPEI - TAIPEI CHINOIS Good Faith Worldwide int 1 Co Ltd	Libraine des Sciences Politiques 30 rue Saint-Guillaume 75007 Paris Tel. 45 48 36 02	Praedicta 5 Shatner Street P O Box 34030 Jerusalem 91430 Tel. (2) 52.84 90/1/2
9th Floor No 118 Sec 2 Chung Hstao E Road Taipei Tel (02) 391 7396/391 7397 Telefax (02) 394 9176	P U F 49 boulevard Samt Michel 75005 Paris Tel 43.25 83 40	Telefax (2) 52.84 93  R O Y International P O Box 13056
CZECH REPUBLIC -	Librairie de l Université 12a rue Nazareth	Tel Aviv 61130 Tel. (3) 546 1423 Telefax (3) 546 1442
RÉPUBLIQUE TCHÈQUE Artia Pegas Press Lid Narodni Trida 25	13100 Aux-en Provence Tel (16) 42 26 18 08 Documentation Française 165 rue Gambaldi	Palestmian Authority/Middle East. INDEX Information Services P O B 19502 Jerusalem Tel. (2) 27 12.19
POB 825 111 21 Praha 1 Tel (2) 242 246 04 Telefax (2) 242 278 72	69003 Lyon Tel. (16) 78 63 32 23 Libraine Decitre	Telefax (2) 27 16.34
DENMARK – DANEMARK	29 place Bellecour 69002 Lyon Tel (16) 72.40.54.54	ITALY - ITALIE Libreria Commissionaria Sansoni Via Duca di Calabria 1/1
Munksgaard Book and Subscription Service 35 Nørre Søgade PO Box 2148 DK 1016 København K Tel (33) 12 85 70	Libraine Sauramps Le Triangle 34967 Montpellier Cedex 2 Tel (16) 67.58 85 15	50125 Firenze Tel. (055) 64.54 15 Telefax (055) 64 12.57 Via Bartolini 29
Telefax (33) 12 93 87	Telefax (16) 67.58 27 36	20155 Milano Tel. (02) 36.50 83

Editnice e Librema Herder Piazza Montecitorio 120 Tel 679 46 28 00186 Roma Telefax 678 47.51 Libreria Hoepli Via Hoepli 5 20121 Mulano Tel. (02) 86.54 46 Telefax (02) 805 28.86 POLAND - POLOGNE

Libreria Scientifica Dott. Lucio de Biasio Aeiou Via Coronelli, 6

20146 Mulano Tel. (02) 48 95 45.52 Telefax (02) 48.95 45 48

JAPAN - JAPON OECD Publications and Information Centre Landic Akasaka Building 2 3-4 Akasaka, Minato-ku Tel (81 3) 3586.2016 Tokyo 107 Telefax (81 3) 3584 7929 KOREA - CORÉE

Kyobo Book Centre Lu Lus. PO Box 1658 Kwang Hwa Moon Tel 730 78 91 Telefax 735 00.30

MALAYSIA - MALAISIE University of Malaya Bookshop University of Malaya PO Box 1127 Jalan Pantai Baru 59700 Kuala Lumpur Malavsia

Tel. 756,5000/756,5425 Telefax 756.3246

**MEXICO - MEXIQUE** OECD Publications and Information Centre Edificio INPOTEC Av San Fernando no 37 Col. Tornello Guerra Tlalpen C P 14050 Mexico D.F

Tel. (525) 606 00 11 Extension 100 Fax (525) 606 13 07

Revistas y Periodicos Internacionales S.A. de C V Florencia 57 1004

Mexico, DF 06600 Tel 207 81 00 Telefax 208 39 79

**NETHERLANDS - PAYS-BAS** SDU Untgeverij Plantijnstraat Externe Fondsen Postbus 20014

2500 EA s-Gravenhage Tel. (070) 37 89 880 Telefax. (070) 34 75 778 S-106 47 Stockholm Voor bestellingen:

NEW ZEALAND -NOUVELLE-ZELANDE

GPLegislation Services PO Box 12418 Tel (04) 496,5655 Thorndon, Wellangton Telefax. (04) 496.5698

NORWAY - NORVÈGE NIC INFO A/S Bertrand Narvesens vei 2 PO Box 6512 Etterstad Tel. (022) 57 33 00 0606 Oslo 6

Telefax. (022) 68 19 01 **PAKISTAN** 

Mirza Book Agency 65 Shahrah Quaud-E-Azam Tel. (42) 353 601 1002 Lausanne Lahore 54000 Telefax (42) 231 730

International Booksource Center Inc. Rm 179/920 Cityland 10 Condo Tower 2 Rm 179/920 URYIMMA 32 COLOR St. HV dela Costa Ext cor Valero St. Tel (632) 817 9676

PHILIPPINE - PHILIPPINES

Telefax (632) 817 1741

Ars Polona 00-950 Warszawa Krakowskie Przedmieście 7 Tel. (22) 264760 Telefax (22) 268673

Livrana Portugal Rua do Carmo 70-74 Apart. 2681 Tel. (01) 347 49 82/5 1200 Lisbon

**PORTUGAL** 

Telefax (01) 347 02.64

SINGAPORE - SINGAPOUR Gower Asia Pacific Pte Ltd. Golden Wheel Building 41 Kallang Pudding Road, No. 04-03 Singapore 1334 Tel. 741.5166 Telefax 742.9356

SPAIN - ESPAGNE Mundi-Prensa Libros S.A. Castelló 37 Apertado 1223 Madrid 28001 Tel (91) 431.33 99 Telefax (91) 575 39 98

Mundi-Prensa Barcelona Consell de Cent No. 391 08009 - Barcelona Tel. (93) 488.34 92 Telefax (93) 487 76.59

Llibrena de la Generalitat Palau Moja Rambia dels Estudis, 118 08002 - Burcelona

(Subscripcions) Tel. (93) 318 80 12 (Publicacions) Tel. (93) 302 67.23

Telefax (93) 412 18.54

SRI LANKA Centre for Policy Research c/o Colombo Agencies Ltd. No. 300-304, Galle Road

Colombo 3 Tel. (1) 574240, 573551 2 Telefax (1) 575394 510711

SWEDEN - SUÈDE CE Fritzes AB

Tel (08) 690 90 90 Telefax (08) 20.50 21

Subscription Agency/Agence d abonnements Wennergren-Williams Info AB PO Box 1305

Tel. (08) 705 97.50 171 25 Solma Telefax (08) 27 00 71

**SWITZERLAND - SUISSE** Maditec S.A. (Books and Periodicals Livres et pénodiques)

Chemin des Palettes 4 Case postale 266 1020 Renens VD 1 Tel. (021) 635 08 65 Telefax (021) 635 07 80

Librame Payot S.A. 4, place Pépmet CP 3212

Tel. (021) 320.25 11 Telefax (021) 320.25 14

Libraine Unilivres 6 rue de Candolle 1205 Genève

Tel (022) 320 26 23 Telefax (022) 329 73 18

Subscription Agency/Agence d abonnements Dynapresse Marketing S A 38 avenue Vibert

Tel (022) 308 07 89 1227 Carouge Telefax (022) 308 07 99

See also - Voir aussi OECD Publications and Information Centre August Bebel-Alice 6 D-53175 Bonn (Germany) Tel (0228) 959 120

Telefax (0228) 959 12 17

THAILAND - THAILANDE Suksit Siam Co Ltd. 113 115 Fuang Nakhon Rd.

Opp Wat Rajbopith

Bangkok 10200 Tel. (662) 225 9531 2 Telefax (662) 222 5188

TUNISIA – TUNISIE Grande Libraine Spécialisée Fendra Alı

Avenue Haffouz Imm El Intilaka Bloc B 1 Sfax 3000 Tel (216-4) 296 855 Telefax (216-4) 298 270

TURKEY - TURQUIE Kültür Yayınları İs Türk Ltd. Stı Atatürk Bulvarı No 191 Kat 13

Telefax (312) 417 24 90

Dolmabahce Cad. No 29 Resilitas/Istanhul Tel (212) 260 7188

UNITED KINGDOM - ROYAUME-UNI HMSO

Gen. enquines Tel (171) 873 8242 Postal orders only PO Box 276 London SW8 5DT Personal Callers HMSO Bookshop 49 High Holborn, London WCIV 6HB

Telefax (171) 873 8416 Branches at. Belfast, Birmingham, Bristol Edinburgh, Manchester

UNITED STATES - ÉTATS-UNIS OECD Publications and Information Center

2001 L Street N W Suite 650 Washington, D.C. 20036-4922 Tel (202) 785 6323 Telefax (202) 785 0350

Subscriptions to OECD periodicals may also be placed through mam subscription agencies

Les abonnements aux publications périodiques de 1 OCDE peuvent être souscrits auprès des principales agences d abonnement.

Orders and inquiries from countries where Distributors have not yet been appointed should be sent to OECD Publications Service 2, rue Andre Pascal 75775 Paris Cedex 16 France

Les commandes provenant de pays ou l'OCDE n a pas encore désigné de distributeur peuvent etre adressées à OCDE, Service des Publications 2, rue André-Pascal 75775 Paris Cedex 16 France

# NUCLEAR LAW Bulletin

**SUPPLEMENT TO No. 57** 

# Russian Federation

Federal Law on the Use of Atomic Energy (20 October 1995)

# Switzerland

Radiological Protection Act (22 March 1991) Radiological Protection Ordinance (22 June 1994)

June 1996

NUCLEAR ENERGY AGENCY
ORGANISATION FOR ECONOMIC CO-OPERATION AND DEVELOPMENT

# ORGANISATION FOR ECONOMIC CO-OPERATION AND DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to Article 1 of the Convention signed in Paris on 14th December 1960, and which came into force on 30th September 1961, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) shall promote policies designed:

- to achieve the highest sustainable economic growth and employment and a rising standard of living in Member countries, while maintaining financial stability, and thus to contribute to the development of the world economy;
- to contribute to sound economic expansion in Member as well as non-member countries in the process of economic development; and
- to contribute to the expansion of world trade on a multilateral, non-discriminatory basis in accordance with international obligations.

The original Member countries of the OECD are Austria, Belgium, Canada, Denmark, France, Germany, Greece, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, the United Kingdom and the United States. The following countries became Members subsequently through accession at the dates indicated hereafter: Japan (28th April 1964), Finland (28th January 1969), Australia (7th June 1971), New Zealand (29th May 1973), Mexico (18th May 1994), the Czech Republic (21st December 1995) and Hungary (7th May 1996). The Commission of the European Communities takes part in the work of the OECD (Article 13 of the OECD Convention).

#### **NUCLEAR ENERGY AGENCY**

The OECD Nuclear Energy Agency (NEA) was established on 1st February 1958 under the name of the OEEC European Nuclear Energy Agency. It received its present designation on 20th April 1972, when Japan became its first non-European full Member. NEA membership today consists of all European Member countries of OECD as well as Australia, Canada, Japan, Republic of Korea, Mexico and the United States. The Commission of the European Communities takes part in the work of the Agency.

The primary objective of NEA is to promote co-operation among the governments of its participating countries in furthering the development of nuclear power as a safe, environmentally acceptable and economic energy source.

This is achieved by:

- encouraging harmonization of national regulatory policies and practices, with particular reference to the safety of nuclear installations, protection of man against ionising radiation and preservation of the environment, radioactive waste management, and nuclear third party liability and insurance;
- assessing the contribution of nuclear power to the overall energy supply by keeping under review the technical and economic aspects of nuclear power growth and forecasting demand and supply for the different phases of the nuclear fuel cycle;
- developing exchanges of scientific and technical information particularly through participation in common services;
- setting up international research and development programmes and joint undertakings.

In these and related tasks, NEA works in close collaboration with the International Atomic Energy Agency in Vienna, with which it has concluded a Co-operation Agreement, as well as with other international organisations in the nuclear field.

#### **LEGAL NOTICE**

The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development assumes no liability concerning information published in this bulletin.

© OECD 1996
Applications for permission to reproduce or translate all or part of this publication should be made to:
Head of Publications Service, OECD
2, rue André-Pascal, 75775 PARIS CEDEX 16, France.

# **Russian Federation**

## FEDERAL LAW ON THE USE OF ATOMIC ENERGY\*

(Adopted by the State Duma on 20 October 1995)

The present Federal Law defines the legal basis and the principles of the regulation of relations arising in the use of atomic energy, is aimed at safeguarding human health and life and protecting the environment, protecting property in the use of atomic energy and technology, is called upon to promote the development of nuclear science and technology, and to contribute to the strengthening of international procedures for the safe use of atomic energy.

#### CHAPTER I

#### General Provisions

# Article 1. Legislative, Legal and Other Acts of the Russian Federation in the Sphere of the Use of Atomic Energy

Matters arising in the peaceful and defensive uses of atomic energy are regulated by the present Law and by other laws and legal instruments of the Russian Federation. Activity connected with the development, manufacture, testing, operation and use of nuclear weapons and nuclear power plants for military purposes is carried out in on the basis of other Federal laws and does not fall within the scope of this Federal Law.

## Article 2. Principles and Aims of Legal Regulation in the Sphere of the Use of Atomic Energy

The main principles of legal regulation in the sphere of the use of atomic energy are:

- the ensuring of safety in the use of atomic energy protection of the individual, the population and the environment against radiation hazard;
- accessibility of information connected with the use of atomic energy, provided that such information does not contain anything that is a State secret;
- the participation of citizens, commercial and non-commercial organisations (hereinafter organisations), and other corporate bodies in the discussion of State policy, drafts of Federal laws and other legal instruments of the Russian Federation, and also in practical activity relating to the use of atomic energy;

Unofficial translation prepared by the Secretariat.

- compensation for damage caused by radiation; provision of social and economic compensation
  for the adverse health effects of radiation and the additional risk factors for workers in plants
  using atomic energy; and,
- the guaranteeing of social protection for those who live and (or) work in areas where such plants are situated.

The main aims of the legal regulation of relations arising in the carrying out of all forms of activity in the sphere of the use of atomic energy are:

- establishment of the legal framework for the system of State control over the use of atomic energy and the system for regulation by the State of safety in the use of atomic energy;
- enactment of the rights, obligations and responsibilities of State authorities, local government bodies, organisations and other corporate bodies and citizens.

#### Article 3. Scope of this Federal Law

The present Federal Law applies to the following:

- nuclear installations: plants, structures and systems having nuclear reactors including nuclear
  power plants, ships and other floating objects, space ships and aircraft, other means of transport
  and transportable devices; plants, structures and systems having industrial, experimental and
  research reactors, critical and sub-critical nuclear testing units;
- plants, structures, systems, test grounds, installations and devices with nuclear charges for peaceful purposes; other plants, structures, systems and installations containing nuclear materials for the manufacture, use, processing, transportation and storage of nuclear fuel and nuclear materials;
- radiation sources: systems, installations, apparatus, equipment and components that, not being a part of nuclear installations, contain radioactive substances or give rise to ionizing radiation;
- storage facilities for nuclear materials and radioactive substances, repositories (hereinafter –
  storage facilities) for radioactive waste: stationary objects and structures not in the category of
  nuclear installations or radiation sources that are designated for the storage of nuclear materials
  and radioactive substances and the storage or disposal of radioactive waste;
- nuclear materials: materials containing or capable of generating fissile nuclear substances;
- radioactive substances: substances that, while not in the category of nuclear materials, emit ionizing radiation;
- radioactive waste: nuclear materials and radioactive substances, the further use of which is not envisaged.

The allocation of the objects specified to the categories enumerated is decided by the operating organisation and recorded in an appropriate document in the manner laid down by the Federal authorities for the regulation of safety in the use of atomic energy (hereinafter – the State safety regulatory authorities).

The operation of this Federal Law shall not extend to objects containing or using nuclear materials and radioactive substances in amounts and possessing an activity (and/or emitting ionizing radiation at an intensity or strength) below the levels laid down by Federal rules and regulations on the use of atomic energy as requiring a permit for their use from the State safety regulatory authorities.

# Article 4. Forms of Activity in the Sphere of the Use of Atomic Energy

The present Federal Law applies to the following forms of activity in the sphere of the use of atomic energy:

- the siting, design, construction, operation and decommissioning of nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities;
- the development, production, testing, conveyance, storage and use of nuclear charges for peaceful purposes, and their handling;
- the handling of nuclear materials and radioactive substances, including prospecting for and mining minerals containing these materials and substances, and the production, use, processing, conveyance and storage of nuclear materials and radioactive substances;
- the ensuring of safety in the use of atomic energy;
- monitoring nuclear, radiation, technical and fire safety precautions (hereinafter safety) for nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities, and monitoring the health of citizens in the use of atomic energy;
- the conduct of scientific research in all spheres of the use of atomic energy;
- the physical protection of nuclear installations, radiation sources, storage facilities, nuclear materials and radioactive substances;
- the recording and monitoring of nuclear materials and radioactive substances;
- the exportation and importation of nuclear installations, equipment, technology, nuclear materials, radioactive substances, special non-nuclear materials and services in the sphere of the use of atomic energy;
- State monitoring of the radiation situation in the territory of the Russian Federation;

- the training of specialists in the use of nuclear installations, radiation sources, storage facilities, nuclear materials and radioactive substances;
- the carrying out of other activity in the sphere of the use of atomic energy.

# Article 5. Ownership of Nuclear Installations, Radiation Sources, Storage Facilities, Nuclear Materials and Radioactive Substances

The following shall be Federal property:

- all nuclear materials:
- radioactive waste containing nuclear materials;
- nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities for defensive purposes.

Nuclear installations and storage facilities not for defensive purposes shall be Federal property unless otherwise provided by legislation.

Radiation sources and also radioactive substances that are not for defensive purposes and radioactive waste not containing nuclear materials may be either Federal property, or the property of the subject members of the Russian Federation, or municipal property, in the manner laid down by law. Ownership of the said objects shall be given legal expression in a certificate issued by the Government of the Russian Federation in the manner laid down by it.

The handing over of nuclear materials that are Federal property shall be permitted only for use by corporate bodies in possession of permits (licences) issued by the State safety regulatory authorities entitling them to conduct operations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy, and on the basis of agreements drawn up by a specially empowered State body.

The owners of nuclear installations, radiation sources, storage facilities, nuclear materials, radioactive substances and radioactive waste shall monitor their state of preservation and their proper handling in accordance with this Federal Law and other legal instruments of the Russian Federation.

#### Article 6. Federal Rules and Regulations in the Sphere of the Use of Atomic Energy

Federal rules and regulations (hereinafter - rules and regulations) in the sphere of the use of atomic energy shall lay down the safety criteria, compliance with which is obligatory in the conduct of any type of activity in the sphere of the use of atomic energy. A schedule of the Federal rules and regulations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy, and also amendments and additions to that schedule shall be approved by the Government of the Russian Federation.

The rules and regulations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy shall be drafted and approved in the manner laid down by the Government of the Russian Federation.

The procedure for the drafting and approval of rules and regulations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy must provide for prior publication of the said draft rules and regulations in an official

printed organ, and provision must be made for their discussion, with the exception of rules and regulations that are State secrets.

These rules and regulations must take into account the recommendations of the international organisations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy in whose work the Russian Federation participates.

The rules and regulations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy shall be published in an official printed organ, with the exception of rules and regulations that are State secrets.

After the rules and regulations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy come into force they shall be binding on all persons who carry out activity in the sphere of the use of atomic energy and shall be in force throughout the territory of the Russian Federation.

#### **CHAPTER II**

The Competence of the President of the Russian Federation,
the Government of the Russian Federation,
the Authorities of the Russian Federation,
the Authorities of the Subject Members of the Russian Federation,
and Local Government Bodies in the Sphere of the Use of Atomic Energy

# Article 7. Powers of the President of the Russian Federation in the Sphere of the Use of Atomic Energy

In the sphere of the use of atomic energy the President of the Russian Federation:

- determines the main lines of State policy in the sphere of the use of atomic energy;
- takes decisions on matters of safety in the use of atomic energy;
- takes decisions on matters concerned with the prevention of states of emergency in the use of atomic energy and on dealing with their consequences.

# Article 8. The Powers of the Federal Assembly of the Russian Federation in the Sphere of the Use of Atomic Energy

In the sphere of the use of atomic energy the Federal Assembly of the Russian Federation:

- adopts Federal laws in the sphere of the use of atomic energy;
- approves special Federal programmes in the sphere of the use of atomic energy;
- approves financial appropriations in the Federal budget for the financing of activity in the sphere of the use of atomic energy;

- approves financial appropriations for measures to deal with the effects of states of emergency arising from the use of atomic energy;
- gives parliamentary hearings to matters concerning the use of atomic energy.

# Article 9. The Powers of the Government of the Russian Federation in the Sphere of the Use of Atomic Energy

In the sphere of the use of atomic energy the Government of the Russian Federation:

- promulgates Federal laws, enforceable edicts of the President of the Russian Federation, decrees and regulations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy on the basis of and in furtherance of the Constitution of the Russian Federation;
- arranges for the drafting and provides for the carrying out of special Federal programmes in the sphere of the use of atomic energy;
- determines the functions, procedures, rights and duties of the bodies responsible for management
  of the use of atomic energy and the State safety regulatory authorities in accordance with the
  legislation of the Russian Federation;
- manages nuclear materials, nuclear installations, radiation sources, storage facilities and radioactive substances that are Federal property;
- takes decisions on the design, construction, operation and decommissioning of nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities that are Federal property or of Federal or inter-regional importance, including those located in administrative areas to which access is restricted;
- takes decisions on the development and production of nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities for defensive purposes;
- takes measures for the social protection of citizens, ensures the payment of social and economic compensation for the adverse effects of ionizing radiation and other risk factors for the workers of plants that use atomic energy;
- ensures the payment of compensation for damage from radiation exposure pursuant to Article 57 of this Federal Law;
- establishes the procedure for the exportation and importation of nuclear installations, equipment, technology, nuclear materials, radioactive substances, special non-nuclear materials and services in the sphere of the use of atomic energy;
- decides matters of the importation of spent nuclear fuel into the Russian Federation for its reprocessing, including the technological process of temporary storage before its reprocessing, in accordance with the law:

- ensures the physical protection of nuclear materials, as well as of nuclear installations, radiation sources, storage facilities and radioactive substances that are Federal property;
- monitors fulfilment of the undertakings of the Russian Federation under the international agreements of the Russian Federation in the sphere of the use of atomic energy;
- coordinates the international co-operation of the Russian Federation in the sphere of the use of atomic energy;
- exercises other powers entrusted to it by the Constitution of the Russian Federation, Federal laws and edicts of the President of the Russian Federation.

# Article 10. Activities Jointly Undertaken by the Authorities of the Russian Federation and the Authorities of Subject Members of the Russian Federation in the Sphere of the Use of Atomic Energy

The authorities of the Russian Federation and the authorities of subject members of the Russian Federation:

- adopt decisions on the siting of nuclear installations for defensive purposes that are Federal
  property or of Federal or inter-regional importance, radiation sources and storage facilities in the
  manner laid down by the legislation of the Russian Federation;
- carry out State environmental assessment of planning documents and other documents in the sphere of the use of atomic energy in the manner laid down by the legislation of the Russian Federation;
- ensure that the rights of citizens are safeguarded in the use of atomic energy;
- ensure safety and environmental protection in the use of atomic energy;
- carry out measures to deal with the effects of accidents in the use of atomic energy;
- carry out activity concerning the training of specialists in the sphere of the use of atomic energy, including specialist training involving the use of nuclear installations, radiation sources, nuclear materials and radioactive substances;
- draft and carry out comprehensive programmes for the social and economic development and environmental safety of territories in which plants that make use of atomic energy are located.

# Article 11. Powers of the Authorities of the Subject Members of the Russian Federation in the Sphere of the Use of Atomic Energy

In the sphere of the use of atomic energy the authorities of subject members of the Russian Federation:

- exercise powers of ownership over radiation sources, storage facilities and radioactive substances that are the property of subject members of the Russian Federation;
- carry out measures in the territories under their jurisdiction to ensure the safety of nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities within the limits laid down by the legislation of the Russian Federation;
- draft, in the light of Federal programmes in the sphere of the use of atomic energy corresponding Republican and regional (territorial) programmes;
- lay down the procedure for discussion of matters relating to the use of atomic energy and organize such discussion with the participation of organisations, public organisations (associations) and citizens;
- lay down the decision-taking procedure and take decisions on the siting and construction in the
  territory under their jurisdiction of nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities
  that are the property of subject members of the Russian Federation, and on their
  decommissioning, as well as on the subsequent storage of the radioactive waste;
- deal with matters concerning the provision of protection for citizens and the environment against radiation exposure exceeding the exposure limits laid down by the rules and regulations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy;
- monitor measures to ensure the radiation safety of the population and protect the environment in
  the territory under their jurisdiction, and the preparedness of enterprises, organisations and
  citizens to act in the eventuality of an accident in a plant concerned with the use of atomic
  energy;
- record and monitor radioactive substances in the territory under their jurisdiction within the framework of the State system for the recording and monitoring of radioactive substances;
- ensure the physical protection of nuclear materials, as well as of nuclear installations, radiation sources, storage facilities and radioactive substances that are the property of subject members of the Russian Federation;
- decide other matters in the sphere of the use of atomic energy within the limits of the competence defined by the legislation of the Russian Federation.

### Article 12. The Competence of Local Authorities in the Sphere of the Use of Atomic Energy

Local authorities carry out the following activities:

 participation in the discussion and decision of matters concerning the siting in the territory under their jurisdiction of nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities;

- the taking of decisions on the siting and construction of radiation sources of local importance in the territory under their jurisdiction;
- participation in the expert environmental assessment of plans for plants concerned with the use of atomic energy, projected nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities in the territory under their jurisdiction;
- making land available for the siting of nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities in the territory under their jurisdiction in accordance with the legislation of the Russian Federation:
- provision of information to the population through the mass media on the radiation situation in the territory under their jurisdiction;
- the drafting and adoption of measures for the protection of citizens and their personal property, the lessening of damage and restoration of the normal functioning of organisations in the event of an accident occurring in plants concerned with the use of atomic energy, and prompt provision to the population of information on the risk of radiation exposure, and levels of radioactive contamination of the environment and of agricultural produce.

#### **CHAPTER III**

The Rights of Organisations, Including Public Organisations (Associations) and Citizens in the Sphere of the Use of Atomic Energy

# Article 13. The Rights of Organisations, Including Public Organisations (Associations) and Citizens to Obtain Information in the Sphere of the Use of Atomic Energy

Organisations, including public organisations (associations), and citizens have the right to request and receive information in the manner laid down by the legislation of the Russian Federation from the appropriate authorities and organisations, within their competence, on the safety of nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities that are projected, in the planning stage, under construction, in use and being decommissioned, except such information as constitutes a State secret.

Citizens have the right to obtain information on the radiation situation in a given region free of charge from organisations of the State system for monitoring the radiation situation in the territory of the Russian Federation.

Citizens who have been irradiated have the right to obtain a document on the radiation dose received. The procedure for obtaining such a document and the form that it takes are laid down by the Federal health authorities.

Officials of organisations, including public organisations (associations) and the mass media shall be liable in accordance with the legislation of the Russian Federation for refusal to supply information, and for the wilful distortion or concealment of objective data on matters relating to safety in the use of atomic energy.

Citizens of the Russian Federation have the right to visit nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities for the purpose of informing themselves. The procedure for visiting plants concerned with the use of atomic energy is laid down by the Government of the Russian Federation.

# Article 14. The Rights of Organisations, Including Public Organisations, and Citizens to Take Part in the Shaping of Policy in the Sphere of the Use of Atomic Energy

Organisations, including public organisations, and citizens have the right to take part in the discussion of draft legislation and programmes in the sphere of the use of atomic energy, as well as in the discussion of matters connected with the siting, planning, construction, operation and decommissioning of nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities.

The authorities of the subject members of the Russian Federation and local government bodies in whose territory it is proposed to site nuclear installations, radiation sources or storage facilities are obliged, within the limits of their competence, to organize discussion of matters relating to the siting, planning and construction of plants concerned with the use of atomic energy, with the participation of organisations, including public organisations (associations), and citizens.

In accordance with the results of such discussion, the authorities and local government bodies concerned take decisions, which must be published in an official printed publication. Formal legal objections to these decisions may be lodged within the three months following their adoption by any corporate body or individual whose legal rights and interests may have been prejudiced.

Organisations, including public organisations (associations) are entitled to recommend their representatives to take part in the expert assessment of nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities in the stage of siting, planning, construction, operation and decommissioning.

# Article 15. The Right of Citizens to Compensation for Loss and Damage Caused by Radiation Exposure in the Use of Atomic Energy

Citizens who have suffered loss and damage as a result of radiation exposure in connection with the use of atomic energy are entitled to full compensation thereof in accordance with Articles 53-60 of this Federal Law and other legal instruments of the Russian Federation.

# Article 16. The Rights of the Workers of Plants Using Atomic Energy to Social and Economic Compensation

The workers of nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities, persons sent on mission to them, and workers engaged on any other work with nuclear materials and radioactive substances have the right to social and economic compensation for the adverse effect of ionizing radiation on health and for the additional risk factors. The right to social and economic compensation (including medical and health care) for the adverse effect of ionizing radiation on health is also enjoyed by persons previously employed in plants concerned with the use of atomic energy. The types and amount of the compensation for the adverse effect of ionizing radiation on health and for the additional risk factors, and also the sources from which this compensation is financed are laid down by the legislation of the Russian Federation.

The procedure for the provision of this compensation is laid down by the Government of the Russian Federation.

# Article 17. Measures for the Social Protection of Citizens in the Locality of Nuclear Installations, Radiation Sources and Storage Facilities

Citizens living and working or on military service in the observation zones of nuclear installations, radiation sources or storage facilities are entitled to social and economic compensation for the additional risk factors or for the special conditions of living and working or of carrying out military service.

The types and amounts of the compensation and of social welfare provisions are laid down by Federal legislation in relation to the type and safety characteristics of the plant concerned with the use of atomic energy.

The procedure for the awarding of compensation and the social welfare provision are laid down by the Government of the Russian Federation.

# Article 18. Insurance of Citizens of the Russian Federation Against Radiation Risk in the Use of Atomic Energy

The workers of nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities, persons sent on mission to them, and also citizens living and working or on military service in the observation zone of nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities, shall have compulsory free insurance against radiation risk, the cost to be borne by the owners or proprietors (users) of the plant concerned with the use of atomic energy.

Citizens of the Russian Federation are entitled to take out voluntary insurance of the person and property against radiation risk. Payment of the premiums for this type of insurance is effected separately from payment of the premiums for State social insurance and social security.

The procedure and conditions for insurance of the person and property against radiation risk are determined by the legislation of the Russian Federation.

# Article 19. Civil Rights Regarding the Carrying Out of Medical Procedures Involving the Use of Ionizing Radiation

When requested by the patient, full information shall be given on the size of the dose planned and actually received in investigation or treatment.

The right to decide on the use of ionizing radiation or radioactive substances in carrying out medical procedures is left to the patient or his legal representative.

#### CHAPTER IV

## **State Control of the Use of Atomic Energy**

#### Article 20. Federal Bodies Controlling the Use of Atomic Energy

State control of the use of atomic energy is effected by Federal bodies specially empowered for that purpose by the President of the Russian Federation or by the Government of the Russian Federation acting on his instructions (hereinafter the atomic energy control bodies) in the manner laid down by the present Federal Law, and by other laws and legal instruments of the Russian Federation.

In accordance with their Statutes, the powers of these control bodies include:

- implementation of State scientific, technical, investment and structural policy in the sphere of the use of atomic energy;
- formulating and carrying out safety measures for the use of atomic energy in the organisations that they administer;
- drafting rules and regulations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy;
- providing protection against fire for plants concerned with the use of atomic energy and monitoring compliance with the fire regulations;
- ensuring the physical protection of nuclear installations, radiation sources, storage facilities, nuclear materials and radioactive substances;
- arranging for manpower and resources to be ready to take action should emergency situations
  occur in plants using atomic energy and conducting State monitoring of the carrying out of
  preventive measures;
- participation in the organisation and implementation of the certification of equipment, components and technological processes for nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities;
- ensuring State monitoring of compliance with the requirements of State standards and regulations for metrological examination and certification in the sphere of the use of atomic energy;
- ensuring State monitoring of the radiation situation in the territory of the Russian Federation;
- ensuring State recording and monitoring of nuclear materials and radioactive substances;
- ensuring State monitoring of the technical safety of ships and other floating structures that have nuclear installations and radiation sources;

- ensuring the formulation and carrying out of programmes for the handling of radioactive waste;
- carrying out other duties pursuant to the Statutes on atomic energy control bodies.

### Article 21. State Monitoring of the Radiation Situation in the Territory of the Russian Federation

State monitoring of the radiation situation is carried out in the territory of the Russian Federation for the timely detection of changes in the radiation situation, for assessment, for the prediction and prevention of possible adverse radiation effects on the population and the environment, and also for the systematic provision of prompt and relevant information to the State authorities, the atomic energy control bodies, the State atomic safety regulatory authorities and organisations with a view to adoption of the measures needed to prevent or reduce radiation exposure.

The Government of the Russian Federation determines how the State system for monitoring the radiation situation in the territory of the Russian Federation is organized and operates, and defines the powers of the agencies that carry out the monitoring.

# Article 22. State Recording and Monitoring of Nuclear Materials, Radioactive Substances and Radioactive Waste

Nuclear materials are subject to recording and monitoring at the Federal and departmental levels under the system for the State recording and monitoring of nuclear materials, while radioactive substances and radioactive waste are subject to monitoring at the Federal, regional and departmental levels to determine the actual amounts of such materials and substances in the localities where they are found, to prevent loss, unauthorized use or misappropriation and to provide the State authorities and control bodies for the use and safety of atomic energy with information on the presence and movement of nuclear materials, radioactive substances and radioactive waste, and also on their exportation and importation.

The Government of the Russian Federation determines how the State system for the recording and monitoring of nuclear materials and the State system for the recording and monitoring of radioactive substances and radioactive waste are organized and designates the bodies that carry out the State recording and monitoring of nuclear materials and the State recording and monitoring of radioactive substances and radioactive waste.

#### CHAPTER V

#### Regulation of Safety Aspects in the Use of Atomic Energy

### Article 23. State Regulation of Safety Aspects in the Use of Atomic Energy

State regulation of safety aspects in the use of atomic energy is the activity of Federal executive agencies duly empowered by the President of the Russian Federation or by Government of the Russian Federation action on his instructions for the purpose of organizing the drafting, adoption and

putting into practice of rules and regulations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy, the issuing of permits (licences) to carry out activity connected with the use of atomic energy, monitoring safety and carrying out expert assessments and inspections, and monitoring the development and application of measures to protect the workers of plants concerned with the use of atomic energy, the population and the environment in the event of an accident in the use of atomic energy.

# Article 24. Federal Executive Agencies Carrying Out State Regulation of Safety in the Use of Atomic Energy

State regulation of safety in the use of atomic energy is carried out by duly empowered Federal executive agencies - State safety regulation authorities - that regulate nuclear, radiation and technical safety and fire precautions. These authorities are independent of other State bodies and also of organisations whose activity is concerned with the use of atomic energy.

The types of regulatory activity regarding nuclear, radiation and technical safety and fire precautions, and demarcation of the powers, rights and duties of the agencies concerned, as well as the powers of officials, are set out in the Statutes relating to the State safety regulatory agencies.

The activity of the State safety regulatory authorities is financed from the Federal budget.

### Article 25. Powers of the State Safety Regulatory Authorities

The State authorities for the regulation of safety have the following powers within the limits of their competence:

- to submit, for the consideration of bodies with the power to initiate legislation, proposals on the drafting of legislation on matters relating to ensuring safety in the use of atomic energy;
- to draft, approve and bring into force rules and regulations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy in accordance with this Federal Law and the legislation of the Russian Federation;
- to grant licences for activity in the sphere of the use of atomic energy for the purpose of ensuring safety;
- to monitor compliance with rules and regulations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy, and the operating conditions of permits (licences) to carry out work in the sphere of the use of atomic energy;
- to carry out inspections on nuclear, radiation and technical safety, and on fire precautions;
- to inspect the physical protection of nuclear installations, radiation sources, storage facilities, nuclear materials and radioactive substances, and to inspect systems for the unified State recording and monitoring of nuclear materials and radioactive substances;
- to carry out expert assessments of the safety of nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities, including assessments in conjunction with independent specialists;

- to carry out inspections associated with the performance of their functions;
- to participate in the organisation and carrying out of activities on the certification of equipment, components and production processes for nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities;
- to monitor environmental protection and the use of natural resources in the use of atomic energy;
- to monitor the use of material and monetary resources earmarked for activity in the sphere of the regulation of nuclear, radiation and technical safety and fire precautions;
- to monitor compliance with the international undertakings of the Russian Federation relating to safety in the use of atomic energy;
- to apply administrative pressure in the manner laid down by the legislation of the Russian Federation.

#### Article 26. Permits (Licences) to Carry Out Activities in the Sphere of the Use of Atomic Energy

In this Federal Law, a permit (licence) granting the right to carry out activities in the sphere of the use of atomic energy is understood to mean an official document confirming the right to carry out a specified type of activity provided that the safety of the plant concerned with the use of atomic energy and of the activities carried out is ensured.

Permits (licences) to carry out operations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy are issued by the State safety regulatory authorities. The said permits (licences) are issued to operating organisations, and also to organisations that carry out activities and provide services in the sphere of the use of atomic energy.

The permit (licence) must indicate the holder of the permit (licence), the requirements and conditions necessary to ensure operational safety, and the period for which the permit (licence) is in force.

A schedule of the types of activity in the sphere of the use of atomic energy that require that a permit (licence) be obtained, and the procedures for the granting and revoking of such permits (licences), shall be established by the Government of the Russian Federation.

The introduction of new rules and regulations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy will not automatically entail the revocation of the permit (licence) to carry out activities in the sphere of the use of atomic energy or an alteration in the period for which it is in force.

No activity of any sort in the sphere of the use of atomic energy that has to be licensed by the State agencies for the regulation of safety may be carried out unless a permit (licence) for it has been obtained.

# Article 27. Permits (Licences) to Carry Out Activities in the Sphere of the Use of Atomic Energy Issued to Workers of Plants Concerned With the Use of Atomic Energy

Certain types of activity connected with the use of atomic energy are carried out by workers of plants concerned with the use of atomic energy possessing permits issued by the State safety regulatory authorities.

The list of the specialists in the workforce who, as a function of the activity they perform, need to obtain a permit conferring the right to carry out activities in the sphere of the use of atomic energy, as well as the qualifications that they are required to possess, is determined by the Government of the Russian Federation. One of the essential conditions for obtaining a permit is the lack of medical contra-indications, including psychophysiological contra-indications.

The list of medical contra-indications and the list of posts to which they apply, as well as the requirements for medical examinations and psychophysiological investigations are determined by the Government of the Russian Federation.

A worker who holds such a permit is liable for any infringement in the work carried out under the legislation of the Russian Federation. Should the conditions of the said licence be infringed, it may be revoked by the State safety regulatory authority that issued it.

#### **CHAPTER VI**

# Siting and Construction of Nuclear Installations, Radiation Sources and Storage Facilities

# Article 28. Decisions on the Siting and Construction of Nuclear Installations, Radiation Sources and Storage Facilities

Decisions on the siting and construction of nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities having relevance to defence that are Federal property, or are of Federal or inter-regional importance, or are located in administrative areas to which access is restricted, are taken by the Government of the Russian Federation.

Decisions on the siting and construction of the said plants are taken jointly by the Government of the Russian Federation and the authorities of subject members of the Russian Federation.

Decisions on the siting and construction of other storage facilities, as well as of radiation sources that are of inter-regional importance are taken by the authorities of the subject members of the Russian Federation in whose territory it is proposed that they be sited and constructed.

Decisions on the siting and construction of other radiation sources are taken by the local government bodies acting on a submission from the operating organisation.

Plots of land and areas underground are allocated for the siting and construction of nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities in the manner and on the conditions laid down by

the land legislation of the Russian Federation, the legislation of the Russian Federation on the subsurface and the laws and other legal instruments of the Russian Federation.

Decisions on the siting and construction of nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities are taken on the basis of the findings of a State expert environmental assessment and in the light of the findings of expert assessments made by public organisations.

Decisions on the siting and construction of nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities are taken in the manner laid down by the Government of the Russian Federation.

# Article 29. Revocation of a Decision on Construction of a Nuclear Installation, Radiation Source or Storage Facility

The State body that has adopted a decision on the construction of a nuclear installation, radiation source or storage facility is obliged to revoke its decision or discontinue or halt the construction should there be found to be additional factors that reduce the safety level of these plants or worsen the state of the natural environment, or that entail other undesirable consequences. Proposals for reconsideration of the decision taken may be adopted by the authorities and local government bodies and by public organisations (associations).

Losses connected with discontinuation or halting of the construction of a nuclear installation, radiation source or storage facility in the event that, during the construction process, additional factors come to light that may reduce the safety level of these plants or worsen the state of the natural environment, or factors entailing other undesirable consequences, shall be legally recoverable from the resources of the organisations responsible for the fact that such factors were not discovered and taken into account in good time.

In all other cases, losses connected with the discontinuation or cessation of the construction of such facilities shall be met from the budgets concerned.

# Article 30. Basic Safety Requirements for the Siting and Construction of Proposed Nuclear Installations, Radiation Sources and Storage Facilities

The siting and construction of nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities must be based on the rules and regulations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy and environmental protection.

The decision on the siting and construction of a nuclear installation, radiation source or storage facility is adopted in the light of:

- the need for them in order to solve economic and defence problems for the Russian Federation and its individual regions;
- the presence of the essential conditions for the siting of the said plants that meet the requirements
  of the rules and regulations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy;

- the lack of any threat to the safety of the nuclear installation, radiation source or storage facility from nearby civil or military objects;
- the possible social and economic consequences of the siting of the above-mentioned plants concerned with the use of atomic energy for the industrial, agricultural, social and cultural development of the region.

Assessment reports on the radiation effect of the nuclear installation, radiation source or storage facility on the environment are submitted along with the other project documentation required for State expert environmental assessment by the appropriate State body controlling the use of atomic energy or by the operating organisation.

### Article 31. Establishment of the Health Protection Zone and the Observation Zone

Special territories – the health-protection zone and the observation zone – shall be established for the purpose of protecting the population of the area where a nuclear installation, radiation source or storage facility is located.

Monitoring of the radiation situation must be carried out in the health-protection zone and the observation zone.

The size and the boundaries of the health-protection zone are determined in the plan of the health-protection zone in conformity with the safety rules and regulations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy, which are agreed with the offices of the health and epidemic inspectorate and approved by the local government bodies.

The siting of dwellings and public buildings, children's establishments, and also health care facilities unconnected with the operation of the nuclear installation, radiation source or storage facility, and of communal catering facilities, industrial plant, outbuildings and other structures and plant for which no provision is made in the approved plan of the health-protection zone is prohibited in the health-protection zone.

The use for economic purposes of existing plant and structures located in the health-protection zone following changes in their scheduled use is permitted at the request of the operating organisation with the approval of the State safety regulatory authorities.

The effect of the measures of social and economic compensation for citizens in respect of additional risk factors, and the effect of the planning measures for dealing with accidents are extended to an observation zone that incorporates a health protection zone.

The need to establish an observation zone, and its size and its boundaries are determined in the plan on the basis of the safety specifications of the plants using atomic energy and are agreed with the offices of the sanitary and epidemic inspectorate.

The offices of the sanitary and epidemic inspectorate may impose restrictions on economic activity in the observation zone in accordance with the legislation of the Russian Federation.

Losses arising from the establishment of a health-protection zone and an observation zone in the vicinity of a nuclear installation, radiation source or storage facility are compensated by the operating organisation in accordance with the legislation of the Russian Federation.

Depending on the safety specifications of the plants concerned, the health-protection zone and the observation zone may be restricted for some plants concerned with the use of atomic energy to the territorial limits of the plant, building or unit.

# Article 32. Operational Acceptance and Commissioning of Nuclear Installations, Radiation Sources and Storage Facilities

Operational acceptance of nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities must cover the production and living facilities for which provision is made in the plans for these plants.

The commissioning of nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities is effected when the operating organisations have permits (licences) issued by the appropriate State authorities for the regulation of safety in their operation.

# Article 33. Decommissioning and Downgrading of the Operational Characteristics of Nuclear Installations, Radiation Sources and Storage Facilities

The procedure and measures for the decommissioning of nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities must be covered by the plan for the plant concerned with the use of atomic energy in accordance with the rules and regulations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy.

The procedure for the financing of operations connected with the decommissioning of nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities is established by the Government of the Russian Federation and must be determined before their commissioning.

Proposals for the decommissioning of nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities before exhaustion of the resource stipulated in the project of the plant concerned with the use of atomic energy, or for downgrading of the planned operational technical and economic indicators may be made by the authorities of the Russian Federation, and also by local government bodies and public organisations (associations) when there are appropriate grounds.

Decisions on the early decommissioning of nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities are taken by the authorities or local government bodies that decided to construct them, or by their successors in title, and are notified to the operating organisation without delay, taking into account the technological and environmental capabilities of the operating organisation.

When the decision on the early decommissioning or downgrading of the operational characteristics of nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities is motivated by other than technical or environmental considerations, losses occasioned by the taking of such a decision shall be compensated by the authorities that took this decision. The decision on compensation for damage (should there be a dispute) is taken by the courts.

#### CHAPTER VII

# The Legal Regime of Organisations Active in the Sphere of the Use of Atomic Energy

# Article 34. An operating organisation active in the sphere of the use of atomic energy

An operating organisation is an organisation created in accordance with the legislation of the Russian Federation and recognized by the appropriate agency regulating the use of atomic energy as fit to operate a nuclear installation, radiation source or storage facility and, on its own or with the involvement of other enterprises and organisations, to carry out activity concerned with the siting, design, construction, commissioning, operation and decommissioning of a nuclear installation, radiation source or storage facility and also activity concerned with the handling of nuclear materials and radioactive substances. In order to carry out these types of activity the operating organisation must have permits (licences) issued by the appropriate State authorities for the regulation of safety entitling it to carry out operations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy.

The operating organisation must have the authority and the financial, material and other resources to carry out its functions.

The operating organisation and the appropriate agencies controlling the use of atomic energy shall jointly create a special fund out of the resources allocated by the budgets at the corresponding levels for the financing of expenditure connected with the decommissioning of the nuclear installation, radiation source or storage facility, and for the financing of scientific research and design and experimental work aimed at providing and increasing the safety of these plants.

The procedure and sources of funding and the procedure for the use of the fund are laid down by the Government of the Russian Federation.

No interference in the activity of an operating organisation concerning the operation of the nuclear installation, radiation source or storage facility is permitted, except in the instances provided for by this Federal Law, and by other laws and legal instruments of the Russian Federation.

# Article 35. The Responsibility and Obligations of an Operating Organisation for Ensuring the Safety of a Nuclear Installation, Radiation Source and Storage Facility

An operating organisation bears full responsibility for the safety of the nuclear installation, radiation source and storage facility and for the appropriate handling of nuclear materials and radioactive substances. In the event that an operating organisation loses its permit (licence) to operate a nuclear installation, radiation source and storage facility, it remains responsible for the safety of the nuclear installation, radiation source or storage facility until the said plants are transferred to another operating organisation or until a new permit (licence) is obtained. In the event that an operating organisation is incapable of ensuring the safety of the said plants, responsibility for safety and appropriate handling will be assumed by the immediately superior atomic energy control body which is obliged to ensure the safety of these plants pending the establishment of a new operating organisation.

The operating organisation plans and carries out measures to maintain the safety of the nuclear installation, radiation source or storage facility, establishing special safety- monitoring services where necessary, and submits information on the safety status of the nuclear installation, radiation source or storage facility to the State authorities for the regulation of safety.

The operating organisation ensures:

- use of the nuclear installation, radiation source and storage facility only for the purposes for which it is intended:
- the organisation and coordination of the drafting and fulfilment of programmes for guaranteeing quality in all stages of the creation, operation and decommissioning of the nuclear installation, radiation source and storage facility;
- the drafting and implementation of measures to prevent accidents in the nuclear installation, radiation source and storage facility and to minimize their adverse consequences for the workers of the said plants, the population and the environment;
- the handling of nuclear materials and radioactive substances and their storage in a manner that is safe for the workers of plants concerned with the use of atomic energy and the population;
- the giving of effect to the rights of the workers of plants concerned with the use of atomic energy to social and economic compensation;
- the recording of the individual radiation doses received by the workers of plants concerned with the use of atomic energy;
- the drafting and carrying out, within the limits of its competence, of measures to protect the
  workers and the population in the case of an accident in the nuclear installation, radiation source
  or storage facility;
- the recording and monitoring of nuclear materials and radioactive substances;
- the physical protection of the nuclear installation, radiation source, storage facility, nuclear materials and radioactive substances;
- the drafting and carrying out of fire precaution measures;
- radiation monitoring in the health-protection zone and in the observation zone;
- selection of the workers of the nuclear installation, radiation source or storage facility, their training and the maintenance of their qualifications and the creation of the productive social amenities needed for them;
- information of the population concerning the radiation situation in the health-protection zone and the observation zone;
- use of other powers laid down in the regulatory legal instruments.

# Article 36. Responsibilities of the Operating Organisation for Protection of the Staff, the Population and the Environment in the Case of an Accident at a Nuclear Installation, Radiation Source or Storage Facility

In the case of an accident at a nuclear installation, radiation source or storage facility involving the release into the environment of radioactive substances in excess of the established limits, the operating organisation is obliged to provide prompt information on the radiation situation to the appropriate authorities, local government bodies and the population of the parts of the territory most at risk, the atomic energy control bodies, the State authorities for safety in the use of atomic energy, the services of the State system for the monitoring of the radiation situation in the territory of the Russian Federation and the Russian system for disaster prevention and action in emergency situations.

In carrying out operations to prevent the development of an accident or to deal with its consequences, the irradiation of workers (including drafted-in workers) above the established dose limits (but not in excess of the potentially dangerous radiation dose specified in the legislation) may be permitted only when there is no possibility of taking other measures that would prevent such increased irradiation, and may be justified only by the saving of people and the prevention of large-scale irradiation, and also by the threat of considerable radioactive contamination of the environment. The administration of the operating organisation is obliged to inform the workers taking part in these operations of the possible risk of irradiation at above the established dose limits and to obtain their voluntary agreement to it, and also the permission of the appropriate health service bodies of the Russian Federation.

The obligations and manner of proceeding of the operating organisation and the manner in which the operating organisation and the authorities, the local government bodies and the atomic energy control bodies co-operate in carrying out planned measures to provide protection for the workers of plants concerned with the use of atomic energy and the population should an accident occur, including an accident in the transportation of nuclear materials and radioactive substances, should be determined in the plans of these measures. The procedure for the preparation and approval of these plans is laid down by the rules and regulations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy.

## Article 37. Organisations Carrying Out Activities and Providing Services for an Operating Organisation

Organisations that carry out scientific research and investigation, the design, construction and decommissioning of nuclear installations, radiation sources or storage facilities, the design and manufacture of equipment for them, and that carry out other activities and provide other services in the sphere of the use of atomic energy, ensure that the activities are carried out and the services are provided in a manner that satisfies both quantitatively and qualitatively the requirements of the rules and regulations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy, and are liable for the quality of the activities carried out and the services provided throughout the whole of the planned service life of the nuclear installation, radiation source or storage facility or of equipment manufactured for them.

The atomic energy control body recommends the organisation responsible for preparation of the project of a nuclear installation or storage facility.

The manager of the organisation (State unitary enterprise) responsible for preparing the project of a nuclear installation or storage facility is designated by a decision of the atomic energy control body on the basis of the powers vested in it by the Government of the Russian Federation.

The equipment, components and production processes for nuclear installations or storage facilities are subject to compulsory certification in accordance with the legislation of the Russian Federation.

When organisations that carry out activities and provide services in the sphere of the use of atomic energy for an operating organisation go out of business, the liability for which provision is made regarding all the forms of activity of such organisations is placed on another organisation recognized by the atomic energy control body concerned.

## Article 38. Labour Relations and Discipline of Workers Whose Activity is Connected with the Use of Atomic Energy

The labour relations and discipline of workers whose activity is connected with the use of atomic energy are governed by the labour legislation of the Russian Federation.

Labour relations and labour discipline for organisations that have an especially hazardous and responsible output are governed both by the labour legislation of the Russian Federation and by disciplinary codes. A list of such organisations is drawn up by the Government of the Russian Federation.

The characteristics of the working conditions and welfare of individual categories of workers in nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities are determined by the Government of the Russian Federation.

#### Article 39. Social Measures on the Site of Nuclear Installations or Storage Facilities

Unauthorized gatherings, meetings, demonstrations and other unauthorized social measures are not permitted in the territory of a nuclear installation or storage facility, nor in their health protection zones.

The organisation and holding of meetings and demonstrations, picketing, the blocking of transport communications and other social measures are prohibited outside the site of nuclear installations and storage facilities, as are strikes, if their result might be to interfere with the working efficiency of the nuclear installations or storage facilities or if the workers of nuclear installations or storage facilities will be hindered in the carrying out of their duties, or if there will be other threats to the safety of the population, the environment, and to the health, rights and legal interests of other persons. Protests against the refusal to allow the said events and their banning are dealt with in the manner laid down by the legislation of the Russian Federation.

Damage caused to the operating organisation as a result of the said events jeopardizing the safe operation of a nuclear installation or storage facility is compensated by the guilty parties and organisations through the courts (when a dispute exists).

#### SECTION VIII

### Special Conditions of the Construction and Operation of Ships and Other Floating Structures Having Nuclear Installations and Radiation Sources

## Article 40. Basic Requirements for Ships and Other Floating Structures Having Nuclear Installations and Radiation Sources

Rules and regulations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy, State standards, the rules and regulations of the Shipping Register and the nature conservancy and other legislation of the Russian Federation must be complied with in the design, construction, operation and decommissioning of ships and other floating structures having nuclear installations and radiation sources.

Confirmation that ships and other floating structures having nuclear installations and radiation sources comply with these requirements must by provided by appropriate documents.

Responsibility for the safety of ships and other floating structures having nuclear installations and radiation sources shall be borne by the main design organisation and the shipbuilding organisation in the construction and commissioning stage, and by the operating organisations after commissioning.

The captain and the members of the crew of ships and other floating structures having nuclear installations and radiation sources must be given special training in the sphere of the use of atomic energy, and must be in possession of the appropriate operating permits issued by the State safety regulatory authorities.

Operation of ships and other floating structures having nuclear installations and radiation sources is allowed when the operating organisations are in possession of appropriate permits.

## Article 41. Entry of Ships and Other Floating Structures Having Nuclear Installations and Radiation Sources Into Ports of the Russian Federation

The list of ports of the Russian Federation that ships and other floating structures having nuclear installations and radiation sources, including those that have been involved in disasters, are permitted to enter is determined by the Government of the Russian Federation by agreement with the offices of the State regulatory authority for safety in the use of atomic energy and the appropriate local authorities.

The procedure for the entry into ports of the Russian Federation of ships and other floating structures having nuclear installations and radiation sources is laid down by enforceable legal instruments and by regulations agreed with the State safety regulatory authorities.

The administrations of ports in the Russian Federation that are open to ships and other floating structures having nuclear installations and radiation sources must have a plan of measures for the protection of the staff of the port and other persons present in the land and water area of the port in case of an accident on such ships and floating structures, and must ensure that it is put into operation when necessary. Responsibility for carrying out the plan of measures for protection of the population

in the area around the port in the case of such accidents rests with the Federal authorities concerned, the authorities of subject members of the Russian Federation and local government bodies.

Ships and other floating structures having nuclear installations and radiation sources that have suffered a disaster may enter any of the listed ports of the Russian Federation only after prior notification of the port administration and the local authorities concerned.

## Article 42. Prevention of Radioactive Contamination of the Environment by Ships and Other Floating Structures Having Nuclear Installations and Radiation Sources

It is prohibited to discharge nuclear materials and radioactive substances in amounts exceeding the limits established by the rules and regulations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy into the waters of oceans, seas, rivers and inland water bodies from ships and other floating structures having nuclear installations and radiation sources. Provision must be made for measures to prevent radioactive contamination of the water when carrying out repairs on the said ships and floating structures, and also after the shutting down of nuclear installations and radiation sources and prior to their decommissioning.

Should radioactive substances escape in amounts exceeding the established limits from ships and other floating structures having nuclear installation and radiation sources, the captains or crew leaders of these ships and floating structures are obliged to take all measures incumbent on them to halt or limit escapes of radioactive substances and their dissemination into the environment and, without delay, to bring the event to the notice of the offices of the State safety regulatory authorities, the State bodies that observe and monitor the radiation situation in the territory of the Russian Federation, and other ships, adjacent built-up areas and ports in the zone of possible radiation effect, and also the appropriate local government bodies.

States situated in the zone of possible radiation effect as a result of a radiation accident on ships and other floating structures having nuclear installations and radiation sources are notified in accordance with the international agreements of the Russian Federation and the legislation of the Russian Federation.

#### SECTION IX

### Special Operating Conditions of Spacecraft and Aircraft Having Nuclear Installations and Radiation Sources

## Article 43. Safety Precautions for Spacecraft and Aircraft Having Nuclear Installations and Radiation Sources

The requirements of the rules and regulations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy, as well as the requirements of environmental protection must be complied with in the design, construction and operation of spacecraft and aircraft having nuclear installations or radiation sources, and also that use the energy of radioactive substances.

Should a malfunction occur on board a spacecraft or an aircraft having a nuclear installation or radiation sources that may lead to the unplanned return of nuclear materials or radioactive substances to the Earth, States concerned are informed and are assisted in case of need in accordance with the international agreements of the Russian Federation and the legislation of the Russian Federation.

Local government bodies and the safety regulatory authorities are informed and help is given to the population in case of need under a procedure determined by the Government of the Russian Federation and the authorities of the subject members of the Russian Federation.

#### SECTION X

## The Handling of Nuclear Materials, Radioactive Substances and Radioactive Waste

## Article 44. State Policy in the Handling of Nuclear Materials, Radioactive Substances and Radioactive Waste

State policy in the sphere of the handling of nuclear materials, radioactive substances and radioactive waste must provide a comprehensive solution to the problems of standardizing their production, formation, use, physical protection, collection, recording and monitoring, transportation and storage.

State policy in the sphere of the handling of nuclear materials, radioactive substances and radioactive waste is determined by the present Federal Law and by other laws on the regulation of activity in the sphere of the handling of nuclear materials, radioactive substances and radioactive waste.

#### Article 45. Transportation of Nuclear Materials and Radioactive Substances

The carriage of nuclear materials and radioactive substances must be effected in accordance with the transport regulations for especially hazardous cargoes, the rules and regulations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy, and the legislation of the Russian Federation in the sphere of environmental protection.

The transport regulations for the carriage of nuclear materials and radioactive substances must set out the rights, obligations and responsibilities of the sender, the carrier and the recipient, the safety measures, the measures for physical protection, and the system of agreed measures for the prevention of transport incidents and accidents in the carriage of nuclear materials and radioactive substances, the requirements concerning packing, marking and transport facilities, and the measures to localize and deal with the consequences of possible accidents in the transportation of the said materials and substances. Regulations for the transportation of nuclear materials and radioactive substances must cover all possible modes of transport.

The carrier of nuclear materials and radioactive substances must have a permit (licence) to carry out activities in the sphere of the use of atomic energy issued by the appropriate State regulatory authority for safety.

## Article 46. Prevention of Possible Transport Incidents and Accidents in the Transportation of Nuclear Materials and Radioactive Substances

In the course of the carriage of nuclear materials and radioactive substances transport organisations, with the participation of the sender and the recipient of the stated products, the operating organisations and, where necessary, the local authorities, the appropriate State safety regulatory authorities, including the offices of the sanitary and epidemic inspectorate, detachments of the Ministry of the Interior and civil defence units, are under the obligation to take measures to prevent transport incidents and accidents and to deal with their consequences, and also to take measures to protect the workers of plants concerned with the use of atomic energy, the population, the environment and stocks of materials and equipment.

The regional accident units of the operating organisations are additionally used to deal with the consequences of accidents in the transportation of nuclear materials and radioactive substances. The procedure for the formation, operation and financing of the regional accident units of operating organisations is laid down by the Government of the Russian Federation.

## Article 47. Storage and Processing of Nuclear Materials, Radioactive Substances and Radioactive Waste

In the storage and processing of nuclear materials, radioactive substances and radioactive waste, reliable protection must be provided for the workers of plants concerned with the use of atomic energy, for the population and for the environment against radioactive exposure and radioactive contamination that is impermissible under the rules and regulations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy. The storage of radioactive waste should be seen as a stage in its preparation for processing or disposal. The processing of spent nuclear fuel for the recovery of valuable components from it must be carried out in accordance with the legislation of the Russian Federation.

#### Article 48. Storage or Disposal of Radioactive Waste

In the storage or disposal of radioactive waste it must be reliably isolated from the environment, and the present generation and future generations and biological resources must be protected against exposure to radiation above the limits laid down by the rules and regulations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy.

The storage or disposal of radioactive waste is permitted only in storage facilities specially designated for that purpose. Provision must be made for storage or disposal of radioactive waste in planning documentation or technical specifications as an essential stage of any nuclear technological cycle. The organisational procedure for the collection and disposal of radioactive waste, and also the bodies carrying out such activity are determined by the Government of the Russian Federation in accordance with the legislation of the Russian Federation.

#### CHAPTER XI

# The Physical Protection of Nuclear Installations, Radiation Sources, Storage Facilities, Nuclear Materials and Radioactive Substances

## Article 49. Provision of Physical Protection for Nuclear Installations, Radiation Sources, Storage Facilities, Nuclear Materials and Radioactive Substances

The physical protection of nuclear installations, radiation sources, storage facilities, nuclear materials and radioactive substances envisages a unified system for the planning, coordination, monitoring and carrying out of a range of technical and organisational measures aimed at:

- preventing unsanctioned access onto the site of nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities, and preventing unsanctioned access to nuclear materials and radioactive substances and their misappropriation or deterioration;
- prompt detection and suppression of any encroachments on the integrity and state of preservation
  of nuclear materials and radioactive substances, and of any diversionary and terrorist acts
  threatening the safety of nuclear installations, radiation sources or storage facilities;
- the discovery and return of lost or stolen nuclear materials and radioactive substances.

Physical protection of nuclear installations, radiation sources, storage facilities, nuclear materials and radioactive substances is provided at all stages in the design, construction, operation and decommissioning of these plants concerned with the use of atomic energy, and also in the handling of nuclear materials and radioactive substances, including protection in the transportation of nuclear materials and radioactive substances.

The physical protection of nuclear installations, radiation sources, storage facilities, nuclear materials and radioactive substances is provided by the operating organisations and by State agencies in the sphere of the use of atomic energy that are specially empowered for the purpose, and by their crews on operational ships and floating structures that have nuclear installations and radiation sources, and on spacecraft and aircraft that have nuclear installations.

The State safety regulatory authorities inspect the provision of physical protection for nuclear installations, radiation sources, storage facilities, nuclear materials and radioactive substances.

Units of the Ministry of the Interior and the security services may be involved in carrying out the functions of providing physical protection.

## Article 50. Requirements for the Provision of Physical Protection for Nuclear Installations, Radiation Sources, Storage Facilities, Nuclear Materials and Radioactive Substances

The requirements for the provision of physical protection for nuclear installations, radiation sources, storage facilities, nuclear materials and radioactive substances are laid down in the safety rules and regulations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy.

The physical protection of nuclear installations, radiation sources, storage facilities, nuclear materials and radioactive substances must be carried out in accordance with the international obligations of the Russian Federation in the sphere of the use of atomic energy.

It is prohibited to operate nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities and also to carry out any operations connected with nuclear materials and radioactive substances in any form and at any stage in preparation, use, processing, transportation or storage unless measures have been taken to comply with the requirements for the physical protection of the said plants concerned with the use of atomic energy.

# Article 51. Restrictions on the Rights of Individuals on the Site of a Nuclear Installation, Radiation Source, Storage Facility, or Organisation Handling Nuclear Materials or Radioactive Substances

In the interests of the ensuring physical protection of a nuclear installation, radiation source, storage facility or organisation handling nuclear materials or radioactive substances on the sites where they are located, the workers of the said plants concerned with the use of atomic energy, and citizens on instructional visits to plants concerned with the use of atomic energy and their possessions and means of transport may be examined, including examination using special equipment.

## Article 52. Admittance to Work in a Nuclear Installation, Radiation Source and Storage Facility, and with Nuclear Materials or Radioactive Substances

Persons who are permitted to work in a nuclear installation, a radiation source and a storage facility, and with nuclear materials and radioactive substances are individuals who satisfy the appropriate qualification requirements, and also individuals who have obtained a permit for the said work connected with the safeguarding of a State secret, in accordance with the requirements for ensuring State security laid down by the legislation of the Russian Federation.

Persons suffering from conditions on the list of medical contra-indications against working in a nuclear installation, radiation source or storage facility, or working with nuclear materials or radioactive substances are not permitted to work.

#### **SECTION XII**

### Liability for Loss and Damage Caused by Radiation Exposure to Corporate Bodies and Individuals and to Health

## Article 53. Liability for Loss and Damage Caused by Radiation Exposure to Corporate Bodies and Individuals and to Health

The operating organisation has civil liability in the manner laid down by the legislation of the Russian Federation for losses caused by radiation exposure to corporate bodies and individuals in the carrying out of operations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy.

Compensation must be given for damage to the life and health of citizens caused by radiation exposure, or by radiation exposure in conjunction with toxic, explosive or other hazardous effects.

If the losses caused by radiation exposure are accompanied by any other damage that cannot reasonably be separated from the losses caused by radiation exposure, such losses shall be compensated on the basis of the present Federal Law.

#### Article 54. The Foundations of Civil Liability for Loss and Damage Caused by Radiation Exposure

In accordance with the present Federal Law, the liability of the operating organisation for loss and damage caused by radiation exposure arises whether or not the operating organisation is at fault.

The operating organisation is relieved of liability for loss and damage caused by radiation exposure arose as a result of force majeure, military operations, armed conflict or by the intention of the sufferer.

Should the operating organisation demonstrate that the radiation damage arose, wholly or in part, as a consequence of the intention or gross negligence of the person who suffered the damage, it shall be relieved, in whole or in part, from the obligation to compensate such a person. The lifting of the liability to compensate loss and damage shall be decided by the courts.

### Article 55. The Types and Limits of Liability for Loss and Damage Caused by Radiation Exposure

The types and limits of the liability of the operating organisation for loss and damage caused by radiation exposure are fixed in relation to the type of plant concerned with the use of atomic energy by the legislation of the Russian Federation.

The upper limit of the liability of the operating organisation for loss and damage caused by radiation exposure for any one incident may not exceed the amount laid down by the international agreements of the Russian Federation.

## Article 56. Financial Provision for Civil Liability for Loss and Damage Caused by Radiation Exposure

The operating organisation is obliged to make financial provision for the maximum liability laid down by Article 55 of the present Federal Law. The financial provision of the operating organisation in the event of the compensation of loss and damage is made up of the State guarantee or other guarantee, the availability of its own financial resources and an insurance policy (agreement).

The existence of documentary proof of the said financial provision is an essential condition for the obtaining by the operating organisation of the permit (licence) issued by the appropriate State safety regulatory authority to operate a nuclear installation, radiation source or storage facility.

The conditions and procedure of civil liability insurance against loss and damage caused by radiation exposure, the procedure and sources for formation of the insurance fund and also the procedure for the paying of social and economic compensation are laid down by law.

Neither the insurer not any other person who has provided a financial guarantee for the said liability in accordance with this article may suspend or terminate the insurance or any other financial guarantee without having given written notice of so doing three months before the suspension or termination of the insurance or any other financial guarantee to the State safety regulatory authority or in the course of transportation of nuclear material and radioactive substances when such insurance or other financial provision affects the transportation of nuclear material and radioactive substances.

## Article 57. State Participation in Compensation of Loss and Damage Caused by Radiation Exposure

The Government of the Russian Federation provides for the payment of compensation for loss and damage that has been caused by radiation exposure and for which the operating organisation is liable, for that part of the liability of the operating organisation that exceeds the upper limit of the liability laid down in article55 of this Federal Law by granting the sums required to make up full compensation for the loss and damage caused, and also in cases for which there is provision in the legislation of the Russian Federation.

#### Article 58. Time Limit for Compensation for Loss and Damage Caused by Radiation Exposure

No time limit exists for compensation for loss and damage caused by radiation exposure to the health and life of citizens. The time limit for claims for compensation of loss and damage to property or the environment caused by radiation exposure is set at three years from the day when the person was aware or should have been aware of the breach of his right.

#### Article 59. Compensation for Environmental Radiation Damage

The operating organisation is responsible for environmental radiation damage under the present Federal Law, the Law of the Russian Federation "On Environmental Protection", laws and other legal instruments of the Russian Federation, and also laws and other legal instruments of the subject members of the Russian Federation.

Claims for compensation of damage are brought against the operating organisation by the authorities and by the corresponding local government bodies and specially empowered State environmental protection agencies.

## Article 60. Compensation of Radiation Damage Suffered in the Carrying Out of Their Duties by the Workers of Nuclear Installations, Radiation Sources and Storage Facilities

Radiation damage affecting the life or health of the workers (including workers drafted in) of nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities and also to the life or health of workers engaged on any other work with nuclear materials and radioactive substances in connection with the carrying out of their duties is compensated in accordance with the legislation of the Russian Federation.

#### **CHAPTER XIII**

### Liability for Breach of the Legislation of the Russian Federation in the Sphere of the Use of Atomic Energy

Article 61. Liability of Officials of Government Departments, Local Government Bodies, Atomic Energy Control Bodies, State Safety Regulatory Authorities, Operating Organisations, Organisations Carrying Out Activities and Performing Services for Operating Organisations, Workers of Nuclear Installations, Radiation Sources and Storage Facilities, Workers of Organisations Carrying Out Other Activity in the Sphere of the Use of Atomic Energy and also of Citizens for Breach of the Legislation of the Russian Federation in the Sphere of the Use of Atomic Energy

Officials of government departments, local government bodies, atomic energy control bodies, State safety regulatory authorities, operating organisations, organisations carrying out activities and performing services for operating organisations, workers of nuclear installations, radiation sources and storage facilities (including workers drafted in), workers of organisations carrying out other activity in the sphere of the use of atomic energy (including workers drafted in) and also citizens who are in breach of the legislation of the Russian Federation in the sphere of the use of atomic energy shall be liable to disciplinary action, administrative action or prosecution in accordance with the legislation of the Russian Federation.

#### Such breaches include:

- breaches of rules and regulations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy;
- breach of the conditions of permits (licences) to carry out activities in the sphere of the use of atomic energy;
- non-fulfilment or improper fulfilment of instructions from the State safety regulatory authority;

- the carrying out of operations in a nuclear installation, radiation source and storage facility, and also the handling of nuclear materials and radioactive substances without a permit (licence);
- issuance by officials employed by the State regulatory authority for safety of permits (licences) and instructions in violation of the established procedure;
- failure to comply with requirements on the siting of a nuclear installation, radiation source and storage facility;
- delivery, assembly and start-up of defective equipment for a nuclear installation, radiation source and storage facility;
- operational acceptance of a nuclear installation, radiation source and storage facility without the construction and start-up of all such plants envisaged in the plan;
- operational acceptance of a nuclear installation, radiation source and storage facility without the
  carrying out of measures to ensure the protection of the workers and drafted-in workers of the
  said plants concerned with the use of atomic energy, and the protection of the population in the
  adjacent areas and of the environment;
- failure to carry out official duties by the workers of a nuclear installation, radiation source and storage facility;
- unauthorized departure by workers from a nuclear installation, radiation source and storage facility while on duty;
- failure by officials listed in the first paragraph of this article to carry out their duties in critical situations that resulted or could have resulted in loss of life, unwarranted irradiation of individuals or radioactive contamination of the environment;
- admission of workers to work in a nuclear installation, radiation source and storage facility when
  not in possession of the necessary documents certifying their qualifications, of workers who have
  medical contra-indications against their employment in the said plants, and also of persons less
  than 18 years of age;
- direct or indirect pressure by the said officials on workers to violate the regulations and instructions on the operation of a nuclear installation, radiation source and storage facility;
- forcibly preventing the said officials and the workers of operating organisations from carrying out their duties;
- dereliction by officials and other workers of the duties set out in the operational plan for the protection of the population and of staff in the event of an accident;
- assignment by officials of workers of plants concerned with the use of atomic energy to radiation
  hazard zones where the basic dose limits and permissible levels of radiation exposure might be
  exceeded, without the consent of the said workers and without having informed them of the

possible levels of radiation, and also in violation of the rules, regulations and instructions intended for these conditions;

- the placing of obstacles in the way of officials of the State safety regulatory authorities carrying out of their duties:
- unwarranted or deliberate release or discharge of radioactive substances into the atmosphere, bodies of water and below ground in excess of the maximum permissible levels;
- concealment of the fact of an accident or infringement of the established procedure for providing
  information on an accident in a nuclear installation, radiation source or storage facility,
  concealment of information concerning the state of radioactive contamination of the environment,
  and also the provision of deliberately false information on the radiation situation of the said
  plants;
- refusal to supply information, and deliberate distortion or concealment of information on matters of safety in the use of atomic energy;
- breach of the requirement to ensure physical protection of a nuclear installation, radiation source, storage facility, nuclear materials and radioactive substances;
- breach of the established procedure for the recording and monitoring of nuclear materials and radioactive substances;
- misappropriation, illegal use, acquisition, storage, transfer, sale or destruction of nuclear materials, radioactive substances and radiation sources, and concealment of information on such acts when they are known to have taken place, to be pending or to have been achieved;
- demanding or compelling specific acts to be carried out (or not carried out) accompanied by the threat of the use of nuclear materials or radioactive substances;
- introduction into economic circulation for consumption and use by the population of products
  radioactively contaminated to above the established limits, or the production and sale of goods
  containing radioactive substances without the permission of the competent health services;
- breach of the established procedure for the exportation and importation of nuclear installations, equipment, production processes, nuclear materials, radioactive substances, special non-nuclear materials and services in the sphere of the use of atomic energy;
- participation in the organisation and carrying out of unauthorized social measures on the site of a nuclear installation, a radiation source or a storage facility;
- organisation and holding of meetings and other measures outside the site of a nuclear installation, radiation source or storage facility if the organisation and carrying out of such social measures may have the result of impairing the efficient operation of the nuclear installation, radiation source or storage facility, or will impede the workers of the said plants in carrying out their duties, or will occasions other threats to the safety of the population and the environment.

The legislation of the Russian Federation may specify other breaches, the commissioning of which will entail liability in accordance with the present article.

#### Article 62. The Administrative Liability of Organisations

Organisations active in the sphere of the use of atomic energy may be administratively fined by the State safety regulatory authorities for breach of the rules and regulations in the sphere of the use of atomic energy, or of the conditions of permits (licences) to carry out activities in the sphere of the use of atomic energy issued by the said safety authorities, if these violations cause, or could have caused damage to human health or to the environment.

The procedure for levying fines and their amounts are determined by the legislation of the Russian Federation.

#### CHAPTER XIV

The Exportation and Importation of Nuclear Installations, Equipment and Production Processes, Nuclear Materials, Radioactive Substances, Special Non-Nuclear Materials and Services in the Sphere of the Use of Atomic Energy

Article 63. Principles Applicable to the Exporting and Importing of Nuclear Installations, Equipment, Production Processes, Nuclear Materials, Radioactive Substances, Special Non-Nuclear Materials and Services in the Sphere of the Use of Atomic Energy

The exporting and importing of nuclear installations, equipment, production processes, nuclear materials, radioactive substances and special non-nuclear materials used for the production of nuclear materials, and also of radiation sources and services in the sphere of the use of atomic energy is conducted in accordance with the international obligations of the Russian Federation on the non-proliferation of nuclear weapons and the international agreements of the Russian Federation in the sphere of the use of atomic energy.

Exporting and importing includes transfer, sale or purchase of nuclear installations, equipment, production processes, nuclear materials, radioactive substances and special non-nuclear materials for commercial purposes and transfers of a non-commercial nature (for display in exhibitions, the carrying out of joint work etc.)

Article 64. Exporting and Importing Procedures for Nuclear Installations, Equipment, Production Processes, Nuclear Materials, Radioactive Substances, Special Non-Nuclear Materials and Services in the Sphere of the Use of Atomic Energy

The exporting and importing of nuclear installations, equipment, production processes, nuclear materials, radioactive substances, special non-nuclear materials and services in the sphere of the use of

atomic energy is conducted in the manner laid down by the legislation and other legal instruments of the Russian Federation.

The exporting and importing of nuclear installations, equipment, production processes, nuclear materials, radioactive substances, special non-nuclear materials and services in the sphere of the use of atomic energy is carried out in accordance with the legislation of the Russian Federation concerning export control on the basis of the granting of permits (licences) to carry out activities in the sphere of the use of atomic energy.

The importing of spent nuclear fuel from foreign countries into the territory of the Russian Federation for processing is conducted in accordance with the legislation of the Russian Federation and the international agreements of the Russian Federation.

#### **CHAPTER XV**

## International Agreements of the Russian Federation in the Sphere of the Use of Atomic Energy

## Article 65. International Agreements of the Russian Federation in the Sphere of the Use of Atomic Energy

If rules other than those for which provision is made by this Federal Law are established by an international agreement of the Russian Federation, the rules of the international agreement shall be applied.

## Article 66. Notification of an Accident in a Nuclear Installation, Radiation Source or Storage Facility

Notification concerning an accident in a nuclear installation, radiation source or storage facility, as a result of which release or discharge of radioactive substances into the environment has occurred and which has led or may lead to the dissemination of radioactive substances across national boundaries, and which may be of importance to a foreign State from the point of view of radiation safety, is carried out in accordance with the international obligations of the Russian Federation.

## Article 67. Assistance in the Case of an Accident in a Nuclear Installation, Radiation Source or Storage Facility

The provision of assistance in the case of an accident in a nuclear installation, radiation source or storage facility so as to minimize the consequences of the accident and protect the health of the population, the environment and stocks of materials and capital equipment against radiation is carried out in accordance with the international obligations of the Russian Federation.

## Article 68. Exchange of Information with Foreign Countries in the Sphere of the Use of Atomic Energy

Information in the sphere of the use of atomic energy is exchanged with foreign countries in accordance with the international agreements of the Russian Federation.

#### CHAPTER XVI

#### **Final Provisions**

#### Article 69. Entry into Force of this Federal Law

This Federal Law shall come into force from the day of its official promulgation.

#### Article 70. Bringing Enforceable Legal Instruments Into Line with This Federal Law

To propose to the President of the Russian Federation and to instruct the Government of the Russian Federation to bring their enforceable legal instruments into line with this Federal Law.

The Government of the Russian Federation to table proposals in the manner laid down in the State Duma of the Federal Assembly of the Russian Federation within three months for the bringing of the enforceable legal instruments of the Russian Federation into line with this Federal Law.

Act promulgated by the President of the Russian Federation on 21st November 1995

## **Switzerland**

#### L RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION ACT\*

(22 March 1991)

The Federal Assembly of the Swiss Confederation,

having regard to articles 24<sup>quinquies</sup>, 24<sup>septies</sup>, 27<sup>sexies</sup>, 64 and 64<sup>bis</sup> of the Federal Constitution,

having regard to the message from the Federal Council of 17 February 1988<sup>1)</sup>

herewith enacts the following statute:

## **Chapter 1: General Provisions**

### Article 1 Purpose

This purpose of this Act shall be to protect people and the environment against dangers caused by ionising radiation.

### Article 2 Scope

- <sup>1</sup> This Act shall apply to all activities, facilities, events and circumstances that might engender a danger through ionising radiation, in particular to:
- a. the handling of radioactive substances and installations, equipment and objects either containing radioactive materials or capable of emitting ionising radiation;
- b. events likely to cause increased radioactivity in the environment.
- <sup>2</sup> Handling shall include mining, manufacturing, processing, marketing, installation, use, storage, transportation, disposal, import, export, transit and any other form of operation.

## <sup>1)</sup> BBI 1988 II 181

<sup>\*</sup> Translation provided by the Swiss authorities.

<sup>3</sup> Articles 28-38 shall not be applicable to activities requiring a licence under the terms of the Federal Act of 23 December 1959<sup>1)</sup> on the Peaceful Exploitation of Nuclear Energy (Nuclear Act).

<sup>4</sup> The Federal Council shall be empowered to provide for exceptions to this Act for substances with a low level of radioactivity.

#### **Article 3** Additional Provisions

In addition to the provisions of this Act, the following in particular shall also apply:

- a. the Nuclear Act and the Federal Decree of 6 October 1978<sup>2)</sup>: to nuclear installations, radioactive nuclear fuel and residues;
- b. the Nuclear Liability Act of 18 March 1983<sup>3)</sup>: to nuclear damage caused by nuclear installations or the transport of nuclear materials.
- c. the federal provisions pertaining to the transport of hazardous substances: to the transport of radioactive substances other than on works premises.

### Article 4 Causality Principle

Whosoever shall cause measures provided for in this Act to be taken shall bear the costs thereof.

## Article 5 Research, Development, Training

- <sup>1</sup> The Confederation shall promote scientific research into the effects of radiation, radiological protection and training in the field of radiological protection.
- <sup>2</sup> It shall be empowered to:
- a. promote research activities in these fields;
- b. train specialists;
- c. participate in enterprises serving the purposes of research or training.

## Article 6 Qualifications

- <sup>1</sup>Only suitably qualified persons shall be permitted to carry out activities that involve a risk through ionising radiation.
- <sup>2</sup> The Federal Council shall stipulate the qualifications required of such persons.

#### Article 7 Commissions

- <sup>1</sup> The Federal Council shall set up the following consultative commissions:
- a. Commission for Radiological Protection;
- b. Commission for Monitoring Radioactivity;

<sup>1)</sup> SR/RS 732.0

<sup>2)</sup> SR/RS 732.01

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3)</sup> SR/RS **732.44** 

c. Commission for Nuclear and Chemical Protection.

## Chapter 2: Protection of People and Environment

## Section 1: Fundamental Principles of Radiological Protection

### Article 8 Justification of Exposure to Radiation

It shall only be permitted to practise an activity in the course of which people or the environment are exposed to ionising radiation (radiation exposure) provided it shall be possible to justify it in terms of the benefits and dangers associated therewith.

### Article 9 Limitation of Radiation Exposure

In order to limit the radiation exposure of each individual person as well as of the totality of all those concerned, it shall be required to adopt all measures dictated by experience and the state of the scientific and technological art.

#### Article 10 Dose Limits

The Federal Council shall, in accordance with the state of the art at the time, lay down limits for radiation exposure (dose limits) for individual persons who may be exposed to a controllable higher level of radiation compared with the rest of the population on account of their professional activity or through other circumstances (persons exposed to radiation).

## Section 2: Protection of Persons Exposed to Radiation

## Article 11 Compliance with Dose Limits

Anyone handling a source of radiation or being responsible therefore shall be required to take all the necessary steps to ensure compliance with the dose limits.

#### Article 12 Assessment of Radiation Dose

- <sup>1</sup> The radiation dose of persons exposed to radiation shall be assessed using suitable methods.
- <sup>2</sup> The Federal Council shall lay down provisions for assessing the radiation dose. It shall, in particular, determine:
- a. those persons for whom radiation exposure shall be measured individually (personal dosimetry);
- b. the time intervals at which the radiation dose shall be established;
- c. the conditions under which personal-dosimetry laboratories shall be approved;
- d. the period of time during which the personal-dosimetry results shall be retained.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> It shall define their functions.

<sup>3</sup> Persons exposed to radiation shall be required to cooperate with required dosimetry systems. They shall be informed of the results thereof.

## Article 13 Medical Measures for Persons Occupationally Exposed to Radiation

- <sup>1</sup> Employees who are occupationally exposed to radiation and who are compulsorily insured shall be subject to medical measures to prevent occupational diseases as defined in Articles 81-87 of the Federal Act on Accident Insurance<sup>1)</sup>.
- <sup>2</sup> The Federal Council shall also be empowered to prescribe medical measures for other persons occupationally exposed to radiation.
- <sup>3</sup> Persons occupationally exposed to radiation shall be required to undergo any medical examinations ordered.

#### Article 14 Communication of Medical Data

- <sup>1</sup> The doctor entrusted with the medical examination shall notify the regulatory agency of any data necessary for medical monitoring and the compilation of statistics. The regulatory agency shall not be permitted to use such data for any other purpose nor to disclose them to third parties.
- <sup>2</sup> The Federal Council shall determine which data shall be notified to the regulatory agency. It shall lay down the period during which such data shall be retained.

## Article 15 Medical Applications of Radiation

- <sup>1</sup>No dose limits shall be laid down for patients subject to radiation exposure for diagnostic or therapeutic purposes.
- <sup>2</sup> The radiation exposure of patients shall be at the discretion of the person responsible. The latter shall, however, be required to respect the fundamental principles of radiological protection as laid down in Articles 8 and 9.
- <sup>3</sup> The Federal Council shall issue provisions for the protection of patients.

## Article 16 Responsibility inside Companies

- <sup>1</sup> The licence-holder or the persons in charge of an enterprise shall bear responsibility for ensuring compliance with the regulations on radiological protection. For this purpose, they shall be required to deploy an appropriate number of experts and to give them the necessary powers and resources.
- <sup>2</sup> It shall be the duty of all persons working in the enterprise to support company management and the experts in measures pertaining to radiological protection.

<sup>1)</sup> SR 832.20

#### Section 3:

# Monitoring the Environment and Protection of the Population during Periods of Elevated Radiation

### Article 17 Environmental Monitoring

<sup>1</sup> There shall be regular monitoring of ionising radiation and radioactivity in the environment, in particular of the atmosphere, water, soil, food and fodder.

<sup>2</sup>The Federal Council shall adopt the necessary measures. It shall, in particular, nominate the public bodies and laboratories responsible for monitoring.

<sup>3</sup> It shall ensure that the monitoring results are made public.

## Article 18 Radioactivity in Food

<sup>1</sup> The Federal Council shall lay down tolerance values and limits for radionuclides in food.

<sup>2</sup> In so doing, it shall aim to provide the same level of protection as against other carcinogenic substances.

<sup>3</sup> Where there is a danger caused by increased radiation, the Federal Council shall establish limits commensurate with the incident.

<sup>4</sup> Where tolerance values and limits are exceeded, then measures in accordance with the Food Act of 8 December 1905<sup>1)</sup> shall be adopted.

<sup>5</sup> Insofar as the Federal Council shall not determine otherwise, inspection shall be carried out in accordance with the provisions of the Food Act.

## Article 19 Emergency Intervention Organisation

<sup>1</sup> The Federal Council shall set up an emergency intervention organisation for events likely to cause a danger to the population as a result of elevated radioactivity.

<sup>2</sup> The emergency intervention organisation shall have, in particular, the following functions:

a. in the event of an incident, it shall draw up forecasts of the risks faced by the population;

b. it shall monitor the extent and course of the increased radioactivity and shall assess the possible effects on people and environment;

c. where there is an imminent danger, it shall order the necessary immediate measures and shall monitor their implementation.

<sup>3</sup> The Federal Council shall lay down the details. It shall ensure that the emergency intervention organisation:

a. shall inform the competent bodies of the Confederation and the Cantons of the extent of the danger and shall put formal proposals to them for safeguard measures;

<sup>1)</sup> SR/RS 817.0

b. shall inform the public.

## Article 20 Measures to be Adopted to React to a Danger Caused by Elevated Radiation

- <sup>1</sup> Whenever there is a danger caused by elevated radiation, the Federal Council shall order the necessary measures:
- a. to protect the population;
- b. to secure supplies to the country;
- c. to maintain essential public services.
- <sup>2</sup> It shall issue the necessary provisions for the eventuality of a danger caused by elevated radiation. It shall, in particular, lay down:
- a. the tolerable radiation doses under extraordinary circumstances;
- b. the duties of individuals and enterprises to take on particular functions that are essential for the protection of the population in the context of their usual professional and entrepreneurial activities; measures shall be taken to protect the lives and health of persons thus deployed;
- c. the equipment, training and insurance cover for persons entrusted with particular functions.
- <sup>3</sup> Should the Federal Council and the emergency intervention organisation not be in a position to order the necessary measures, then the governments of the Cantons or, where justified by the urgency of the situation, the cantonal administrations shall take the necessary measures. Should the cantonal authorities not be in a position to take the necessary measures either, then the communal authorities shall do so.

### Article 21 Execution of Measures

- <sup>1</sup> Insofar as the Federal Council does not reserve implementation of the measures provided for in Article 20 for the Confederation, their preparation and execution shall be the responsibility of the Cantons and Communes. The Cantons shall cooperate with the emergency intervention organisation.
- <sup>2</sup> Should the cantonal or communal organisations responsible for implementation not be in a position to fulfil their functions, the Federal Council shall be empowered to place them under the orders of the emergency intervention organisation or to instruct other Cantons to make free resources available.
- <sup>3</sup> The Confederation, the Cantons and the Communes shall be able to involve private organisations in the implementation of certain measures.

#### Article 22 Emergency Protection

- <sup>1</sup> Enterprises for which it is not possible to eliminate all risk of a release of dangerous amounts of radiation into the environment shall, by means of the licensing procedure, be required to:
- a. set up an alarm system for the population at risk at their own expense or to participate pro rata in a general alarm system;
- b. participate in the preparation and implementation of measures of emergency protection.
- <sup>2</sup> The Federal Council shall lay down the functions of the competent bodies of the Confederation, the Cantons and the Communes.

### Article 23 International Cooperation

The Federal Council shall be empowered to conclude international agreements concerning:

- a. reciprocal information regarding the radioactivity of the environment;
- b. immediate notification whenever there is a danger of radioactivity crossing the national borders;
- c. harmonisation of concepts for measures to be taken in the event of radiation across national borders.

#### Article 24 Persistently High Environmental Radiation

If an elevated level of radioactivity in the environment from either a natural or another source is established over a protracted period, then the Federal Council shall be empowered to issue particular measures to limit radiation exposure. It shall be empowered to involve the Cantons in the execution thereof.

#### Section 4: Radioactive Waste

## Article 25 Definition, Fundamental Principles

- <sup>1</sup>Radioactive waste shall be defined as radioactive substances or radioactively contaminated materials for which there is no further use.
- <sup>2</sup>Radioactive substances shall be handled in such a way as to ensure that as low a level of radioactive waste as possible arises.
- <sup>3</sup>Radioactive waste originating in Switzerland shall, as a general rule, be disposed of domestically. The Federal Council shall lay down exceptional conditions under which export licences may be granted.
- <sup>4</sup> It shall only be permitted to import radioactive waste not originating in Switzerland for the purpose of disposal, provided Switzerland shall have entered into a commitment in the form of international agreements to accept such radioactive waste.

## Article 26 Handling Waste Products inside Enterprises and their Release into the Environment

## Article 27 Delivery and Disposal

### Chapter 3: Licences and Inspection

## Article 28 Compulsory Licensing Requirement

Any of the following shall require a licence:

- a. the handling of radioactive substances or equipment or objects containing radioactive substances;
- b. the manufacture, marketing, installation and utilisation of plant and equipment likely to emit ionising radiation;
- c. applications of ionising radiation and radioactive substances to the human body.

#### Article 29 Powers of the Federal Council

The Federal Council shall be empowered to:

- a. subject additional activities that might engender a danger through ionising radiation to compulsory licensing;
- b. remove the obligation to obtain a licence for activities stipulated in Article 28, paragraphs a or b provided it is possible to eliminate all risks of dangers through ionising radiation;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Inside enterprises, radioactive waste shall be handled and stored in such a manner that as low a level of radioactive waste as possible makes its way into the environment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Federal Council shall lay down the conditions under which it shall be permitted to release radioactive waste with a low level of activity into the environment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Such radioactive waste as is not permitted to be released into the environment shall be retained or safely enclosed in a suitable manner and, as appropriate, solidified, collected and stored in a place authorised by the regulatory agency, whilst awaiting delivery or disposal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Anyone causing radioactive waste other than as a consequence of the exploitation of nuclear energy shall be required to deliver it to a place designated by the competent authority.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Such person shall be required to pay the costs of disposal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Federal Council shall lay down rules for the collection, storage and disposal of waste.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Whenever it is not appropriate, for reasons of radiological protection, to deliver or dispose of waste immediately, it shall be placed in supervised interim storage.

c. lay down the conditions and requirements under which certain types of objects, plant or equipment containing radioactive substances or capable of emitting ionising radiation may be given a general or limited approval for particular application purposes once pattern approval has been granted to a standard version.

### Article 30 Licensing Authorities

The licensing authority shall be the Federal Office of Public Health. For activities in nuclear installations and trials involving radioactive substances in the context of preparatory measures as defined in Article 10, paragraph 2 of the Federal Decree of 6 October 1978 regarding the Nuclear Act, the licensing authority shall be the Federal Office of Energy.

#### Article 31 Conditions

A licence shall be granted provided:

- a. the applicant or an expert (Article 16) nominated by the applicant has the requisite qualifications;
- b. the enterprise has an adequate number of experts available to it;
- c. the applicant and experts are able to guarantee safe operation;
- d. the enterprise has an adequate liability-insurance cover;
- e. the plant and equipment meet the latest state of the scientific and technological art in terms of radiological protection;
- f. there is a guarantee of compliance with radiological protection as laid down in this Act and its implementing measures.

#### Article 32 Licence Holder and Content

<sup>1</sup> The licence shall only be valid for the designated operation or the designated person.

#### Article 33 Modifications

The licence shall be modified:

- a. upon the holder's application, provided the postulated modification meets the conditions for granting the licence;
- b. by the authorities, whenever this is rendered imperative by changes in the actual or legal conditions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> It shall contain a description of the authorised activity including any conditions imposed and requirements and shall give the names of the experts responsible for radiological protection. It shall be valid for a limited period of time only.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The licensing authority shall be empowered to transfer the licence to a new holder, provided the latter meets the conditions laid down in Article 31.

<sup>1)</sup> SR/RS 732.01

## Article 34 Withdrawal and Expiry

- 1 The licence shall be withdrawn
- a. if the conditions for granting it are not met or are no longer met
- b. if a requirement linked to the licence or any measure ordered has not been satisfied despite an official warning having been issued.
- <sup>2</sup> The licence shall expire:
- a. if the holder renounces it in due form;
- b. at the end of the period set for its validity;
- c. upon the death of the holder or, in the case of legal entities and trading companies, when their entry is removed from the commercial register;
- d. the operation is abandoned or sold.
- <sup>3</sup> The licensing authorities shall issue a decision declaring the licence to have expired. This shall be without prejudice to an extension or transfer in accordance with Article 32, paragraph 3.

### Article 35 Obligation to Notify and Provide Information

- <sup>1</sup> The licence holder shall be required to notify the regulatory agency whenever:
- a. it is intended to make a change to the construction or operation of plant or equipment that could impair the safe operation thereof;
- b. he/she wishes to use additional radioactive substances or to increase the activity of authorised radioactive substances.
- <sup>2</sup> The licence holder and any person working for the enterprise shall be required to disclose information to the regulatory agency or its agents, to permit them to consult records and to have access to the enterprise insofar as necessary for the fulfilment of regulatory functions.
- <sup>3</sup> Whenever it is suspected or established that there has been an unauthorised exposure to radiation, the licence holder or expert shall immediately notify the competent authority.

## Article 36 Duty to Keep Records

- <sup>1</sup> Anyone handling radioactive substances or equipment and objects containing radioactive substances shall be required to keep records thereof.
- <sup>2</sup> They shall be required to report regularly to the regulatory agency.
- <sup>3</sup> The Federal Council shall be empowered to waive the record-keeping requirement for substances with only a low level of radioactivity.

## Article 37 Regulatory Activities

<sup>1</sup> The Federal Council shall designate the regulatory agencies.

<sup>2</sup> The regulatory agency shall issue whatever orders may be required. When necessary, it shall be empowered to take protective measures at the expense of the person responsible. It shall, in particular, be empowered to order the closure of an operation or the confiscation of dangerous substances, equipment or objects.

<sup>3</sup> It shall be permitted to entrust third parties with the carrying out of inspections. The Liability Act<sup>1)</sup> shall define the criminal and financial responsibilities of such third parties. They shall be subject to the same duties of silence and witness as laid down in the rules applicable to civil servants of the Confederation.

## Article 38 Elimination of Sources of Danger

- <sup>1</sup> If a licence is withdrawn or expires, then the previous holder thereof or the person responsible for the sources of danger shall remove them. In particular:
- radioactive substances shall be transferred to another licence holder or disposed of as radioactive waste;
- b. plant and equipment capable of emitting ionising radiation shall be transferred to another licence holder or placed in a state rendering unauthorised operation impossible.
- <sup>2</sup> If necessary, the federal authorities shall acquire or confiscate materials, plant, equipment and objects and shall eliminate the sources of danger at the expense of the licence holder.
- <sup>3</sup> The licensing authority shall decide whether or not it shall be permissible to use rooms with contaminated or activated areas or their environs for other purposes.
- <sup>4</sup> The licensing authority shall issue a decision stating that the sources of danger have been duly eliminated.

## Chapter 4: Liability<sup>2)</sup>.

## Article 39 Liability

- <sup>1</sup> Anyone operating plant or carrying out activities involving a risk from ionising radiation, shall be liable for any damage caused thereby unless he/she is able to prove that he/she took all due care to prevent the damage from occurring.
- <sup>2</sup> Where several persons are liable under the provisions of paragraph 1, they shall be joint and severally liable.
- <sup>3</sup> This shall be without prejudice to the Nuclear Liability Act of 18 March 1983<sup>3)</sup> insofar as it is applicable to nuclear damage caused by nuclear installations or the transport of nuclear materials.

<sup>1)</sup> SR/RS 170.32

<sup>2)</sup> Corrected by the Federal Assembly's drafting commission (Article 3 GVG/LREC)

<sup>3)</sup> SR/RS 732.44

### Article 40 Statute of Limitation for Liability Claims

Claims for compensation or settlement payments resulting from damage caused by ionising radiation and which do not fall within the terms of the Nuclear Liability Act of 19 March 1983<sup>1)</sup> shall lapse three years after the injured party becomes aware of the damage and the identity of the person on whom a claim can be made and, at all events, thirty years after cessation of the harmful influence.

### Chapter 4: Proceedings, Legal Redress and Charges

### Article 41 Proceedings and Legal Redress

Proceedings and legal redress shall be in accordance with the federal laws governing administrative proceedings<sup>2)</sup> and the organisation of the federal administration of justice<sup>3)</sup>.

## Article 42 Charges

The Federal Council shall lay down the charges for:

- a. the granting, transfer, modification and withdrawal of licences;
- b. the exercise of regulatory activities and the carrying out of inspections;
- c. the collection, conditioning, storage and disposal of radioactive waste.

### **Chapter 6: Sanctions**

#### Article 43 Offences

- A prison sentence or a fine of up to 100 000 Swiss francs shall be imposed on anyone who deliberately:
- a. disposes of radioactive substances in contravention of the regulations or releases them into the environment;
- b. subjects a person to manifestly unjustified radiation exposure.
- <sup>2</sup> If the guilty party acts negligently, the sanction shall be a prison sentence of up to six months or a fine.

## Article 44 Infringements

- A prison sentence or a fine shall be imposed on anyone who deliberately or negligently:
- a. carries out activities requiring a licence without being in possession of a licence or fails to comply with additional requirements linked to a licence;
- b. fails to take the necessary steps to comply with dose limits;

<sup>1)</sup> SR/RS 732.44

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2)</sup> SR/RS 172.021

<sup>3)</sup> SR/RS 173.110

- c. fails to comply with ordered dosimetric measures;
- d. fails to fulfil his/her duties as a licence holder or expert;
- e. fails to fulfil his/her duty to deliver radioactive waste or to eliminate danger sources;
- f. fails to comply either with an implementing regulation, the infringement of which shall have been declared sanctionable, or with an order addressed to him/her and including a reference to the sanctions imposable under the current Article.
- <sup>2</sup> The Federal Council shall be empowered to provide for prison sentences or fines of up to 20 000 Swiss francs for infringements of regulations it shall issue in the event of a danger caused by radioactivity.

## Article 45 Applicability of the Administrative Penal Code

- <sup>1</sup> The particular provisions of the Federal Act on the Administrative Penal Code<sup>1)</sup> (Articles 14-18) shall be applicable.
- <sup>2</sup> Articles 6 and 7 of the Federal Act on the Administrative Penal Code shall be applicable to infringements defined in Article 43.

## Article 46 Court Proceedings and Jurisdiction

- <sup>1</sup>Court proceedings under Article 43 shall be subject to federal jurisdiction.
- <sup>2</sup> Infringements defined in Articles 44 and 45, paragraph 1 shall be prosecuted and judged by the competent licensing or regulatory authority. Proceedings shall be in accordance with the Federal Act on the Administrative Penal Code<sup>2)</sup>

## Chapter 7: Final Provisions

#### Article 47 Execution

- <sup>1</sup> The Federal Council shall be responsible for execution of this Act and shall adopt the implementing provisions.
- <sup>2</sup> It shall be empowered to involve the Cantons in the implementation.

## Article 48 Amendments to Existing Statutes

1. The Nuclear Act of 23 December 1959 is herewith amended as follows:

Title:

Federal Act on the Peaceful Exploitation of Nuclear Energy (Nuclear Act)

<sup>1)</sup> SR/RS 313.0

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2)</sup> SR/RS 313.0

Article 2 paragraph 1

<sup>1</sup> The Swiss Confederation shall promote scientific research into the peaceful exploitation of nuclear energy; it shall support the training of specialists.

Section 3 (Articles 10 and 11)

Repealed

Article 38

Commissions The Federal Council shall appoint commissions to study questions relating to nuclear energy.

2. The Act of 7 October 1983<sup>1)</sup> on the Protection of the Environment is herewith amended as follows:

Article 3, paragraph 2

[Only affects the French text.]

#### **Article 49** Transitional Provision

For liability claims that have arisen under the previous legislation but have not lapsed at the time this Act shall come into force, the statute of limitation shall be in accordance with Article 40.

## Article 50 Referendum and Entry into Force

Council of Estates, 22 March 1991

National Council, 22 March 1991

Speaker: Hänsenberger

Speaker: Bremi

<sup>1</sup> This Act shall be subject to an optional referendum

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Federal Council shall determine the date on which it shall enter into force.

<sup>1)</sup> SR/RS 814.01

Secretary: Huber

Secretary: Anliker

Expiry of the referendum deadline and entry into force

1 This referendum deadline for this Act expired unused on 8 July 1991<sup>2)</sup>.

<sup>2</sup> It shall enter into force on 1 October 1994.

22 June 1994

On behalf of the Swiss Federal Council

Federal President: Stich

Federal Chancellor: Couchepin

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2)</sup> BBI **1991** I 1341

#### II. RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION ORDINANCE\*

(22 June 1994)

The Swiss Federal Council [government],

having due regard to Article 47, paragraph 1 of the Radiological Protection Act of 22 March 1991<sup>1)</sup>

herewith adopts the following Ordinance:

## Chapter 1:

## General Provisions and Fundamental Principles of Radiological Protection

### Article 1 Scope

<sup>1</sup> This Ordinance shall apply to substances, objects and waste products whose activity, concentration, contamination, dose rate or mass is greater than the values listed in Annex 2.

- a. installations used for the production of ionising radiation;
- b. plant and equipment capable of emitting adventitious ionising radiation in cases where the ambient dose measured according to Annex 5 at a distance of 10 cm from the surface is greater than one microsievert (μSv) per hour;
- c. in all cases, for food, ores, collections of minerals and rocks as well as concentrations of radon gas as laid down in Annex 2.
- <sup>3</sup> The values applicable for the implementation of radiological protection measures shall be those laid down in Annex 3.

### Article 2 Exceptions

<sup>1</sup> This Ordinance shall not apply to substances that contain purely natural radioactivity with a specific activity of less than 70 000 becquerels per kilogram and which are not able to cause an additional effective dose of greater than 70 000 μSv per year.

SR 814.501

<sup>1)</sup> SR/RS **814.50**; AS **1994** 1933

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This Ordinance shall further apply to:

<sup>\*</sup> Translation provided by the Swiss authorities.

<sup>2</sup> This Ordinance shall not apply to substances with a specific activity below the exception limits laid down in Annex 3, column 9 and an ambient dose rate of greater than  $0.1 \,\mu\text{Sv}$  per hour at a distance of 10 cm from the surface, once the natural radiation background has been deducted, provided it has been proven to the satisfaction of the regulatory agency that at no time will people accumulate an effective dose of more than  $10 \,\mu\text{Sv}$  per year.

<sup>3</sup> Articles 125-127, 133 and 134 shall not apply to activities that require a licence under the terms of the Nuclear Act of 1959<sup>1)</sup>.

#### Article 3 Mixtures

<sup>1</sup> Mixtures of radioactive substances with inactive materials that are intended solely to obviate this Ordinance shall not be permitted.

<sup>2</sup> The regulatory agency shall be empowered to grant permission for substances falling under Article 2, Paragraph 2 to be mixed with inactive materials for the purpose of recycling, provided the evidence required by that particular provision can be provided. This shall be without prejudice to Article 82.

#### Article 4 Definitions

For the purposes of this Ordinance, the applicable definitions shall be those contained in Annex 1.

#### Article 5 Justification

<sup>1</sup> An activity falling within the scope of Article 8 of the Radiological Protection Act shall be justified, provided the benefits associated therewith clearly outweigh the drawbacks caused by radiation and further provided that there is no alternative available that would be generally more favourable for humanity and the environment, not involving exposure to radiation.

<sup>2</sup> Activities involving ionising radiation leading to an effective dose for the persons concerned of less than 10 μSv per year shall always be regarded as justified.

## Article 6 Optimisation

<sup>1</sup> Radiological protection associated with justified activities shall be deemed to be optimised provided:

- a. the appropriate different possible solutions shall have been individually assessed and compared with each other;
- b. the sequence of decisions that led to the particular solution remains traceable;
- c. due consideration has been given to the possible occurrence of incidents and the elimination of radioactive sources.

<sup>1)</sup> SR/RS 732.0

<sup>2</sup> The regulatory agency (Article 136) shall be empowered to establish guideline values for individual cases.

 $^3$  The principle of optimisation shall be regarded as satisfied for activities which under no circumstances lead to an effective dose of more than  $100\,\mu\text{Sv}$  per year for occupationally exposed persons or more than  $10\,\mu\text{Sv}$  per year for persons not occupationally exposed.

#### Article 7 Dose Guideline Value as a Function of Source

- <sup>1</sup> The licensing authority (Article 127) shall include a source-upper bound value in the licence.
- <sup>2</sup> The source-related dose guideline value shall be established according to the principle of optimisation and, with due consideration being given to the release of radioactive substances and direct radiation from other operations, as a fraction of the dose limit provided for in Article 37.
- <sup>3</sup> The licensing authority shall, in every licence, lay down the permitted releases of radioactive substances to the environment and the permitted direct off-site in such a way that the radiation exposure of persons not occupationally exposed shall not exceed the source-related dose guideline value.

#### Article 8 Research

<sup>1</sup> The regulatory agencies shall be permitted to commission research projects into the effects of radiation and radiological protection or to become involved in such research projects.

<sup>2</sup> The Paul Scherrer Institute (PSI) as well as other bodies belonging to the Confederation shall, within the means at their disposal, be available to carry out research work into the effects of radiation and radiological protection for the regulatory agencies.

<sup>3</sup> The regulatory agencies shall consult each other before commissioning any research contract.

## Article 9 Commission for Radiological Protection

<sup>1</sup> The Commission for Radiological Protection is a body set up to provide advice on matters of radiological protection to the Swiss government (Federal Council), the Federal Department of Home Affairs, the Federal Department of Transport and Energy, any public office that may be involved and also the Swiss National Accident Insurance Organization (SUVA).

<sup>2</sup> It shall give its opinions on:

- a. the interpretation and appraisal of international recommendations in the field of radiological protection in terms of their application in Switzerland;
- b. the setting up and further development of uniform principles for the application of radiation-protection measures.

## Chapter 2:

## Qualifications, Experts, Introductory and Continuing Training

## Section 1: Fundamental Principle

#### Article 10

- Persons handling ionising radiation shall be required to have completed introductory and continuing training corresponding to their activities and responsibilities.
- <sup>2</sup> Training shall ensure that such persons:
- a. are familiar with the basic rules of radiological protection;
- b. learn to work in an appropriate manner;
- c. are capable of applying the radiation-protection measures required for a particular activity;
- d. know the risks of exposure to radiation that could result from a faulty action;
- e. are informed about the risks to health inherent in their work with ionising radiation.

## Section 2: Qualifications for Medical Applications

## Article 11 Diagnostic applications

- <sup>1</sup> The following shall be regarded as evidence of the necessary qualifications:
- a. for the diagnostic application of installations for the production of ionising radiation and closed radioactive sources: the Swiss federal doctor's degree;
- b. for the diagnostic application of such installations for chiropractic purposes: training leading to a final examination in radiology and radiological protection at a course recognised by the Federal Office of Public Health.
- <sup>2</sup> For diagnostic applications involving intensive doses or intervention in accordance with paragraph 1, subparagraph a, the practitioner shall additionally be required to furnish evidence of corresponding training as a specialised FMH doctor or the equivalent further training in the corresponding radiological method.
- <sup>3</sup> The following shall be regarded as evidence of the necessary qualification for diagnostic applications of such installations for dental purposes:
- a. the Swiss federal degree in dentistry;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Administratively, the Commission for Radiological Protection shall be attached to the Federal Office of Public Health.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Federal Department of Home Affairs shall issue the Commission's rules of procedure.

b. training leading to a final examination in radiological techniques as applied in dentistry and radiological protection for dental technicians licensed by their Cantons at a course recognised by the Federal Office of Public Health.

<sup>4</sup> This shall be without prejudice to the application of the provisions of Article 18 to any function performed in the capacity of an expert.

# Article 12 Therapeutic Applications

- <sup>1</sup> The following shall be regarded as evidence of the necessary qualification for therapeutic applications of installations for producing ionising radiation and closed radioactive sources:
- a. the Swiss federal doctor's degree;
- b. the corresponding training as an FMH specialist doctor;
- c. training in radiological protection that is recognised by the Federal Office of Public Health;
- d. and the appropriate practical training in a hospital.
- <sup>2</sup> Where the content of the course stipulated in paragraph 1, subparagraph c is already covered by the FMH training to become a specialist doctor, the Federal Office of Public Health may waive the requirement for the doctor to attend such a course.

# Article 13 Diagnosis and Therapy with Open Sources of Radioactive Radiation

- <sup>1</sup> The following shall be regarded as evidence of the necessary qualification for the use of open radioactive sources:
- a. the Swiss federal doctor's degree;
- b. the corresponding training as an FMH specialist doctor;
- c. training in radiological protection in conjunction with the medical application of radionuclides at a course recognised by the Federal Office of Public Health;
- d. and the appropriate practical training in a hospital.
- <sup>2</sup> Where the content of the course stipulated in paragraph 1, subparagraph c is already covered by the FMH training to become a specialist doctor, the Federal Office of Public Health may waive the requirement for the doctor to attend such a course.

# Article 14 Veterinary Surgeons

- <sup>1</sup> Evidence of the necessary qualification for veterinary applications of ionising radiation shall be the Swiss federal veterinary surgeon's degree;
- <sup>2</sup> This shall be without prejudice to the application of the provisions of Article 18 to any function performed in the capacity of an expert.

#### Article 15 Medical Personnel

- <sup>1</sup> The following groups of professions shall be required to furnish evidence of the necessary qualification through having attended a course in radiological protection including a final examination recognised by the Federal Office of Public Health.
- a. medico-technical radiological assistants;
- b. medical surgery assistants, dental assistants and dental hygienists;
- c. medical laboratory workers;
- d. veterinary assistants
- e. and other medical personnel involved in producing medical X-ray images.

# Section 3: Qualifications for Other Applications

#### Article 16 Qualifications Required

<sup>1</sup> Persons involved in research, teaching, medical analyses, industry, nuclear plant, transport and trade, who are responsible for radiation-protection measures involving other people shall be required to furnish evidence of the necessary qualification in the form of training involving a final examination at a course recognised by the regulatory agency.

#### Article 17 Qualification for Functions in Emergency Services

<sup>1</sup> Persons belonging to an emergency service, such as the police, fire brigade, civilian protection, senior commands or ambulance services and who undertake radiation-protection tasks in the event of an incident shall be properly trained for their function and activity.

# Section 4: Experts

# Article 18 Qualifications Required

<sup>1</sup> Experts as provided for by Article 16 of the Radiological Protection Act shall be required to furnish evidence that they have attended a training course including a final examination in radiological protection, commensurate with their activity and responsibility and recognised by the Federal Office of Public Health and that they are knowledgeable in matters of radiological protection legislation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In individual cases, the regulatory agency shall be permitted to waive the requirement for an examination for activities that only incur minor risks

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Federal Commission for Nuclear and Chemical Protection shall coordinate such training.

- <sup>2</sup> Doctors of medicine, dentists and veterinary surgeons who have been trained in accordance with the provisions of Articles 11 and 14 and who exercise the function of an expert shall be required to have undergone a training course in radiological protection and radiology including a final examination recognised by the Federal Office of Public Health.
- <sup>3</sup> Doctors of medicine who have undergone a training course recognised by the Federal Office of Public Health or who have completed a course recognised by the Federal Office of Public Health in accordance with Article 13 as well as chiropractors and dental practitioners who have undergone a training course recognised by the Federal Office of Public Health in accordance with the Article 11, paragraphs 1 and 3 shall be regarded as experts in their field of activity.
- <sup>4</sup> In individual cases, the regulatory agency shall be permitted to waive the requirement for an examination for activities that only incur minor risks.

#### Section 5:

# Courses of Introductory and Continuing Training; Financial Assistance

# Article 19 Courses of Introductory and Continuing Training

- <sup>1</sup> The regulatory agencies and the Paul Scherrer Institute shall organise courses in radiological protection as required.
- <sup>2</sup> The Federal Department of Home Affairs and the Federal Department of Transport and Energy shall be permitted to entrust other government departments or institutions with the organisation of radiological protection courses.

# Article 20 Financial Assistance for Introductory and Continuing Courses Run by Third Parties

- <sup>1</sup> The Federal Office of Public Health or the Swiss Federal Nuclear Safety Inspectorate (HSK/SENSI) may, within their budgetary allocations, provide financial assistance to courses in introductory or continuing training run by third parties (such as colleges and specialist organisations).
- <sup>2</sup> Such financial assistance shall only be granted provided the training course is recognised by the regulatory agency.
- <sup>3</sup> The financial assistance shall be set at such a level that, taken together with all the other revenues of the course organiser, it will not exceed the latter's evidenced costs.

#### Section 6:

# Delegation to the Federal Department of Home Affairs and the Federal Department of Transport and Energy; Recognition of Training Courses Held in Other Countries

#### Article 21

- <sup>1</sup> Within their respective fields of competence, the Federal Department of Home Affairs and the Federal Department of Transport and Energy shall establish rules for:
- a. the conditions for the recognition of training or courses according to Articles 11, 12, 13 15, 16 and 18.
- b. the conditions governing activities in emergency services in accordance with Article 17.
- <sup>2</sup> They shall be empowered to adopt rules regarding the content of the examinations and examination procedures.
- <sup>3</sup> They shall establish which activities experts shall be entitled to exercise.

#### Article 22 Recognition of a Training Course in Another Country

The regulatory agency shall recognise a training course in another country provided it is equivalent to the training provided for in Articles 11-18.

#### **Chapter 3: Medical Applications of Radiation**

# Section 1: Fundamental Principle

#### Article 23 Patient Information and Consent

¥

Whenever it is planned to use radiation for diagnostic and/or therapeutic purposes, patient information and consent shall be in accordance with the corresponding federal legal provisions regarding the protection of body, life and personality as well as the cantonal regulations pertaining to health.

#### Article 24 Patient Protection

It shall be the duty of all licence holders to ensure that every medical installation is equipped with the necessary means to protect patients and that they are in use.

# Article 25 Registration

It shall be the duty of all licence holders to register every use of radiation, be it for therapy, intensive doses or intervention diagnostics, in such a way that it will always be possible subsequently to establish the patient's radiation dose.

#### Article 26 Fluoroscopy

<sup>1</sup> Fluoroscopic radiographs shall only be performed by medical doctors. It shall also be permitted for a fluoroscopic radiograph performed for the purpose of verifying settings for radiation therapy to be carried out by a medical radiological technician following the instructions of a medical doctor.

<sup>2</sup> The only installations that shall be permitted for use shall be those equipped with image amplifiers and automatic dose-rate controls.

<sup>3</sup> It shall be forbidden to carry out fluoroscopy for suitability investigations, especially for inclusion in an insurance.

# **Section 2: Particular Investigations**

# Article 27 Mass Radiological Screenings

<sup>1</sup> It shall only be permitted to carry out mass radiological screenings provided they are justified both medically and epidemiologically.

<sup>2</sup> Mass screenings using fluoroscopy and radiophotography shall not be permitted.

#### Article 28 Physiological and Pharmacological Examinations

<sup>1</sup> The application of open and closed radioactive sources to human beings for purposes of physiological and pharmacological examinations shall require the authorisation of the Federal Office of Public Health for every single project.

<sup>2</sup> Each request for such an authorisation shall be accompanied by:

- a. an ethical and scientific appraisal of the experimental protocol;
- b. particulars regarding the envisaged quality control;
- c. particulars regarding the declarations of consent, number, age and gender of the test subjects;
- d. an estimate of the radiation exposure.
- <sup>3</sup> For each healthy subject participating in such projects, the limit laid down in Article 37 shall apply.
- <sup>4</sup> Provided the agreement of the Federal Office of Public Health is sought, the limit may be set at 5 mSv, provided the aggregate dose over the preceding five years including the current one remains under 5 mSv.
- <sup>5</sup> Any results of such a research project that are relevant in terms of radiological protection shall be reported to the Federal Office of Public Health upon completion of the project.

# Section 3: Radiopharmaceuticals

#### Article 29 Clinical Testing of Radiopharmceuticals

- <sup>1</sup> Any intended clinical testing of radiopharmceuticals on human beings must be notified to the Federal Office of Public Health at the latest six weeks prior to commencement.
- <sup>2</sup> Such notification shall include:
- a. an ethical and scientific appraisal of the experimental protocol;
- b. particulars regarding the envisaged quality control;
- c. particulars regarding the declarations of consent, number, age and gender of the test subjects;
- d. an estimate of the radiation exposure.
- <sup>3</sup> For each healthy subject participating in such projects, the limit laid down in Article 37 shall apply.
- <sup>4</sup> Provided the agreement of the Federal Office of Public Health is sought, it shall be possible for the limit to be set at 5 mSv, provided the aggregate dose over the preceding five years including the current one remains under 5 mSv.
- <sup>5</sup> Any results of such a research project that are relevant in terms of radiological protection shall be reported to the Federal Office of Public Health upon completion of the project.

# Article 30 Licensing of Radiopharmceuticals

- <sup>1</sup> It shall only be permitted for radiopharmaceuticals to be marketed or used on human beings once they have been licensed by the Federal Office of Public Health.
- <sup>2</sup> The Federal Office of Public Health shall grant a licence provided:
- a. the products have been registered with the Intercantonal Drug Supervision Unit (IKS/OICM);
- b. quality controls on the radionuclide concerned are in line with the state of the scientific and technological art.
- <sup>3</sup> The licence shall be valid for a period of five years.
- <sup>4</sup> Radiopharmaceuticals must be clearly labelled as such and shall bear at least the following particulars:
- a. the names of the products;
- b. the danger sign described in Annex 6;
- c. the radionuclides, their chemical form and activities as well as other radionuclides still present by a particular date, along with their activities;
- d. other chemical forms of the radionuclides still present;
- e. non radioactive substances that have been blended in;
- f. the earliest and latest date for use ("use-by date").

#### Article 31 Quality Control

Anyone manufacturing radiopharmaceuticals or using them on human beings shall be required to carry out regular quality controls.

<sup>2</sup> The Federal Office of Public Health shall be empowered to take samples of radiopharmaceuticals at any time in order to establish whether the conditions for granting the licence still apply. It shall be permitted to designate specialised laboratories for the purpose.

#### Article 32 Joint Specialist Commission

A joint specialist commission comprising representatives of the federal authority and the Intercantonal Drug Supervision Unit (IKS/OICM) shall act as an advisory body and shall give its opinion as part of the procedure for the licensing and registration of radiopharmaceuticals.

<sup>2</sup> The Federal Department of Home Affairs shall determine the functions of the joint commission and shall appoint the representatives of the federal authorities.

# Chapter 4: Protection of Persons Exposed to Radiation

#### **Section 1: Dose Limitations**

#### Article 33 Occupationally Exposed Persons

<sup>1</sup> The licence holder shall designate all persons within the enterprise who are occupationally exposed to radiation and shall inform them of their particular position as such.

<sup>2</sup> They shall be informed in particular of:

- a. the radiation doses to be expected in the course of their work;
- b. the dose limits applicable to them.
- <sup>3</sup> The licence holder shall not be permitted to employ persons under the age of sixteen as occupationally exposed persons.

#### Article 34 Dose limits

<sup>1</sup> The dose limits laid down in Articles 35-37 shall apply to the accumulated dose resulting from controllable radiation in the course of a calendar year.

<sup>2</sup> They shall not apply to:

- a. radiation applied to patients for the purposes of diagnosis or therapy;
- b. exposure to radiation in exceptional circumstances as laid down in Article 20 of the Radiological Protection Act;
- c. exposure to natural radiation from a source that cannot be influenced;
- d. the exposure of persons supporting and caring for patients other than in a professional capacity.

<sup>3</sup> Radiation exposure through natural radiation and eventual medical measures shall not be taken into consideration for calculating dose limits. This shall be without prejudice to the consideration of radiation exposure due to radon as defined in Article 110, paragraph 3.

# Article 35 Dose limits for Occupationally Exposed Persons

- <sup>1</sup> For occupationally exposed persons, the effective dose shall not exceed the threshold of 20 mSv per year. This shall be without prejudice to Article 36.
- <sup>2</sup> For occupationally exposed persons who are required to carry out exceptional jobs of work, the dose limit may exceptionally be set at 50 mSv per year provided the agreement of the regulatory agency is sought and provided the aggregate dose over the five preceding years including the current one does not exceed 100 mSv.
- <sup>3</sup> For occupationally exposed persons, the equivalent dose shall not exceed the following thresholds:
- a. for the lens of the eye: 150 mSv per year:
- b. for the skin, hand and feet: 500 mSv per year.

# Article 36 Protection of Young Persons and Women

- <sup>1</sup> For persons aged between 16 and 18 years who are occupationally exposed to radiation, the effective dose shall not exceed the limit of 5 mSv per year.
- <sup>2</sup> As of the time a pregnancy is established right through to the end thereof, the equivalent dose on the surface of the abdomen for occupationally exposed women shall not exceed 2 mSv, and the effective dose as the result of intakes shall not exceed 1 mSv.
- <sup>3</sup> Women who are breast-feeding shall not be permitted to perform any work involving radioactive substances that entail a risk of intake or radioactive contamination.

# Article 37 Dose limits for Persons Not Occupationally Exposed

For persons not occupationally exposed to radiation, the effective dose shall not exceed the limit of 1 mSv per year.

#### Article 38 Measures when a Dose Limit is Exceeded

- <sup>1</sup> Anyone suspecting or establishing that a dose limit has been exceeded shall notify the regulatory agency immediately.
- <sup>2</sup> The licence holder shall initiate an investigation in accordance with Article 99.
- <sup>3</sup> The regulatory agency shall adopt the necessary measures.
- <sup>4</sup> Where the dose limit for occupationally exposed persons is exceeded, the person concerned shall not accumulate a further effective dose in excess of 1 mSv in the course of the rest of the year. This shall be without prejudice to an authorisation granted by the regulatory agency in accordance with Article 35, paragraph 2.

# Article 39 Medical Follow-up Following a Dose Limit being Exceeded

- <sup>1</sup> Where, within a year, the person concerned has received an effective dose of more than 250 mSv, an equivalent dose for the skin or bone surface of more than 2500 mSv or an equivalent dose for any other organ of more than 1000 mSv, he/she shall be placed under medical surveillance.
- <sup>2</sup> The doctor shall report the medical findings to the person concerned and the regulatory agency, along with a formal proposal for measures to be adopted. The doctor shall also inform the Swiss National Accident Insurance Organization (SUVA) whenever an employee is involved.
- <sup>3</sup> The doctor shall also provide the regulatory agency with:
- a. data regarding any recognised early damage;
- b. data regarding any disease or particular dispositions that would make it necessary to declare the person unfit for work;
- c. data regarding biological dosimetry.
- <sup>4</sup> The regulatory agency shall conserve these data for as long as the person concerned remains occupationally exposed to radiation.
- <sup>5</sup> The regulatory agency shall take the necessary measures for persons not gainfully employed. It shall be permitted to decree either a temporary or permanent exclusion from work.

#### Article 40 Extraordinary Exposures to Radiation

- <sup>1</sup> It shall be permitted to exceed the dose limits laid down in Articles 35-37 in order to remedy failures in accordance with Article 97, provided it is necessary to do so in order to protect the population and especially in order to save human lives.
- <sup>2</sup> For persons called up for a particular duty in accordance with Article 120, the values of Article 121, paragraph 1 shall apply.

#### Article 41 Airline Crews

- <sup>1</sup> Personnel assigned to fly in jet aircraft shall be informed by the company owner at the time they first undertake such flying duties of the radiation exposure to which they will be subjected in the exercise of their profession.
- <sup>2</sup> Pregnant women shall have the right to insist on being relieved of flying duties.

# Section 2: Calculation of Radiation Dose (Dosimetry)

# Article 42 Dosimetry for Occupationally Exposed Persons

- <sup>1</sup> For occupationally exposed persons, the radiation exposure shall be calculated individually in accordance with the provisions of Annex 5 (personal dosimetry).
- <sup>2</sup> The external radiation exposure shall be calculated every month.

<sup>3</sup> The regulatory agency shall establish how and at what intervals the internal radiation exposure shall be calculated. In doing so, it shall take the working conditions and the type of radionuclides used into consideration.

<sup>4</sup> The regulatory agency shall have the right to insist that a second, independent system of dosimetry be used to fulfil an additional function.

<sup>5</sup> The regulatory agency shall have the powers to grant exceptions from paragraphs 1 and 2 in cases where an additional or other appropriate system is available for monitoring doses.

#### Article 43 Duties of the Licence Holder

- <sup>1</sup> The licence holder shall be required to ensure that the radiation exposure of everyone working for the company who is occupationally exposed to radiation shall be calculated by recognised personal-dosimetry laboratories. The licence holder shall also be permitted to carry out confirmatory monitoring himself to establish internal radiation exposure.
- <sup>2</sup> The licence holder shall be required to inform such persons of the dosimetric results.
- <sup>3</sup> The licence holder shall be required to pay the costs of dosimetry.
- <sup>4</sup> The licence holder shall provide the Swiss National Accident Insurance Organization (SUVA) together with the company, personal and dosimetric data that are necessary for carrying out preventive industrial-hygiene measures.

# Article 44 Dosimetry for Persons not Occupationally Exposed to Radiation

- <sup>1</sup> The radiation exposure of persons not occupationally exposed to radiation shall be calculated in the framework of the monitoring of emission limits according to Article 102 or by means of models. In specific cases, it shall also be possible to calculate the radiation exposure individually.
- <sup>2</sup> For persons within a company who are not occupationally exposed to radiation, the regulatory agency shall determine the method to be used for calculating radiation exposure on a case-by-case basis.
- <sup>3</sup> Internal radiation exposure shall be calculated according to Annexes 4 and 5.

# **Section 3: Personal Dosimetry Services**

#### Article 45 Accreditation and Conditions

- <sup>1</sup> Anyone wishing to operate a personal dosimetry laboratory shall be required to obtain its accreditation.
- <sup>2</sup> The accreditation shall be granted provided the following conditions are met:
- a. The manager in charge of the personal dosimetry laboratory must have been trained as an expert in the field of radiological protection, must have a degree in technology or the natural sciences issued by a university or a technical institute of higher education and must have practical knowledge of the measurement technique involved.
- b. The personal dosimetry laboratory must be located within Switzerland, must have an appropriate organisation and must have sufficient numbers of adequately trained staff available.
- c. The measurement system must correspond to the state of the art and be linked to national or international comparison standards (traceability).
- <sup>3</sup> Where a personal dosimetry laboratory has been accredited for this activity, it shall be assumed that the conditions of paragraph 2 have been met.

#### Article 46 Procedures and Validity of Accreditation

- <sup>1</sup> The public authority granting accreditation shall carry out an inspection and a technical examination to establish whether the conditions for accreditation have been met. It shall be permitted to entrust this function to a third-party.
- <sup>2</sup>Traceability in accordance with Article 45, paragraph 2, subparagraph c shall be determined in individual cases by the Federal Office of Metrology (EAM/OFMET) and verified by a body recognised by it.
- <sup>3</sup> The accreditation shall be valid for five years.

# Article 47 Public Authorities Granting Accreditation

- <sup>1</sup> The granting of accreditations shall be the responsibility of:
- a. the Federal Office of Public Health in cases where a personal dosimetry laboratory wishes to be active predominantly in the area regulated by itself or by the Swiss National Accident Insurance Organization (SUVA).
- b. the Swiss Federal Nuclear Safety Inspectorate (HSK/SENSI) in cases where a personal dosimetry laboratory wishes to be active predominantly in the area regulated by it.
- <sup>2</sup> When a personal dosimetry laboratory is active in areas regulated by different agencies, the accreditation authorities shall decide which of them shall be competent for granting the accreditation.
- <sup>3</sup> The public authorities granting accreditations shall not operate any personal dosimetry laboratories themselves.

#### Article 48 Notifications to be made by the Licence Holder

The licence holder must notify the personal dosimetry laboratory he/she has appointed of the personal data (surname, first name, maiden name, date of birth, Old-Age and Survivor's Insurance [OASI] number and gender) of persons working for his/her company who are occupationally exposed to radiation, along with the related operational data.

#### Article 49 Notifications to be Made by the Personal Dosimetry Laboratory

- <sup>1</sup> The personal dosimetry laboratory shall report the data referred to in Article 48 as well as the calculated radiation doses to the licence holder and also to the central dose register (Article 53) in a form prescribed by the Federal Office of Public Health within a month of the end of the monitoring period. Data pertaining to the area regulated by the Swiss Federal Nuclear Safety Inspectorate (HSK/SENSI) shall also be reported directly to it.
- <sup>2</sup> If, during the course of a monitoring period, the effective dose is greater than 2 mSv or the equivalent dose for an organ is greater than 10 mSv, then the personal dosimetry laboratory shall report the fact to the licence holder and the competent regulatory agency (Federal Office of Public Health or Swiss National Accident Insurance Organization) within ten calendar days of the arrival of the dosemeter.
- <sup>3</sup> Whenever it is suspected that the dose limit has been exceeded, the personal dosimetry laboratory shall report the result to the licence holder within twenty-four hours. Whenever the dose is above the limit laid down in Article 35 or 36, the personal dosimetry laboratory shall inform the competent regulatory agency immediately. It shall also inform the Swiss National Accident Insurance Organization (SUVA) whenever an employee is involved.

# Article 50 Duties of the Personal Dosimetry Laboratory

- <sup>1</sup> The personal dosimetry laboratory shall conserve all the dose measurements and personal data as well as all raw data necessary for a subsequent calculation of the doses to be notified for a period of two years following submission to the central dose register.
- <sup>2</sup> It shall be required, at its own expense, to participate in comparative measurements according to the instructions of the authority granting the accreditation.

# Article 51 Requirement of Confidentiality and Data Protection

- <sup>1</sup> The personal dosimetry laboratory shall not communicate the personal details or dose values of persons subjected to dosimetry to anyone other than the subjects themselves, their employer, the regulatory agency, the licensing authority and the central dose register.
- <sup>2</sup> Persons entrusted with carrying out dosimetry shall be subject to the same provisions regarding confidentiality and data protection as apply to civil servants working for the Confederation.

#### Article 52 Technical Provisions

- <sup>1</sup> The Federal Department of Home Affairs and the Federal Department of Transport and Energy shall adopt joint technical provisions regarding personal dosimetry, after consulting the Federal Office of Metrology.
- <sup>2</sup> The technical provisions shall contain in particular:
- a. minimum requirements to be met by measurement systems;
- b. minimum requirements in terms of accuracy of measurement for routine operations and comparative measurements;
- c. standard models for calculating radiation doses;
- d. notification format.

# Section 4: Registration of Radiation Doses

# Article 53 Central Dose Register

- <sup>1</sup> The Federal Office of Public Health shall keep a register of doses accumulated by occupationally exposed persons in Switzerland (central dose register).
- <sup>2</sup> The purpose of the central dose register shall be:
- a. to make it possible for the regulatory agencies to monitor at any time the accumulated doses of all persons occupationally exposed to radiation in Switzerland;
- b. to facilitate statistical analyses;
- c. to ensure that the data is conserved.

#### Article 54 Processed Data

- <sup>1</sup> It shall be permitted for the following data to be stored in the central dose register:
- a. surname, first name and maiden name;
- b. date of birth;
- c. Old-Age and Survivor's Insurance [OASI] number;
- d gender
- e. name and address of place of employment;
- f. dose values
- g. professional grouping.
- <sup>2</sup> In the case of persons only employed in Switzerland on a temporary basis, the doses accumulated by them in Switzerland shall be registered. In the case of all other occupationally exposed persons, the doses accumulated abroad shall also be registered.
- <sup>3</sup> The regulatory agencies and the industrial hygiene unit of the Swiss National Accident Insurance Organization (SUVA) shall have direct access to data pertaining to their areas of competence.

#### Article 55 Conservation and Publication of Data

# Article 56 Utilisation for Research Projects

- <sup>1</sup> The Federal Office of Public Health shall be permitted to use the data stored in the central dose register for research projects into radiation effects and radiological protection or to make them known to third parties.
- <sup>2</sup> The Federal Office of Public Health shall only provide the data in a form in which they have been rendered anonymous, unless the disclosure of personal details is essential for carrying out the research project.
- <sup>3</sup> The data shall be made available provided:
- a. the recipient cannot effectively carry out a research project without them;
- b. he/she is able to provide a guarantee that data protection will be respected.
- <sup>4</sup> The recipient shall only be permitted to use the data as part of his/her research project. He/she shall only be permitted to pass the data on to third parties in the context of the research project.
- <sup>5</sup>Once the recipient no longer needs the data for his/her research project he/she shall render them anonymous or destroy them. Should a follow-on project be planned, the data shall be deposited with the Federal Office of Public Health.

#### Article 57 Individual Dose Certificate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Federal Office of Public Health shall conserve all the data in the central dose register for a period of one hundred years.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The regulatory agencies shall produce an annual report on the results of personal dosimetry.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Federal Office of Public Health shall publish the report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Federal Office of Public Health shall issue an individual dose certificate.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The accredited personal dosimetry laboratory shall make dose certificates available to occupationally exposed persons free-of-charge.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The licence holder shall be required to register the accumulated doses. When a person leaves the employment of the licence holder or is transferred to another department, the licence holder shall hand the individual dose certificate with the registered doses over to him/her.

# Chapter 5: Handling Installations and Radioactive Radiation Sources

#### Section 1: Controlled Areas

#### Article 58

- <sup>1</sup> The licence holder shall establish controlled areas in order to limit and monitor radiation exposure.
- <sup>2</sup>Controlled areas shall have clear boundaries and shall be signposted in accordance with Annex 6.
- <sup>3</sup> The licence holder shall ensure that access to and presence in the controlled areas is kept under supervision.
- <sup>4</sup> The Federal Department of Home Affairs and Federal Department of Transport and Energy shall issue the necessary rules governing behaviour inside controlled areas.

#### Section 2:

#### Shielding and Location of Installations and Radioactive Sources

#### Article 59 Shielding

The room or area in which fixed installations or radioactive sources are operated or stored shall be designed and shielded in such a way that, due consideration being given to its frequency of use:

- a. at places outside of the controlled area but on the same works premises where persons not occupationally exposed to radiation are likely to be present, the ambient dose shall not exceed 0.02 mSv per week. In places where people are not permanently present, it shall be permitted to exceed this value by a factor of five;
- b. at places outside of the works premises, it shall not be permitted for the immission limits set in Article 102 to be exceeded.

#### Article 60 Location of Non Medical Installations and Radioactive Sources

- <sup>1</sup> Installations for non medical applications and irradiation units that are used for the non destructive testing of materials (structural analyses) shall be housed inside an irradiation room or be equipped with integral shielding.
- <sup>2</sup> The irradiation room shall meet the following requirements:
- a. the switchgear must be located outside of it;
- b. there shall be suitable devices to prevent entry to it as long as the installation is in operation. The possibility of escape shall be guaranteed at all times;
- c. the operational status of the installation must be clearly displayed by means of an acoustic or optical signal both inside the irradiation room and at its entrance.

- <sup>3</sup> The regulatory agency shall be permitted to grant exceptions to paragraph 1 when it is not possible to operate an installation or irradiation unit inside an irradiation room. The ambient dose at the boundary of the controlled area shall not be permitted to exceed 0.1 mSv per week in the open air and 0.02 mSv per week inside buildings.
- <sup>4</sup> Whenever an installation or irradiation unit is used outside of an irradiation room, there shall at all times be an additional person available to provide assistance to the operator.
- <sup>5</sup> Analytical and other radiological equipment as well as units with closed radioactive sources for radiometric measurements such as density gauges, level controls, and layer-thickness detectors shall be installed inside a controlled area or shall be equipped with integral shielding.

#### Article 60 Location of Medical Installations and Radioactive Sources

- <sup>1</sup> The Federal Department of Home Affairs shall lay down the requirements for the location of medical installations. It shall, in particular, establish the rules governing construction and related calculation principles.
- <sup>2</sup> The presence of persons in the vicinity of patients to whom radioactive sources are being applied for therapeutic purposes shall be reduced to a minimum. The doctor with responsibility for the patient shall ensure that the area around the patient is adequately monitored.
- <sup>3</sup> The Federal Department of Home Affairs shall lay down:
- a. the requirements to be met by treatment wards;
- b. the radiological protection measures for the nursing and accommodation of patients.

# Article 62 Technical Requirements

The Federal Department of Home Affairs and the Federal Department of Transport and Energy shall lay down the technical requirements for installations and radioactive sources and shall also establish the necessary protective measures for handling them.

# Section 3: Radiation Measuring Equipment

# Article 63 Radiation Measuring Equipment

- <sup>1</sup> It shall be the duty of the licence holder to ensure that his/her enterprise is equipped with the necessary number of suitable measuring devices.
- <sup>2</sup> In rooms or areas where radioactive sources are handled there shall at all times be suitable measuring equipment available for dose-rate and/or contamination monitoring.
- <sup>3</sup> Where non medical installations or irradiation units for structure analysis are operated without permanent shielding or outside of irradiation rooms, their operating personnel shall have not only personal dosimeters but also a radiation-measuring device with a built-in warning function available to them.

<sup>4</sup> Where it is possible for the position and dimensions of shielding elements to be altered or when it is required for a controlled area to be cordoned off with barriers, at least one suitable radiation-measuring device with a direct read-out of ambient dose rates shall be available at the installation.

# Article 64 Testing and Calibration of Radiation Measuring Equipment

- <sup>1</sup> The licence holder shall be required to carry out tests of the proper functioning of radiation measuring devices at suitable intervals and using appropriate comparative sources.
- <sup>2</sup> The regulatory agency shall be empowered to require the licence holder to participate in comparative measurements.
- <sup>3</sup> It shall be empowered to order that radiation measuring devices and measuring equipment for determining activity be calibrated by the Swiss National Office of Metrology (EAM/OFMET) or a body accredited by it.
- <sup>4</sup> The location-independent reference systems used to check installations used for radiation therapy shall be calibrated regularly by the Swiss National Office of Metrology or a body accredited by it and at the same time verified to be functioning correctly.
- <sup>5</sup> It shall be possible for the Swiss National Office of Metrology to lay down the requirements to be met by such reference systems and the period of time permitted to elapse between periodic checks for individual cases after it has consulted the regulatory agency.

# Section 4: Design and Labelling of Sealed Radioactive Sources

# Article 65 Design

- <sup>1</sup> In terms of their design, sealed radioactive sources shall incorporate the latest state of the scientific and technological art and shall comply, in particular, with the standards of the International Standards Organisation (ISO).
- <sup>2</sup> For sealed radioactive sources, it shall be required that radionuclides be selected in the chemically most stable form possible.
- <sup>3</sup> Where sealed radioactive sources are used solely as a source of gamma radiation, they shall be required to be shielded in such a way as to prevent the escape of any of the primary particle radiation.

# Article 66 Labelling

- <sup>1</sup> Sealed radioactive sources and their containers shall be labelled in such a way that it will always be possible to identify the source. The regulatory agency may grant exceptions in cases where it is not feasible to affix such labelling.
- <sup>2</sup> The labelling shall be such that the radionuclide, its activity, dates of manufacture and measurement and ISO classification can be clearly read or derived.

# Article 67 Testing

<sup>1</sup> Every sealed radioactive source shall be leak tested and free from contamination by a body accredited for the task or recognised by the regulatory agency.

<sup>2</sup>Every sealed radioactive source whose activity is greater than one-hundred times the value of the licensing limit as laid down in Annex 3, column 10 shall undergo a pattern-approval test in accordance with ISO standards and shall be correspondingly classified.

<sup>3</sup> In justified cases, the regulatory agency may grant exceptions to paragraphs 1 and 2 or require additional quality tests.

#### Article 68 Utilisation and Operation

<sup>1</sup> Irradiation units and protective containers with sealed radioactive sources that are manipulated outside of irradiation rooms shall not produce an ambient dose level in excess of 0.1 mSv per hour at a distance of 1 m from their surface when their shielding is in place and closed.

<sup>2</sup> Sealed radioactive sources for non destructive testing of materials shall be kept in a protective container (irradiation unit). The primary radiation from the radioactive source in its protracted position shall be diaphragmed onto the necessary field using a collimator.

# Section 5: Workplaces for Manipulating unsealed Radioactive Sources

# Article 69 Workplaces

<sup>1</sup> Work with unsealed radioactive sources whose activity exceeds the licensing limits laid down in Annex 3, column 10 shall be carried out in workplaces.

<sup>2</sup> Workplaces shall be set up in separate rooms intended solely for such purposes.

<sup>3</sup> Workplaces shall be classified into the following types depending on the activities used per operation or per day

- a. Type C: an activity between one and a hundred times the licensing limits laid down in Annex 3, column 10;
- b. Type B: an activity between 1 and 10 000 times the licensing limits laid down in Annex 3, column 10;
- c. Type A: an activity between one times the licensing limit and an upper limit to be established in the licensing procedure.

<sup>4</sup> For activities where there is no risk of inhalation, the regulatory agency may establish the category of workplace taking the incorporation risk into consideration.

<sup>5</sup> The Federal Department of Home Affairs and Federal Department of Transport and Energy shall issue the necessary regulations governing protective measures in workplaces.

#### Article 70 Exceptions

<sup>1</sup> The regulatory agency shall be permitted to grant exceptions to Article 69, paragraph 2, when there are technical, operational reasons for it, provided radiological protection is still guaranteed.

<sup>2</sup> For manipulations involving only minor risks of intake, the regulatory agency shall be permitted, in exceptional cases, to increase the values specified in Article 69, paragraph 3 by up to a factor of ten, provided radiological protection is still guaranteed.

<sup>3</sup> The regulatory agency shall be permitted to increase the values specified in Article 69, paragraph 3 by up to a factor of one hundred, provided a workplace is used exclusively for the storage of radioactive sources.

#### Article 71 Guideline Values for Contamination

<sup>1</sup> The guideline values laid down in Annex 3 column 12 shall apply to the maximum contamination of the skin, towels, underwear, clothes, materials and surfaces outside of controlled areas.

<sup>2</sup> If the contamination of materials and surfaces in accessible parts of controlled areas is greater than ten times the guideline value laid down in Annex 3, column 12, either decontamination measures shall be introduced or other suitable protective means shall be adopted.

<sup>3</sup> If part of the contamination in a controlled area is going to remain fixed to the surface under foreseeable handling and loading, then the guideline values laid down in Annex 3, column 12 shall only apply to the transferable part of the contamination.

#### Article 72 Treatment and Clearance of Workplaces upon Cessation of Work

<sup>1</sup> In all workplaces in which the handling of unsealed radioactive sources has been discontinued and, where necessary, in the vicinity of such operations with all their equipment and the remaining material, the licence holder shall be required to carry out decontamination at least to the extent that the guideline values laid down in Annex 3 column 12 and the immission limits laid down in Article 102 are not exceeded.

<sup>2</sup> The licence holder shall submit a report to the regulatory agency on all measures carried out in accordance with paragraph 1.

<sup>3</sup> The licence holder shall only be permitted to put the workplaces concerned to another use once they have been cleared by the regulatory agency.

#### Section 6:

# Maintenance and Servicing of Installations and Radioactive Sources

# Article 73 Fundamental Principle

<sup>1</sup> It shall be the licence holder's duty to ensure that installations are comprehensively serviced and maintained at suitable intervals.

<sup>2</sup> For non medical installations, the regulatory agency shall lay down such intervals for each individual case.

<sup>3</sup> The licence holder shall be required to perform a regular inspection of the state of radioactive sources and to keep records.

# Article 74 Medical Installations and Medical Equipment Incorporating Sealed Radioactive Sources

<sup>1</sup> It shall be the licence holder's duty to ensure that an acceptance test be carried out before the first use of a medical installation or medical equipment incorporating sealed radioactive sources.

<sup>2</sup>Once a medical installation or medical equipment incorporating sealed radioactive sources has entered service, the licence holder shall be required to carry out a quality assurance programme regularly.

<sup>3</sup> For medical radiological installations or medical equipment incorporating sealed radioactive sources, maintenance shall be performed at least once every three years, for small installations used in dentistry, at least once every six years, and for therapeutic installations in excess of 100 kilovolts as well as irradiation units, at least once every year.

<sup>4</sup> For therapeutic installations and irradiation units, those elements that are relevant to safety or that determine the dose shall be inspected at least once every year as well as after every change in any component likely to affect the dose rate. The inspection shall be carried out under the supervision of a medical physicist with a qualification recognised by the Swiss Society for Radiobiology and Medical Physics or having undergone equivalent training.

<sup>5</sup> For the operation of medical accelerator installations and medical irradiation units and also for dosimetry in the planning of irradiation, the licence holder shall have available one or several medical physicists as defined in paragraph 4.

<sup>6</sup> The Federal Department of Home Affairs shall define the minimum scope of the acceptance test and the programme for quality assurance. In so doing, it shall give due consideration to international quality-assurance standards.

#### Section 7:

# Storage, Transport, Import, Export and Transit of Radioactive Sources

#### Article 75 Storage

<sup>1</sup> Radioactive sources whose level of activity is above the licensing limit laid down in Annex 3, column 10 shall be stored in such a way that only persons authorised to use them shall be able to have access to them.

<sup>2</sup> The Federal Department of Home Affairs and the Federal Department of Transport and Energy shall issue regulations governing the type of storage and the requirements to be met by storage facilities.

#### Article 76 Transport off the Company Premises

- <sup>1</sup> Anyone transporting radioactive sources away from the works premises or causing them so to be transported shall ensure that transportation complies with the federal regulation governing the transport of hazardous substances.
- <sup>2</sup>He/she shall be required to furnish evidence of an appropriate quality-assurance programme.
- <sup>3</sup> The shipper and haulier of radioactive sources shall appoint one person to be responsible for quality assurance and shall lay down the quality assurance measures in writing.
- <sup>4</sup> Where either the shipper or haulier is in possession of a quality-assurance system for the transport of hazardous substances certified by an accredited body, it shall be assumed that they use an appropriate quality-assurance programme.
- <sup>5</sup> The shipper and haulier shall ensure that the transport containers or packaging materials comply with the corresponding regulations and are properly maintained.
- <sup>6</sup> The shipper shall have the duty to ensure that his/her contracted haulier is in possession of a licence for the transport of radioactive sources.

# Article 77 Transport within Company Premises

The Federal Department of Home Affairs and the Federal Department of Transport and Energy shall lay down the requirements to be met by transport packaging materials for radioactive sources transported within company premises.

# Article 78 Import, Export and Transit

<sup>1</sup> It shall only be permitted for the import, export or transit of radioactive sources to pass through a principal customs office.

- <sup>2</sup> The customs declaration of import and export shall contain the following particulars:
- a. the precise designation of the merchandise;
- b. the radionuclides;
- c. the total activity per nuclide expressed in becquerels;
- d. the licence number of the recipient or shipper in Switzerland.
- <sup>3</sup> Storage in a customs warehouse shall require an individual permit. This shall be submitted to the customs office.

# **Chapter 6: Radioactive Waste Products**

#### Section 1: Release to the Environment

#### Article 79 Fundamental Principle

- <sup>1</sup> It shall only be permitted to release radioactive waste products into the environment with a licence and under the supervision of the licence holder.
- <sup>2</sup> It shall only be permitted to release radioactive waste products with a minor level of activity into the environment.

# Article 80 Discharge of Airborne and Liquid Waste

- <sup>1</sup> It shall only be permitted for airborne, aerosol or liquid radioactive waste to reach the atmosphere only via the waste air to the atmosphere and only via the waste water to the surface water.
- <sup>2</sup> For each individual case and each individual works, the licensing authority shall lay down maximum discharge rates and, where appropriate, discharge concentrations.
- <sup>3</sup> It shall lay down the discharge rates and discharge concentrations such that the source-related dose guideline values as defined in Article 7 and the immission limit as laid don in Article 102 are not exceeded.

# Article 81 Regulatory measures

- As part of the licence, the licensing authority shall determine how the emission shall be monitored. It shall be permitted for it to require mandatory reporting.
- <sup>2</sup> Immission monitoring shall be in accordance with Article 103.
- <sup>3</sup> The licence holder shall be permitted to call in external bodies to carry out monitoring measurements, provided they are recognised by the regulatory agency.
- <sup>4</sup> The licensing authority or regulatory agency shall be permitted to order that an expert meteorological opinion be drawn up and zero-level measurements be carried out prior to the commencement of operations.

#### Article 82 Discharge of Solid Waste

As an exception, it shall be permitted for solid radioactive waste materials with specific activities not exceeding one hundred times the exemption limit laid down in Annex 3, column 9 to be discharged to the environment with the approval of the licensing authority, provided they are blended with inert materials in such a way as to ensure that the values laid down in Annex 2 are not exceeded.

#### Article 83 Incineration of Waste Products on Company Sites

- <sup>1</sup> It shall be permitted for biological or organo-chemical radioactive waste products to be incinerated on the site on which they arise or on another licensed site, provided the plant concerned is equipped with a suitable waste-incineration unit complying with the regulations relative to waste contained in the Clean Air Ordinance of 16 December 1985<sup>1)</sup> and the Technical Ordinance of 10 December 1990<sup>2)</sup>.
- <sup>2</sup> Such waste shall only be permitted to contain the radionuclides, H-3, C-14 or S-35. In justified cases, it shall be permitted to incinerate wastes containing other radionuclides provided the approval of the regulatory agency is received.
- <sup>3</sup> The activity authorised to be incinerated in the course of a week shall not be permitted to exceed one thousand times the licensing limit laid down in Annex 3 column 10.
- <sup>4</sup>Radioactive residues from incineration and flue-gas scrubbing shall be treated as radioactive waste.

#### Section 2: Treatment of Waste Products on Works Sites

#### Article 84 Record Keeping

Owners of radioactive waste shall monitor their stocks and shall also document composition and any activities that are destined for subsequent treatment.

#### Article 85 Waste Products with Short Half-Lives

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Waste products that are comprised solely of radionuclides with half-lives of sixty days or less shall be stored in the site on which they arise until such time as their activity decays to a level whereby they no longer fall within the scope of Article 1 or fall below the licensed discharge rate specified in Article 80.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The activity shall be verified in an appropriate manner immediately prior to disposal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The licence holder shall ensure that all labels, hazard warnings and any other indication of radioactivity are removed after the activity has decayed but before disposal of the inactive waste products.

<sup>1)</sup> SR/RS 814.318.142.1

<sup>2)</sup> SR/RS 814.015

#### Article 86 Gases, Dust, Aerosols and Liquids

Insofar as it is possible to do so for econimic considerations that might reasonably be expected:

- a. radioactive waste in the form of gases, dusts or aerosols shall be retained through suitable devices such as filters or scrubbing towers;
- b. liquid radioactive waste shall be converted to a solid form.

# **Section 3: Delivery**

#### Article 87

- <sup>1</sup> Radioactive waste products other than those arising from the use of nuclear energy shall be delivered to the collecting point, after treatment at the works, where appropriate.
- <sup>2</sup> The following shall be exempt from delivery to the collecting point:
- a. radioactive waste that it is permitted to be released to the environment;
- b. radioactive waste with a short half-life as defined in Article 85.

#### Section 4:

# Conditioning, Interim Storage and Final Disposal of Waste Products

# Article 88 Fundamental Principle

Radioactive waste products that have arisen as the result of the use of nuclear energy or that have been delivered to the collecting point shall be conditioned, placed in intermediate storage, if necessary, and disposed of definitively.

#### Article 89 Conditioning

#### Article 90 Interim Storage

The interim storage of radioactive waste products shall be in rooms or containers that are inaccessible to unauthorised persons, such that:

- a. it is not possible for either persons or the environment to be subjected to unauthorised radiation;
- b. the suitability of the waste products for final disposal is not impaired.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Federal Department of Home Affairs shall lay down the technical particulars for the treatment of radioactive waste subject to compulsory delivery. It shall designate the collecting point and define its duties.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Radioactive waste products shall be converted to a form suitable for interim storage and final disposal (conditioning).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The conditioning process shall require the approval of the Swiss Federal Nuclear Safety Inspectorate (HSK/SENSI).

#### Article 91 Disposal

Radioactive waste products shall be disposed of under supervision in such a way as to ensure the protection of people and the environment.

# Article 92 Powers Delegated to the Federal Department of Transport and Energy

The Federal Department of Transport and Energy shall issue the necessary regulations governing conditioning, intermediate storage and final disposal.

#### **Section 5: Export of Radioactive Waste Products**

#### Article 93 Fundamental Principle

As an exception, it shall be permitted to grant a licence for the export of radioactive waste products for the purpose of disposal, provided:

- a. it is guaranteed that adequate safety requirements will be complied with in the recipient country;
- b. a corresponding final repository complying with the state of the scientific and technical art is available;
- c. disposal occurs in the context of an international agreement.

#### **Chapter 7: Incidents**

#### Section 1: Prevention of Incidents

#### Article 94 Prevention

- <sup>1</sup> The licence holder shall adopt suitable measures to prevent incidents.
- <sup>2</sup> The plant shall be designed in such a way that the source-related dose guideline value as defined in Article 7 is not exceeded even in the event of incidents likely to occur with a frequency of greater than 10<sup>-1</sup> per year.
- <sup>3</sup> For failures likely to occur with a frequency of between 10<sup>-1</sup> and 10<sup>-2</sup> per year, the plant shall be designed in such a way that no single failure shall result in an additional dose greater than the annual source-related dose guideline value for the particular plant.
- <sup>4</sup> For incidents likely to occur with a frequency of between 10<sup>-2</sup> and 10<sup>-4</sup> per year, the plant shall be designed in such a way that:
- a. the resulting dose from a single incident shall not be greater than 1 mSv for persons not occupationally exposed to radiation;
- b. only a limited number of such incidents shall be able to occur.
- <sup>5</sup> For incidents with a likelihood of occurrence of less than 10<sup>-4</sup> per year, but which could have a major effect, the regulatory agency shall lay down the necessary preventive measures
- <sup>6</sup> The regulatory agency shall establish the methodology and boundary conditions for incidents analysis for each individual case.

#### Article 95 Safety Report

- <sup>1</sup> The regulatory agency shall be empowered to require the licence holder to submit a safety report.
- <sup>2</sup> The safety report shall include descriptions of:
- a. safety systems and equipment;
- b. measures that have been taken to guarantee safety;
- c. the operational organisation that bears the main responsibility for safety;
- d. incidents, their effects on the plant and the environment as well as their approximate frequency;
- e. planning for emergency-protection measures for the population in plant falling within the scope of Article 101.
- <sup>3</sup> The regulatory agency shall be entitled to demand the submission of additional documentation.

#### Article 96 Preventive Measures

- <sup>1</sup> The licence holder shall make the necessary preparations inside his/her organisation in order to be able to cope with failures.
- <sup>2</sup> He/she shall issue instructions regarding the measures to be adopted immediately.
- <sup>3</sup> He/she shall ensure that suitable means for dealing with failures are available at all times. In rooms in which radioactive substances are handled, this shall also apply to the means of fighting fires.
- <sup>4</sup> He/she shall ensure that employees receive regular instruction in the rules of conduct, are trained in the immediate measures and are familiarised with the location and use of the equipment to combat the failure.
- <sup>5</sup> He/she shall adopt appropriate measures to ensure that, during the first year following a failure, employees deployed in fighting it do not receive an effective dose of more than 50 mSv or 250 mSv in the course of activities to protect the population and, in particular, to save human lives.
- <sup>6</sup> The regulatory agency shall have the powers to demand that exercises be carried out to verify the reporting routes, the correct operation of the equipment and the training of employees. It shall also be able to carry out exercises itself.
- <sup>7</sup>The licence holder shall inform the cantonal authorities and emergency services of all radiation sources present in his/her works.

# Section 2: Coping with Failures

#### Article 97 Immediate Measures

<sup>1</sup> The licence holder shall adopt every endeavour to keep failure incidents under control.

- <sup>2</sup> He/she shall, in particular, without delay:
- a. prevent a further spread of the incident, in particular by adopting measures at the source;
- b. ensure that persons not involved in fighting the failure do not enter the danger area and that those that are there leave it immediately;
- c. adopt protective measures for the personnel deployed, in particular dose monitoring and training;
- d. establish records of everybody involved, monitor them for contamination and intake and, as necessary, carry out decontamination.
- <sup>2</sup> At the earliest possible opportunity, the licence holder shall:
- a. remove any contamination that has arisen;
- b. adopt all the measures that are necessary to clarify the cause of the failure.

#### Article 98 Obligation to Notify

<sup>1</sup> The licence holder shall report every failure to the regulatory agency.

<sup>2</sup> He/she shall also report radiological failures to the National Alarm Centre without delay.

In the event of a radiation accident, the licence holder shall immediately notify the regulatory agency. He/she shall also report such a radiation accident immediately to the Swiss National Accident Insurance Organization (SUVA) whenever the accident victim is an employee.

# Article 99 Investigation

- <sup>1</sup> After every incident, the licence holder shall, without delay, appoint an expert to carry out an investigation.
- <sup>2</sup> The results of this investigation shall be recorded in a report. The report shall contain:
- a. the description of the incident, its cause, the effects that have been established and possible further ones and also the measures taken;
- b. the presentation of the measures that are planned or have already been taken to prevent further similar incidents.
- <sup>3</sup> The licence holder shall submit the report to the regulatory agency at the latest six weeks after the incident.

# Article 100 Information Regarding the Incident

The regulatory agency shall ensure that the persons and Cantons involved as well as the population at large are informed in good time about radiological and technical incidents. This shall be without prejudice to Article 16 of the Ordinance of 26 June 1991<sup>1)</sup> dealing with the emergency intervention organisation in the event of elevated levels of radiation or radioactivity.

<sup>1)</sup> SR/RS 732.33

# Section 3: Emergency Protective Measures in the Vicinity of Enterprises

#### Article 101

<sup>1</sup> For plants at which a failure could lead to the dose limit defined in Article 37 being exceeded, the licensing authority shall lay down for each individual case the extent to which such plants shall be involved in the preparation and implementation of emergency protective measures in their vicinity or the extent to which they shall take such measures themselves.

<sup>2</sup> The licensing authority shall involve the competent cantonal body and emergency centres in the preparation of emergency protective measures and shall inform them of the measures adopted.

<sup>3</sup> The Emergency Protection Ordinance of 28 November 1983<sup>2)</sup> shall apply to warnings and alarms as well as the preparation and implementation of protective measures for the event of increased radioactivity in the neighbourhood of nuclear installations.

# Chapter 8: Monitoring the Environment and Food

#### Section 1: Monitoring the Environment

#### Article 102 Immission Limits

<sup>1</sup> Immissions of radioactive substances from the works premises into the atmosphere shall, as an annual mean, not exceed one three-hundredth of the guideline value laid down in Annex 3, column 11.

<sup>2</sup> Immissions of radioactive substances into waters to which the public has access shall, as a weekly mean, not exceed one fiftieth of the exemption limit for the specified radionuclide as laid down in Annex 3, column 9.

<sup>3</sup>Outside of the works premises, the direct radiation shall not lead to ambient doses in excess of 1 mSv per year in residential, recreational and working premises and 5 mSv per year in other places.

# Article 103 Immission Monitoring by the Company

<sup>1</sup> The licensing authority shall have powers to require the licence holder to carry out metrological monitoring of immissions of radioactive substances and direct radiation from his/her works and to report the results to the regulatory agency.

<sup>2</sup>The licence holder shall be permitted to entrust monitoring measurements to external bodies, provided they have been recognised by the regulatory agency.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2)</sup> SR/RS 732\_33

#### Article 104 Monitoring Environmental Radioactivity

- <sup>1</sup> The Federal Office of Public Health shall monitor the ionising radiation and radioactivity in the environment.
- <sup>2</sup> The Swiss Federal Nuclear Safety Inspectorate (HSK/SENSI) shall, in addition, monitor the ionising radiation and radioactivity in the vicinity of nuclear installations and the Paul Scherrer Institute.
- <sup>3</sup> In monitoring radioactivity in food, the Federal Office of Public Health shall cooperate with the Cantons.

#### Article 105 Sampling and Measuring Programme

- <sup>1</sup> The Federal Office of Public Health shall draw up a programme for sampling and measurements in cooperation with the Swiss Federal Nuclear Safety Inspectorate (HSK/SENSI), the Swiss National Accident Insurance Organization (SUVA), the National Alarm Centre and the Cantons.
- <sup>2</sup> In order to ensure that the programme of sampling and measurements can be carried out, the laboratories belonging to the Swiss Confederation, namely the Paul Scherrer Institute, the Federal Institute for Water Supply, Waste-Water Purification and Protection of Water, and the AC Laboratory in Spiez shall have a duty to cooperate and, at all times, to have the necessary personnel and material means available. It shall be permitted to involve third-parties for this purpose.

# Article 106 Collection of Data and Report

- <sup>1</sup> The Swiss Federal Nuclear Safety Inspectorate (HSK/SENSI), the Swiss National Accident Insurance Organization (SUVA), the National Alarm Centre, the Cantons as well as other laboratories involved shall make the raw and interpreted data from this monitoring available to the Federal Office of Public Health.
- <sup>2</sup> The Federal Office of Public Health shall use these contributions to draft an annual report on the events covered by monitoring and the resulting radiation dose for the population. It shall make the report public.

# Article 107 Commission for the Monitoring of Radioactivity

- <sup>1</sup> The Commission for the Monitoring of Radioactivity shall be an agency set up to advise the Federal Council, the Federal Department of Home Affairs and the Federal Department of Transport and Energy.
- <sup>2</sup> It shall have the express function of issuing its opinion on radioactivity in the environment, the results of monitoring, their interpretation and the resulting radiation doses for the population.
- <sup>3</sup> The Federal Office of Public Health shall regularly supply the monitoring data to the Commission for Monitoring Radioactivity.
- <sup>4</sup> Administratively, the Commission for Monitoring Radioactivity shall be attached to the Federal Department of Home Affairs.

<sup>5</sup> The Federal Department of Home Affairs shall issue rules of procedure for the Commission.

# **Section 2: Monitoring Food**

#### Article 108 Limits and Tolerance Values for Radionuclides in Food

The applicable limits and tolerance values for radionuclides in food shall be those laid down in the Ordinance on Foreign Substances and Ingredients of 27 February 1986<sup>1)</sup>.

#### Article 109 Information

- 1 Should the monitoring bodies establish that a limit or tolerance value has been exceeded, they shall inform the Federal Office of Public Health.
- <sup>2</sup> The Federal Office of Public Health shall inform the monitoring bodies of any reports it receives in accordance with paragraph 1.

#### Section 3: Elevated Radon Concentrations

#### Article 110 Limits and Reference Values

- <sup>1</sup> The applicable value for radon in residential and recreational premises shall be a limit of 1000 becquerels per cubic meter (Bq/m³) measured as a mean in the course of one year.
- <sup>2</sup> The applicable value for radon at the workplace shall be a limit of 3000 Bq/m<sup>3</sup> measured as a mean during the monthly working time.
- <sup>3</sup> Where an occupationally exposed person is additionally exposed to radon gas concentrations in excess of 1000 Bq/m<sup>3</sup>, then the additional accumulated dose due to radon shall also be taken into consideration for the calculation of the permitted annual dose in accordance with Article 35.
- <sup>4</sup> For new and reconstructed buildings (Article 114) as well as ones where remedial work is carried out (Article 113), a guideline value of 400 Bq/m<sup>3</sup> shall apply, provided it can be attained with simple building measures,

#### Article 111 Measurements

- The radon gas concentration shall be determined by a recognised measuring laboratory.
- <sup>2</sup> It shall be possible for measurements to be performed at the instigation of the proprietor or any other person concerned.

<sup>1)</sup> SR/RS 817.022

- <sup>3</sup> When a measurement is not carried out in accordance with paragraph 2, then it shall be ordered by the Cantons upon request from the person concerned. The Cantons shall ensure that the results of the measurement are communicated to the person concerned.
- <sup>4</sup> Persons concerned shall be considered to be those for whom there are initial grounds for believing that the limits may have been exceeded as a result of spending time in rooms and areas defined in Article 110. This shall apply in particular to persons spending time in areas with elevated radon concentrations as defined in Article 115.
- <sup>5</sup> Persons using buildings shall be required to make rooms accessible for measurements.
- <sup>6</sup> The costs of measurements ordered by the Cantons shall be borne by the proprietor.

# Article 112 Recognition and Duties of Measuring Laboratories

- <sup>1</sup> The measuring laboratories shall be recognised by the Federal Office of Public Health, provided the envisaged measuring system meets the state of the art and is linked to national or international comparison standards (traceability).
- <sup>2</sup> In individual cases, traceability shall be established by the Swiss National Institute for Metrology and verified by a body recognised by it.
- <sup>3</sup> The measuring laboratories shall be required to communicate the results of their measurements to the cantonal authorities.

#### Article 113 Protective Measures

- <sup>1</sup> If the limit laid down in Article 110 is exceeded, then the proprietor shall be required, upon request from a person concerned, to carry out the necessary remedial work within a period of three years.
- <sup>2</sup> Should this term expire without the work being done or should the proprietor refuse to undertake it, then the Cantons shall order the necessary remedial measures to be executed. They shall set a time limit of three years at most for completion of the work, depending on the urgency of the particular case.
- <sup>3</sup> The costs of remedial work shall be borne by the proprietor.
- <sup>4</sup> This Article shall be without prejudice to remedial measures carried out by the Swiss National Accident Insurance Organization (SUVA) in accordance with the law on accident prevention.

# Article 114 Building Regulations

- <sup>1</sup> The Cantons shall take the necessary measures to ensure that new and reconstructed buildings are erected in such a way as to ensure that the limit of 1000 Bq/m³ is not exceeded. They shall further ensure that suitable construction techniques are used to endeavour to keep the radon gas concentration below the reference value of 400 Bq/m³.
- <sup>2</sup>Upon completion of the building work, the Cantons shall take random samples to establish whether the limit has been met.

#### Article 115 Radon Areas

- <sup>1</sup> The Cantons shall ensure that a sufficient number of measurements are made throughout their territory.
- <sup>2</sup> They shall determine the areas with elevated radon gas concentrations and shall adjust these continuously on the basis of the measured data.
- <sup>3</sup> The Cantons shall ensure that in areas with elevated radon gas concentrations measurements are made in an adequate number of residential and recreational premises as well as workplaces in public buildings.
- <sup>4</sup> The charts of areas with elevated radon gas concentrations shall be available for public consultation.

# Article 116 Remedial Programmes

- <sup>1</sup> In areas with elevated radon gas concentrations, the Cantons shall establish the necessary remedial work for premises in which the limit laid down in Article 110 paragraph 1 is exceeded.
- <sup>2</sup> They shall determine the time limit within which the work shall be completed, depending on the urgency of the individual case and the tolerability of the economic burden.
- <sup>3</sup> The remedial work shall have been completed at the latest twenty years after this Ordinance comes into force.
- <sup>4</sup> The costs of remedial work shall be borne by the proprietors.

#### Article 117 Information

- <sup>1</sup> The Cantons shall communicate their chart of radon areas to the Federal Office of Public Health at the latest ten years after this Ordinance comes into force.
- <sup>2</sup> They shall inform the Federal Office of Public Health regularly of the progress of remedial measures.

#### Article 118 Radon Technical and Information Centre

- <sup>1</sup> The Federal Office of Public Health shall operate a Radon Technical and Information Centre.
- <sup>2</sup> It shall have the following functions:
- a. in liaison with the Cantons, it shall make regular recommendations for measurements and measuring campaigns;
- b. it shall provide advice on radon problems to Cantons, the owners of buildings and other interested parties;
- c. it shall provide the public with regular information regarding radon problems in Switzerland;
- d. it shall advise the persons concerned and the public bodies involved on suitable protective measures;

- e. it shall carry out regular evaluations of the effects of the measures;
- f. it shall be empowered to carry out investigations into the origin and effects of radon;
- g. it shall present a regular summary report to the Cantons on the radon areas notified to it in accordance with Article 115.
- <sup>3</sup> The Federal Office of Public Health shall make the measured data collected prior to this Ordinance available to the Cantons at their request.
- <sup>4</sup> The Federal Office of Public Health shall be authorised to organise training courses.

# Chapter 9:

# Protection of the Population under Conditions of Elevated Radioactivity

# **Section 1: Emergency Organisation**

#### Article 119

For events likely to give rise to a significant danger to the population as the result of increased radioactivity, the VEOR/OROIR shall apply in addition to this Ordinance.

# Section 2: Persons and Companies with a Duty to Serve

#### Article 120 Categories of Persons

- <sup>1</sup> In the event of a significant danger by increased radioactivity, the following persons shall be required to perform duties in accordance with Article 20, paragraph 2 of the Radiological Protection Act.
- a. persons and companies such as measurement and radiological protection teams: for the direct fight against the incident;
- b. persons and companies involved in public and private transport: in order to convey people and goods and also to carry out evacuation;
- c. persons and companies: for the indirect fight against the hazard, such as measures at the source intended to prevent a further contamination of the neighbourhood;
- d. customs authorities: in order to police the borders;
- e. medical doctors and other specialised medical personnel in order to care for radiation victims and other persons affected.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Persons under the age of eighteen years and pregnant women shall be exempt from the duties laid down in paragraph 1.

#### Article 121 Protection of Health

<sup>1</sup> Persons called up for duty shall only be deployed for tasks as a result of which it is to be expected that during the first year following the incident they will not accumulate an effective dose of more than 50 mSv, or 250 mSv for tasks involving the saving of human lives.

<sup>2</sup> If a person called up for duty receives a dose in excess of 250 mSv, he/she shall be placed under medical surveillance. The investigating doctor shall report the medical findings to the person concerned and the Federal Office of Public Health, along with a formal proposal for measures to be adopted. The doctor shall also inform the Swiss National Accident Insurance Organization (SUVA) whenever an employee is involved.

<sup>3</sup> Disclosure of the data by the doctor shall be governed by Article 39, paragraph 3.

<sup>4</sup> The radiation exposure of any person called up for duty shall be established at appropriate intervals using suitable measurements.

<sup>5</sup> Where members of the armed forces, the civilian protection or emergency services are deployed according to the terms of the Radiological Protection Act, protection of their health shall be in accordance with paragraph 1.

#### Article 122 Equipment

<sup>1</sup> The intervention organisation for radiological emergencies as well as those federal and cantonal institutions that have a duty to work together in accordance with Article 2 of the VEOR/OROIR shall ensure that persons called up for duty shall have the necessary equipment available to them to do their work and protect their health.

<sup>2</sup>The necessary equipment shall include, in particular:

a. an adequate number of measuring instruments for the determination of radiation exposure;

b. means to protect them against intake and contamination.

# Article 123 Instruction and Training

<sup>1</sup> The intervention organisation for radiation emergencies as well as those federal and cantonal institutions that have a duty to work together in accordance with Article 2 of the VEOR/OROIR shall ensure that persons called up for duty receive the necessary instruction to carry out their work and are informed of the dangers associated therewith.

<sup>2</sup> Their instruction shall include at least the following points:

- a. behaviour in a radiation field (self-protection);
- b. the risks of radiation exposure;
- c. working and measuring methods during deployment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> It shall also be possible for persons eligible to be called up for duty to be required to participate in exercises.

#### Article 124 Insurance Cover and Compensation

<sup>1</sup> During increased radiation exposure, persons called up for duty shall be insured against accident and illness. Insofar as the compulsory accident insurance and pre-existing private insurances do not guarantee adequate cover, the Confederation shall guarantee the benefits according to the provisions of the Federal Act on Military Insurance of 19 June 1992. To the extent necessary, it shall also be possible for the Federal Office for Military Insurance to be brought in to implement it.

<sup>2</sup> Where persons and companies incur uncovered costs as a result of their activity, they shall receive the corresponding compensation from the Confederation. The Federal Department of Home Affairs shall lay down the rules for financial settlement.

#### Chapter 10: Licences and Supervision

# Section 1: Licensing Requirement and Procedure

# Article 125 Licensing Requirement

<sup>1</sup> The licensing requirement shall be in accordance with Article 28 of the Radiological Protection Act.

<sup>2</sup> The licensing requirement shall also apply to anyone who employs people as occupationally exposed persons in a plant requiring a licence under the terms of the Radiological Protection Act or the Nuclear Act.

<sup>3</sup> The following shall be exempt from the licensing requirement:

a. activities with radioactive substances, where the activity expressed on a per-day basis does not exceed the licensing limit laid down in Annex 3, column 10;

b. the handling of sources that are approved under the terms of Article 128, but excluding sales thereof.

# Article 126 Granting and Duration of Licenses

<sup>1</sup> Requests for the granting of a licence shall be submitted to the competent licensing authority along with all the necessary documentation.

<sup>2</sup> The licensing authority shall grant licences for a maximum duration of ten years.

<sup>3</sup> The licences for the import and export of radioactive sources whose activity exceeds the licensing limit by more than 10 000 000 times shall only be granted for single import or export movements.

<sup>4</sup> The licensing authorities shall communicate their decision to the Cantons concerned, the regulatory agencies and, in cases involving companies subject to the Labour Act, also to the competent Federal Labour Inspectorate.

<sup>1)</sup> SR/RS 833.1

#### Article 127 Licensing Authorities

- <sup>1</sup> The Federal Office of Energy shall be the licensing authority for:
- a. activities in nuclear installations;
- activities at the Paul Scherrer Institute in Villingen-Würenlingen, but excluding those activities involving the application of radioactive substance to the human body;
- c. the import and export of radioactive waste products from nuclear installations;
- d. experiments with radioactive substances that fall within the context of the preparatory measures in accordance with Article 10, paragraph 2 of the Federal Decree of 6 October 1978<sup>1)</sup> regarding the Nuclear Act.
- <sup>2</sup> In all other cases, the Federal Office of Public Health shall be the licensing authority.

# **Section 2: Approvals**

#### Article 128 Conditions

- <sup>1</sup> It shall be possible for the Federal Office of Public Health to approve installations and radioactive sources provided:
- a. they incorporate constructive measures to prevent people from being inadmissibly exposed to radiation or radioactively contaminated;
- b. that, in cases where there will be a need to dispose of radioactive waste at the end of service life, there shall be a guarantee thereof;
- c. the ambient dose rate at a distance of 10 cm from the surface does not exceed 1  $\mu$ Sv per hour.
- <sup>2</sup> The Federal Office of Public Health shall be empowered to issue regulations governing the approval of particular installations and radioactive sources.

# Article 129 Pattern Approval

The Federal Office of Public Health shall subject installations and radioactive sources submitted for licensing to a pattern approval. It shall be permitted to call on another body for this purpose.

# Article 130 Effects of Approval

- Any one handling approved installations and radioactive sources shall not need a licence so to do, with the exception of sales thereof.
- <sup>2</sup> Along with the approval, the Federal Office of Public Health shall lay down:
- a. the conditions under which radioactive sources may be handled as if they were inactive substances;

<sup>1)</sup> SR/RS 732.01

- b. the way in which radioactive sources may eventually need to be disposed of as radioactive waste at the end of their service life;
- c. which installations and radioactive sources shall have a warning notice affixed to them.

#### Article 131 Duties of Approval Holders

- <sup>1</sup> The approval holder shall comply with the record-keeping and reporting duties laid down in Article 134.
- <sup>2</sup> He/she shall label the approved installations and radioactive sources with a particular approval symbol agreed by the Federal Office of Public Health.
- <sup>3</sup> The Federal Office of Public Health shall be empowered to exempt certain categories of approved installations and radioactive sources, in whole or in part, from labelling.

#### Section 3: Duties of License Holders

# Article 132 Organisational Duties

- <sup>1</sup> The licence holder shall issue instructions applicable inside his/her enterprise regarding working methods and protective measures and shall monitor compliance therewith.
- <sup>2</sup> He/she shall keep a written record of the competences of the various line managers and experts in radiological protection as well as of every other person handling radiation sources. He/she shall grant the experts the powers to intervene when this is necessary to afford protection.
- <sup>3</sup> He/she shall ensure that all persons working in the enterprise are given adequate counselling regarding the dangers to health that might possibly arise from the handling of ionising radiation at the workplace.
- <sup>4</sup> Should the licence holder deploy persons from service organisations or other operations as occupationally exposed persons, then he/she shall be required to ensure that the attention of such enterprises is drawn to the applicable measures of radiological protection.

# Article 133 Duty to Notify

- <sup>1</sup> The licence holder shall notify the regulatory agency of any planned modifications before they are made, and in particular:
- a. modifications in the output of the installation, structural and design factors and the direction of the radiation beam;
- b. changes in the storage location of radiation sources with an activity greater than 100 000 times the licensing limit laid down in Annex 3, column 10;
- c. any change in the expert responsible for radiological protection.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> It shall limit approvals to a maximum of ten years.

<sup>2</sup> Every year, he/she shall inform the regulatory agency of the precise location of every radiation source that has an activity greater than 20 000 000 times the value of the licensing limit as laid down in Annex 3, column 10.

<sup>3</sup> The loss of any radioactive sources with an activity in excess of the licensing limit laid down in Annex 3, column 10 shall be immediately reported to the regulatory agency.

#### Article 134 Duty to Keep Records and Report

- Anyone handling radioactive sources with an activity greater than the licensing limit laid down in Annex 3, column 10, shall be required to keep records of their stocks.
- Anyone handling open radioactive sources with an activity greater than the licensing limit laid down in Annex 3, column 10, shall be required to keep records thereof.
- Anyone trading in radioactive sources shall be required to report as follows to the licensing authority at the end of every year:
- a. the designation of the radionuclides as well as their chemical and physical form;
- b. the designation of the equipment or object that contains radioactive substances, along with the indication of their activity;
- c. the designation of the installations and their parameters;
- d. the addresses of domestic suppliers;
- e. the addresses of domestic clients, along with the activities of the individual radionuclides acquired.
- <sup>4</sup> For all other forms of manipulation, record-keeping and reporting shall be set down in the licence for individual cases.

# Article 135 Trader's Duty of Due Care

Within Switzerland, traders shall only be permitted to cede installations or radioactive sources with an activity in excess of the licensing limit laid down in Annex 3, column 10 to plants or persons in possession of the corresponding licence.

# **Section 4: Regulation**

# Article 136 Regulatory Agencies

4

- <sup>1</sup> The bodies competent for supervising the protection of people and the environment shall be the Federal Office of Public Health, the Swiss National Accident Insurance Organization (SUVA) and the Swiss Federal Nuclear Safety Inspectorate (HSK/SENSI).
- <sup>2</sup> The Federal Office of Public Health shall regulate those operations where it is, above all, the public that requires protection, particularly medical operations and institutes carrying out research and teaching at institutions of higher education.
- <sup>3</sup> The Swiss National Accident Insurance Organization shall regulate those operations where it is, above all, employees that require protection, particularly in trade and industrial operations.

- <sup>4</sup> The Swiss Federal Nuclear Safety Inspectorate shall regulate:
- a. nuclear installations:
- b. preparatory measures falling within the scope of Article 10, column 2 of the Federal Decree of 6 October 1978<sup>1)</sup> relating to the Nuclear Act;
- c. the Paul Scherrer Institute in Villingen-Würenlingen, except as regards the application of ionising radiation and radioactive substances to the human body;
- d. the collecting point provided for in Article 87.
- <sup>5</sup> Whenever there is any doubt regarding competence, the regulatory agencies shall decide by common consent.
- <sup>6</sup> The regulatory agencies shall work on the assumption that a licence holder is complying with his/her organisation duties in accordance with Article 132 if he/she has a quality system certified by an accredited organisation.

# Article 137 Supervision of Medical Installations and Medical Equipment with Sealed Radioactive Sources

- <sup>1</sup> The first radiological protection inspection of a medical installation or an item of medical equipment with sealed radioactive sources and the operation thereof shall be carried out by the licensing authority as part of the licensing procedure, following a successful acceptance test in accordance with Article 74, paragraph 1.
- <sup>2</sup> The Federal Office of Public Health shall carry out regular periodic inspections of plants. In the practices of doctors, dentists, veterinary surgeons, chiropractors and dental technicians, these periodic inspections shall take the form of random samples.
- <sup>3</sup> It shall be permissible for the Federal Office of Public Health to entrust periodic inspections to a third-party carrying out maintenance in accordance with Article 74, paragraph 3 on diagnostic equipment in the practices of doctors, dentists, veterinary surgeons, chiropractors and dental technicians.

# Article 138 Monitoring of Imports, Exports and Merchandise in Transit

- <sup>1</sup> The Central Customs Administration, in agreement with the Federal Office of Public Health and the Federal Office of Energy, shall issue instructions regarding the monitoring of imports, exports and transit movements of radioactive sources.
- <sup>2</sup> The customs offices shall provide the Federal Office of Public Health with a copy or notification of every customs declaration made in accordance with Article 78, paragraph 2. Where merchandise is placed in a customs warehouse, these shall cancel the individual licences and forward them to the Federal Office of Public Health.
- <sup>3</sup> As part of their inspections of imported and transit merchandise, the customs offices shall verify that the Federal Office of Public Health has issued a transport licence.

<sup>1)</sup> SR/RS 732.01

#### Chapter 11: Sanctions and Final Provisions

#### Article 139 Sanctions

- <sup>1</sup> The sanctions laid down in Article 44, paragraph 1, subparagraph a of the Penal Code shall be applied to anyone who wilfully or negligently:
- a. without the permission of the regulatory agency, mixes radioactive substances with inactive materials for the sole purpose of rendering this Ordinance inapplicable (Article 3, paragraph 1);
- b. indulges in an activity likely to bring about a threat through ionising radiation without having the training required for the purpose as laid down in Articles 10-19;
- c. markets radiopharmaceuticals or administers them to people without a licence from the Federal Office of Public Health (Article 30, paragraph 1);
- d. fails to make an immediate report to the regulatory agency of the surpassing of a dose limit that he/she may suspect or have established (Article 38);
- e. operates a personal dosimetry laboratory without acquiring recognition (Article 45);
- f. operates a personal dosimetry laboratory and infringes the duties placed thereon in Articles 49-51;
- g. fails to provide the required particulars in a customs declaration in accordance with Article 78, paragraph 2;
- h. causes an incident in the pursuit of an activity.
- <sup>2</sup> Anyone who wilfully or negligently commits any of the following shall be punished with imprisonment or a fine of up to 20 000 Swiss francs:
- a. failure to implement the duties imposed on him/her by Article 20, paragraph 2, subparagraph b of the Radiological Protection Act (Article 120);
- b. failure without due excuse to participate in exercises to which he/she has been called up in accordance with Article 123, paragraph 3.

# Article 140 Repeal and Amendment of Existing Statutes

- <sup>1</sup> The following shall herewith be repealed;
- 1. the Radiological Protection Ordinance of 30 June 1976<sup>1)</sup>;
- 2. the Dosimetry Ordinance of 11 November 1981<sup>2)</sup>
- 3. the Ordinance on Introductory and Continuing Training in Radiological Protection of 30 August 1978<sup>3)</sup>

<sup>1)</sup> AS 1976 1573, 1979 256, 1981 537, 1983 1964, 1984 876, 1987 652, 1988 1561, 1991 1459

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2)</sup> AS **1981** 1872

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3)</sup> AS 1987 1404

<sup>2</sup> The Ordinance on Accident Prevention of 19 December 1983<sup>4)</sup> shall herewith be amended as follows:

Article 78, paragraph 3 shall be repealed.

# Article 141 Transitional Arrangements

- <sup>1</sup> Doctors, dentists and veterinary surgeons shall be regarded as experts even without the training laid down in Article 18, paragraph 2:
- a. up until 30 September 2004 at the latest, provided they are in possession of a licence for applications defined in Articles 11 and 14 on the day this Ordinance enters into force;
- b. up until 30 September 1997 at the latest, if they acquire a licence for applications defined in Articles 11 and 14 after this Ordinance has entered into force.
- <sup>2</sup> Doctors and veterinary surgeons who, at the time this Ordinance enters into force, carry out applications defined in Article 11, paragraph 2 and Articles 12-14 and who do not possess the qualifications required by said provisions, shall furnish evidence thereof by 30 September 2004 at the latest.
- <sup>3</sup> Licences granted for radiopharmaceuticals under previous legislation shall retain their validity until 30 September 1999.
- <sup>4</sup> The dose limits laid down in Article 35, paragraphs 1 and 2 shall not come into force until 1 January 1995.
- <sup>5</sup> The shielding and location of authorised installations or radioactive sources shall comply with Articles 59 and 60 by 1 October 2004 at the latest.
- <sup>6</sup> It shall only be permitted to carry out fluoroscopy with authorised installations without an image amplifier and without automatic dose-rate adjustment until 30 September 1996 at the latest.
- <sup>7</sup> It shall only be permitted to carry out mass screenings using authorised installations with radiophotographic techniques up until 30 September 1996 at the latest.
- <sup>8</sup> Licences granted without a time limit under previous legislation, recognitions granted in accordance with Article 45 and approvals granted in accordance with Article 128 shall remain valid until 30 September 2004. This shall be without prejudice to paragraphs 6 and 7.
- <sup>9</sup> The new Act shall be applied to any procedures that are pending at the time this Ordinance enters into force.

<sup>4)</sup> SR/RS 832,30

- <sup>10</sup> Provided there is no danger for either people or the environment and provided there is no opposing legitimate interest of parties involved, the regulatory agency shall be able to judge the following as individual cases using the previous legislation up until 30 September 1997:
- a. the minimum requirements to be met by the measuring system used by a personal dosimetry laboratory, the measuring precision and the threshold value for accelerated reporting (Article 52);
- b. the location of medical installations and radioactive sources (Article 61);
- c. the type of storage of radioactive sources and the requirements to be met by such storage locations (Article 75);
- d. the transport of radioactive sources within company premises (Article 77).

#### Article 142 Entry into Force

This Ordinance shall enter into force on 1 October 1994.

22 June 1994

On behalf of the Swiss Federal Council

Federal President: Stich

Federal Chancellor: Couchepin